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=3 PREFACE =

By their very nature defining moments in history often
have inauspicious beginnings. The larger meaning of such
events is generally recognized over the course of time
once the ebb and flow of history have played out the con-
sequences of actions both great and small upon the life of
the nation. It is only then, after time and history provide
the clarity of perspective, that we can comprehend the
previously unseen connections that allow us to assess the
importance of actions and policies in light of subsequent
developments. Yet we of the modern era who are blessed
with hindsight cannot help but wonder whether a few
brave visionaries of the past truly understood the conse-
quences of their actions. Was the history of the United
States writ large by those who could envision the future
of the nation?

Today it is abundantly clear that the decision of the
United States to purchase the Louisiana Territory from
France in 1803 was a defining moment in American
national life. What began, ostensibly, as an effort to protect
the commercial and economic interests of western farmers
contained within itself the seminal essence of global
realpolitik on the part of the young American republic.
Neutralizing the French presence in North America had
the added advantage of making the United States stronger
in its diplomacy with Great Britain and Spain—the remain-
ing European powers that sought hegemony in North
America. Although it remains debated whether Thomas
Jefferson’s action in 1803 grew out of an incipient under-
standing of Manifest Destiny or simply was a fortunate
occurrence, one cannot help but fathom that much of
America’s subsequent self-definition was largely influenced
by the impact of that territorial acquisition.

The narrow definition of viewing the Louisiana Pur-
chase as a mere diplomatic transaction involving the
transfer of real estate belies the complete meaning of this
event. What some might view as one story was a tale that
contained many plots and an enormous cast of charac-
ters. The story of the Louisiana Purchase was America’s
story. Like the young republic that had acquired the vast
wilderness expanse of the Louisiana Territory through
purchase, there was something fervent and disquieting in
both the nature of the possessor and its new possession.
Through the transforming dynamic of the frontier expe-
rience, each would attempt to tame the other over time.

This work is designed to serve as a standard reference
to the fully nuanced meaning of the Louisiana Purchase
in the history and life of the United States. Within these
pages one will find not only the diplomatic history of an
1803 event, but much more. The story of American
expansionism is presented here through the stories of per-
sons and peoples whose lives were changed by the eco-
nomic, social, and cultural transformations wrought by
Manifest Destiny. The story of the transformation of the
land itself is also found within these pages. For good or
for ill the changes foisted upon the natural landscape by
American territorial growth and the economic regimen
that followed had a profound impact upon the nation’s
history. Although the United States certainly benefited
from this territorial acquisition, at many levels the nation
continues to pay the costs of its stewardship two cen-
turies after the diplomatic negotiations were finalized.

In 1803 the United States was a young nation with a
population slightly larger than 5.3 million inhabitants
who were primarily farmers. The acquisition of the
Louisiana Territory provided the impetus for a national
transformation that would affect all aspects of American
society and culture. Through the dynamic of territorial
growth the nation evolved in the nineteenth century into
a more self-assured polity that would come to understand
its purpose as being that of a continental power. That
vision, once secured, would poise America upon the
international stage as a world power. In time, the confi-
dent cosmopolitan republic peopled by millions that
emerged would bear little resemblance to the young
nation that existed two centuries prior.

Who we are today, and what we have been, emerged
from the inauspicious beginnings of 1803 and the
vagaries of frontier diplomacy. How we developed as a
continental power stems from our efforts to reckon with
the seemingly limitless resources of a vast national
domain. Frontiers both past and present blur into histor-
ical obscurity as we trace the progression of the American
experiment. For a nation that is forever a work in
progress, the Louisiana Territory provided a canvas upon
which the vivid colors of self-definition could be
expressed. The hues, the texture, and the visual sense of
that identity would come to be as varied as the land upon
which it was established.
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= INTRODUCTION =

In 2003, the people of the United States will celebrate the
bicentennial of the Louisiana Purchase. The recognition
of this historic event honors more than a simple real
estate transfer between the government of the French
Republic and that of the young United States of America.
The acquisition of the Louisiana Territory was certainly
one of the defining moments of American history, as it set
the stage for many subsequent developments that would
affect the course of American civilization and culture.
Without the Louisiana Purchase, the concept of Manifest
Destiny seems moot, the Free Soil controversy over the
expansion of slavery into the territories is nonexistent,
and the rise of an urban, industrial society built upon the
economic resources of a vast national reserve appears less
certain. Indeed, the United States redefined itself in 1803
by becoming a continental power, and that transforma-
tion unleashed forces, both positive and negative, the
consequences of which have resonated throughout our
national history.

Fifteen states owe either all or a portion of their terri-
tory to the acquisition from France in 1803. What was
once viewed as wild, uncharted wilderness has been
shaped by two centuries of American pioneers and their
descendants, who have left their cultural marks upon the
landscape in ways that are sometimes inconspicuous yet
more often pronounced. The hand of man is evident as
natural forms have been tamed by perpendicular town-
ship and range lines reflecting the imposition of a Carte-
sian grid system upon nature’s disorder, thereby creating
something that is surely less than natural. More disheart-
ening is the depopulation of indigenous peoples that
resulted from forced migrations and outright warfare as
the U.S. government sought to tame the wilderness and
its inhabitants through more insidious means. Environ-
mental degradation has been another terrible cost of the
past two centuries. The destruction of virgin forests and
wild prairie grasses, the decimation of animal species, and
the pollution of many rivers and streams have been
brought about as a result of our unbridled national
expansion.

The history of the Louisiana Purchase and the subse-
quent transformation of that region into a collection of
American states tells an important story about the people
of the United States. Our history has been characterized
by both tremendous achievements and inglorious short-
comings. It is an important and sometimes painful history
that certainly teaches the salient truth that American
greatness has often been achieved at tremendous cost; it

also reminds us, however, of the inescapable realization
that it is our history, and we must reckon with it. Walt
Whitman once observed that “the United States them-
selves are essentially the greatest poem.” If that is so, the
Louisiana Purchase of 1803 certainly provided a young
nation that was itself a work in progress with much of the
meter, rhythm, and rhyme of the poem that became
America.

BEFORE THE BEGINNING

We often accept as a matter of fact that the Louisiana
Purchase was simply a diplomatic arrangement whose
consequence concerned only a few European royal courts
and the government and people of the United States.
What we fail to consider in such a view is that the entire
region of the Louisiana Territory was inhabited by a host
of Native American tribes who claimed the land as theirs
by right of first possession. From the north woods of
Minnesota to the Gulf Coast, and from the crest of the
Rocky Mountains eastward across the high plains and on
toward the Mississippi River, there existed a sophisticated
network of indigenous peoples who inhabited the land
and drew their sustenance from it. Each of these individ-
ual nations, based upon the Doctrine of Discovery (or the
right of first ownership), actually owned the land upon
which they lived, while Europeans—and later Ameri-
cans—who purported to own the territory found them-
selves negotiating for and purchasing the land bit by bit
from these groups over several centuries.

To claim that the French, the Spanish, or the Ameri-
cans owned the Louisiana Territory at any given time
actually means that they owned the claim to the territory,
but not the land itself. Since the land was owned by indi-
vidual tribes who resided upon it, the arduous process of
converting one’s claim into legal ownership would take
countless treaties, seemingly endless negotiations, and
much time. As a result, and because of frequent intransi-
gence on the part of Native owners who cared not to
negotiate, war and the outright seizure of territory were
often the outcome.

Much of the legal system in the United States, as well
as fundamental elements of free-market capitalism, is
based upon the sanctity of contracts. Legal agreements
are binding between individuals and groups when they
enter into such arrangements willingly, bargain in good
faith, and do not employ fraud or duplicity. Having said
this, one would be hard-pressed to find circumstances in
which the negotiated arrangements for the dispensation
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of Indian lands met the most basic standards of contract
law. Despite this characteristic discrepancy, possession
does have a powerfully symbolic meaning in the modern
world, and how individuals came to acquire territory is
often superseded by the physical reality that they are the
de facto possessors of the land.

CONFLICTING CLAIMS

England and France entered the contest for colonial
supremacy in North America on an equal footing and at
about the same time. While the English established their
first permanent settlement in North America at
Jamestown in 1607, the French were close behind. In
1608, Samuel de Champlain established the French set-
tlement of Quebec along the St. Lawrence River and cre-
ated the nucleus for what became known as New France.
Both outposts were small settlements whose survival
seemed tenuous, at first, until the creation of a sustain-
able economy based upon either cash crops or trade
goods made the colonies viable. For the English it was
tobacco, cultivated for centuries by Native American
peoples, that became the crop which first transformed
Virginia, and later, many of the English Atlantic Seaboard
settlements. For the inhabitants of New France, the pelts
of fur-bearing animals that inhabited the Canadian
wilderness and the Great Lakes region became the com-
modity that sustained French interest and investment in
the North American colonial enterprise.

Neither New France nor the English colonies (with the
exception of Massachusetts Bay) grew rapidly in popula-
tion. It was characteristic in many of the earliest colonies
that inhabitants experienced a “starving time” when the
colonial populace struggled to produce enough food to
sustain itself, while simultaneously needing to fend off
epidemics, Indian attacks, and other natural difficulties
created by exposure to the elements. Colonists in both the
English and French areas had to develop an infrastructure
that accommodated dwelling places, defensive structures,
and the commercial sites needed to conduct the business
activities that financed their continued existence. As a
result, the geographical dispersion of colonists into hin-
terland regions was limited, because the physical labor of
building a colony was intensive.

When opportunities for expansion did come, the
French may have had an edge on their English counter-
parts. The French were connected by the St. Lawrence
River and the Great Lakes system to numerous other
rivers and streams that could take them farther and far-
ther into the interior of North America. For a time, the
French believed that they might well discover the elusive
Northwest Passage, which was rumored to cross the con-
tinent. The English colonies established on the Atlantic
Seaboard were settled primarily within the tidewater
region, and nearly each of these colonies had an impos-
ing western boundary outlined by the crests of the
Appalachian Mountains. Since it was easier to traverse
rivers than overland trails in colonial America, the French
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had access to superior avenues that might help expand
the boundaries of New France. Also, by its very nature,
the business of fur trapping involves the constant need to
find new lakes, rivers, and streams to work while
depleted trapping areas replenish their natural stock. To
this purpose, French trappers and traders became the
agents of empire.

French trappers and traders set out in the mid-seven-
teenth century to discover new lands where they might
ply their trade. Most of these individual expeditions went
unrecorded, but collectively these forays into the interior
of North America expanded knowledge about the conti-
nent. The discoveries led to an improved cartography
that began to depict North America more accurately.
Two particular episodes of discovery from this period do
stand out, for the sheer magnitude of the expeditions
and the larger implications for the expansion of the
empire. Both expeditions were predicated upon the mer-
cantile desire to expand French trapping interests into
yet unseen valleys.

In 1673, the Jesuit missionary Father Jacques Mar-
quette and French-Canadian trapper Louis Joliet began an
expedition that would take them farther into the North
American interior than any Europeans had ventured since
the expeditions of Spanish explorers Hernando DeSoto
and Francisco Coronado in the early 1540s. Marquette,
who was an expert linguist, was expected to serve as a
translator as the explorers encountered new Indian tribes,
and Joliet was to survey the regions he traversed for their
potential as fur trapping lands. The Comte de Frontenac,
the governor of New France, had authorized the expedi-
tion to travel from the Straits of Mackinac to seek the
Mississippi River and follow that stream to its outlet,
wherever that might lead. Marquette and Joliet, plus five
engagés who supported their expedition, reached the
upper Mississippi in May 1673 and traveled downriver
for a month in two bark canoes. They traveled as far
southward as the point where the Arkansas River joins
the Mississippi. Having learned from the local tribes that
the Mississippi does flow into the Gulf of Mexico and
that Spanish settlements did exist farther south, Mar-
quette and Joliet turned around and returned to New
France with their information. Their expedition, which
lasted four months and covered more than twenty-five
hundred miles, brought a tremendous body of knowledge
of the North American continent to French colonial fur
trapping interests.

Nearly a decade later, in 1672, Robert Cavelier, Sieur
de LaSalle, conducted an expedition that would continue
the initial mission of Marquette and Joliet to explore the
Mississippi River to its mouth. LaSalle paddled down the
Mississippi for four months, and on August 9, 1682, he
stood near the mouth of the river that the Choctaw called
“The Father of Waters” and claimed for France the river
and the entire basin that it drained. When LaSalle planted
the fleur-de-lis banner, the flag of the French Bourbon
monarchy, upon the land that he named Louisiana, he



not only honored King Louis XIV but also raised the
geopolitical stakes in the race for the North American
empire, an achievement that certainly added luster to the
“Sun King’s” domain.
PRESERVING EMPIRE

France would hold all of Louisiana, as LaSalle had
defined it, for ninety years. During that time the French
would make a concerted effort to possess the territory
that they had claimed, but after nearly a century, much
of the Louisiana Territory was still a wilderness
untouched by French habitation. The most successful
effort taken by the French had been the establishment of
a colony, aptly named Louisiana, on the Gulf Coast in
1699. This settlement was founded by the Le Moyne
brothers, Iberville and Bienville. Although the colony
originated near the site of present-day Mobile, Alabama,
it gradually migrated westward until it was centered at
the town of New Orleans, established along the Missis-
sippi River in 1718. After the Louisiana colony was
founded, the French began to construct a series of settle-
ments in the North American interior in the hope that
these isolated outposts would one day link Canadian
New France with the Gulf Coast colony. French settle-
ments at Ste. Genevieve, Kaskaskia, and Vincennes all
resulted from this effort to expand French presence in
North America.

LaSalle’s decision to claim the entire basin of the Mis-
sissippi River for France would set the French on a colli-
sion course with English interests in North America. The
English claim to all of North America was based upon the
seafaring expedition of John Cabot in 1497. The English
maintained that their Atlantic Seaboard colonies were, in
reality, transcontinental colonies, since all of North Amer-
ica was English territory. Although such claims were hol-
low and not supported by the actual possession of terri-
tory, the government of Great Britain would press the
issue during the eighteenth century once French settle-
ments began to appear in the Ohio River Valley.

Much of the history of eighteenth-century relations
between England (Great Britain after 1707) and France
can be understood most clearly as being a century of con-
flict, or a “hundred years’ war” centered upon the ques-
tion of empire. According to their original plan, that was
not supposed to be the case, but rivalry over North
American empire did come to dominate relations
between the two nations. Shortly before England’s Glori-
ous Revolution (1688), and not long after LaSalle’s 1682
expedition, the leaders of England and France agreed to
the Peace of Whitehall (1687), in which both powers
pledged that they would never enter into a conflict with
the other over a question concerning colonial matters.
Nonetheless, despite their pledge of mutual amity,
England and France soon found themselves at war, fight-
ing King William’s War (1689-1697), or the War of the
Grand Alliance. During this conflict the English and the
Iroquois fought against the French and their Indian allies

over control of the upper Hudson River Valley. Neither
side achieved its strategic goals during the war, as the
English failed to conquer Quebec and the French were
unable to take Boston. When the Peace of Ryswick
(1697) ended the conflict, there were no colonial territo-
rial adjustments made in North America.

A brief interlude of peace followed before the major
European powers found themselves at war again. During
Queen Anne’s War (1702-1713), the North American
phase of the War of the Spanish Succession (1701-1714),
Great Britain and France again quarreled over colonial
possessions in North America. The infamous Deerfield
Massacre (February 29, 1704) occurred during this con-
flict, as French soldiers and their Indian allies burned a
Puritan town in Massachusetts, killing 47 individuals and
taking 109 others as captives. British forces were able to
seize some strategic parts of New France, but were unable
to capture either Quebec or Montreal. When the Treaty
of Utrecht (1713) ended this conflict, there were territo-
rial changes in North America. The French lost posses-
sion of Newfoundland, Hudson Bay, and Acadia (later
named Nova Scotia). The British had diminished the size
and influence of New France, but they had not eliminated
their colonial rivals from North America.

A third colonial conflict would be fought in North
America, as the British hoped to reduce New France fur-
ther and the French hoped to reacquire lost possessions.
King George’s War (1744-1748) was the North Ameri-
can phase of the War of the Austrian Succession
(1740-1748). Both the British and the French maintained
similar goals, strategies, and tactics, which they had
employed in the first two colonial wars, but the military
exploits in North America proved inconclusive. The
Treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle (1748), which ended the con-
flict, imposed status quo antebellum in North America,
and the territorial integrity of each nation’s colonial pos-
sessions remained intact.

The fourth colonial war between the British and the
French would prove to be what many have called the
Great War for Empire. The French and Indian War
(1754-1763), known in Europe as the Seven Years’ War
(1756-1763), was truly a world war that witnessed fight-
ing on three continents as well as naval battles on the
high seas. In North America it was the expansion of
French settlement into the Ohio Valley that triggered the
conflict, as Great Britain maintained that such outposts
were untenable and were meant to provoke another colo-
nial conflict. Despite early setbacks, when British colonial
and regular forces were twice rebuffed by the French at
Fort Duquesne, British resolve only strengthened during
the conflict. Under the leadership of Prime Minister
William Pitt, British forces finally captured Fort
Dugquesne in 1758 and renamed the site Pittsburgh. In the
final stages of the war, the British mounted sustained
efforts to capture Quebec (1759) and Montreal (1760),
which both fell. The French, realizing that they were on
the verge of losing New France, sued for peace and stalled
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for time as they sought a diplomatic remedy to the situa-
tion before them.

A STRATEGIC ALLIANCE

On the verge of losing its North American colonial
empire to the British, the French government sought a
solution that might mitigate the harshness of their pend-
ing treaty losses. The French realized that if they were
removed from New France, the Spanish, who possessed
Mexico and a sprawling but sparsely populated territory
in the American southwest, would be the only European
power that could prevent British colonial hegemony in
North America. Therefore, in 1761, the Bourbon mon-
archs of France and Spain agreed to a “Family Compact”
in which each pledged to support one another’s interests,
colonial or otherwise. In the eyes of the French, this
agreement was the first necessary step that had to be
taken in order to effect a land transfer that would deny
the British a significant portion of North American real
estate while keeping the faint glimmer of a reestablished
French empire alive.

In 1762 the nations of France and Spain negotiated
and signed the Treaty of Fontainebleau. With this bril-
liant diplomatic move, the French divided the Louisiana
Territory into two parts that were divided by the Missis-
sippi River. France also identified the so-called Isle of
Orleans as a separate area that was not a part of either
territory, though it was contiguous to the western half of
the Louisiana Territory. Since the British had shown a sig-
nificant interest in the Ohio River Valley, the French
believed that they would have to cede the eastern portion
of Louisiana to the British in the Treaty of Paris (1763)
that would end the French and Indian War. Since the
British had not expressed an interest in the western por-
tion of the Louisiana Territory, the French imagined that
they might be able to transfer that territory, along with
the Isle of Orleans, to the Spanish Bourbons. As fellow
signatories to the “Family Compact” of 1761, the Span-
ish Bourbons were willing to support the interests and
intentions of their French Bourbon cousins.

The Treaty of Fontainebleau (1762) did contain secret
provisions that were advantageous to long-range French
goals of reestablishing a North American empire. The
Spanish were prevented from alienating the Louisiana
Territory, and it was understood that if the French sought
the retrocession of the territory at some point in the
future, the Spanish were bound by their treaty obligations
to surrender Louisiana and the Isle of Orleans. In the eyes
of the French Bourbons, the transfer of Louisiana and the
Isle of Orleans to the Spanish was a measure of strategic
safe-keeping that would prevent the British from acquir-
ing the region, while still allowing France to have ready
access to the region at a later date.

Although the Spanish were willing to maintain their
part of the “Family Compact” and accept Louisiana, they
did not show an immediate interest in administering their
new possession. The Spanish colonial possessions in the
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Western Hemisphere were vast and included most of
South America (with the exception of Brazil), Central
America, Mexico, the American Southwest, Cuba, and a
host of other Caribbean islands. Spain had grown
wealthy from her colonies by exploiting the wealth of
precious metals—gold and silver—found in various parts
of the vast Spanish empire. The seemingly mild interest
that the Spanish showed for Louisiana was based upon
two facts: the territory contained no known precious
metals, and, for many years, Louisiana had been a finan-
cial burden to the French, rather than a profitable enter-
prise. For these reasons, the Spanish would wait for six
years before finally establishing colonial authority in
Louisiana in 1768.

During the interregnum between French and Spanish
control, the French colonial inhabitants of Louisiana con-
tinued to operate as they had under French control.
French inhabitants in the area of upper Louisiana
(roughly the region around present-day Missouri) contin-
ued their work of expanding the fur trade by trapping
new streams and founding new settlements. St. Louis, for
example, was established in 1764 when the French trap-
pers and traders in upper Louisiana realized that they
needed to create an entrepdt on the western side of the
Mississippi River once the British had come into posses-
sion of the eastern bank. Even under the period of Span-
ish control, very little change occurred in upper
Louisiana.

Once the Spanish authorities had established them-
selves at New Orleans, they did begin a period of effec-
tive administration of the Louisiana colony. Within a
decade the Spanish found themselves tenuously allied
with the Americans living in the British Atlantic Seaboard
colonies, who were then engaged in a struggle to win
their independence from their colonial rulers. By being
allies of the French through the Bourbon “Family Com-
pact,” the Spanish found themselves to be an associated
ally of the Americans after France and the United States
signed the Treaty of Alliance (1778). Ever careful not to
send the signal that revolting against monarchial rule was
proper behavior for its own colonial citizens, the Spanish
did support the American cause by fighting against
British possessions along the Gulf Coast. The military
efforts of Louisiana governor Don Bernardo de Galvez
were particularly praiseworthy in this regard.

After supporting the cause of American independence,
the Spanish found themselves dissatisfied with their newly
independent republican neighbors. First, it had been the
understanding of the Spanish that the Americans were not
to seek a separate peace with the British until all the
wartime goals of the French and Spanish had been
attained. In particular, the Spanish had hoped that they
would be able to reacquire the island of Gibraltar from the
British. When the Americans signed the Treaty of Paris in
1783, the Spanish believed that they had been double-
crossed by their former ally. Secondly, the amorphous
boundary of Spanish Florida as defined by the treaty also



angered the court in Madrid. The Spanish had hoped to
define the boundary of Florida at the so-called Yazoo Line
of 32 degrees 28 minutes north latitude—far enough
north to include the rich agricultural lands of the Natchez
District—but the Americans supported a contrary line at
31 degrees north latitude. Contentious debate over these
two questions would characterize relations between the
United States and Spain for the next twelve years.

ECONOMIC WARFARE
After the United States became an independent nation
with the Treaty of Paris in 1783, Spanish authorities in
Mexico City reportedly felt confident that Spain’s colo-
nial possessions remained safe, because they believed that
the trans-Appalachian West was too vast to permit rapid
expansion by the Americans. Time would quickly prove
that assumption false, as American settlers poured across
the Appalachian Mountains and began to settle in the
Ohio River Valley, where they established pioneer farm-
steads. Since a good system of transmountain roads did
not exist, the Western frontiersmen found themselves eco-
nomically isolated from Eastern markets. If they desired
to sell their produce, or to trade for necessary supplies,
waterborne commerce along the Ohio and Mississippi
Rivers seemed much more efficient, and more appealing,
than attempting trans-Appalachian trade.

Spanish officials operating out of Madrid, Mexico
City, and New Orleans began a concerted effort to con-
duct a campaign of economic warfare against the young
American republic, and their plan had both covert and
public elements. The Spanish began to wage a secret cam-
paign against U.S. interests by privately encouraging the
frontiersmen of the trans-Appalachian West to secede
from the United States and ally themselves with Spanish
Louisiana. Using the argument that both geography and
economic necessity spoke to such an arrangement, the
Spanish paid several leaders along the American frontier
to foment discontent and to talk up the benefits of an
alliance with the Spanish. Even though the Spanish Trea-
sury was paying individuals such as James Wilkinson and
John Sevier to advance Spanish interests in the region, the
disinformation campaign proved to be ineffectual and
only heightened anti-Spanish sentiment along the frontier.

A more public phase of the aggressive new Spanish
policy involved efforts to deny Americans the right to
navigate upon the Mississippi River or use warehouse
facilities at the port of New Orleans. The Spanish
believed that such a policy could cripple American com-
merce in the trans-Appalachian West, and might well
achieve the goals that covert operations had failed to
effect. The weight of the Spanish threat was so great that
the U.S. Congress, under the Articles of Confederation
government, appointed John Jay, who had served as sec-
retary of foreign affairs for the Continental Congress, to
serve as a special envoy to remedy the diplomatic impasse
over the Florida boundary and the right of access to the
Mississippi River and the port of New Orleans. Jay’s

Spanish counterpart in these negotiations was Don Diego
de Gardoqui, who arrived in the United States in late
1784 to begin the talks. The Jay-Gardoqui negotiations
would continue on and off over the course of two years,
producing neither a satisfactory outcome for the Ameri-
can position nor a treaty that the Confederation Congress
could ratify.

Gardoqui wanted Jay to agree that the United States
would forgo commercial rights on the Mississippi River
for a period of twenty-five to thirty years in exchange for
special trading privileges that would be effected between
the United States and the Spanish colonies of the Western
Hemisphere. Gardoqui also wanted Jay to accept a
Florida boundary that would keep the Natchez District in
Spanish hands. Under pressure by Northeastern commer-
cial interests, who felt that this was a good commercial
arrangement, Jay was induced to accept the terms in a
draft treaty, but the Confederation Congress would not
ratify the arrangement; the impasse continued for nearly
a decade more.

By 17935, Spain’s views on these matters changed sig-
nificantly in light of new alliances, both real and imagi-
nary, that were changing the geopolitical landscape of the
late-eighteenth-century world. When the Spanish learned
of secret negotiations that were taking place between the
United States and Great Britain in 1794, Spanish officials
began to fear that the eventual outcome—Jay’s Treaty
(1794)—would produce an alliance between the two
nations. Spanish officials imagined that the ultimate
objective of such an alliance involved the seizure of Span-
ish colonial claims in North America and the valuable sil-
ver mines of northern Mexico. In an attempt to ingratiate
themselves with the United States and forestall this worst-
case scenario, Spanish officials in Madrid indicated a
willingness to negotiate in good faith with the United
States to settle the unresolved issues that remained from
the failed Jay-Gardoqui talks.

The United States dispatched Thomas Pinckney to
Spain, where he negotiated with Manuel de Godoy to
produce the Treaty of San Lorenzo (1795), commonly
known in U.S. history as Pinckney’s Treaty. The United
States received favorable outcomes on the two issues that
had remained unresolved since the end of the American
Revolution. The Spanish agreed to accept the U.S. posi-
tion that 31 degrees north latitude was the northern
boundary of the Floridas. In addition, the Spanish were
willing to offer to the Americans the “right of deposit” at
port and warehouse facilities in New Orleans. This com-
mercial benefit was to exist for three years, and the terms
were renewable thereafter.

The U.S. government staged a major commercial coup
by attaining favorable terms in the Treaty of San Lorenzo
(1795), but time would prove that the verities of interna-
tional diplomacy often produced arrangements with a
limited shelf life. The right to use the Mississippi River
and benefit from special trade arrangements at New
Orleans did benefit the United States greatly, but those
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opportunities only whet the national appetite for a more
permanent arrangement. The “right of deposit” would be
implemented in 1798, but soon the problems caused by
the retrocession of Louisiana to the French would render
all previous commercial arrangements related to Missis-
sippi River navigation obsolete.

EARLY EFFORTS TO REESTABLISH EMPIRE
Starting with the fall of the Bastille in Paris in July 1789,
the events of the French Revolution spiraled into a com-
plex struggle that transformed a nation and ushered
much of Europe into a generation of warfare. Within
months France had transformed itself from a monarchy
into a constitutional republic, and as the revolutionary
cause grew more extreme, the French abolished the
monarchy symbolically when they beheaded their Bour-
bon king Louis XVI in 1793. In such a world turned
upside-down, the Bourbon “Family Compact” became a
relatively insignificant arrangement, but nonetheless,
France continued to have treaty obligations and requisite
rites of diplomatic protocol that bound it to others within
the family of nations.

The idea of reestablishing the former French empire in
North America was one of the earliest foreign policy
goals of the newly established French Republic. How it
might achieve that goal—whether through diplomacy or
conquest—was a matter that would be settled by time
and circumstances. As early as 1793, when Edmond
Charles Genét arrived in America as the French minister
to the United States, it seemed clear that finding an
opportune means to wrest Louisiana away from Spain
was a key objective of the French Republic. Genét openly
recruited American citizens to become mercenaries who
would fight in behalf of the French Republic. He sought,
and received, financial contributions that were used to
outfit privateers to sail from American ports and engage
British merchant vessels on the high seas.

Genét never lost sight of his primary goal—“to germi-
nate the principles of liberty and independence in
Louisiana”—so that the French Republic might reacquire
its former colonial possession and begin the process of re-
creating a French North American empire (DeConde
1976). To this end, Genét had conversations with influ-
ential Americans who knew of the dissatisfaction present
among Americans living in the trans-Appalachian West.
Spain’s refusal to allow Americans the right to use the
Mississippi River and to trade their goods at New
Orleans had created a furor among Western pioneers.
Many of these settlers believed that they would have
greater economic opportunities if the French, rather than
the Spanish, possessed Louisiana.

French officials did attempt to negotiate the retroces-
sion of Louisiana from the Spanish in the summer of
17935, but the terms that the Spanish demanded before
they would agree to surrender Louisiana were unaccept-
able to the French, and the negotiations related to
Louisiana stalled. These talks, associated with the negoti-
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ation of the Treaty of Basel (1795), demonstrated that
Spain was willing to cede Louisiana, which it considered
a liability, but the Spanish demand for the eastern half of
the island of Hispaniola was far more than French nego-
tiators were willing to accept.

Still, the French Republic used other means to act
against Spanish interests in Louisiana. In 1796, French
officials sent General Georges Henri Victor Collot, the
former French colonial governor of Guadeloupe, as an
observer who would travel throughout the Ohio and
Mississippi River Valleys to gain insight into the popular
mood of the day in Spanish Louisiana. Collot reported
that the Spanish were intensely fearful of American
expansionism, and he suggested that only France was
strong enough to withhold such growth.

NAPOLEON AND EMPIRE

From 1795 onward, the French were aware that the
Spanish Bourbons were willing to part with the Louisiana
colony, provided that a suitable form of compensation
could be found to sweeten the deal. Once Napoleon
Bonaparte came to power in his coup of November 1799,
he set in motion the diplomatic efforts that would result
in the retrocession of Louisiana and the much-anticipated
beginning of a new French empire in North America. Yet
Napoleon realized that France would have to make peace
with its former enemies in Europe to ensure that the legit-
imacy of the retrocession would be recognized.

Charles Maurice de Talleyrand-Périgord, the French
minister of foreign relations, began the complicated and
delicate task of engineering the diplomatic agreements
that would be necessary to effect the retrocession. In the
second Treaty of San Ildefonso (1800), Talleyrand was
able to devise an understanding with the Spanish that
would transfer Louisiana to France, but this treaty was
contingent upon promises that other treaty agreements
would have to support. In the Treaty of Lunéville, the
French Republic made peace with the Austrian ruler, who
represented the remnants of the old Holy Roman Empire.
One of the terms of that treaty was that the French would
acquire the Italian kingdom of Tuscany. This area would
become a primary bartering chip between the French and
the Spanish in their ongoing negotiations related to
Louisiana.

In the second Treaty of San Ildefonso, Napoleon had
promised to place the Duke of Parma on the throne of an
Italian kingdom. Now that Napoleon had Tuscany, he
could deliver on that promise, but he had second
thoughts that complicated the delicate negotiations.
Rather than place Fernando, the Duke of Parma, whom
he detested, on the throne of Tuscany, Napoleon offered
to make Luis, the Prince of Parma, king of Etruria
(Napoleon’s new name for Tuscany). These revisions
would have to win the acceptance of King Charles IV, the
Spanish Bourbon monarch, before the associated transfer
of Louisiana could take place. These final negotiations
resulted in the Convention of Aranjuez (1801), which



affirmed the spirit of the Treaty of San Ildefonso (1800)
and resulted in the retrocession of Louisiana from Spain
to France.

NAPOLEON’S GRAND DESIGN
When First Consul Napoleon Bonaparte won the retro-
cession of the Louisiana Territory in 1801, he had every
intention of reestablishing the French North American
empire that had been destroyed by France’s defeat in
1763. Although earlier colonial experiments in
Louisiana—namely, the first French colony and the more
recent Spanish colony—had proven to be financial fail-
ures, Napoleon had a grand design for a French empire in
the Western Hemisphere that would incorporate all terri-
torial components to maximize their value. The wilder-
ness of Louisiana would, in Napoleon’s view, become the
breadbasket colony of the new French empire.

Central to Napoleon’s plans was the reestablishment
of French colonial control in the colony of St. Domingue
on the Caribbean island of Hispaniola. A slave revolt that
had begun in that colony in 1791 eventually led to the
expulsion of the French; St. Domingue became an inde-
pendent republic, governed by the former slaves who had
previously harvested its crops. Napoleon recognized that
the colony of St. Domingue had been one of the most
valuable of French possessions prior to the 1791 rebel-
lion, its annual sugar crop having been bountiful and
immensely profitable. Napoleon hoped to re-create the
halcyon days of sugar production on St. Domingue with
the use of slave labor, so that his French Republic could
once again reap the profits. Napoleon Bonaparte consid-
ered himself to be a product of the French Revolution
and the spirit of republicanism associated with “liberty,
equality, and fraternity,” but his support of those values
did not extend to the slaves of St. Domingue, who had
rallied to the same cries of republicanism and overthrown
the shackles of oppression. Napoleon equated St.
Domingue with sugar and profits, and nothing more.

In January 1802, a French army of twenty thousand
men arrived in St. Domingue to reconquer the colony and
make it the jewel of the French empire in the Western
Hemisphere. Napoleon’s brother-in-law, General Charles-
Victor-Emmanuel Leclerc, commanded the expedition
and anticipated that a corps of elite French regulars
would have little difficulty in suppressing an insurgent
army consisting of former slaves. Neither Napoleon nor
Leclerc, however, anticipated the impact that disease
would have upon the troops. Yellow fever, a mosquito-
borne disease, was rampant in the Caribbean basin
region, and the French troops had no natural immunity.
As a result, thousands died in an epidemic that decimated
the French corps, claiming even the life of General
Leclerc. The inability of French forces to reestablish
authority in the prime sugar colony of St. Domingue cer-
tainly gave Napoleon reason to consider how his grand
design for Louisiana—alone—would now generate prof-
its for the French Republic.

Much as he had sent General Leclerc to St.
Domingue, Napoleon named another French com-
mander as captain general of Louisiana and authorized
him to prepare an expedition to take control of the
colony recently retroceded by the Spanish. General
Claude P. Victor, Duc de Bellune, was advised to prepare
an occupation force that would sail from Europe to
accept possession of the Louisiana Territory at New
Orleans. General Victor began the slow and methodical
task of organizing the occupation force, but delays con-
tinued to push back the departure date. As the expedi-
tion prepared for departure in Helvoét Sluys, in the
Netherlands, the winter of 1802-1803 arrived, and the
expedition’s ships became icebound in the harbor. Victor
would have to wait until the spring thaw for nature to
free his vessels before he could sail for Louisiana. Again,
Napoleon had time to think and reconsider his options
regarding Louisiana.

It may seem strange to think that mosquitoes and ice
may have destroyed Napoleon Bonaparte’s grand design
for a new French empire in the Western Hemisphere, but
unanticipated consequences did teach him valuable les-
sons and make him reconsider his initial plans. Another
important element was that Napoleon needed ready cash,
and quickly. Napoleon was enjoying a brief interlude of
peace, but he knew that he would be at war with Great
Britain—and perhaps with numerous British allies—
soon. Since he knew it would be unwise to enter into a
major European war without a significant supply of cash
at hand, Napoleon pondered how much his North Amer-
ican wilderness might be worth, were he to sell it.

THE DEAL OF A LIFETIME

The retrocession of the Louisiana Territory from Spain to
France in 1801 would have profound economic reper-
cussions on America’s commercial independence. The
reacquisition of Louisiana by the French negated any
commercial benefits that the United States held under the
terms of the Treaty of San Lorenzo (1795), and the
prospect of having to renegotiate those terms every time
the Louisiana Territory changed hands was not appeal-
ing. From the earliest months of his presidential adminis-
tration, Thomas Jefferson sought to devise a strategy
whereby, through purchase, the United States might gain
legal rights to navigate the Mississippi River and ware-
house goods near its mouth.

President Jefferson’s initial plan was to attempt to pur-
chase either the Isle of Orleans or a portion of West
Florida from the French. He advised Robert Livingston,
the U.S. minister to France, to begin negotiating for this
desired outcome, and he told Livingston that, in the event
of failure to win the concessions sought, the United States
should advise the French that it planned to join in an
alliance with the British. Under such an arrangement, in
the event of another European war, the United States
could seize the Louisiana Territory as a wartime exigency.
When it seemed as though Livingston’s negotiations were
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not bearing fruit, Jefferson authorized James Monroe as
an additional diplomat to the French Republic, to assist
in the effort.

Neither Livingston nor Monroe—and certainly not
Jefferson—was prepared for the real estate transfer that
First Consul Napoleon Bonaparte offered the United
States in the spring of 1803. Even though purchasing the
entire Louisiana Territory exceeded the diplomatic charge
with which they had been entrusted, Livingston and
Monroe both realized that a quick response to the offer
was key, lest Bonaparte change his mind on the matter.
Both diplomats realized the magnitude of the opportu-
nity, and they also understood the political repercussions
that would result from their decision.

When President Jefferson learned of the decision that
Livingston and Monroe had made, he supported the
action of the diplomats, but he was still concerned about
how the purchase of the entire Louisiana Territory would
be accepted by the U.S. Senate and how foreign govern-
ments would view the American action. The ideology of
Jeffersonian Republicanism was predicated upon the
notion of small government. Jefferson and his political
allies supported the doctrine of strict construction of the
U.S. Constitution, whereby the government could claim
only those rights that were specifically enumerated; the
bulk of rights were reserved to the states and to the peo-
ple. The idea of doubling the size of the nation by affix-
ing signatures to one treaty was something that troubled
Jefferson, because the diplomatic action did not have
prior congressional authorization and he did not believe
that the Constitution permitted the acquisition of such
territory by treaty purchase. Privately, Jefferson pondered
that an amendment to the Constitution would be neces-
sary to make the arrangement legal, but he also under-
stood that the likelihood of passing such a measure rap-
idly in the heated political climate of 1803 was unlikely.
As a result, Jefferson set aside his views on small govern-
ment and strict constructionism, for the moment, and
became an advocate of a powerful, large federal govern-
ment that drew its powers from a loose interpretation of
the Constitution. Jefferson was being a pragmatist and
putting the nation’s interests ahead of partisan ideology.

REPERCUSSIONS
The Louisiana Purchase of 1803 was an extremely con-
troversial event, in both an international geopolitical
sense and also as a domestic policy matter within the
United States. Beyond the United States and France, no
other world powers recognized the legitimacy of the sale.
Spain protested loudly that France had no legal right to
sell the territory to the United States, and based the claim
upon a stipulation in the second Treaty of San Ildefonso
that did not permit France to alienate the territory or
transfer it to a third party. Great Britain and other Euro-
pean powers did not recognize the legality of the
Louisiana Purchase until after the end of the Napoleonic
Era, when the Final Act of the Congress of Vienna
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(1814-1815) was signed. Until that time, most European
leaders viewed the United States as possessing stolen
goods to which it had no clear and legal title.

Additionally, most European powers believed that the
Louisiana Purchase would prove to be the undoing of the
American republic. It was inconceivable to most Euro-
peans that a nation with territorial resources as vast as
the United States could long survive without breaking
into factions that would secede to represent their regional
self-interests. By the European model, nations were small,
compact political entities, and the idea that America’s
democracy within a republic could exist within a tremen-
dously large territory was a notion that had few adher-
ents in the early nineteenth century.

Even within the United States, many questioned the
wisdom of acquiring such a vast territory. During the era
of the American Founding, many had compared the
United States to the Roman Republic, and much of the
language of our political institutions reflects that, but the
Roman Republic failed when it adopted imperial ambi-
tions. Thus, some of the naysayers of 1803 based their
arguments upon classical Roman antiquity. Many Feder-
alists, who were members of the loyal opposition poised
against Jeffersonian Republicans, were rather prescient
when they opposed territorial expansion on the basis that
it would reduce the political influence of New England
Federalists within the government. The addition of each
new Western state further reduced the power base of the
Federalist Party.

AN ERRAND INTO THE WILDERNESS

Even before the opportunity to purchase the Louisiana
Territory arose in 1803, President Jefferson had begun
preparations for a major scientific expedition to travel
overland to the Pacific Ocean. Jefferson had corre-
sponded with friends who were major scientists and nat-
uralists of the day, and he sought their advice as to what
should be the areas of focus for such an expedition. As
the experts responded to Jefferson’s request, each was
asked to tutor Meriwether Lewis, President Jefferson’s
personal secretary and the man whom he had selected to
lead the proposed expedition. To that end, on January
18, 1803, Jefferson sent a secret message to the Congress
calling for an expedition to explore the unknown regions
of the West.

Captain Meriwether Lewis, having been selected to lead
the expedition, was charged with all the details of prepar-
ing the Corps of Discovery. Lewis had to secure the party
of explorers, draw up a budget, prepare a list of needed
supplies, and make sure that everything worked according
to schedule. One of his first decisions was to write to his
friend William Clark, with whom he had served in the U.S.
Army under the command of General “Mad” Anthony
Wayne in 1795. Lewis, acting on his own initiative, invited
Clark to join the expedition as coleader.

Lewis and Clark and the other members of their party
witnessed the formal exchange of the upper part of the



Louisiana Territory at St. Louis on March 10, 1804. Dur-
ing the ceremony, the Spanish flag was lowered and
replaced by the French tricolor, and shortly thereafter, that
flag was lowered and replaced by the American flag. The
final preparations for departure were then made, as Lewis
and Clark and their Corps of Discovery set out from St.
Louis, the “Gateway to the West,” on May 14, 1804.

For twenty-eight months, Lewis and Clark and the
Corps of Discovery ventured where no Anglo-Americans
had traveled before. In encountering Indian tribes, many
of whom had never before seen Americans, the members
of the expedition were emissaries of American identity,
but also early agents of Manifest Destiny and imperial-
ism. By venturing beyond the crest of the Rocky Moun-
tains, the Lewis and Clark Expedition suggested an early
awareness that America’s future might well be that of a
continental power stretching from ocean to ocean.

The Lewis and Clark Expedition strengthened Amer-
ica’s claim to the newly purchased Louisiana Territory,
and it also provided a significant claim to the Oregon
Country, which would be divided by a diplomatic agree-
ment in the 1840s. The expedition produced a wealth of
information about the flora, the fauna, and the ethnogra-
phy of the West. The travels of Lewis and Clark also
expanded our collective geographical sense of the West
by providing more accurate maps, which confirmed the
vastness of the region. In addition, the expedition dis-
proved certain mythic falsehoods, such as the incredible
hope that an easy, all-water route to the West might exist.

INADVERTENT DISCOVERERS

Although major explorations, like the Lewis and Clark
Expedition, are justifiably much acclaimed, most of the
discoveries that were made in the trans-Mississippi West
were the result of individual acts of valor that were
largely considered unhistoric in their time. Even before
Lewis and Clark had returned from the Pacific, fur trap-
pers and traders operating out of St. Louis had already
begun to ascend the Missouri River. These individuals,
the mountain men of Western myth and folklore, also
became agents of empire who extended the American
presence in the West as they wandered through obscure
canyons and valleys.

The paths blazed and trails marked by the early fur
trappers and traders were early avenues of commerce in
the trans-Mississippi West, but these routes would later
be used by emigrant pioneers as they traveled westward
into the growing nation. In later years, when the golden
age of the fur trade would fade, many of the former
mountain men became guides to government expeditions
and parties of emigrants who sought to follow the trails
westward to new opportunities and adventure.

POSSESSION RATHER THAN CLAIM
In 1803 the U.S. government paid the French Republic
$15 million to acquire the claim that France held upon
the territory called Louisiana. At the time of the

Louisiana Purchase, and for several decades thereafter,
vast portions of the territory were occupied, and the land
therein possessed, by several dozen Indian nations who
had lived upon the land for centuries. It would be the job
of the U.S. government as the new owner to make that
claim real by acquiring the territory and possessing it,
parcel by parcel. Achievement of this objective would
take much of the nineteenth century, and the task would
be achieved through a combination of methods, includ-
ing negotiated treaties, federal laws, war, disease, theft,
and duplicity.

Regardless of the method used to acquire Indian
lands, the burden of defending the newly acquired pos-
sessions generally fell upon the U.S. Army. Shortly after
the United States purchased Louisiana from France, plans
were under way to establish a series of military outposts
in those strategic frontier areas where the safe conduct of
trade and commerce, and later of emigrant trains, was
viewed as being in the national interest. Often the fron-
tier forts themselves became the site of treaty negotiations
with tribal bands as a sustained effort to reduce Indian
lands continued throughout the nineteenth century.

The U.S. government’s Indian policy in the nineteenth
century was built around the idea of Indian removal.
Large sections of Indian land were exchanged for smaller
parcels of reservation land that was generally promised to
a particular tribe in perpetuity. In addition, the tribe often
received a cash annuity from the U.S. government for a
period of years, and sometimes special trading privileges
were also incorporated within the treaty’s terms. The rea-
sons for removal in particular situations varied. Tribes
like the Sioux, for example, were moved away from the
banks of the Missouri River, where it was believed that
they might threaten river-borne commerce. Other groups,
such as the Cheyenne and Arapaho, were removed to
sites where they would be less likely to disrupt pioneer
emigrant trains along the Oregon Trail. In still other
cases, the discovery of precious metals or mineral
deposits was used as the pretext for the removal of vari-
ous tribes.

GROWING PAINS

As the United States began the process of populating the
lands of the Louisiana Territory, there arose many con-
troversies about how the nation should expand and what
would be the most effective use of the Louisiana Purchase
lands. The prospect that many new states would be
carved out of the Louisiana Territory was a threat to
many political leaders in already-existing Eastern states.
Many realized that the addition of new states would
merely dilute the political influence of the existing states,
and they feared that the inordinate voting power of new,
sparsely populated states in the trans-Mississippi West
might negate the political influence of older, more popu-
lous Eastern states.

Occasionally, opponents of Western expansion
defended ethnocentrism in their hope to maintain Amer-
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ica for Americans. There was heated debate in 1812
when the Congress considered Louisiana’s request for
statehood. Many opponents of the measure believed that
the French and Spanish heritage of the region’s inhabi-
tants, their Roman Catholicism, and their lack of aware-
ness of American customs and traditions made them unfit
candidates for admission into the Union. Still other oppo-
nents of Louisiana statehood argued that the presence of
a large slave population in Louisiana made the region
ripe for revolt, and that the cost of defending the area
against such an uprising would be extravagant. In spite of
these criticisms, Louisiana became a state in 1812, and its
inhabitants proved themselves worthy citizens when they
defended New Orleans against a British invasion during
the War of 1812.

In the years during which the Louisiana Territory was
still a relatively empty region, ideas were put forward as
to the most effective use of the land. There were some who
advocated that a large portion of the Louisiana Territory
be set aside as Indian Territory, so that tribes from the
Eastern half of the nation could be removed there. In such
a fashion, the Louisiana Territory would become a safety
valve for national expansion, thereby settling the “Indian
question” that the nation faced in the early part of the
nineteenth century. To a certain extent, the establishment
of the region of present-day Oklahoma as Indian Terri-
tory, where members of various nations were resettled,
was an effort to put this idea into practice. Still, by 1890
even Oklahoma lands were opened for white settlement.

Another idea that was put forward in the early nine-
teenth century was to establish a colony for freed slaves
somewhere in the trans-Mississippi West. By 1817 orga-
nizations like the American Colonization Society were
engaged in returning former slaves to the colony of
Liberia in West Africa. (British abolitionists were doing
the same in Sierra Leone.) Advocates for a colony of freed
slaves in the Louisiana Territory maintained that the plan
would eliminate one of the biggest problems in antebel-
lum America—the presence of a free black population in
a society that defined itself as being either slave or free.
Despite support for the idea by some politicians and
jurists, the plan was never enacted.

The question of slavery, and in particular the expan-
sion of slavery, was one that would dominate political
concerns in the antebellum era. How slavery should be
allowed to expand into the Western territories was one of
the key issues that brought the United States to civil war
in 1861. In many respects, the first battle of that conflict
may have been the congressional debates that surrounded
Missouri’s request for statehood in 1819. After nearly
two years of rancorous debate, the Congress eventually
allowed Missouri to enter the Union as a slave state. This
was done through the congressional action that came to
be known as the Missouri Compromise (1820). Accord-
ing to the doctrine established at the time of Missouri’s
admission to the Union, all lands in the Louisiana Terri-
tory that were north of 36 degrees 30 minutes north lat-
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itude (with the exception of Missouri) were to become
free states, while states below that line were permitted
slavery if they so desired. That policy would remain in
effect until it was ignored by the Kansas-Nebraska Act
(1854) and effectively overturned by the U.S. Supreme
Court’s Dred Scott v. Sandford decision in 1857.

The question of how America would grow in a man-
ner that was equitable to all was an issue that would
plague the nation for many years. Additional territorial
expansion that occurred in the 1840s would only exacer-
bate the question and drive the slave states and the free
states further apart as they debated the merits of expand-
ing either slavery or freedom into an ever-expanding
national domain.

CHANGES TO THE LAND

Today, much of the world’s foodstuffs are produced upon
the lands that were once a part of the Louisiana Purchase
Territory. That a wilderness region has been converted in
many respects to the breadbasket of much of the world is
a modern marvel, but that tremendous human achieve-
ment has not been without its costs. The modern world
has produced many benefits, but the original landscape
has had to change in order to make our modern world
possible.

Perhaps the greatest transformation that took place
after the Louisiana Purchase was the dramatic environ-
mental change that has occurred in the region over the
past two centuries. Much of the wilderness area of the
North American interior became farmland and ranches
within the course of less than a century following 1803.
The establishment of settlements in the Louisiana Terri-
tory corresponded with the rise of early industrializa-
tion in America, and not surprisingly, many of the farm-
ing and ranching implements were factory-produced
marvels of modern technology. Steel plows were devised
to turn the deep sod of the plains, and mechanical
reapers were fashioned to harvest the rich soil’s abun-
dant yields. In the treeless expanse of the high plains,
machine-made barbed wire marked out territorial prop-
erty lines that forever erased the once common open
range of an earlier era.

In those regions that were blessed with abundant
hardwoods, pioneer settlers harvested the trees to build a
nation, but paid little attention to the blighted landscapes
they often left behind. In many areas the matchless
bounty of the forests of the north woods was destroyed
by aggressive logging practices that could have been
averted. Even within the areas where renewable resources
could be managed in a sustainable fashion, America’s
frontier settlers often acted only for the moment and
thought little of the stewardship of the land.

In a rush to exploit the commercially ordained nature
that we imposed upon the land, we often lost sight of the
first nature, or original landscape, that we modified in
the name of progress. While some lands were over-
plowed, others were overgrazed, but in the end the costs



were similar: the tall grass prairies that had endured for
millennia were destroyed within decades. Valuable top-
soil was made vulnerable by overplowing, to the point
where drainage runoff from fields and windstorms could
carry away the richness of the land and leave behind a
wasteland. Fresh water, a rare commodity in some parts
of the trans-Mississippi West, was often exploited, and
the hand of man often polluted streams to the point
where they became virtually useless. Sites that contained
rich mineral deposits were often mined in such a fashion
that only the scars of an earlier prosperity remind us of
what once existed.

Perhaps the most tragic example of environmental
degradation occurred as animal species were driven to the
point of extinction, or near-extinction. Although there
was a time when millions of bison lived in herds that
made seasonal migrations on the Great Plains, the whole-
sale slaughter of these animals nearly resulted in their
extinction. At one point it was estimated that only one
thousand bison survived in America, but as a result of
twentieth-century conservation efforts and federal legisla-
tion, their population has increased.

PAST IS PROLOGUE
History speaks to us in an effort to instruct, but often we
fail to heed its admonitions and reminders. So too the
land speaks to us through the silent language of remem-
brance as we try to fathom the changes that the centuries
have wrought. To cite Walt Whitman, we who live in
“the greatest poem” have a series of obligations to the
nation, to our fellow men, and to the land. We, like those

who came before, must learn to comprehend the poetry
that is America.

Thomas Jefferson was a visionary and a nationalist.
He may have been the first American political leader to
comprehend the coast-to-coast notion of American iden-
tity that by the 1840s would come to be called Manifest
Destiny. Before he died in 1826, Jefferson saw two new
states carved out of the lands that had been purchased
during his administration. The admission of Louisiana
(1812) and Missouri (1821) into the Union were historic
occasions, but Jefferson the nationalist feared for the
nation when the divisive issue of slavery—*“a fire bell in
the night”—surrounded the debate over Missouri’s bid
for statehood. Perhaps it was Jefferson’s dream that the
nation might be both expansive and united, but history
would soon prove that these twin goals were mutually
exclusive.

Jefferson’s vision of America was rooted in the agrarian
ideal of small, independent farmers who owned their own
land, an image similar in purpose to that of the citizen-sol-
diers of the Roman Republic whom he admired. Although
America’s destiny would represent a departure from the
Jeffersonian ideal, there are elements of the old agrarian
notion that survive. In Jefferson’s view, the people and the
land were inextricably connected to one another in a sym-
biotic relationship. Free citizens needed to depend upon the
bounty of the land to sustain themselves, but labor was
required to husband the land and collect its many gifts. Yet,
while we mark the passage of time in the small chronology
of life spans, it is the land that endures, forever.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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ACADIANS

See Cajuns

ADAMS, JOHN QUINCY
(1767-1848)

.S. diplomat and the sixth president of the
C/':\ l l United States, Adams was born in Braintree,

Massachusetts (in the part of town that is
now Quincy), to John Adams, the second president of the
United States, and Abigail Smith Adams. Before becom-
ing president, John Quincy Adams was one of America’s
foremost diplomats and a noted secretary of state
(1817-1824). He was responsible for negotiating the
Adams-Onis (Transcontinental) Treaty of 1819, which
finally established a western border for the Louisiana
Purchase.

Adams spent much of his youth abroad with his father
on diplomatic missions. Educated in Paris and the Uni-
versity of Leiden, he graduated from Harvard in 1787,
read law, and established a legal practice in Boston. He
wrote several anonymous articles for Northeastern news-
papers supporting George Washington’s policy of neu-
trality following the outbreak of war between Britain and
France in 1793. Washington appointed him minister to
the Netherlands in 1794, and his dispatches from The
Hague, Europe’s best diplomatic listening post, impressed
Washington, who came to view the young Adams as per-
haps the most able member of the republic’s foreign ser-
vice. He was appointed minister to Portugal in 1796, the
year that his father became president, and was appointed
minister to Prussia in 1797. He returned to Boston in
1801, was elected to the Massachusetts senate in 1802,
and was later elected by the state legislature to the U.S.
Senate as a Federalist in 1803.

Adams arrived too late to vote on the Louisiana Pur-
chase Treaty, but made it known that if present he would
have supported it. Never a strict party man (he disliked
the Federalist Party’s rather narrow views on foreign pol-
icy), he was the only Federalist senator to vote in favor of
the appropriation bill to carry the purchase into effect.
Believing that a constitutional amendment was necessary
to incorporate the Louisiana Territory as a U.S. territory,
and concerned with Jefferson’s use of executive power to
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appoint territorial officers, he voted with other Federal-
ists in opposing a bill delegating such powers to the pres-
ident. He did, however, continue to support Jefferson’s
policy of neutrality, and he supported the Embargo Act
(1807). These actions cost him his Senate seat in 1808.
That year he attended the Republican congressional cau-
cus that nominated James Madison, a man Adams
greatly admired, as its candidate for president. Madison
rewarded him with an appointment as minister to Russia
in 1809.

While in Russia he became something of a friend to
Tsar Alexander I and used his personal connections to
improve Russo-American commercial relations. Adams
believed that the success of the American Revolution was
a providential sign that European colonialism on the
American continent was an evil, and while in St. Peters-
burg he strongly opposed British trade restrictions as an
attempt to revive colonialism. In 1812 war broke out
between Britain and the United States, and Napoleon
invaded Russia. In 1813, Tsar Alexander, wishing to help
end the War of 1812 and thus free his ally Britain to con-
centrate her energies upon defeating Napoleon, offered to
mediate a peace settlement between Britain and the
United States. Madison accepted the offer, and in May
1813 he asked Congress to confirm the appointment of
Adams, James A. Bayard, and Albert Gallatin as peace
commissioners to Russia. Britain initially refused the
offer of Russian mediation, but in the fall of 1813 the
British foreign secretary, Lord Castlereagh, not wishing
to appear unreasonable, accepted the tsar’s offer. The
American delegation, which now also included Henry
Clay and Jonathan Russell, refused Castlereagh’s offer to
meet in London, insisting that they meet the British peace
commissioners on neutral ground. Britain finally agreed,
and the British commission, led by Admiral Lord Gam-
bier, met the American commission, led by Adams, in
Ghent, Belgium, in August 1814.

The peace commission was hampered by British arro-
gance and by Adams’s dislike for a number of his fellow
commissioners, especially Henry Clay. With the Euro-
pean powers meeting in Vienna to establish a new Euro-
pean status quo, Castlereagh became eager to end the
American conflict; the Treaty of Ghent, signed on Decem-
ber 24, 1814, returned both nations to status quo ante-
bellum. The treaty, which came about before General
Andrew Jackson’s victory at New Orleans in January
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Generally considered the nation’s greatest secretary of state,
Jobn Quincy Adams negotiated the Transcontinental Treaty
(1819), which poised America for Western expansion.

1815, actually made no mention of the status of
Louisiana. Britain had supported Spain’s claim that under
international law the purchase was invalid; Napoleon, it
was argued, had ignored a clause in the Treaty of San
Ildefonso (1800) stipulating that France could not dis-
pose of Louisiana without first offering it back to Spain.
However, the status quo antebellum clause of the Treaty
of Ghent, first suggested by Adams, and Jackson’s victory
sealed the fate of Louisiana, and no more questions
would be raised concerning the legality of the purchase.

In 1815, Madison appointed Adams the American
minister to the Court of St. James in London. Together
with Henry Clay and Albert Gallatin, Adams negotiated
a new Anglo-American trade convention. Appointed sec-
retary of state by President Monroe in 1817, Adams laid
the foundations for two later treaties signed while he was
in office. The Rush-Bagot Agreement (1817) demilita-
rized the Great Lakes, and the Convention of 1818 set-
tled the northern limit of the Louisiana Purchase by
extending the Canadian-American border along the
forty-ninth parallel, west from the Lake of the Woods
(Minnesota) to the crest of the Rocky Mountains.
Although Adams’s name will always be linked with the
Monroe Doctrine (1823), his efforts to settle the question
of the status of Florida led to his greatest coup, the
Adams-Onis Treaty (1819).

2 Adams, John Quincy

The question of Florida was a familiar one to Adams,
who, as a young senator, had insisted that the Louisiana
Purchase include West Florida. At the time that Adams
began negotiations with Luis de Onis y Gonzales, the
Spanish representative in the United States, it was clear
that Spain was in no position to dispute American occu-
pation of West Florida, begun in 1811, or America’s con-
tinued encroachments into East Florida; General Jackson
made an unauthorized invasion of East Florida in 1818.
Adams supported Jackson’s actions, because they
strengthened Adams’s hand and led Spain to agree to the
eventual purchase of Florida. During the negotiations
Adams seized the opportunity to establish a western
boundary line to the Louisiana Purchase, an issue of long
dispute between the two countries and a problem made
more difficult to resolve as diplomatic relations were sev-
ered between the United States and Spain in 1805.

Although Spain had insisted that the eastern boundary
of Texas extended to the Arroyo Honda, a dry gulch just
west of Natchitoches, the United States had claimed the
Rio Grande as Louisiana’s western boundary. The impasse
resulted in a lawless “neutral strip” between the Arroyo
Honda and the Sabine River. Adams gradually gave
ground on the western boundary of Louisiana, accepting
the Sabine River, but used the opportunity to insist upon
a western boundary to the Louisiana Purchase extending
along the Sabine, the Red River, the Arkansas River to its
source, and north to the forty-second parallel and thence
west to the Pacific coast. A delighted U.S. Senate immedi-
ately ratified the treaty in 1819, but disputed land claims
held up Spanish ratification until February 1821.

Adams succeeded Monroe as president, following a dis-
puted election in 1824. A one-term president, he himself
was defeated by Andrew Jackson in 1828 following a nasty
campaign that unfairly accused Adams of undertaking a
“corrupt bargain” with his old nemesis Henry Clay, whom
Adams had appointed his secretary of state in 1824. Elected
to the House of Representatives in 1830, Adams had a
notable second career in Congress, especially as a
spokesman against the extension of slavery. Worn out by a
long life in public service, he collapsed in the House on Feb-
ruary 21, 1848, while rising to his feet to oppose an hon-
orary grant of swords by Congress to the generals who had
won victories in the ongoing Mexican War, a conflict he had
strongly opposed. He died two days later and was buried in
the family vault in Quincy, Massachusetts. John Quincy
Adams may have lacked the common touch and, at times,
proved to be obstinate, but he was one of the ablest, most
hardworking, and most intellectual men to occupy Ameri-
can high office—not to mention the presidency.

—Rory T. Cornish
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ADAMS-ONIS TREATY

See Transcontinental Treaty

ADDINGTON, HENRY, FIRST
VISCOUNT SIDMOUTH
(1757-1844)

ritish politician who, as prime minister
C‘\B 1801-1804), was in power during the

Louisiana Purchase Addington was the son of
Dr. Anthony Addington, the personal physician to the
elder William Pitt, and his family connection and child-
hood friendship with the younger William Pitt
(1759-1806) led to his political career. Genial and
respected, Addington as a politician was slow to act; his
harshest critic, William Cobbett, labeled him the “Doc-
tor,” a man who maintained the attitude of a physician
looking at the tongue of a sick patient.

Educated at Oxford and trained as a lawyer, Adding-
ton was brought into the House of Commons in 1784 by
Pitt, through whose influence he was elected speaker in
1789. When Pitt resigned in February 1801, over George
IIl’s refusal to grant Catholic emancipation to Ireland, the
king, with Pitt’s approval, asked Addington to form an
administration. Something of a caretaker administration
dependent upon Pitt’s support, it was inexperienced—
especially its foreign secretary, Robert Jenkinson, then
known by his courtesy title, Lord Hawkesbury, later sec-
ond Earl of Liverpool. The major achievement of the
Addington government was the establishment of a tem-
porary peace with France—the Peace of Amiens (1802)—
which would briefly transform the diplomatic relation-

ship between Britain and the United States.

Following secret negotiations with Louis Otto, the
French representative in London, preliminary peace
terms were signed in October 1801. Members of Pitt’s
previous administration had been concerned about the
rumors that a secret treaty had been signed between
Spain and France granting a retrocession of Louisiana to
Napoleon. Eager to establish a lasting peace, Addington
had refused to raise the question of Louisiana with Otto,
and Hawkesbury convinced George III to ratify the final
treaty in March 1802, with the argument that the terri-
tory was of no commercial importance, a wilderness that
would take decades to develop. During the interim
between the preliminaries and the final treaty, critics of
the Peace of Amiens, including William Cobbett, William
Windham, and, later, Lord Grenville, raised important
questions about Louisiana, especially after Napoleon
published the details of the Treaty of San Ildefonso in
December 1801. Did Amiens, it was asked, technically
confirm the retrocession, and what were the borders of
this retrocession? Addington tended to ignore these ques-
tions. Throughout 1802 the British cabinet did not dis-
cuss Louisiana, and Hawkesbury made no serious men-
tion of it in his dispatches to British ministers in America.

By early 1803, however, the warnings of Rufus King,
the American minister in London, that the United States
would not permit a French occupation of New Orleans
were being taken seriously. Napoleon’s insistence that
Louisiana included the two Floridas raised serious con-
cerns about British commercial interests in the Gulf of
Mexico, the West Indies, and Latin America. The uncer-
tainty of Louisiana’s northern border raised similar con-
cerns regarding the security of Canada. If Addington
refused to listen to the opposition press, however, he was
influenced by the publication in early 1803 of The Posses-
sion of Louisiana by the French Considered, by his staunch
supporter George Orr. Orr reflected the persuasive reports
arriving from Edward Thornton, the British minister in
Washington, D.C. Both Orr and Thornton argued that a
great diplomatic coup stared Britain in the face; if France
intended to occupy New Orleans, Britain should launch a
preemptive strike against the city, take it, and then present
it as a gift to Jefferson. Such action would help create a new
anti-French, Anglo-American understanding, and increase
British influence in the United States.

In early March 1803, Addington was finally prodded
into action. Hawkesbury sounded out King on such a
plan, and Addington’s ministry firmly supported the
Spanish claim that the Floridas had not been included in
the retrocession. Instructions were sent to Admiral
Thornborough, commanding the naval squadron off the
Dutch coast, to intercept any French troop ships heading
out into the North Sea. Addington, however, had missed
the diplomatic boat: war with France resumed that
month, and in April 1803, Napoleon announced his wish
to sell Louisiana to the United States. If the sale increased
French prestige in the United States, as well as gaining
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millions of dollars for Napoleon’s war chest, Addington
at least played a last positive role. Against all the rules of
war and existing British regulations, he gave permission
for Baring Brothers to export the gold from Britain that
helped make the Louisiana Purchase possible.

With the resumption of war and his growing unpopu-
larity, Addington resigned in April 1804. Finally recon-
ciled with Pitt in January 18035, he was included once
again in the government and was created Viscount Sid-
mouth. He continued to serve in successive administra-
tions, most noticeably as home secretary (1812-1822) in
the Lord Liverpool government. His increasingly reac-
tionary politics have won him, however, the odium of
numerous British historians. A die-hard Tory to the last,
he voted against Catholic emancipation in 1829 and the
Great Reform Act of 1832. Viscount Sidmouth died on
February 15, 1844.

—Rory T. Cornish
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ADET, PIERRE AUGUSTE
(1763-1834)

hen George Washington warned of entan-
C/':\W gling alliances in his presidential Farewell

Address, he aimed his remarks at French
minister Pierre Auguste Adet, among others. Adet
worked against approval of Jay’s Treaty (1794),
attempted to influence the election of 1796, and sent a
spy mission to Louisiana in order to prepare for a French
conquest of Spain’s American empire.

Pierre August Adet was born at Nevers, France, in
1763. He was educated as a chemist but entered the diplo-
matic corps before he turned thirty-one as secretary of
France’s commission to St. Dominque, colonial adminis-
trator, member of the Marine Council, and finally, in
October 1794, minister to the United States. He arrived in
Philadelphia in June 1795 with instructions to ensure
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compliance with the commercial treaties and the alliance
of 1778. He did not speak English. Adet was directed to
work for a new commercial treaty, win the confidence of
Congress and the president, and, more important, obtain
a loan from the American government. From Europe,
John Quincy Adams reported that the French administra-
tion considered Adet “a very able and very excellent
man,” and Federalist secretary of the treasury Oliver Wol-
cott, Jr., thought Adet well educated, mild tempered, and
a minister who “will not be violent or troublesome” while
still representing French interests (DeConde, 1958).
Alexander Hamilton deemed Adet “more circumspect
than either of his predecessors” (ibid.). Both proved to be
badly mistaken in judgment, as Adet considered the
American assignment distasteful and held all Americans in
contempt—Adet wrote: “An American is the born enemy
of all European peoples” (Turner, 1904).

Citizen Adet, as he became known, worked openly
against Jay’s Treaty after the Senate passage, pushing the
House to defeat the passage of a bill for appropriations
to execute the treaty. To Adet and the French, Jay’s Treaty
abrogated the French alliance of 1778 and threatened
French commercial interests. He next meddled in the elec-
tion of 1796, in which Adet worked to support Republi-
can Thomas Jefferson’s election as president. In Novem-
ber 1796, Adet penned four proclamations to Secretary
of State Timothy Pickering, but had them published in
Benjamin Franklin Bache’s Philadelphia Awurora, a
Republican newspaper. In the proclamations, Adet
warned of the suspension of diplomatic relations and a
toughened French policy on neutral shipping, and he
reviewed Franco-American relations, blaming the current
crisis on the Federalists. Adet also called upon Frenchmen
in the country to wear the tricolored cockade as a symbol
of French liberty; those who refused risked their access to
the French consul. His actions infuriated the Federalists
but had little bearing on John Adams’s election to succeed
Washington. In the words of one American, however,
Adet “diminished that good will felt for his government
and the people of France by most people here”
(DeConde, 1958).

In the West, Adet was plotting for the French con-
quest of Louisiana—the true purpose of his mission. He
saw the United States as a staging area for France’s inva-
sion army, and to that end he sent General Georges
Henri Victor Collot on a reconnaissance mission to the
Mississippi Valley. Collot was to report on the political,
economic, and, foremost, the military situation in the
region. In reality, Collot was sent as a spy to determine
the potential for French military action against Spain; he
also sought to ascertain the possibility of secession
among the Western states (and those of the South as
well), to form a coalition to take the Louisiana Territory
for France. In addition, Adet was in contact with the
Westerners George Rogers Clark and “Colonel” Samuel
Fulton, who supplied the French minister with intelli-
gence reports from the West. Fulton was especially use-



ful as an agent—Adet sent him to Paris in April 1796
with information for the French government.

Victor Collot, like Adet, was contemptuous of the
Americans, but, unlike the minister, he readily shared his
feelings—he talked too much. Even before he left
Philadelphia in March 1796, the American government
knew of his objective, and the administration appropri-
ated $500 for agents to shadow Collot and report on his
plot. Collot noted that the Spanish fear of American
expansion was so great that Spain attempted “to hide
from the Americans whatever attractions the country
might have for them” (ibid.). He reported to Adet a plan
for defending Louisiana against the Americans and
imagined a French territory spanning from the Alleghe-
nies to the Rockies—parts of both Spain and America.
His conclusions backed Adet’s assertion that the Western
states and Louisiana must be joined to fend off Ameri-
can advancement. Adet and Collot thus conspired to
take Louisiana by military force if necessary, and Amer-
ican knowledge of their plans served only to further
undermine relations. At Adet’s instructions, Collot’s mis-
sion also provided French officials with a blueprint for
French policy—a frame of reference for Louisiana. Adet
was recalled as minister in November 1796, and he left
the United States in April of the following year.

Adet was a failure as a diplomat in America. Like his
predecessors Genét and Fauchet, his actions thwarted
Franco-American relations, drove many Americans closer
to the British as allies, angered politicians from both par-
ties, and aggravated the British even more. Noted British
journalist William Cobbett compared Adet to a blunder-
buss and called him an “unprincipled shameless bully.”
Adet’s career in America was one of intrigue that caused a
serious setback between the two nations, but the underly-
ing and clandestine object of his mission—gaining
Louisiana—was important in the series of events leading
up to the 1803 Louisiana Purchase.

—Boyd Childress
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AMANA COLONIES

he Amana Colonies were a planned religious
C/':\Tcommunity in east-central lowa established by
German Inspirationalists in 1855. German
Inspirationalists, who formed in 1714 in southern Ger-

many, believed that they received God’s messages through
certain individuals known as Werkzeug. They came to the
United States in the 1840s to escape religious persecution
in Germany. They first established a community in
Ebenezer, New York, but after ten years decided that New
York was too settled and expensive. The group decided to
find a better location for their settlement.

Inspirationalists traveled west of Chicago looking for
better land for their colony, and Iowa proved to be the
perfect place. In 1855 the group purchased eighteen thou-
sand acres along the Rock Island Railroad in east-central
Iowa, including the town of Homestead, and laid out the
six villages that formed the Amana Colonies. The origi-
nal villages included Amana, Middle Amana, East
Amana, West Amana, South Amana, and High Amana.

The group established woolen mills, sawmills, and
meat-processing facilities; they also instituted large-scale
agriculture and built fine furniture. The industries of the
Amana Colonies proved very lucrative for the group.
The group continued the communal lifestyle they had
lived in Germany and New York. Single-family homes
were built for individual families, but none of the origi-
nal homes had kitchens. The Inspirationalists had a
highly ordered distribution of jobs. Men worked in the
fields or industries. Unmarried women worked in the
communal kitchens. Married women worked in the gar-
dens, and older women tended the nurseries. Every child
in the Amana Colonies attended school through the
eighth grade.

Amana residents attended church eleven times a week:
three times on Sunday, every morning, and Wednesday
evening. The church dominated all aspects of life, and the
elders and the Werkzeugs maintained respected positions
in the community. Throughout the nineteenth century,
life was peaceful for the community.

In 1900, on account of their economic success, the eld-
ers found it more difficult to maintain the community’s
standards of religious and social behavior. In order to keep
the group together, the elders started to relax rules regard-
ing behavior and morality. The 1920s and 1930s were
challenging for the group. A large flour mill and a gristmill
burned in 1923. Neither building had been insured, and
the loss created a hardship for the community. Addition-
ally, during the 1920s sales at the various Amana industries
decreased, causing financial difficulties. The hardships of
the Great Depression further strained the colonies, and
these financial troubles forced the group into a difficult
decision. They could maintain their communal lifestyle or
abandon the old ways.

In 1932 the entire adult population of the Amana
Colonies voted on their future. The majority of the
Amana residents voted to end communalism. The Amana
colonies created a corporation to manage the various
business enterprises. Every person in the group received
one share of the new corporation. In all, the transition
from communal lifestyle to corporation was relatively
smooth. Today the Amana Colonies are a tourist attrac-
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tion, drawing visitors to the old woolen mills, furniture
shops, and numerous restaurants.

—Mary E McKenna
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AMERICAN FUR COMPANY

he American Fur Company became the domi-
C/':\Tnant interest in the Western fur trade of the

early nineteenth century. Started by German
émigré John Jacob Astor, the company organization
reflected its founder’s considerable business skills and
earned him a fortune. Astor had already amassed consid-
erable wealth in the China trade before he turned his
attention to monopolizing the fur supply coming out of
the newly acquired Louisiana Territory. In 1808 he
started the American Fur Company to pursue the fur
trading enterprise that, until then, had been primarily in
the hands of the British. A parallel venture, the Pacific Fur
Company, used maritime and overland expeditions to
establish a fort on the Pacific coast near the mouth of the
Columbia River. This short-lived venture, Astoria, had to
be released to British rivals during the War of 1812.
However, its importance to the young nation lay in the
routes that its employees pioneered, including South Pass,
the only way to get a loaded wagon across the Rocky
Mountains.

The nationalistic spirit of the country following the
War of 1812 proved a welcome benefit to Astor’s busi-
ness plans. Congress enacted a law that forbade foreign
operators from conducting trade operations on American
soil. This removed British rivals, such as the North West
Company, and allowed the American Fur Company to
expand in a less competitive environment. Astor soon
came to dominate the fur trade through the employment
of hundreds of trappers, who covered the Missouri,
Green, and Wind River systems.

The participation of these individuals was critical to
the success of Astor’s enterprise, and nineteenth-century
fur trapping was certainly not a profession for everyone.
The work demanded tough souls, for trapping was an
arduous, solitary undertaking. The pursuit of beaver pelts
took trappers far into remote areas, cut off from human
contact. The white men involved in the trade forged an
identity for themselves as “mountain men,” and several
individuals, such as Jim Bridger and Jedediah Smith,
gained near legendary status in the annals of the West.
Indeed, it was the men in the field, not the businessmen
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like Astor, who captured the American imagination.
Much of the area of operation was unsettled by whites
and still under the control of indigenous groups with con-
siderable power. Native Americans often viewed the
incursions of fur traders as a threat to their control. For
their own part, white trappers often found the adapta-
tions of native groups indispensable to survival in the
harsh conditions; as a result, many adopted Indian modes
of dress, travel, and food preparation, and some married
into the tribes.

As companies struggled to deal with the power
dynamics of the Rocky Mountain West, Astor’s represen-
tatives established a relationship with the Blackfoot that
opened rich territory to the company. This type of busi-
ness acumen pushed the American Fur Company to the
forefront of the fur trading business. By 1834 the Ameri-
can Fur Company so outclassed its competition that the
rival Rocky Mountain Fur Company sold out to Astor.
The combined forces of the trappers in the field and the
businessmen in the cities proved a potent arrangement.
The rendezvous system pioneered by William Ashley
allowed the trappers to stay in the mountains all year and
turn over their skins, at annual meetings, to supply trains
sent from the settlements. This became the basis of the
Rocky Mountain system, which ruled the West for a
short time. At its height, the system employed more than
one thousand men on the Missouri River drainage and
Rocky Mountain streams. The fur supply began to dwin-
dle under the pressure of heavy trapping at the same time
that fashions veered toward silk. Astor sold the American
Fur Company and retired with a personal fortune of $20
million. The fortunes of the company continued to
decline until, in 1840, it called a halt to the annual ren-
dezvous cycle.

The American Fur Company dominated the fur trade
of the West for a seemingly brief span of four decades. In
that time, however, it wrought several changes. The envi-
ronmental effect on the beaver was obvious, and the ani-
mals could no longer be found over much of their former
range. And the effect of the incursion of nonnatives on
the indigenous people of the West was also devastating.
Contact altered native life in countless ways, many of
which would not be immediately felt, such as a desire for
trade goods or an altered economic system. Other effects
were immediately and painfully obvious. In 1837 an
American Fur Company steamboat stopped at the Man-
dan villages on the Missouri River and inadvertently
introduced a smallpox virus that decimated the villages.

—Clarissa W. Confer
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AMERICAN INSURANCE CO.
V. CANTER
(1828)

he question of the legality of the Louisiana Pur-
C/':\Tchase (1803) was an issue that was debated

both internationally and within the United
States at the time and in subsequent years. At the interna-
tional level, many European powers believed that the
United States effectively concluded an illegal purchase in
1803, because in the transfer the French violated terms of
the Treaty of San Ildefonso (1800) whereby the territory
should have been returned to Spain rather than sold to a
third power. In the eyes of some foreign leaders, the
United States essentially was the possessor of “stolen
goods.” Within the United States, there was doubt associ-
ated with the exact timetable of the purchase, as oppo-
nents of territorial expansion maintained that the U.S.
Senate, the body constitutionally mandated to ratify all
treaties, was notified after the fact of the purchase. Even
President Thomas Jefferson believed in 1803 that an
amendment to the U.S. Constitution might be necessary in
order to justify the legitimacy of the Louisiana Purchase.

In an odd fashion, the U.S. Supreme Court spoke to
the issue of the legality of the Louisiana Purchase and
other territorial acquisitions when it rendered a decision
in the case of American Insurance Co. v. Canter, 1 Peters
(26 U.S.) 511 (1828). The case was centered upon the
question of what authority territorial courts possessed. In
a larger sense, the case established a legal precedent that
authorized the United States to annex territory and estab-
lish governments for the same, basing both legislative
actions upon constitutional principles.

American Insurance Company sued for restitution
associated with 356 cotton bales that had been a part of
the cargo of the vessel Point a Petre that was wrecked just
off the Florida Keys while on a voyage from New Orleans
to the French port of Havre de Grace. A portion of the
cargo had been salvaged, and it was taken to Key West.
Under order of a Florida territorial court, the cotton was
sold at auction to cover the costs of the salvage operation.
American Insurance, having insured the cargo in ques-
tion, challenged the action of what it considered an infe-
rior court—one created by the Florida territorial legisla-
ture and not the U.S. Congress—to render a decision in a
case that should have been heard by a higher court.

Article IIT of the Constitution of the United States
does provide that “all cases of admiralty and maritime
jurisdiction must be vested in the Supreme Court and in
such inferior courts that Congress may establish.” Chief
Justice John Marshall, speaking for the Court in a unan-
imous 7-0 decision, maintained that the territorial court
did have jurisdiction in the case because it had been
legally established by a legislature that was created by
congressional action. Chief Justice Marshall maintained
that “[t]he Constitution confers absolutely on the gov-
ernment of the Union, the powers of making war, and of

making treaties; consequently, that government pos-
sesses the power of acquiring territory, either by con-
quest or by treaty” (Keats). Therefore, it was the opin-
ion of the Court that the Congress derived its plenary
powers to acquire territories and to govern them in Arti-
cle IV of the Constitution. In this fashion, the Court
maintained that the right to annex territory, such as
Florida or Louisiana, may be derived from either the
stipulated powers to declare war or to conclude treaties.
In 1857, Chief Justice Roger B. Taney would ignore this
precedent when he rendered his decision in the case of
Dred Scott v. Sandford.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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AMES, FISHER
(1758-1808)

isher Ames was one of the most eloquent and
CaPmost outspoken critics of Jeffersonian democ-
racy during the years of the early republic. He
served in the House of Representatives (1789-1797) as a
Massachusetts Federalist and constantly vilified his polit-
ical opponents as being advocates of social anarchy and
mob rule. It was Ames’s belief that the democratic egali-
tarianism associated with the Jeffersonian Republicans
was something akin to the Jacobin radicalism that had
developed across the Atlantic as a result of the French
Revolution. Ames wanted nothing of the sort to take root
in the United States.
Ames was born in Dedham, Massachusetts, on April
9, 1758, and was raised in a strict New England house-
hold. His Calvinist upbringing influenced his later politi-
cal ideology. Despite his father’s death when he was a
child, his mother made sure that her son received a clas-
sical education. He graduated from Harvard in 1774
when he was only sixteen years old and became a lawyer
shortly thereafter. By 1787, Ames had become an accom-
plished solicitor, and he found himself elected to the con-
vention called for the ratification of the U.S. Constitution
in Massachusetts. Ames supported the idea of a strong
national government, but the exact nature of that gov-
ernment was at odds with what others (who later called
themselves Federalists) would see as the essential nature
of federal authority.
As a member of the First Congress, Ames was
involved in the debates associated with the drafting and

Ames, Fisher 7



passage of the Bill of Rights, the first ten amendments to
the U.S. Constitution. Ames was especially associated
with the language incorporated into the First Amend-
ment. Ames strongly supported the administration of
George Washington during his eight years in the House of
Representatives.

Ames believed in the sanctity of contract and in invio-
lable property rights. He found comfort in the aristocratic
airs of his fellow Federalists because he believed that the
common sort could not govern themselves, despite the
best intentions of democratic ideals. Although fellow Fed-
eralists, such as John Marshall and Alexander Hamilton,
supported an expanding vision of America that incorpo-
rated economic nationalism and territorial growth, Ames
would have nothing of such views.

Ames became one of the leading supporters of Jay’s
Treaty (1794) when it reached the Congress, despite
widespread disapproval of it by the general public. He
supported the measure for two clear reasons that were
consistent with his political ideology: Ames believed that
any treaty with Great Britain, however flawed it might
be, would serve to punish the French, whom he despised.
Also, Ames believed that the economic concessions that
were given to the British in Jay’s Treaty would halt the
expansive desire of many who supported territorial
growth and a strong national economy.

Ames believed—correctly, as time would prove—that
the territorial expansion of the United States would fur-
ther weaken the political power and influence of New
England. Since Ames felt that the moral compass of the
nation was defined by New England Calvinist values,
only moral decay and national decline would follow in
the wake of expansionist schemes. In 1804, shortly after
the Louisiana Purchase had been accomplished, Ames
described New England’s waning influence as he wrote of
the region’s being “not as the guarded treasure of
freemen, but as the pittance, which the disdain of con-
querors has left to their captives” (Ames, 1969).

After retiring from political life, Ames was offered the
presidency of Harvard University but was forced to
decline the offer because of poor health. Despite his retire-
ment from public life, Ames continued to correspond with
leading national figures to ensure that the true ideology of
the Federalists was always articulated. As such, Ames
maintained his presence as the voice of the loyal opposi-
tion during the presidential administration of Thomas Jef-
ferson. Ames died at his home in Dedham, Massachusetts,
on July 4, 1808.

Ames’s best-known work, The Influences of Democ-
racy on Liberty (1835), was published after his death. In
this work Ames describes popular democracy as “an illu-
minated hell, that in the midst of remorse, horror, and
torture, rings with festivity” (Ames, 1835). Always the
eloquent orator, even death could not silence the stinging
language of Fisher Ames’s critique of America’s demo-
cratic experiment.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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AMIENS, PEACE OF
(1802)

his treaty between the French republic, Great
C\TBrltam Spain, and the Batave republic (Hol-

land) was concluded in Amiens, France, on
March 27, 1802. The Peace of Amiens followed the sign-
ing of the Franco-Austrian Treaty of Lunéville (1801),
which had brought peace to the European continent. Just
prior to the conclusion of the Peace of Amiens, the British
minister, William Pitt, was forced to resign on March 13,
1801. Pitt had been one of the key British officials opposed
to negotiating with France. This political development
helped create new possibilities for peace. Great Britain was
isolated after Lunéville, and a Franco-British peace was
opportune. On October 1, 1801, the preliminaries of this
treaty were signed in London. After eight years of war, the
British and the French welcomed the truce. In addition, the
Peace of Amiens was essential for the re-establishment of a
balance of power between France, Spain, and Great Britain
in the colonies. This accord created a momentary respite
from war and made it possible for France to negotiate the
sale of Louisiana to the United States.

Joseph Bonaparte (France), Lord Cornwallis (Britain),
Azzara (Spain), and Schimmel-Penninck (republic of
Batave [Holland]) were the representatives who signed
the Peace of Amiens. Under its conditions, Britain was to
restore to France and her allies their colonies, with the
exception of the Dutch possessions in Ceylon and the
island of Trinity. In addition, the British had to evacuate
Malta, the island of Elbe, and Egypt. In return, French
troops were to leave Holland, Portugal, Naples, and the
Roman states.

Without this period of peace, the first consul of the
French government could not see any possibility of rais-
ing an empire in the Americas. At this point, Napoleon
Bonaparte hoped that the peace would allow France the
opportunity to deal with the slave rebellion in St.
Domingue (Haiti). The French needed to regain control
of St. Domingue, which was an important sugar colony.
The Americans also hoped that the French would subdue
the rebellion, because they feared that the crisis might
spread to the United States.

The secret preparation of the Flessirque Expedition



confirms Bonaparte’s initial intention of pursuing an
American empire. The Peace of Amiens made conditions
favorable to begin a Louisiana expedition. The Flessirque
Expedition was preceded by General Leclerc’s disastrous
mission to St. Domingue. Leclerc, Napoleon Bonaparte’s
brother-in-law, and the majority of his troops died of yel-
low fever. At great expense to France, this disaster
thwarted the plan to subdue the slave rebellion.

This time the mission had a different aim. Bonaparte
ordered the mounting of troops and a large fleet, which
were to sail from the Dutch port of Helvoét Sluys. Offi-
cially, the French fleet was to sail to St. Domingue. This
ruse did not, however, deceive the British: informers spec-
ulated that the French intended to occupy Louisiana.

The Flessirque Expedition gravely jeopardized the
Peace of Amiens. The French refused to remove their
troops from Holland because the expedition was delayed
by numerous setbacks. This increased the strain on
Franco-British relations and revealed the fragility of the
peace. And the Flessirque Expedition proved ill fated
from the beginning. Delayed because of poor weather
and supply, organizational, and reconnaissance prob-
lems, the French fleet never sailed. France sold Louisiana
to the United States just before its departure.

In turn, the British were showing little intention of
complying with the provisions of the Peace of Amiens. As
a reaction to the French presence in Holland, the British
refused to hand over the island of Malta to the French.

After the sale of Louisiana, Bonaparte wanted to end
the Peace of Amiens and begin the war with England
again. Given the circumstances, he knew he could not
defend both Louisiana and St. Domingue. At this point,
Bonaparte began to focus his energies on a Mediter-
ranean empire, and he moved away from the expansion
of French possessions in the Americas. He hoped to
extend his territory with the conquest of Malta and
Egypt. That was one of the essential factors in
Napoleon’s decision to sell Louisiana.

—Rachel Eden Black

See also

Haiti; Lunéville, Treaty of

For Further Reading

Peterson, Merrill D. 1998. “Louisiana!” In The Louisiana
Purchase Bicentennial Series in Louisiana History, vol. 3.
Edited by Dolores Egger Labbe. Lafayette: Center for
Louisiana Studies.

ARANJUEZ, CONVENTION OF
(1801)

he Convention of Aranjuez (March 21, 1801)
C/':\ was a negotiated arrangement between
Napoleon Bonaparte’s French republic and

the Kingdom of Spain that further clarified and placed
into effect the diplomatic agreements tentatively estab-

lished between the two nations in the secret second
Treaty of San Ildefonso (October 1, 1800). Lucien Bona-
parte, the brother of the first consul and French ambas-
sador at Madrid, negotiated on behalf of France, and
Pedro de Cevallos, Spanish minister of foreign affairs,
represented the interests of His Most Catholic Majesty
Charles IV of Spain. It was through the Convention of
Aranjuez that the retrocession of Louisiana from Spain
to France actually took effect.

Napoleon Bonaparte had sent French General Louis
Alexandre Berthier as his special envoy to Madrid to
negotiate with the Spanish in the fall of 1800. Bonaparte
was eager to re-establish a French empire in North Amer-
ica and desired the retrocession of Louisiana from the
Spanish Bourbons. The first consul advised Berthier to
seek from the Spanish the retrocession of Louisiana, the
cession of the Floridas, and the provision of ten warships
for which the French republic would guarantee a yet-
undetermined kingdom on the Italian peninsula for the
Duke of Parma. Spanish king Charles IV would not
budge on the question of the Floridas, and he reduced the
warship requisition down to six, but he was willing to
transfer Louisiana, in principle, upon the acquisition of
the promised Italian kingdom. Napoleon Bonaparte real-
ized that he had to make his pledge of the Italian king-
dom valid before the Spanish would surrender Louisiana.

French diplomats were quite busy in the months fol-
lowing the San Ildefonso negotiations. First, French and
American negotiators completed their work drafting the
Treaty of Mortefontaine (1800), which officially ended
the Quasi-War (1798-1800) and attempted to re-estab-
lish a viable commercial relationship with the American
republic. Other negotiators smoothed over differences
between the French republic and the remnants of the
Holy Roman Empire as they developed the Treaty of
Lunéville. It was through this diplomacy that Napoleon
acquired clear title to the kingdom of Tuscany in Italy, the
region that he would use to satisfy his promise to Charles
IV in the Treaty of San Ildefonso.

Once Napoleon acquired Tuscany, he had a few reser-
vations about the promises made to the Spanish Bourbons.
On a personal level, Napoleon did not care for Fernando,
the Duke of Parma, and did not wish to see him inherit a
kingdom. Napoleon believed that he might be able to live
up to the spirit of the San Ildefonso negotiations if he guar-
anteed the Kingdom of Etruria (the new name given to the
Grand Duchy of Tuscany) to Luis, the Prince of Parma,
and the son of Fernando. The negotiations that took place
at Aranjuez in early 1801 were aimed at getting the Span-
ish monarch to agree to the slight modification.

Spanish king Charles IV agreed to the changes. Since
Luis was also his son-in-law, perhaps the thought of hav-
ing his daughter serve as the queen of Etruria was an
appealing prospect. In addition, the agreement signed at
Aranjuez reiterated Spain’s promise to retrocede
Louisiana to the French. The Spanish also gave the island
of Elba to the French.

Aranjuez, Convention of 9



Although it looked as though Napoleon Bonaparte
had reclaimed Louisiana and set into motion the neces-
sary steps to re-create a French North American empire,
circumstances beyond his control would prevent that
from happening. Still, the first consul was somewhat
restricted by a pledge that he had made in the Treaty of
San Ildefonso (1800), whereby the French promised the
Spanish that the Louisiana Territory would never be
traded or sold to a third party. For this reason, many
European powers refused to recognize the legitimacy of
the transfer of the Louisiana Territory when a cash-
strapped Napoleon Bonaparte sold that region to the
United States in 1803.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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ARAPAHO

he Central Plains were home to the Arapaho
C/':\Tand their allies, the Cheyenne. Both groups

inhabited and hunted the region of present-day
eastern Colorado and southeastern Wyoming. They lived
primarily in the region between the Arkansas and North
Platte Rivers. The Arapaho called themselves Inuna-ina or
Hinonoeino (“our people”). Neighboring tribes that were
favorably disposed toward the Arapaho referred to them as
the “Blue Cloud People” because of their often-favorable
temperament, but adversaries—such as the Sioux, Kiowa,
Ute, and Pawnee—disparagingly called them “dog eaters.”

The Arapaho spoke a language that stemmed from the
Algonquian-Wakashan linguistic group. Although they
had formerly been agriculturalists of the eastern wood-
lands of Minnesota, they migrated westward during the
early seventeenth century. Settling in the Central Plains,
they adopted the lifestyle of nomadic hunters who fol-
lowed the vast herds of bison that inhabited the region.
Because they were nomadic hunters, the Arapaho fre-
quently came into contact with other tribes that main-
tained themselves in similar fashion. These frequent
encounters generally led to clashes over rights to tradi-
tional hunting lands. The Arapaho often found them-
selves at war.

This often-warlike tribe came to be known as a peace-
ful people because they chose not to fight the Americans
when they arrived on the Central Plains. The lands that
the Arapaho occupied were of central importance to the
course of the American empire because all major over-
land trails, such as the Oregon Trail and the Mormon
Road—which would be traversed by emigrant pioneers,
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prospectors, and other trappers and traders—had to
cross Arapaho country. The Arapaho agreed to a treaty
with the U.S. government in which they promised to pro-
vide an open corridor that would allow for safe passage
for overland travelers. Unfortunately, in making this deci-
sion, the Arapaho effectively divided their tribe.

The Southern Arapaho eventually merged with the
Cheyenne and lived near the Arkansas River and its tribu-
taries. This group eventually became the victims of the infa-
mous Sand Creek Massacre (1864). The Southern Arapaho
and Cheyenne who remained were eventually placed upon
reservation land in Oklahoma. The Northern Arapaho
lived along the North Platte River. Shortly after the Sand
Creek Massacre, the Northern Arapaho signed the Treaty
of Medicine Lodge (1867), in which they agreed to make
peace with the Shoshone, their traditional enemy, and live
among them on the Wind River Reservation in Wyoming.

One of the most ignoble events of U.S. history, the
Sand Creek Massacre of November 29, 1864, became
symbolic in Native American consciousness to the callous
disregard that white Americans held for treaty obligations
negotiated with Indian tribes. Colonel John M. Chiving-
ton and a contingent of the Colorado territorial militia
deliberately attacked a village of Arapaho and Cheyenne
who were flying an American flag—a clear sign that they
were under treaty protection. In the wake of an artillery
barrage and cavalry charge, more than 200 women and
children were killed by Chivington’s assault. A few Arap-
aho and Cheyenne warriors were also killed, but most of
the men were participating in a hunt and were away from
the encampment at the time of the attack.

Victimized by a treaty decision that served to divide
and conquer, the Arapaho found themselves further mar-
ginalized by the pressures of Manifest Destiny. By 1867,
the tribe had lost possession of all of its traditional hunting
land. Even today the Arapaho remain a divided people
with about 11,000 members living on reservations in
Wyoming and Oklahoma.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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ARIKARA

he Arikara are the northernmost of Caddoan-
CaTspeaking villagers of the Plains, a language
family also including the Pawnee, Wichita,
Caddo, and Kitsai. Like their neighbors, the Mandan and



This group of Arikara were photographed as they participated in a medicine ceremony on reservation land in 1908.

the Hidatsa, the Arikara established villages along the
Missouri River in the Dakotas, where they engaged in
hunting, gathering, and a sophisticated agriculture that
stood as the region’s dominant mode of life before the rise
of nomadic peoples.

Tribal tradition and archaeological study agree that
the Arikara or their ancestors migrated from the Central
Plains over a period of several centuries prior to contact
with Europeans. Before the late eighteenth century, the
Arikara were more numerous and diverse. Pre-epidemic
populations are estimated to have been ten thousand or
more, with twenty to forty villages associated in seven to
a dozen bands. At least two major dialects were spoken,
with early European traders observing still more subtle
linguistic variation. After a series of late-eighteenth-cen-
tury epidemics devastated the Arikara, survivors concen-
trated into a few autonomous villages under separate
political leadership. When the Corps of Discovery arrived
in 1804, two to three thousand Arikara lived in three vil-
lages located above the junction of the Grand and Mis-
souri Rivers.

Like other Northern Plains villagers, the Arikara
mixed seasonal gathering and hunting of small game,
bison, and antelope with a varied agriculture, all made
possible by the complex environment of river, flood-

plain, bluffs, and vast grasslands. Fortified villages often
were located on bluffs above the Missouri River. Several
dozen circular, domed earth-lodges, each thirty feet or
more in diameter, served as residences, with prominent
families near the village’s center and its large Medicine
Lodge, a seat of community and ceremonial life. Winter
residences were located on the floodplain, which
afforded plentiful game, access to wood for fuel, and
protection from cold and wind. Villages were the focus
of life for Arikara women, and a village’s lodges, sur-
rounding fields, and immediate environs were the setting
for their efforts to sustain family and community. For
men, the village was a place of origin and return from
hunts and raids, and Arikara oral tradition describes
immature young men as being unfamiliar with the world
beyond the village.

Like other Northern Plains agriculturists, the Arikara
masterfully adapted their plants and practices to aridity
and a short growing season. Arikara fields, replete with
sweet, flint, and flour corns, as well as beans, squashes,
sunflowers, and melons, impressed many European and
American visitors. Surpluses were exchanged with
nomadic neighbors, who traded at Arikara villages or
designated fairs elsewhere on the Plains.

By the mid-eighteenth century, Arikara trade also
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involved the exchange of nonnative goods, including
arms and horses. Although early-eighteenth-century
maps may have relied on indirect information to situate
Arikara villages, Canadian traders had arrived at the
villages by the 1730s, followed by St. Louis-based
traders in the 1790s. The presence of these newcomers
also brought disease and recurrent epidemics in the
eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, diminishing
Arikara numbers and their ability to resist Sioux expan-
sion.

Meriwether Lewis and William Clark, hoping to
counter Sioux power and limit the influence of British
traders, sought to broker an alliance between the Arikara
and their fellow villagers, the Mandan and the Hidatsa.
But Arikara economic ties to the Sioux, mutual suspicion
among the erstwhile allies, and unproved American
power precluded alliance. With the exception of a violent
clash with William H. Ashley’s trade expedition in 1823,
and the subsequent military effort led by Colonel Henry
Leavenworth, exchange between the Arikara and Ameri-
can traders remained a largely peaceful affair. Continued
decline in their numbers, however, along with Sioux pres-
sure, led the Arikara to seek mutual security with the
Mandan and the Hidatsa on several occasions. Ulti-
mately, they joined those peoples in 1862 at Like-A-Fish-
hook Village, just below the junction of the Missouri and
Little Missouri Rivers; the place later became the seat of
the Fort Berthold Reservation, established in 1870 by
executive order.

Conflict on the Northern Plains during the 1860s and
1870s presented the Arikara with an opportunity to
strike an alliance with the United States and secure a
measure of protection from continued Sioux attack. With
war at an end by the 1880s, the Arikara, like other West-
ern Indian peoples, became subject to a systematic assim-
ilation program. The allotment of tribal lands, an integral
part of assimilation efforts, saw the Arikara begin to take
individual homesteads in 1884, abandoning Like-A-Fish-
hook and establishing their own communities of Nishu
and Elbowwoods east of the Missouri River. The
Arikara, Mandan, and Hidatsa joined themselves as the
Three Affiliated Tribes under terms of the Indian Reor-
ganization Act of 1934.

—J. Wendel Cox
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ARKANSAS

n March 23, 1804, Captain Francisco Caso y
CaOLuengo of Spain relinquished command of

Arkansas Post to Lieutenant James B. Many
of the U.S. Army. The change of command occurred as
the United States formally took possession of the former
French and Spanish colony of Louisiana.

At the time of the American accession, Arkansas had a
known population of less than five hundred, which
included sixty enslaved blacks. The rest of the population
consisted of French Creoles, métis (persons of mixed
European and Indian ancestry), and Anglo-Americans.
Most of these lived at Arkansas Post near three Quapaw
villages that were estimated to have a population of 575.
An unknown number of whites and Indians lived scat-
tered throughout Arkansas. By 1820 there were only four-
teen thousand people in the new territory, but there were
more than fifty-two thousand by 1836, when Arkansas
became a state. During the 1830s, Arkansas’s population
more than tripled, to ninety-eight thousand.

What became the state of Arkansas was first part of
the District of Louisiana, established by Congress in
1804. A line run at 33 degrees north latitude divided the
district from the Territory of Orleans and eventually
became Arkansas’s southern boundary.

The District of Arkansas was organized in 1806, only
to be dissolved the next year and placed under the juris-
diction of the District of New Madrid. Then, in 1808,
Governor Meriwether Lewis re-established the District of
Arkansas in response to Arkansas citizens’ complaints
that New Madrid was too distant.

Arkansas took the next political step in 1813, when it
became a county in the Territory of Missouri. Arkansas
County was divided into four additional counties by 1819.
That year the Territory of Arkansas was organized by Con-
gress, with its northern boundary at 36 degrees 30 minutes
north latitude, except for the so-called boot heel region of
the new state of Missouri in northeastern Arkansas.

The western boundary of the territory was defined by
several Indian treaties and federal government surveys as
part of the creation of the Indian Territory. In 1820, the
U.S. treaty with the Choctaw proposed to establish a
reservation that would include the southwestern quarter
of Arkansas. Because significant numbers of Arkansas
residents lived there, the treaty was renegotiated in 1825.
The southwest boundary of the territory was set on a line
running from the Red River, west of the great bend, to the
Arkansas River, just west of Fort Smith.

The northwest boundary was set in 1828 in a treaty
with the Arkansas Cherokee. Many Cherokee had moved
into Arkansas before 1803. Then, in 1817, about five
thousand moved to a reservation in northwest Arkansas
in exchange for their eastern lands. Eleven years later, a
new treaty exchanged their Arkansas reservation for land
in the northeast part of the Indian Territory. The line
between the Cherokee reservation and Arkansas ran



from Fort Smith to the southwestern corner of Missouri.

The Quapaw joined the Cherokee in the Indian Terri-
tory in 1833 after a series of treaties. In an 1818 treaty
with the federal government, the Quapaw agreed to a
reservation between the Ouachita and Arkansas Rivers.
Six years later they were forced to sign another treaty that
moved them to northwestern Louisiana. When they
returned to Arkansas, a third treaty moved them to the
Indian Territory in 1833.

The federal government quickly made its presence felt
in ways other than the development of political geogra-
phy. In 1805, John B. Treat established the first of three
federally controlled Indian trading factories in Arkansas.
Treat’s factory was unsuccessful and closed in 1810, but
two others were built soon after. In 1817 the Natchitoches
trading factory was moved to the mouth of the Sulphur
Fork of the Red River, just inside Arkansas. Two years
later, a factory was built at Spadra Bluff, near present-day
Russellville, for trade with the Cherokee. Then, in 1818,
Fort Smith was built to bring peace to the frontier.

Expeditions, which began during President Thomas
Jefferson’s administration, explored, mapped, and gath-
ered information about Arkansas and the Southwest. In
1804, the year in which Meriwether Lewis and William
Clark set off for the West, William Dunbar and Dr.
George Hunter traveled up the Ouachita River in
Louisiana and Arkansas. Their destination was the
famous hot springs. Two years later, Thomas Freeman
and Peter Custis traveled up the Red River to find its
source. Their expedition was turned back by a Spanish
army contingent west of the great bend of the Red River.
In 1819-1820, Major Stephen H. Long’s expedition
failed to find the source of the Red River, but it succeeded
in traveling down the Arkansas River and recording
information about the land and people of Arkansas.

The Territory of Arkansas was created in 1819, after
Missouri petitioned for statehood. Arkansas was caught
up in the debate over slavery during the admission of Mis-
souri, and Congress permitted slavery in the territory
upon its creation. James Miller was appointed the first ter-
ritorial governor, and Robert Crittenden the first territo-
rial secretary. Miller served, though he was not present in
Arkansas for much of his term, until 1825. Crittenden,
who frequently acted as governor, served until 1829.
Miller was succeeded by George Izard, who served until
his death in 1828. The new administration of Andrew
Jackson appointed John Pope as governor in 1829, and
William S. Fulton as secretary. Fulton succeeded Pope as
governor in 1835.

Crittenden called the first legislative council together in
1819, before Miller arrived and without approval from
Washington. Crittenden quickly became one of the most
influential men in the territory. He supported the election
of J. Woodson Bates as the first territorial delegate to Con-
gress in 1819, but he broke with Bates in 1823. Henry
Conway was elected that year with Crittenden’s support.
Four years later, Crittenden and Conway had become bit-

ter enemies. The 1827 election for delegates was noted for
mudslinging on both sides. After Conway defeated Crit-
tenden’s candidate, he unwisely challenged Crittenden to
a duel—one in which Crittenden shot and killed Conway.

The duel symbolized political violence in territorial
Arkansas and was the beginning of the end of Crittenden’s
political career in Arkansas. Conway had been a member
of an extended family that was gaining political power in
Arkansas. Known as “the family” or “the dynasty,” it
included judges, legislators, and federal officials and
became associated with the Democratic Party. Among its
members were Henry Conway’s brother James, who was
the surveyor-general of Arkansas Territory and later the
first governor of the state, and his cousin Ambrose Sevier,
who became the territorial delegate and then one of
Arkansas’s first U.S. senators. The family also included
William Woodruff, who in 1819 published the first news-
paper in Arkansas, the Arkansas Gazette.

Little Rock replaced Arkansas Post as the capital of the
territory in 1821. Little Rock was located not only on the
Arkansas River, at a famous landmark, but also on the
Southwest Trail from Missouri to Texas. Migration and
the growth of settlements on the trail had risen steadily
since the Louisiana Purchase. As a result of these factors,
Little Rock became an important depot; in addition, it
was located closer than Arkansas Post to the center of the
territory’s population: nearly 70 percent lived in counties
along the trail. Eventually, Little Rock became tied finan-
cially to the Arkansas lowlands, which were the leading
slave-owning and cotton-producing section of the terri-
tory and state.

The lowlands, in fact, developed differently from the ter-
ritory’s highlands. In the 1820s, the lowlands of the Missis-
sippi Delta and the Gulf Coastal Plain, which constituted
the eastern and southern half of the territory, were moving
into cotton production and increasing in the population of
slaves. Slaves accounted for 15 percent of the population in
1830, only slightly higher than in 1810. Hempstead County
on the Red River had the highest population of slaves, at 21
percent. Ten years later, one out of every five persons in
Arkansas was a slave, and slavery had become more con-
centrated in the lowlands. Two new counties, Chicot in the
southeast and Lafayette in the southwest, contained popu-
lations that were more than 70 percent slave. To control this
expanding population, slave patrols began in 1825.

The highlands of the Ozark and Ouachita Mountains
were home to subsistence farmers and herders. In this
region, there were areas of slave ownership and cotton
production, especially along the Arkansas River, and
some farmers and herders produced corn and pork, two
of the territory’s most important products.

The 1820s were the transition period, when Arkansas
gradually became economically tied to the southern United
States. Before that decade, Arkansas’s economy had been
dominated by hunting and the trade in animal products
(furs, skins, tallow, and buffalo tongues). Neither pursuit
vanished, but they became less important to the economy.
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The Louisiana Purchase resulted in a religious change
in Arkansas. In the Colonial period, the white residents of
Arkansas were Roman Catholic if they professed any reli-
gion. After 1803, whites in Arkansas were members of
various Protestant denominations. They were Methodist,
Presbyterian, Baptist (including Landmark and Primitive
Baptists), Episcopalian, and Campbellites (Disciples of
Christ), as well as Roman Catholic.

On June 25, 1836, Arkansas became the twenty-fifth
state admitted to the Union—the third state created from
the Louisiana Purchase.

—Joseph Patrick Key
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ARKANSAS POST

rkansas Post was founded in 1686 by Henri
C/':\ A de Tonti, who assigned six men to trade with

the Quapaw Indians and watch for the return
of the expedition of Robert Cavelier, Sieur de la Salle,
Tonti’s business partner. La Salle, of course, never
returned, and the post was abandoned by 1700. It was re-
established in 1721 as part of John Law’s concession. The
concession failed, but this time a few settlers and a garri-
son remained.

Arkansas Post had moved several times during the
eighteenth century. By the time of the Louisiana Purchase,
it was located about thirty-five miles upriver from the
mouth of the Arkansas River at a place the French called
Ecores Rouges (“Red Bluffs”). Arkansas Post was home
to between sixty and seventy families. They consisted of
French Creoles, métis (persons of mixed European and
Indian ancestry), Anglo-Americans (some of whom were
refugees from the American Revolutionary War), persons
from various European backgrounds, and sixty black
slaves.

Although some settlers farmed and herded cattle on the
nearby Grand Prairie, a swath of grassland extending 150
miles to the northwest, most at Arkansas Post were mer-
chants or hunters engaged in the trade of animal skins, tal-
low, and buffalo tongues. Once the Louisiana Purchase
was successfully concluded, the U.S. government tried to
regulate this trade, as it had elsewhere, and it established
a factory in 1805 to trade with the Indians. Competing
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with entrenched merchants and long-established trade
relationships, the factory failed and was closed in 1810.

Some Americans found quick success in the trade.
Jacob Bright established a company with his New Orleans
partner Benjamin Morgan. Bright broke into the trade
thanks to a trading monopoly with the Osage granted by
the War Department. The monopoly was soon rescinded,
however, after lobbying by merchants with more experi-
ence in the Arkansas River trade and the government’s
own Indian trade factor. On Bright’s death, the Scull broth-
ers, James and Hewes, joined Morgan in the enterprise.

By the 1820s, many who began in the trade turned
their investments to cotton. Frederick Notrebe and
Antoine Barraque, both French natives who had immi-
grated to Arkansas after the Louisiana Purchase, started
business in the fur trade. They later became cotton
planters, and Notrebe acquired the first cotton gin on the
Arkansas River.

In 1807, with the appointment of its first local judges,
Arkansas Post became the administrative center for the
District of Arkansas in the Louisiana Territory, and in 1813
for Arkansas County in the Missouri Territory. When the
Territory of Arkansas was created in 1819, Arkansas Post
became the first territorial capital. Still, Thomas Nuttall
called it “an insignificant village containing three stores . . .
and . . . about 20 houses” (Bolton, 1998). It was an obser-
vation that reflected the fact that most of the population in
Arkansas was growing along the Southwest Trail. Only
two vyears later, Little Rock, at the spot where the trail
crossed the Arkansas River, became the capital.

—Joseph Patrick Key
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ARMSTRONG, FORT

ort Armstrong was a military outpost estab-
C’:xPlished on an island in the Mississippi River in

1816. The island is located between Rock
Island, Illinois, and Davenport, lowa. After President
Thomas Jefferson bought Louisiana, he instructed Indi-
ana territorial governor William Henry Harrison to nego-
tiate with the Sauk and Fox Indians to purchase their
land in western Illinois. In 1804 the Sauk and Fox ceded
fifty million acres of land east of the Mississippi River in



Fort Armstrong was established to maintain an American military presence in the upper Mississippi River Valley in the
region once occupied by the Sauk and Fox. (North Wind Picture Archives)

Illinois. However, Chief Black Hawk was not included in
the negotiation and refused to accept the transfer. Because
of increasing hostility with the Indians of the upper Mis-
sissippi, the U.S. Army decided to establish additional
military posts north of St. Louis. The southern tip of
Rock Island became a strategic location for the new fort,
on account of the thirty-foot limestone cliffs that formed
two sides of the new fort.

The soldiers stationed at Fort Armstrong remained
busy chopping wood, constructing new buildings for the
fort, and engaging in military drills. They shared the island
with several thousand Indians. Over the next few years,
several soldiers who had ventured too far from the fort
were found murdered.

During the winter of 1828, the first white squatters
moved into the Indian village, which is present-day Rock
Island, Illinois. Some of the bolder whites even moved
into Indians’ homes. Black Hawk and his followers grew
frustrated by the white encroachment on their land. He
warned the settlers that he would forcibly remove them if
they failed to leave. The settlers feared that other local
Indians would join Black Hawk, so they raised a force of
sixteen hundred volunteers. General Edmund Gaines and
the Sixth U.S. Infantry from St. Louis joined the Illinois
volunteers. Reluctantly, Black Hawk agreed to stay on
the west side of the Mississippi. However, in 1832, Black

Hawk broke the treaty, and the soldiers stationed at Fort
Armstrong readied for war. Again reinforcements arrived
from St. Louis, along with local volunteers ready to
remove Black Hawk to the west of the Mississippi. The
civilian volunteers included future presidents Abraham
Lincoln and Zachary Taylor, Confederate president Jef-
ferson Davis, presidential candidate Winfield Scott, as
well as other notables. With Black Hawk’s defeat, the
threat of Indian conflict no longer existed, and the white
settlers did not need protection. The soldiers at Fort Arm-
strong were relocated to Fort Snelling in the Minnesota
Territory. From 1840 to 18435, the fort became an arms
depot supplying soldiers on the frontier. In 1855, arson-
ists burned the buildings at the fort.

—Mary E McKenna
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ARMSTRONG, JOHN
(1758-1843)

s American minister to France from 1804 to
C/':\ AlSlO, John Armstrong tried unsuccessfully to

secure West Florida for the United States and
define the western boundary of the Louisiana Purchase.

Being Robert R. Livingston’s brother-in-law and a sen-
ator from New York, Armstrong was selected for this
task to maintain an alliance between the Republicans of
New York and Virginia. Armstrong was somewhat ham-
pered in his mission by his limited finances, his inability
to speak French, and his fear that Madison had spies
planted among the American community in Paris.

Monroe and Livingston had concluded that, unbe-
knownst to France and Spain, West Florida was both part
of the retrocession to France and the Louisiana Purchase.
Jefferson accepted that theory, and it formed the basis for
Madison’s instructions to Armstrong. Armstrong expected
French help in convincing Spain to cede West Florida, but
the mission was doomed almost from the start, as Tal-
leyrand denied the American claim on December 21, 1804.
In response, Armstrong advised that the United States to
seize the disputed territory. He would repeat this advice
whenever negotiations deadlocked.

Napoleon’s attitude toward the Armstrong mission
and the West Florida question depended on French mili-
tary fortunes. In September 1805 an unnamed agent pre-
sented Armstrong with several proposals in Talleyrand’s
handwriting. The agent said that France would ensure the
delivery of West Florida if the United States granted com-
mercial privileges to France and Spain in that territory,
agreed to a boundary at the Rio Colorado and a thirty-
league neutral zone on either side, agreed that claims
against Spain would be paid by bills on the Spanish
colonies, and paid $10 million to Spain. Armstrong
objected to the concessions and balked at the purchase
price. The agent lowered the price to $7 million, and
Armstrong agreed to submit the proposals to Madison.

Before Armstrong’s dispatch arrived, the cabinet
agreed to offer $5 million for the Floridas. Jefferson pre-
sented Armstrong’s letter on November 19, and the cabi-
net agreed to the proposals with the exception of the pur-
chase price. Formal instructions to Armstrong and James
Bowdoin, appointed as joint commissioners, were delayed
until the passage of the Two Million Dollar Bill in Febru-
ary 1806. Instructions based on Armstrong’s dispatch of
September 1805 arrived in Paris on April 28, 1806.

As a result of a series of military victories, France no
longer needed the money an arrangement with Spain
might have produced, and thus took a harder line against
the United States. When pressed by Armstrong, Tal-
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leyrand blamed the reversal of policy on the fact that
Bowdoin’s secretary had leaked the secret proposal to
Spain. Armstrong attempted to reopen negotiations in
May 1806, telling Talleyrand that the United States was
willing to put the Florida matter at Napoleon’s disposal.
Talleyrand responded by showing Armstrong a note from
Spain indicating that Spain would not cede the Floridas.
A fitful round of back-channel negotiations ended when
Talleyrand left for Prussia with Napoleon on September
25, 1806. By October, Armstrong was convinced that his
mission would end in failure.

Armstrong, trying to revive negotiations on June 16,
1807, presented three “hypotheses” to Talleyrand. Under
the first, the United States would accept the Rio Bravo and
the Mississippi as the boundaries of Louisiana if Spain
ceded the territory just east of the Mississippi. Under the
second, the United States would exchange the territory
between the Colorado and the Bravo for the land between
the Mississippi and the Apalachicola. Under the third,
Spain would cede the Floridas and the United States
would pay an unspecified sum for the Sabine River as the
western boundary, or a larger sum for the Colorado. Tal-
leyrand gave no definite response. In August 1807, Arm-
strong pressed Champagny (later Duke of Cadore) for an
answer on the western boundary, and received copies of
the French treaty with Spain.

The growing conflict between the United States and
Great Britain on the one hand, and France and Spain on
the other, seemed to offer Armstrong an opening. In Feb-
ruary 1808, Napoleon hinted that he would acquiesce in
the American occupation of the Floridas if the United
States declared war on Great Britain. When Armstrong
sought a clarification, Napoleon criticized the United
States for its supposed submission to Great Britain. Arm-
strong advised Madison that the United States should
seize the Floridas, but Madison did not believe Napoleon
would accept such a move.

Armstrong spent most of his last two years in France
dealing with commercial regulations. He returned home
to a hero’s welcome, at least among Republicans, in 1810.
As secretary of war in 1813, Armstrong directed the cam-
paign to occupy Mobile and guarantee American posses-
sion of West Florida.

—Robert W. Smith
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ASHLEY, WILLIAM HENRY
(17782-1838)

orn in Virginia in approximately 1778,
C/':\B William Henry Ashley moved to Kentucky in

1798. He arrived in the Louisiana Territory in
1802 and had moved to St. Genevieve by 1805, where he
became acquainted with Andrew Henry. Unsuccessful as
a merchant, he joined with Henry in 1811 to operate lead
and saltpeter mines.

Ashley gained leadership experience as a lieutenant
colonel of the Missouri Territorial Militia during the War
of 1812. He entered politics in 1820 in St. Louis, when he
won election as lieutenant governor of the new state of
Missouri. In 1821 he achieved the title of brigadier general
of the state militia and decided to enter into the Rocky
Mountain fur trade in partnership with Henry.

In 1822, Ashley and Henry ventured forth to establish
a fort on the Yellowstone River. Their 1823 expedition
brought west several new men who would eventually
make their mark on the fur trade: Thomas Fitzpatrick,
David Jackson, and William Sublette. Others, such as
James Clyman and Jedediah Smith, were already con-
nected to the Ashley-Henry enterprise.

Andrew Henry dissolved his partnership with Ashley in
1823, just as new discoveries promised success. Ashley had
sent Jedediah Smith to explore the Green River country, a
region he found to be thick with beaver. Ashley would
move in coming years to exploit this new bonanza of “soft
gold.” In April 1825, Ashley divided his men into several
smaller groups and sent them off to trap various sections
of the Green River country. The groups of trappers would
operate independently until early July, when they would all
return to gather at a predetermined location on the Henry’s
Fork of the Green River for what Ashley termed a “ran-
davoze.”

Meanwhile, Ashley descended the Green River, pass-
ing through Flaming Gorge and Lodore Canyon. On a
cliff in the canyon he carved his name and the date of his
visit, a landmark that John Wesley Powell noted during
his 1869 expedition. Below Lodore Canyon, Ashley met
Taos-based trappers under Etienne Provost, who
described the region downstream as poor in beaver.
Armed with the information, Ashley and his men turned
back north, trapping in and around the Uinta Mountains.

Returning to the appointed place on the Henry’s Fork
of the Green River in early July, Ashley found 120 men—
his own and a number of former Hudson’s Bay Company
engagés. Ashley gathered some nine thousand beaver
pelts at the rendezvous, and he and Smith undertook to
return with them to St. Louis. On the Missouri they met
an Army expedition, whose commanders they convinced
to transport the cargo of furs to St. Louis aboard their
keelboats.

Ashley’s men remained in the mountains and contin-
ued to hunt beaver until the following summer. Mean-
while, Ashley and Smith assembled a new outfit and

returned upriver for the second annual rendezvous, this
time on the Weber River. During the summer of 1826,
Ashley sold his business to Smith, Jackson, and Sublette.
Ashley’s involvement in the fur trade would now be to
bring goods up from St. Louis to supply the trappers at
their rendezvous, in trade for their furs, which he would
then return to St. Louis to sell. Meanwhile, the trappers
would remain in the mountains all year, trapping as inde-
pendent operators—or “free trappers”—rather than as
fur company employees. The rendezvous system pio-
neered by Ashley gave rise to the “golden age” of the
mountain man.

Now a successful trader, Ashley revived his political
career in Missouri. In 1831, he was elected to the U.S.
House of Representatives as a Democrat. He served as a
congressman until 1836, when he ran unsuccessfully for
governor of Missouri (this time as a Whig, because of
differences with Jackson over the Second Bank of the
United States). Ashley died of pneumonia on March 26,
1838.

William Henry Ashley played an important role in the
exploration of the West, being among the first to travel,
along with Jedediah Smith, the Platte River route that
eventually became the Oregon Trail. Ashley and his men
contributed much to the geographical knowledge of the
Mountain West. As an entrepreneur in the fur trade, Ash-
ley’s great innovation of the rendezvous system allowed
trappers to remain in the field year-round and did away
with the need to operate and maintain trading posts and
forts. The rendezvous system made possible that icon of
the far-Western fur trade: the mountain man.

—Douglas W. Dodd
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ASSINIBOINE

he Assiniboine, whose name derives from Cree
CaTor Ojibwa references to cooking with hot
stones, are a Siouan-speaking people of the
Northern Plains. Having split from the Sioux before 1640,
the Assiniboine moved from the western Great Lakes to

the western portion of the present-day Canadian province
of Manitoba during the eighteenth century. By the early
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After they signed treaties with U.S. authorities, the Assiniboine regularly exchanged trade goods with federal forces at Fort
Union in present-day North Dakota.

nineteenth century, the Assiniboine lived between the Mis-
souri and Assiniboine Rivers, with a substantial number
later moving south to the upper Missouri River, east of the
Milk River, in the present-day state of Montana.

Like many nomadic Plains peoples, the Assiniboine
were organized in a loose alliance of largely autonomous
bands, each with prominent leaders or headmen. Never-
theless, the people of these bands, of which there were a
half-dozen to a dozen or more, considered themselves to
be one people. In the seventeenth and eighteenth cen-
turies, Assiniboine economic activities reflected their
location on the boundary between the wooded northern
parklands and vast southern plains of the present-day
Canadian West. There they moved from season to sea-
son, trapping and fishing in spring along the parkland
margin, turning to the Plains for raids, bison hunts, and
trade with Missouri River villagers during the summer.
With the approach of winter, they returned to the north-
ern parklands. The Assiniboine adopted the horse late in
the eighteenth century but never maintained large herds,
even as they increasingly made bison hunting the focus of
their economic activities.

In the early eighteenth century, the Assiniboine
became middlemen in the bayside trade of the British
Hudson Bay Company. They gained substantial advan-
tage from that role and maintained this favorable posi-
tion through their access to firearms and alliances with
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the Cree and Ojibwa. The advent of an inland trade in
the mid-eighteenth century, with the establishment of
posts throughout the interior of the present-day Cana-
dian West, eventually eliminated the Assiniboine from
their middleman role. But the inland trade also afforded
a new opportunity. The posts of the Hudson Bay Com-
pany and the Montréal-based North West Company
required vast amounts of food, and the Assiniboine
became provisioners to the trade, supplying pemmican (a
mixture of pulverized bison meat, fat, and berries) until
displaced by the Red River Métis, the mixed-blood
descendants of European traders and Indian peoples, in
the mid—nineteenth century.

Trade provided material advantages to the Assini-
boine, but in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries it
also brought alien diseases, often with disastrous conse-
quences. For example, an 1818-1820 outbreak of
whooping cough and measles devastated the Assini-
boine, killing perhaps as many as half of their number
and reducing their population to approximately three
thousand. Other epidemics, such as the 1837-1838 out-
break of smallpox on the Northern Plains, further
reduced their numbers. This, in combination with the
expanding power and presence of the Sioux, left the
Assiniboine in an increasingly precarious position as the
nineteenth century advanced. Consequently, the Assini-
boine sought new allies, even among former enemies



such as the Gros Ventre. During the second half of the
nineteenth century, some Assiniboine closely associated
themselves with the Gros Ventre, and would later come
to share the Fort Belknap reservation with them.

The expansion of the United States would also shape
the future of many Assiniboine. But in the early nine-
teenth century, most Assiniboine lived at, or beyond, the
limits of the Louisiana Purchase and maintained close
contact with British traders. Although the Assiniboine
figured in early American diplomatic efforts, their remove
ensured a relationship conducted, at least initially, with
little direct interaction. Meriwether Lewis and William
Clark promised the Mandan and the Hidatsa that Amer-
ican trade would end their burdensome trade with the
Assiniboine. But the Corps of Discovery made only a
modest diplomatic initiative with a few Assiniboine
bands, and otherwise avoided the Assiniboine for fear
they might impede the expedition’s progress.

For several decades after the Corps of Discovery’s jour-
ney, the Assiniboine had little official contact with repre-
sentatives of the United States, even as they came to par-
ticipate directly in the American buffalo robe trade. Like
many Northern Plains tribes, the Assiniboine viewed the
newly arriving American traders and troops not as a ene-
mies but as partners in trade and allies in defense against
rival Indian nations. The Assiniboine in Canada would
settle on several reserves in the Canadian provinces of
Alberta and Saskatchewan. Those in the United States set-
tled on two reservations in present-day Montana, Fort
Peck and Fort Belknap, where despite the dramatic trans-
formation of life during the late nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries, they have displayed a remarkable
continuity of culture and distinct identity as a people.

—J. Wendel Cox
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ASTOR, JOHN JACOB
(1763-1848)

key figure in the Western expansion of the
C/':\ A fur trade and the wealthiest man in America
by the 1830s, John Jacob Astor was born to
a butcher’s family in Waldorf, Germany, on July 17,

1763. Following his older brothers, Astor made his way
to London in 1779 and then to New York in 1784, ini-
tially hoping to establish a market for musical instru-
ments made in his brother’s London factory. He simulta-
neously pursued an interest in the fur trade, investing the
proceeds from the sale of his first batch of sample flutes
in furs, and was soon involved in the import-export busi-
ness. Astor married Sarah Todd in 1785, and by the end
of that year was advertising both imported musical
instruments and furs for sale in New York. A growing
network of business connections provided access to part-
ners and capital that soon extended his reach to the fur-
trading centers of Albany and Montreal, eventually
allowing Astor to play a critical role in the North West
Company’s first trading venture to China in 1792, by
sidestepping British trade regulations and shipping furs
through his New York firm. He began to invest in New
York real estate around that time as well.

Astor dramatically expanded his position in the fur
trade after 1794, when Jay’s Treaty removed barriers to
his trade with Canadian trappers. He subsequently
increased his investment in the China trade, exporting furs
and importing tea and silks, and began to purchase his
own ships in 1803 to reduce shipping costs. Always look-
ing to diversify his investments, Astor also continued to
purchase New York City real estate, and he moved his
family (by now he had five children) to a fashionable
Broadway residence that same year. Following the return
of the Lewis and Clark Expedition in 1806, Astor became
a driving force in the American conquest of the West,
founding the American Fur Company in 1808 to chal-
lenge British-Canadian interests along the northern
boundary of the Louisiana Purchase. Rising tensions with
Britain, however, soon led to an embargo that made the
China trade more attractive and prompted Astor to con-
sider establishing an outpost on the Columbia River; such
an outpost would provide access to the untapped
resources beyond the Rocky Mountains as well as a more
direct shipping route to the Orient. The Pacific Fur Com-
pany was created for that purpose in 1810, and a plan was
developed to send two expeditions, one by land and one
by sea, to establish the new post near the mouth of the
Columbia. Although most of the sea party arrived safely
to found the settlement of Astoria in the spring of 1811,
the ship, its crew, and much of their supplies were
destroyed soon after, when the ship’s powder magazine
exploded during an Indian attack brought on by the cap-
tain’s incompetence. The overland party fared no better,
getting lost and eventually splitting into three groups that
arrived separately in the winter of 1812, having lost a
quarter of their number. Astoria stood as a challenge to
British claims to the Pacific Northwest only until the War
of 1812 broke out. Then, despite Astor’s pleas to the gov-
ernment for military assistance, the British exercised con-
trol over the region, and the American traders at Astoria
sold the entire enterprise to the North West Company in
October 1813, at a loss.
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Despite the failure of the Astoria project, John Jacob
Astor profited handsomely from the war. His real estate
investments and purchase of government bonds secured his
financial future, while the settlement of the conflict led
directly to his control of the Mississippi trading networks
of his former competitors. Consolidation in the fur trade
continued as Astor’s American Fur Company expanded up
the Missouri River, moving quickly after his successful
effort in 1821 to persuade Congress to abolish the govern-
ment-sponsored factory system that had competed with
private enterprise since 1796. After changing fashion
reduced demand for beaver pelts and overtrapping made
them harder to secure, declining profits led Astor to retire
from the trade in 1834 to concentrate on managing his vast
fortune and, in particular, his real estate holdings, which
exceeded in value some $4 million at the beginning of the
decade. Upon his death on March 29, 1848, his net worth
was estimated at $8 million to $10 million, the bulk of
which he left to his children, while less than $500,000 was
dedicated to philanthropic causes. Remembered for his
wealth, Astor was also a pioneer businessman whose inno-
vative practices helped Americans penetrate the West and
served as an example for the generation of capitalists that
drove the Industrial Revolution.

—Derek R. Larson
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ATKINSON, FORT

n August 1804, the Lewis and Clark Expedition
C:,\Iheld council with the Oto and Missouri Indians
beside the Missouri River in present-day
Nebraska. They named this meeting place Council-bluff
and believed it to be a most favorable location for a fort
and trading post. Lewis and Clark proved correct, and at
the Council-bluff site the Sixth Infantry, under the com-
mand of Colonel Henry Atkinson, built Camp Missouri
in 1819. Camp Missouri was located approximately six-
teen miles north of present-day Omaha, Nebraska.
However, Missouri River floodwaters inundated
Camp Missouri in 1820, and a new fort was constructed
on the top of a bluff overlooking the river. The post was
named Fort Atkinson, in honor of Colonel Atkinson,
who had commanded the first garrison. The Sixth
Infantry set up post there, and with the promotion of
Colonel Atkinson shortly thereafter, Colonel Henry
Leavenworth assumed command.
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At the time, Fort Atkinson was the westernmost mil-
itary garrison of the United States. Its purpose was to
offer protection for the fur trade. Following a previous
period of decline, the fur trade was undergoing a revival
during the 1820s in the lands out West, particularly on
the upper Missouri and in the mountain West. Many
famous mountain men and fur traders passed through
Fort Atkinson as they made their way westward. These
included Edward Rose, Louis Vasquez, Jim Bridger,
Hugh Glass, and Jedediah Smith.

With a population of more than a thousand at the
fort, a myriad of activities took place. There was a pub-
lic library, a school (the first public school in Nebraska),
and even amateur theatrical performances, with officers
and their wives in leading roles.

For the most part, life at Fort Atkinson was tedious
and boring. When soldiers were not drilling, they farmed
their own crops, such as corn, potatoes, carrots, wheat,
and hay, on large post farms. The day-to-day drudgery
led to a problem with drunkenness, resulting in several
courts-martial. As Colonel Leavenworth noted in one
report, thirty-six men were court-martialed for drunken-
ness immediately following a payday.

The monotony of garrison life was suddenly inter-
rupted in 1823 when General William H. Ashley (leader
of a fur trading company on the upper Missouri) sent
pleas for help to Colonel Leavenworth. The Arikara
Indians had attacked Ashley’s party near the mouth of
the Grand River, inflicting several casualties. Ashley had
retreated to a defensive position near present-day Cham-
berlain, South Dakota, and waited for help to punish the
Arikara. Colonel Leavenworth, upon receiving Ashley’s
request, mustered the garrison. The colonel selected 220
men and led the Sixth Infantry Regiment, along with
thirty trappers.

The Sixth Infantry headed up the Missouri River to
do battle with the Arikara. Along the way, 80 additional
trappers and 400 Sioux warriors—the Sioux being tra-
ditional enemies of the Arikara—joined them. After
traveling several hundred miles, the force arrived at the
Arikara village in South Dakota. The six-pounder can-
non they had taken with them was set on a hill and fired
lead balls into the Arikara village, while troopers and
Sioux fought the Arikara outside the walls. In the ensu-
ing battle, Chief Gray Eyes of the Arikara and forty
warriors were killed. The Arikara sued for peace, thus
ending the Arikara War of 1823. The action of the Sixth
Infantry in this conflict is commemorated with a battle
streamer attached to the group’s regimental color. The
streamer reads “South Dakota, 1823.” It was during
this war that six soldiers lost their lives by drowning in
the mighty Missouri River—they were the first U.S. sol-
diers to die in the Indian wars of the West.

Only one other major expedition left Fort Atkinson.
In 1825, approximately five hundred men went up the
Missouri to make a show of force and conclude treaties
with the Indian tribes on the upper Missouri. The mis-



sion proved successful when treaties were consummated
with seventeen Indian tribes.

Following the expedition of 18235, life at Fort Atkin-
son returned to its usual drudgery. Isolated hundreds of
miles from American civilian settlements, the fort had
achieved its goals of protecting the local fur trade, rep-
resenting the U.S. government in the West, and keeping
peace with the Indians.

However, once the fur trade had shifted farther to the
west, the War Department eventually questioned the
need for Fort Atkinson. Inspector George Crogham went
to Fort Atkinson in 1825 and declared the fort weak and
the garrison poorly trained. Two years later Fort Atkin-
son was abandoned, and the Sixth Infantry was trans-
ferred to Jefferson Barracks near St. Louis.

—Gene Mueller
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AUDUBON, JOHN JAMES
(1785-1851)

naturalist and artist, John James Audubon
Ca A produced scientific illustrations of the birds
of the Louisiana Purchase that helped foster
an appreciation of wildlife. Although he claimed New
Orleans as his birthplace, Audubon was born Jean Rabin
Fougere in Les Cayes, St. Dominque, the illegitimate son
of a sea captain and a servant. Formally adopted by Cap-
tain Audubon and his legal wife in 1794, the boy received
the name Jean-Jacques Fougére Audubon. The benefici-
ary of only a brief formal education, Audubon would
always find it difficult to express himself in writing, either
in his native tongue or in English. His father encouraged
his artistic talents, however, sending the boy to learn por-
traiture in the school of the French artist David. To avoid
conscription in the Napoleonic Wars, Audubon left
France for the United States in 1803 and began to sketch
birds at his father’s farm in the Philadelphia area. In that
same year, he met Lucy Bakewell. The couple married in
1808 and produced four children, two of whom survived
into adulthood.
Audubon did not at first consider an artistic career, and

Best known for producing The Birds of America, the

ornithologist and artist John James Audubon traveled
through much of the Louisiana Territory and painted
birds of the region. (North Wind Picture Archives)

he made a number of attempts to become established in
business. While his business partner in a general store in
Louisville, Kentucky, stayed behind the counter, Audubon
spent his days tramping through the woods drawing birds.
By 1810, Audubon’s portfolio contained more than two
hundred pictures of American birds; even at that time he
was painting them life-size, generally in pastel, and using
watercolors for the eyes, bills, and feet. After the dissolu-
tion of the partnership in 1809, Audubon continued as a
merchant for a few more years, by which time he had run
through all of his money. Jailed for debt in 1819,
Audubon began to draw portraits to raise cash, and he
soon realized that he had found a new profession. With
the aim of publishing a comprehensive collection of Amer-
ican birds in their natural surroundings, Audubon
planned a journey down the Ohio and Mississippi Rivers,
to New Orleans, and then east to the Florida Keys. En
route, he would find new specimens, dissect and draw
them, study the countryside and vegetation, and make
notes for the text that would accompany the drawings.
In October 1820, Audubon reached New Orleans,
combing it for commissions to sketch portraits. He
remained in the city for five months and then took a job

Audubon, John James 21



as a tutor at Bayou Sara, Louisiana. Many of the pictures
that later established his fame were drawn there. Con-
temporary representations of birds were usually wooden-
looking, since artists sketched birds from stuffed speci-
mens. Audubon determined to infuse his paintings with
energy by wiring up freshly killed birds. In Feliciana
Parish, Audubon established certain characteristics that
are unmistakably his own: a concern for the living animal
and an unequaled sense of drama, color, and design.
Although finances remained a concern as he bounced
from job to job, Audubon did manage to establish a rep-
utation as an ornithologist by publishing scientific papers
in such works as the Annals of the Lyceum of Natural
History and the Edinburgh Journal of Science.

Having antagonized prominent naturalists and
engravers in the United States by criticizing another avian
artist, Audubon concluded that he had to travel to
Europe to seek out engravers and printers for his Birds of
America volumes, ultimately illustrated with 435 plates.
He arrived in Liverpool in 1826 and soon discovered the
support and fame that had eluded him in the United
States. Audubon returned to America and stayed in Feli-
ciana Parish until the end of 1829, when he left again for
England. He engaged the young Scots naturalist William
MacGillivray to correct the errors in his grammar and to
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supply the necessary zoological detail for his Ornitholog-
ical Biography volumes. Audubon spent much of the
1830s in England, supervising the completion of both
publication projects.

In 1839, with his newly acquired wealth, Audubon
bought land in Carmansville, now Washington Heights,
in New York City. In 1843 he embarked on an eight-
month journey up the Missouri River to seek out mam-
mals for The Viviparous Quadrupeds of North America.
Audubon habitually displayed a callous attitude toward
animal suffering, and he would often shoot hundreds of
specimens of a species to make one illustration. During
the Missouri trip, however, his attitude changed as he dis-
gustedly witnessed the wanton slaughter of buffalo, and
he now expressed concern about the effects of indiscrim-
inate killing of wildlife. After the trip his health failed,
and Audubon died in Carmansville on January 27, 1851.

—Caryn E. Neumann
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BADLANDS

he term “badlands” refers to arid barren lands
C’-:\\Tfound in several Great Plains states, the most
well known being the South Dakota Badlands,
located in the southwestern corner of that state near the
Black Hills. The geological processes that created the
South Dakota Badlands began nearly sixty-five million
years ago with the draining of the ancient Pierre Sea. In
the eons that followed, floods, sand drifts, and strong
winds deposited various layers of mudstone, limestone,
sandstone, and shale over the ancient seabed. Approxi-
mately 500,000 years ago, wind and water began to
erode the sediments, gradually carving out a multihued
landscape dotted with startling spires and other unique
formations.
In historic times, the Arikara and the Sioux were the
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first known native peoples to venture through the South
Dakota Badlands, the Sioux moving into the region dur-
ing the late eighteenth century. Although Arikara and
Sioux oral traditions relate stories set in the Badlands,
both tribes viewed the area as a place best avoided, since
the harsh climate and lack of food and water made it ill
suited for human habitation. The term “Badlands” is a
translation of the French phrase mauvaises terres pour
traverser (“bad lands to cross”), itself a rendition of the
original Lakota (Teton Sioux) name, mako sica.

During the 1780s, Anglo-Celtic and French-Canadian
fur traders from the Hudson’s Bay Company and the
North West Company began trading with the various
Indian groups in the Northern Plains. During their travels
in the region, these newcomers were struck by the austere
environment, strange shapes, and scattered fossils they
found. The stories of fur traders of the period spoke of a
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The desolate landscape of the South Dakota Badlands was unappealing to many pioneers who sought territory that was bet-

ter suited to support farming or ranching.
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place of ancient, ruined cities filled with bones, difficult to
survive in but nonetheless awe-inspiring. By the 1850s
these tales had begun attracting curious scientists and
travelers to the Badlands, and in the succeeding decades,
Black Hills gold miners and U.S. Army battalions also
traveled through the area. Although the South Dakota
Badlands were not a major site of Indian-white conflict,
just prior to the Wounded Knee Massacre of 1890, five
hundred Sioux evading the U.S. Army sought refuge on a
grassy table in the area known as the Stronghold.

For nineteenth-century Euro-American visitors, the
Badlands were a fascinating, mythical landscape. The
metaphor of ancient ruined cities helped them make sense
of an utterly alien environment. It also provided them
with an enchanting fiction linking America to an ancient
civilization, much like the antiquity of Europe. At the
same time, however, the Badlands posed a unique chal-
lenge to the perception of the American frontier, particu-
larly the West, as a bountiful paradise. The harsh, bone-
dry region led some travelers to depict the Badlands as a
spiritual wasteland, a manifestation of hell on earth.

Following the cessation of armed conflict between the
Sioux and the U.S. Army in the late nineteenth century,
the Badlands attracted a new breed of visitors, who
sought to develop the grasslands in the surrounding area
for ranching and farming; those ventures, however, were
short-lived. South Dakota politicians, most notably Sen-
ator Peter Norbeck, then struck upon the idea of devel-
oping the Badlands as a tourist destination. Throughout
the early decades of the twentieth century, promoters
sought congressional approval to designate the area a
national park. They faced considerable opposition
because of lingering doubts about the Badlands’ place in
the national culture. Unlike Yosemite and Yellowstone,
the Badlands contained few of the natural resources that
would make it attractive to those who saw the National
Park Service as the guardian of the nation’s threatened
flora, fauna, and waterways.

Through the perseverance of Senator Norbeck and
others, Congress finally recognized the Badlands as a
National Monument in 1939, acknowledging the scien-
tific value of the region as an important depository of fos-
sil remains. In 1978, Congress reclassified the area a
National Park. Since taking charge of the South Dakota
Badlands, the National Park Service has reintroduced the
buffalo and mountain goat into the region, and con-
structed a two-lane highway, allowing more than a mil-
lion visitors a year to visit the park. Modern travelers
venture to the Badlands to experience the park’s haunting
beauty and to see for themselves the story it tells about
America’s natural history. In an increasingly urbanized,
industrialized world, the Badlands have also become a
sacred destination for Americans seeking both physical
and spiritual renewal. In the 1980s the Sioux recognized
the Stronghold as a sacred site, thereby adding their con-
temporary imprint to the curious landscape.

—Melinda Marie Jetté
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BARATARIANS

See Laffite, Jean

BARBE-MARBOIS, FRANCOIS,
MARQUIS DE
(1745-1837)

rangois the Marquis of Barbé-Marbois was a
Canistinguished politician, diplomat, and the

minister of the French treasury. During the
final stages of the negotiations of the Louisiana Purchase,
Barbé-Marbois acted as the French representative.

Working as an important advisor to Napoleon Bona-
parte, Francois Barbé-Marbois hoped that the sale of
Louisiana would block the British from claiming the
colony. Furthermore, he believed that French finances
would benefit from the sale. Barbé-Marbois was opposed
to France’s holding on to this territory because he saw
Louisiana as a failing colonial possession; it had continu-
ally run a deficit under Spanish rule. Because of the slave
rebellions in St. Domingue (Haiti), Napoleon Bonaparte
decided to invest his military forces in the protection of
that important sugar colony. Barbé-Marbois personally
warned Bonaparte that the British might try to retake
Louisiana from Canada, by moving down through the
Great Lakes region. He realized that it would be too
expensive and difficult to protect both Louisiana and St.
Domingue.

Although Bonaparte’s decision to sell Louisiana was
generally unpopular in France, Barbé-Marbois was a
strong supporter of the sale. His previous experience in
St. Domingue as a French official had made him aware of
the volatility of the French situation in the Americas. He
urged Bonaparte to focus on the diplomatic situation in
Europe, rather than trying to redevelop an American
empire.

On April 11, 1803, Bonaparte ordered the opening of
secret negotiations with Robert Livingston, the American
minister in Paris, for the sale of Louisiana. Charles Mau-
rice de Talleyrand, the French foreign minister, began the
negotiations, but he was relieved of this duty when his
loyalty was drawn into question. Like Bonaparte’s broth-



ers, Joseph and Lucien, Talleyrand had been bribed to
oppose the sale of Louisiana. Barbé-Marbois was chosen
to complete this important transaction. Napoleon singled
out Barbé-Marbois because he had a reputation for hon-
esty. Eventually President Thomas Jefferson sent James
Monroe to Paris in the spring of 1803 to aid in negotiat-
ing the purchase of Louisiana. Both parties initialed the
treaty on April 30, 1803.

Bonaparte thought that Louisiana was worth only
fifty million francs, but Barbé-Marbois asked for one
hundred million. The American and French negotiators
ultimately reached a compromise of eighty million francs
($15 million), of which sum three-fourths went to France
and one-fourth to Americans with outstanding claims
against France. Each party believed that it had stuck the
better deal. Barbé-Marbois’s shrewd business sense won
him great favor from Bonaparte. The money from the
sale of Louisiana was essential for financing costly mili-
tary actions against Great Britain when war broke out
once more between the two countries in May 1803.

Barbé-Marbois’s service to France outlines his creden-
tials and achievements. His career as a government official
began under Louis XVI in 1785, when he was named the
head quartermaster (intendant générale) in St. Domingue.
Barbé-Marbois tried to put a number of financial reforms
into place there. These changes were popular with the
French government and colonists, but they caused further
tension between the colonists and the slaves. This conflict
continued after Barbé-Marbois fled the island. Later, the
situation erupted into open rebellion.

Upon his return to France in 1789, Barbé-Marbois
held a short-lived position in the department of foreign
affairs. During the turbulent years of the French Revolu-
tion, Barbé-Marbois returned to his native Metz, where
he became mayor. Slowly, he began once more to take
part in national politics.

Barbé-Marbois’s political career took a brief turn for
the worse on September 4, 1797, when the French
authorities deported him to Guyana. This retaliation was
probably the result of Barbé-Marbois’s vocal criticisms of
the finance practices of the Directory (October 27,
1795-November 10, 1799), in particular the large prof-
its being made by the individuals who supplied the army.
He was deported on the grounds of antipatriotism and
was falsely accused of collaborating on the Treaty of Pill-
nitz. Barbé-Marbois was freed two years later, on 18
Brummaire, year VII (November 9, 1798). The French
government revoked the accusations against him.

Upon his return to France, Barbé-Marbois re-estab-
lished his political career and quickly gained a reputation
for being scrupulous and honest. In 1800 he was elected
to Conseil d’Etat, the main governing body of the French
state. The following year, he was named the councilor of
the state and director of the public treasury. During this
period, Barbé-Marbois played a role in securing the
Treaty of San Ildefonso (1800) with Spain, in which
Louisiana was returned to France.

Barbé-Marbois’s political astuteness and his good for-
tune in the changing political tides helped him to survive
a number of turbulent regimes. His role in negotiating the
Louisiana Purchase was certainly one of the crowning
achievements of his political and diplomatic career.

—Rachel Eden Black
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BARING BROTHERS

he bank founded in London in 1763 by John
CaTand Francis Baring would become one of the

leading financial institutions in the world dur-
ing the nineteenth century. Under the direction of Francis
Baring, John and Francis Baring and Company, later Bar-
ing Brothers and Company, became heavily involved in
the financial future of the young United States. In 1803,
Baring Brothers, together with Hope and Company of
Amsterdam, underwrote the financing of the loan for the
Louisiana Purchase.

At the end of the American Revolution, Francis Bar-
ing had reestablished his family’s links with several
important financiers in Philadelphia, including Robert
Morris and William (later Senator) Bingham, who was
reputed to be the wealthiest man in the United States.
Created a baronet in 1793 and becoming a member of
the British House of Commons in 1794, Sir Francis dis-
patched his second son, Alexander Baring, to the United
States in 1795 to oversee the development of the Baring
interests in the vast Maine land holdings of Senator Bing-
ham. In 1798, Alexander Baring married Bingham’s
daughter, Anna Louise, and their union produced nine
children, creating in Baring an attachment to, and sym-
pathy for, the young republic. The family bank frequently
acted as the unofficial banker to the government of the
United States; working with Rufus King, the American
minister in London, Baring Brothers managed payments
to the Barbary pirates, procured arms for the Adams
administration, and helped President Jefferson liquidate
the administration’s holdings and debt to the Bank of the
United States in 1802. When Bird, Savage, and Bird, the
London banking agents for the U.S. government, failed in
February 1803, Baring Brothers took up the appoint-
ment; until 1867 it remained the sole financial agent of
the federal government in London.

Alexander Baring had returned to London by 1803,
and when Napoleon Bonaparte refused to accept Ameri-
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can securities for the purchase of Louisiana, demanding
specie, Baring arranged to meet his brother-in-law, Pierce
Cesar Labouchere, who was a partner of Hope and Com-
pany in Amsterdam, a bank associated with Baring
Brothers and one in which Alexander had served his
apprenticeship. An agreement was quickly made with the
Marquis de Barbé-Marbois, who was acting for
Napoleon, and the young Baring is credited with lower-
ing French demands to just $15 million, $3.75 million of
which was to be set aside to pay American claims against
France. The two bankers promised to pay Napoleon the
cash in three installments, as well as broker the bonds
that underwrote the purchase. Although Sir Francis was
initially concerned with the size of the transaction, the
Barings’ involvement in the management of the bonds, at
6 percent interest, eventually made Baring Brothers more
than $3 million in commissions.

Elected to Parliament in 1806, Alexander Baring took
over the main management of the bank following the
death of his father in 1810. In Parliament he opposed the
restrictive commercial practices then being followed by
Britain toward the United States and published An
Inquiry into the Causes and Consequences of the Orders
in Council (1808). During the War of 1812, Baring main-
tained European financial confidence in the United States
by providing funds to meet the interest payments of U.S.
bond-holders. Created Baron Ashburton in 1842, he vis-
ited America to conclude the Wester-Ashburton Treaty
(1842), which helped settle the American-Canadian bor-
der dispute.

Baring Brothers made many contributions to the finan-
cial infrastructure and commercial development of the state
of Louisiana. In 1824 it helped Vincent Nolte and Com-
pany raise a loan to pave Rue Royale in New Orleans. Bar-
ing Brothers speculated in cotton bonds, especially those
issued by the Consolidated Association of the Planters of
Louisiana, and in 1832 it agreed to market the entire $7
million Louisiana state loan issue. In the same year, it helped
charter and fund the Union Bank of Louisiana. The com-
pany had become so powerful by 1818 that the duc de
Richelieu, Louis XVIII’s chief minister, described Baring
Brothers as one of the six great powers of Europe. The
bank, however, oversaw the loan of vast amounts of British
capital to the government of Argentina in the 1880s, and
when Argentina defaulted, it involved Baring Brothers in a
general financial crisis in 1890. Rescued by the Bank of
England and reorganized as a limited company, it finally
went bankrupt in 1995 when an employee lost $1.5 billion
in unauthorized futures speculation.

—Rory T. Cornish
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BASTROP, BARON DE
(1759-1827)

aron de Bastrop was a land developer and
@B Indian agent in Spanish Louisiana whose loss

of influence following the Louisiana Purchase
led to his removal to Texas and eventual partnership with
Stephen E. Austin. Born Philip Hendrik Nering Bogel in
Dutch Guiana, he grew up in the Netherlands, where he
served in the military and as a tax collector. In 1782 he
married Georgine Wolffeline Frangoise Lijcklama a Nye-
holt, with whom he had five children before accusations
of embezzlement led him to abandon the family in 1793.
He fled to North America, where he took up aristocratic
airs and the pseudonym Baron de Bastrop.

Beginning in 1795, Bastrop was active on the Spanish-
U.S. frontier, befriending Spanish officials, forming busi-
ness partnerships in mercantile ventures, and promoting
colonization schemes. The biggest plan with which Bas-
trop associated himself was the establishment of a large
settlement in the Ouachita Valley of what is today north-
ern Louisiana. In 1796 he signed a contract with Gover-
nor Baron de Carondelet for the settlement of European
immigrant families in an area of approximately 850,000
acres on the east side of the Ouachita River. Bastrop
hoped to secure the families in Louisville, Kentucky,
offering each approximately 340 acres. For his effort, he
was given exclusive milling and marketing privileges to
all the wheat produced by the colonists. By May 1797,
Bastrop had ninety-nine settlers—including seventeen
families and eleven single men—clearing and planting
land within the grant, and he had obtained permission to
build two mills, on Bayous Siard and Bartholomew. The
colonization project was suspended shortly thereafter,
however, on the recommendation of Louisiana’s financial
officer, who declared the government without the funds
necessary to meet its obligations to subsidize the travel
and startup costs of the colonists. Although Bastrop
retained trusteeship in the land, the project never
resumed. Control of the land changed hands several
times, and eventually part of it fell into the hands of
Aaron Burr. The town of Bastrop, located within the
boundaries of the colony, remains as a reminder of the
Dutch entrepreneur’s impact on late Spanish Louisiana.

With the suspension of the colonization enterprise, the
baron turned to a series of commercial ventures in
Louisiana and Kentucky. A partnership with John Nan-
carrow of Lexington, Kentucky, to operate a sailcloth fac-
tory lasted from 1799 to 1800 but fell victim to a rising
number of lawsuits against Bastrop. The following year



the baron obtained exclusive trading privileges with area
Indians from Governor General Marqués de Casa Calvo,
conducting the business out of his plantation at the
mouth of Bayou Siard, just north of Fort Mir6 (now
Monroe). He also operated a mill and warehouses on the
property. The Louisiana Purchase brought an end to his
lucrative monopoly over Indian trade and may have
exposed the baron to renewed legal action regarding old
debts in Kentucky.

By 1805, Bastrop had sold off his plantation, handed
out deeds to some of the early settlers, and made his way
to Texas under the Spanish Crown’s offer to allow the
migration of any subject wishing not to come under U.S.
jurisdiction. Bastrop settled in San Antonio, where he
advanced new colonization schemes, entered yet other
mercantile partnerships, started a freighting business,
and became a leading member of the community.
Although his plan to establish a colony near the Trinity
River came to nothing, Bastrop did become one of the
most important actors in the Anglo-American coloniza-
tion of Texas. In December 1820, when Moses Austin
arrived in San Antonio seeking permission of the Span-
ish authorities to establish a colony of three hundred
Catholic American families in Texas, it was the Baron de
Bastrop who gained an audience for Austin with Gover-
nor Antonio Martinez. His previous experience with col-
onization under Spanish rule made him an invaluable
ally to Stephen E. Austin, who carried out the first suc-
cessful colonization effort in Texas during the 1820s.
Bastrop not only acted as Austin’s land commissioner
during 1823-1826 but also served the cause of coloniza-
tion in the Coahuila y Texas state legislature until his
death at Saltillo, on February 23, 1827.

—Jesiis E de la Teja
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BECKNELL, WILLIAM
(c. 1796-1865)

illiam Becknell was born near Franklin,
C/':\WMissouri, about 1796. Little is known of

his early life. He was twenty-five years of
age when he undertook the events that were to earn him
the title “Father of the Santa Fe Trail.” Not only was he
the “father” of the trail but he also was the founder of the
Santa Fe trade. He led the first successful trading expedi-
tion to Santa Fe following the end of Spanish rule in

Mexico. Spanish law did not permit U.S. citizens to trade
in Mexico. That rule was promptly overturned as soon as
Mexico declared her independence in 1821.

Becknell placed an advertisement in the June 20, 1821,
issue of the [Franklin] Missouri Intelligencer calling for a
company of seventy men “to go westward for the purpose
of trading for horses and mules and catching wild animals
of every description.” Although Santa Fe is not mentioned
by name, it is difficult to believe that the proposed expe-
dition would have been headed anywhere else “west-
ward.” Yet recent scholarship has suggested that Beck-
nell’s original plan was to trade with the Indians, and that
the movement to Santa Fe was an afterthought.

The party rendezvoused at the home of Ezekiel
Williams, near Franklin, on August 4. The expedition
was assembled and departed for the West shortly there-
after. It crossed the Missouri River at Arrow Rock on
September 1, and the expedition reached the Great Bend
of the Arkansas on September 24 and entered Santa Fe on
November 16.

Becknell and his party of traders followed the trail laid
out by mountain men en route to the fur-bearing regions
of the Rocky Mountains. The trail followed the Arkansas
River westward into the mountains where Becknell had
intended to remain and trade with the Indians, but, hav-
ing fallen in with a party of Mexicans, he was induced to
take his party on to Santa Fe. There the traders sold all of
their goods at a handsome profit.

Becknell, with a single companion (John McLoughlin,
who is not otherwise described, but who had been a
member of the westbound expedition), departed from
San Miguel, New Mexico, on December 13. They
reached Franklin, Missouri, on January 29, 1822.

The favorable report that he brought back led to
another trading expedition in the spring of 1822. There
were actually two separate parties that went west in
1822. The first left Franklin in April under the leadership
of Broxton Cooper. That party made the journey safely
and returned to Missouri the following autumn. Becknell
and his trading group left Arrow Rock on May 22 with
twenty-one men and three wagons. They encountered a
band of Osage just west of the Missouri but well to the
east of the Arkansas Crossing—probably at Pawnee
Rock. After much negotiation, led by a member of the
Chouteau family who spoke their language and had
traded with the tribe in the past, the Osage permitted the
party to pass.

The journey from the Arkansas to San Miguel, the
first Spanish settlement in New Mexico, consumed
twenty-two days. San Miguel is located about fifty miles
northeast of Santa Fe. This particular journey is of his-
toric importance in that it was the first expedition to use
the Cimarron River instead of following the Arkansas to
the mountains and over the Raton Pass. It was also the
first trip to bring wagons to Santa Fe. It would have been
quite difficult to bring the wagons over the pass and then
to Santa Fe.
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The Cimarron Crossing became the favored route of
the Santa Fe traders; most of the subsequent expeditions
used the new route. That route also permitted soldiers to
meet and escort trading parties in both directions, with
Mexican troops guiding the traders to San Miguel and
U.S. troops picking up the traders as they left Mexico.
Because the newer trail bypassed Taos, parties used both
routes during the same trading season.

When Becknell returned to Missouri in January 1822,
he carried with him a message from the governor of New
Mexico, Facundo Melgares. That message was that
American traders would be welcome in Santa Fe and the
surrounding towns and villages. This information was
sufficient to make the Santa Fe Trail, which Becknell had
pioneered, a reality.

Becknell retired from the Santa Fe trade in 1834 and
moved to Texas, where he died in 1865.

—Henry H. Goldman
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BECKWOURTH, JAMES
(1798-1866)

frican American trapper, frontiersman, navi-
C/':\ Agator, and Indian chief, Jim Beckwourth par-

ticipated in the exploration and settlement of
the Louisiana Purchase territory. The son of a slave
mother and an English father, James Pierson Beckwourth
(sometimes spelled Beckwith) was born on April 6, 1798,
in Fredericksburg, Virginia. He was the third of thirteen
children, and at the age of seven, Jim and his family
moved to the Louisiana Territory to farm between the
Missouri and Mississippi Rivers near St. Louis.

A voyage down the Mississippi River to New Orleans
as a teenager inspired Beckwourth to join General William
Ashley’s Rocky Mountain Fur Company so that he could
explore and travel the West. Beckwourth followed the
Missouri and Arkansas Rivers to collect furs, and along
the way he dealt with Indians, learned the importance of
buffaloes, and stood at the Continental Divide. By virtue
of sheer ability he soon overcame the prejudice of others
to become one of the best and highest paid Rocky Moun-
tain trappers. General Ashley honored him with a trading
post of his own, where he learned Indian customs, culture,
and languages. By 1827, however, Beckwourth decided to
leave the fur company and to become a free trapper.
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In 1828 a Crow woman mistook Beckwourth for the
long-lost son of a tribal chieftain and adopted the
mulatto trapper into the tribe. He rose to the rank of war
chief, and, by his own account, he was named head chief
of the Crow Nation. While living with the Crow, Beck-
wourth began to trap for John Jacob Astor’s American
Fur Company and, for his own profit, he encouraged
Indians to do the same. Beckwourth spent eight years
with the Crow, living a nomadic life and fighting in
countless Indian wars across the Louisiana Territory.
Beckwourth’s career with the fur company and the Crow
nation ended in the summer of 1836 because of his rest-
lessness and longing to be rich and famous.

On a trip to St. Louis in 1837, Beckwourth learned of
his father’s death, and shortly thereafter he was ready for
a change in his life. Recruited by General William Gaines,
Beckwourth and several other mountain men, who were
valuable because of their ability to track and their knowl-
edge of Indian-style warfare, left Louisiana to fight in the
Second Seminole War in Florida. Beckwourth went to
war to become famous but instead found it boringly rou-
tine. After ten months of tracking and scouting, he
returned to St. Louis in the summer of 1838.

Beckwourth immediately found employment trapping
for Andrew Sublette and Louis Vaszquez along the Santa
Fe Trail. By 1840 he had begun establishing trading posts
for the brothers William and Charles Bent in the South-
west. Beckwourth quit his job with the Bent brothers and
established a store in present-day Taos, New Mexico.
Never a man to stay in one place too long, Beckwourth
and twenty other families headed north to the Arkansas
River. Beckwourth then built an adobe fortress and
founded and named the city of Pueblo, Colorado. But
once again, his stay was short. His former employers, the
Bent brothers, saw him as unwelcome competition, and
tension with Mexico made him leave the far-western
reaches of the Louisiana Territory for California.

Beckwourth arrived in present-day Los Angeles in Jan-
uary 1844 to trade and soon found himself embroiled in
a revolt of American settlers in California against Mex-
ico. Beckwourth and five other families packed their
belongings, took stray horses, and headed back to Pueblo
to avoid war. He fled to Pueblo and then headed to Santa
Fe to open a successful hotel. In Santa Fe he became
involved in the Mexican War, in which he carried dis-
patches and offered horses to the U.S. Army. The Gold
Rush in 1848 convinced him to return to California,
where he noticed a break in the Sierra Nevada Moun-
tains. Today, the route is called Beckwourth’s Pass. Near
the pass are the town of Beckwourth, California, and
Beckwourth Mountain.

Jim Beckwourth continued his nomadic life by work-
ing as a merchant in Denver in 1859 and taking part in
the Cheyenne War of 1864. In 1866 the U.S. government
asked him to establish peace with the Crow nation. He
met with the Crow for the first time in thirty years, and
they asked him to be a tribal chief. Beckwourth declined



the offer, and the Crow offered him a farewell dinner. The
Crow then poisoned his meal, so they could have his
spirit, and he died immediately thereafter. Much of James
Beckwourth’s life would have escaped written history had
he not recited his self-admiring autobiography to T. D.
Bonner in 1856.

—Nathan R. Meyer
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BELLEFONTAINE, FORT

ort Bellefontaine was the first U.S. military
C/':\P installation and Indian agency to be established

in the Louisiana Purchase territory. It was
located on the south bank of the Missouri River, four
miles above its confluence with the Mississippi.

General James Wilkinson, the military commander
and superintendent of Indian affairs of the Louisiana Ter-
ritory, selected the site for the first U.S. military installa-
tion west of the Mississippi River. The army built the fort
near a large spring on the southwest bank of the Mis-
souri, at a site that the French called Belle Fontaine. The
spring flowed from a cave near Cold Water Creek and
had sufficient volume to provide enough fresh water to
supply the army’s needs.

The War Department authorized the construction of
Fort Belle Fontaine (Bellefontaine) to accomplish two
objectives: its primary purpose was to fulfill obligations
to area tribes, some of which had signed a treaty in 1804
promising them a government trading house (factory)
that would deliver goods in exchange for furs. The sec-
ond objective was to provide a military fortification to
protect the factory, to counter British intrigue among the
Indians, and to protect St. Louis from possible invasion
by the British or their Indian allies. The factory was
placed under the supervision of French-speaking chief
factor Rudolf Tiller and assistant factor George C. Sibley.

Beginning on July 23, 1805, Lieutenant Colonel
Jacob Kingsbury of the First Infantry supervised the
fort’s construction. In addition to the company barracks,
quartermaster’s building, bake house, arsenal, and mag-
azine, the two most impressive buildings within the pal-
isades were the two-story storehouse and the head resi-
dence, both constructed of hewn logs atop a stonework
foundation, with wood floors, shingled roofs, glass win-
dows, and stone chimneys. Colonel Thomas Hunt served
as the post’s first commander of six companies of the
First Infantry. He was succeeded by Captain James

House in 1808 and by Lieutenant Colonel Daniel Bissell
in 1809.

Several problems plagued the fort-factory complex.
First, the post had been immensely expensive to build.
The rights to the land and timber had not been cleared
before construction, and Wilkinson was forced to pur-
chase them from William Massey for several hundred
dollars. Second, Tiller’s salary of $1,250 plus $365 for
subsistence, combined with Sibley’s salary of $500 plus
$180 for subsistence, were the highest among govern-
ment factory workers. Moreover, the initial expense for
goods totaled almost $45,000, indicating the importance
of the trading establishment and its ability to accommo-
date a brisk trade with area tribes.

Locating the post on the Missouri’s flood plain was a
poor choice. Oppressive heat and disease-carrying insects
incapacitated nearly half the men during the summer
months. Although the post was only fifteen miles from St.
Louis and provided access to both rivers, flooding and
erosion caused the wooden buildings to rot quickly, and
its distance from the Mississippi created inconveniences.
Most unfortunate was the fact that the Indian factory did
not serve the Missouri or Mississippi tribes particularly
well. In addition, factor Tiller and his assistant, Sibley, did
not get along. After an inspection, William Clark, princi-
pal Indian agent and brigadier general of upper
Louisiana, wrote the secretary of war and gained
approval for two new fort-factories, one farther up each
river, to accommodate the tribes better. When these two
forts were constructed in the fall of 1808, Sibley relocated
to Fort Osage on the Missouri and the remaining goods
were sent to Fort Madison on the Mississippi. Clark also
received, in 1810, approval to relocate Fort Bellefontaine
to command the higher ground atop Belle Mont, so the
wooden fort would not deteriorate as quickly, the men
could escape the muggy heat of the river bottom, and a
slight breeze could provide relief from insects.

Although the Indian factory was not a success, the
military post fared better. Representing one of the key
frontier posts for almost two decades, the relocated Fort
Bellefontaine operated as headquarters for the Depart-
ment of Louisiana, which included Forts Madison,
Osage, Massac, and Vincennes from 1809 to 1815. A
large, well-provisioned garrison provided resources and
manpower for building and staffing other posts along the
Mississippi and the Missouri. Government expeditions
into the Louisiana Purchase, including the Pike, Long,
and Yellowstone expeditions, were launched or received
assistance from the post. The fort assisted Indian delega-
tions traveling to St. Louis or Washington, provided pro-
tection to Missouri settlements during the War of 1812,
and helped maintain order at the signing of the peace
treaties at nearby Portage des Sioux in 1813.

Bellefontaine continued as a military establishment
until 1826, when the War Department asked Generals
Henry Atkinson and Edmund Gaines to construct a large
central garrison south of St. Louis, later named Jefferson
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Barracks, that would be more convenient for distributing
troops throughout the West. After Jefferson Barracks was
completed, the troops at Bellefontaine, under the com-
mand of Stephen Watts Kearny, evacuated Fort Belle-
fontaine on July 10, 1826, and moved into their new
location ten miles south of St. Louis. The army continued
to utilize Bellefontaine’s buildings for storage until the
mid-1830s. Although the post’s original site is gone, Fort
Bellefontaine retains a prominent place in the early his-
tory of the Louisiana Purchase as perhaps the most
important military post in the upper Mississippi Valley in
the first two decades of the nineteenth century.

—Jay H. Buckley
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BENTON, THOMAS HART
(1782-1858)

homas Hart Benton was born on March 14,
C":\T1782, in Hillsboro, North Carolina. After his

father’s death, Thomas’s mother, Ann Gooch
Benton, moved the family to an estate south of Nashville,
Tennessee. Thomas attended the University of North
Carolina for a short time, but funds ran short and
required him to return to Tennessee. That state admitted
Benton to the bar in 1806. He parlayed his law practice
into a state senate seat in the 1809 legislative session.

The War of 1812 offered Benton an opportunity to
better his position in Tennessee. He had joined the U.S.
Army in 1810 and functioned as colonel during the war
with Great Britain. In addition to serving as Andrew
Jackson’s aide-de-camp, Benton helped raise a regiment
of volunteer soldiers. An unfortunate incident involving a
duel between Thomas’s brother, Jesse, and William Car-
roll, another Tennessee military officer and friend of
Jackson, led to the estrangement of Benton and Jackson.
The misunderstanding resulted in a sidewalk encounter
and brawl between Jackson and the Benton brothers that
left Jackson wounded and the Bentons’ reputations
marred. Thomas Benton continued in his military capac-
ity until the war’s end. In 1815, however, Benton decided
that his prospects in Tennessee were meager, so he moved
to St. Louis.

Benton’s relocation to the Missouri Territory, which
had been part of the Louisiana Purchase lands, marked
the beginning of his long career in national politics. Once
in St. Louis, Benton established a law practice and edited
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An ardent supporter of Western expansion, Thomas Hart
Benton advocated preemption laws, which legalized the
squatter’s rights claimed by many pioneers along the fron-
tier. (North Wind Picture Archives)

a newspaper, the Missouri Enquirer. His support of slav-
ery during the Missouri statehood debates in 1819 and
1820 brought him appointment to the U.S. Senate when
the territory became a state. Benton set out to assist set-
tlers in gaining access to government lands. He also
encouraged Western settlement by proposing a national
road that would reach lands westward and encouraging
the building of a transcontinental railroad.

The Jackson presidency gave Benton national recogni-
tion. Jackson and Benton had mended their relationship
prior to the 1824 election, and that reconciliation proved
fortuitous for both men from 1829 to 1837. Benton sided
with Jackson against the South Carolina nullifiers, while
the Bank War gave Benton a platform on which to advo-
cate his hard money policy. Benton opposed the recharter
of the Bank of the United States in 1831, defended Jack-
son’s veto of the recharter passed by Congress, and sup-
ported the removal of government deposits from the finan-
cial institution. In 1836, Benton convinced Jackson to issue
an executive order, known as the “Specie Circular,” man-
dating payment in specie for public lands. Benton felt that
payment in hard money for the lands would slow or stop
the inflationary boom that had begun following the
removal of government deposits in 1833. This decision
unwittingly contributed to the financial panic of 1837.

Benton took a moderate course toward Western
expansion during the 1840s, opposing American annex-



ation of Texas because it violated Mexican interests.
When President James K. Polk declared war on Mexico,
however, Benton lent his support. On the Oregon ques-
tion, Benton counseled compromise instead of war with
Great Britain over the boundary debate.

Following the Mexican War (1846-1848), Benton
began calling for moderation on the volatile issue of slav-
ery. He viewed the Compromise of 1850 negatively
because it benefited Southern secessionists. That stance
cost him his seat in the Senate in 1850. Unwilling to
retire, Benton won election to the House of Representa-
tives in 1852. The new Missouri representative fought
against both radical Southerners and Northerners. One
biographer noted that Benton was “working for sectional
peace, the Union, and the restriction of slavery” (Cham-
bers, 1956). Benton, unfortunately for his career and the
nation’s future, lost his re-election bid in 1854, thus
silencing another voice favorable to compromise.

Thomas Hart Benton died from cancer in 1858. He
had devoted his life to securing benefits for Western set-
tlers, but Benton’s refusal to foster division over slavery
led to his repudiation by the people of Missouri. Benton’s
achievements, however disappointingly his career ended,
lay the foundation for successful Western expansion that
he helped to create.

—Mark R. Cheathem
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BENT’S FORT

here are two Colorado sites claiming the name
C/':\Tof Bent’s Fort. Bent’s “Old” Fort was located

seven miles east of present-day La Junta and
was in use from 1832 to 1852. That is the site most his-
torians identify with Bent’s Fort.

Bent’s Old Fort was founded and construction began
in 1832, under the direction of William Bent
(1809-1869), his brother Charles (1799-1847), and
Ceran St. Vrain, William Bent’s partner. The place was
first known as Fort William, after William Bent. It was
located on the north bank of the Arkansas River, on the
Mountain Branch of the Santa Fe Trail. Bent’s Old Fort
participated in both the mountain fur trade and overland

commerce to Santa Fe. It became the foremost trading
post of the Southwest.

The place was rectangular in shape, measuring about
180 feet by 183 feet. The walls were constructed of gray
adobe and were two to four feet thick and fifteen feet
high. It was to this place that the Cheyenne and Arapaho
brought buffalo robes and other furs for barter. From it,
white traders carried their wares to Indian villages. An
annual wagon train brought Indian furs to St. Louis, Mis-
souri, and returned with trade goods.

Bent’s Fort became a stopping place and a major point
of reference for military expeditions, mountain men, and
Santa Fe traders. The site was first visited by Lieutenant
Zebulon M. Pike on his 1805-1807 expedition. His party
reached the location of the future post on October 28,
1806. Bent’s Fort became an informal depository for mil-
itary supplies destined for several expeditions of the U.S.
Topographical Engineers, including those of Stephen
Watts Kearny, Philip St. George Cooke, and Stephen H.
Long.

William Bent married a Cheyenne woman and raised
his family at the fort. He is recognized as the first citizen
of Colorado.

According to tradition, the U.S. government desired
the fort but offered an inadequate price. Bent thereupon
deserted the post and partially destroyed it in 1849. He
constructed a new fort, Bent’s “New” Fort, some forty
miles downstream, which was completed in 1853. He
leased that site to the government in 1859.

Bent’s New Fort was located on the left bank of the
Arkansas River, near the “Big Timbers.” It was leased to
the government and used as a storage facility for the new
military post, first designated Fort Fauntleroy, on August
29, 1860. The new post was named in honor of Colonel
Thomas T. Fauntleroy, First U.S. Dragoons, then
renamed Fort Wise for Henry A. Wise, governor of Vir-
ginia. On June 25, 1862, the post’s name was changed
again, this time to Fort Lyon in honor of Brigadier Gen-
eral Nathaniel Lyon, killed on August 10, 1861, at the
Battle of Wilson’s Creek in Missouri.

Fort Bent-Fauntleroy—Wise-Lyon was abandoned on
June 9, 1867, because of flooding along the Arkansas
River. The post was replaced by a new Fort Lyon (gener-
ally regarded as Fort Lyon II). The military reservation was
transferred to the Interior Department on July 22, 1884.

—Henry H. Goldman
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BERNADOTTE, JEAN BAPTISTE
(1763-1844)

n October 1, 1800, Spain ceded Louisiana to
C/':\ Othe French consulate government of Napoleon

Bonaparte in exchange for the Italian Duchy
of Tuscany (renamed the Kingdom of Etruria). Two years
later, Bonaparte offered the post of governor of Louisiana
to General Jean Baptiste Bernadotte, a native of Gascony,
who had achieved the rank of general of division at the
age of thirty-one.

Having successfully served as military governor of
Maastricht (1794), ambassador at Vienna (1798), and
minister of war (1799), Bernadotte had earned a reputa-
tion for being an able administrator and a stern discipli-
narian. Although often at odds with Bonaparte’s increas-
ingly absolutist regime (1800-1804), Bernadotte was
attracted by the possibility of establishing a firm French
foothold in North America; the Louisiana Territory was
five times the size of France and numbered about eighty
thousand inhabitants. Far from the political intrigues that
flourished in Paris, Bernadotte hoped to pursue his goals
of an independent career, personal advancement, and
glory by developing commerce and promoting civiliza-
tion in Louisiana.

To develop and defend this vast area, Bernadotte
needed skilled workers and farmers and at least three
thousand soldiers. He would also require financial sup-
port from France for at least two years; after that time,
the colony would be self-sufficient. Bonaparte refused his
requests, and Bernadotte declined the governorship.
However, he accepted an appointment as ambassador
plenipotentiary to the United States. In January 1803,
Bonaparte ordered Bernadotte to leave for Washington.

Both Great Britain and the United States were suspi-
cious of French imperial designs in Louisiana, viewing
France as a potential military threat. President Thomas Jef-
ferson did not want the French in control of the vital port
of New Orleans. In fact, many Americans were in favor of
acquiring Louisiana, by military force if necessary. Fur-
thermore, Jefferson threatened to ally with Britain in the
impending war if the French did not leave the area. By the
spring of 1803, the first consul had resolved to sell
Louisiana, and secret negotiations with the United States
were under way. Bernadotte was unaware of these devel-
opments and prepared to sail from La Rochelle. On the
day he was due to depart, April 12, 1803, the U.S. minis-
ter plenipotentiary, James Monroe, arrived in Paris with
instructions to offer to purchase Louisiana from France.
Bonaparte readily agreed, and the two governments signed
the treaty on May 3, 1803; France would receive eighty
million francs. After paying off an indemnity to the United
States and a commission to Hope and Company and Bar-
ing Brothers, the bankers who handled the transaction, the
French netted fifty-five million francs from the sale.

Bernadotte learned of the sale of Louisiana and
resolved to abandon his new appointment. Without the
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vast French holdings that bordered the United States,
Bernadotte considered the ambassadorship a less impor-
tant post. He also read in the Paris newspapers that the
British ambassador had left Paris and that France and
Britain were at war. Bernadotte wrote to Bonaparte that
he considered his diplomatic mission over, and he
requested a military command. Through his brother-in-
law, Joseph Bonaparte, Bernadotte tried to reconcile him-
self with Napoleon, who was displeased with his refusal
to fulfill his diplomatic mission. For a year Bernadotte
saw no active service, but when Napoleon declared the
end of the consulate and the creation of the empire in
1804, he needed the support of his generals. Bernadotte
acquiesced and was rewarded by being named a marshal
of France. In June 1806, Napoleon bestowed on him the
title of Prince de Ponte-Corvo, a former papal state that
had been absorbed into the French empire.

When the heir of the Swedish king Charles XIII died
in June 1810, the Swedes requested that Napoleon sug-
gest a possible successor from his family or one of his
marshals. Bernadotte, who was a relative of Napoleon by
marriage and a marshal, met both criteria. As crown
prince, Bernadotte relinquished his French nationality,
was released from his oath of allegiance to his country,
and converted to Lutheranism. On February 7, 1818,
Bernadotte was crowned King of Sweden, taking the title
Charles XIV John. He ruled for twenty-six years.

—Jeanne A. Ojala
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BINGHAM, GEORGE CALEB
(1811-1879)

eorge Caleb Bingham was born in Augusta
C’;% GCounty, Virginia, in 1811. When he was

eight, his family joined a caravan of Virgini-
ans moving to Missouri, where he grew up along the
banks of the Missouri River. Although Bingham appren-
ticed to a cabinet-maker at sixteen, he abandoned the
idea of becoming a woodworker in favor of becoming an
artist after meeting an itinerant portrait painter. Primarily
self-taught, Bingham studied briefly at the Pennsylvania
Academy of the Fine Arts in Philadelphia and, in his later
years, in Dusseldorf, Germany. He became such a prolific
portrait painter that he had a reputation of being able to
produce a portrait in a single day. Residing temporarily in



Washington, D.C., early in his career, he captured the
crusty likeness of John Quincy Adams, in a work that
greatly enhanced his reputation as an artist. Later he
returned to Missouri, where he continued to paint por-
traits and began to study the effects of light in genre
paintings (paintings of everyday life). Although Bingham
produced nearly a thousand portraits during his lifetime,
today he is more regarded for about two dozen genre
paintings that established him as the first major American
painter to reside in “the West” and record the images of
ordinary people. These paintings were popular during his
lifetime because they satisfied the Easterners’ curiosity for
visual information about the Louisiana Purchase territory
and its inhabitants.

Deeply patriotic, Bingham expressed his passion for
the democratic process and his love of his homeland
through politics and art. The frontier life in Missouri fun-
damentally influenced his character and provided numer-
ous subjects for his genre scenes, which generally pass for
reportage even though they are actually highly ideological
in content and purpose. One vivid example is Daniel
Boone Escorting Settlers through the Cumberland Gap
(1851-1852, George Washington University Gallery of
Art, St. Louis, MO), which extols Manifest Destiny.
Despite the ideological themes, his portrayal of middle-
and lower-class subjects creates the impression that he is
merely recording life around him in Fur Traders Descend-
ing the Missouri (1845, Metropolitan Museum, New
York City) and Boatmen on the Missouri (1846, M. H. De
Young Museum of Art, San Francisco). Despite their mod-
ern subjects, both are marked by a classical serenity and
clarity. In his representations of the political process, Bing-
ham idealized the American voting system, which pro-
vided for the participation of all social classes (of white
males). He tried to capture the ongoing process of recon-
ciliation in action scenes such as The County Election
(1852, Boatmen’s National Bank, St. Louis, MO) and
Campaigning for a Vote (1851-1852, Nelson-Atkins
Museum of Art, Kansas City, MO). His art demonstrates
democracy’s ability to accommodate the tensions inherent
in imposing political control on the frontier, while creating
political union in a society based on individual freedoms.
All of his paintings set forth a rich and forgiving view of
American democratic government and society, an opti-
mistic view he chose to spread by having the election series
reproduced.

George Caleb Bingham was also accommodating in
his personal life. After his first two wives died, he married
the widow of his best friend. After his death at age sixty-
eight on July 7, 1879, Bingham was united in death to
those he had loved in life. He was buried with his third
wife and his best friend in the Union Cemetery in Kansas
City, Missouri.

—Betje Black Klier
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BISON

he largest plant-eating mammal left on the
CaTcontinent after the Ice Age, the North Ameri-

can bison roamed over most of the area of the
Louisiana Purchase at the beginning of the nineteenth
century. Although the number of bison is estimated to
have been between thirty and two hundred million in
1800, excessive hunting and purposeful slaughter of the
animal in the name of subduing Indians at war with the
United States brought the bison to the brink of extinc-
tion. By the mid-1880s, fewer than one thousand bison
remained.

The population of bison in North America is believed
to have increased dramatically following the arrival of
Europeans to the eastern shores of North America. Dis-
eases from the Old World quickly spread westward,
bringing massive mortality rates among North American
Indians. As the native population decreased, reduced
hunting led to expanded numbers of bison and other
game.

Meriwether Lewis and William Clark wrote fre-
quently of their observations of large herds of bison dur-
ing their exploration of the Louisiana Territory. While
traveling through present-day South Dakota in 1804,
Lewis wrote: “This scenery already rich pleasing and
beautiful was still farther heightened by immense herds of
Buffalo, deer Elk and Antelopes which we saw in every
direction feeding on the hills and plains. I do not think I
exaggerate when I estimate the number of Buffalo which
could be compre[hend]ed at one view to amount to
3000” (DeVoto).

In the early part of the nineteenth century, Indians
were known to hunt bison on foot by surrounding a herd
and leading them to charge off a cliff. Native hunters
opted for bows and arrows once horses became available
in the mid-1800s. Little was wasted of the animal—food,
clothing, tools, and shelter could all be produced from its
body and skin.

The seemingly limitless supply of bison combined with
the arrival of American traders led to the unsustainable
hunting of the animal. Trading companies offered manu-
factured goods and alcohol at inflated prices to Indians in
exchange for bison skins and meat. By the late 1820s, the
number of bison skins purchased from Indians numbered
well over 100,000 per year.

As the United States warred with Plains Indian
tribes in the 1860s and 1870s, American military lead-
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The destruction of the bison herds that once populated the Great Plains hastened the departure of many tribal groups from
the region.

ership identified Indian dependence on the bison as a
weakness easily exploited. Using long-range rifles, buf-
falo hunters hired by the U.S. government were able to
eliminate large numbers rapidly. At the same time, rail-
road companies employed hunters to shoot bison in
order to clear the way for rail expansion. By the end of
the nineteenth century, North American bison were all
but gone.

The survival of the bison can be accredited to conser-
vationists and zoologists who saw either economic or sci-
entific opportunity in the animal’s survival. In 1900 a few
hundred bison remained, either at Yellowstone National
Park or on private lands. The American Bison Society
was formed in 1905 to promote the survival of the
species. Largely through its work, the North American
bison population is no longer endangered.

—]. Brent Etzel
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BLACK HAWK
(1767-1838)

lack Hawk (Ma-ka-tai-me-she-kia-kaik) led a
C":\ struggle by a faction of the Sauk (also known

as the Sak or Asakiwaki, the “People of the
Yellow Earth”) against the United States. These battles
between the Sauk, in alliance with the Fox (or
Mesquakie, the “People of the Red Earth”), and the
United States culminated in the Black Hawk War (1832).
Black Hawk’s life illustrates the major changes that
indigenous people of the Mississippi River Valley experi-
enced after the Spanish loss of Louisiana to France and its
subsequent sale to the United States and the British
retreat into Canada.

Born in 1767, Black Hawk, like his father, grandfa-
ther, and great-grandfather, earned a position of respect
as a war chief. He was a traditionalist and a proponent
of resistance to settler encroachment onto tribal lands. He
married once, consumed no alcohol, and stood for pre-
serving the Sauk way of life at Saukenuk, the head village
of the Sauk, near present-day Rock Island, Illinois. Upon
his father’s death, Black Hawk became keeper of the
Sauk’s medicine bundle. Also called Big Black Bird or



Black Sparrow Hawk, after his spirit guardian, Black
Hawk favored the British, since, unlike the Americans,
they did not seek to populate the frontier. Like the
Shawnee leader Tecumseh, he tried to unify a dissident
pan-tribal group. Black Hawk led more than two hun-
dred Sauk and Fox warriors to Detroit, where they joined
Tecumseh on the side of the British during the War of
1812. Because of that allegiance, his followers were called
the British Band of Sauk and Fox. He may have been
influenced by Winnebago (Ho Chunk) prophet White
Cloud, who predicted that the British, along with other
Indian tribes, would support the Sauks’ efforts to return
to Illinois.

Black Hawk spoke against the Treaty of St. Louis
(1804), signed by the Sauk and Fox, which moved the
tribes west of the Mississippi. He signed several subse-
quent treaties but indicated that he was unaware that
they would result in the loss of his homelands.

Black Hawk returned in the spring of 1829 from the
traditional fall hunt to find white squatters occupying
Saukenuk. Instead of moving west, Black Hawk
remained in the village. He repeated this pattern of leav-
ing to hunt in the fall and returning to Saukenuk in the
spring, in 1830 and 1831. In retaliation, the Illinois gov-
ernor John Reynolds ordered the militia to march against
the Sauk. When the Sauk did not leave Saukenuk in
1831, Reynolds ordered the village destroyed. Black
Hawk did sign the Articles of Agreement and Capitula-
tion (1831), agreeing not to return to Illinois, but he soon
found that the Americans reneged on the promise to pro-
vide food to his hungry followers.

The militia followed him when he crossed the Mis-
sissippi in early April 1832, in search of fertile fields.
The Black Hawk War, an engagement of fifteen weeks,
had begun. It ended at the Battle of Bad Axe in August
1832.

Black Hawk surrendered at Prairie du Chien, Wis-
consin, on August 27, 1832. The Ho Chunk delivered
him to Zachary Taylor, the Indian agent at Fort Craw-
ford. Along with five other men, he was transported to
Fort Armstrong, lowa, under the guard of Jefferson
Davis. After several months of incarceration at Jefferson
Barracks near St. Louis, he was taken to President
Andrew Jackson, who ordered him imprisoned at Fort
Monroe in Virginia. At the end of their confinement, the
prisoners were taken on an Eastern tour, a common U.S.
strategy used to subdue potential insurgents by demon-
strating examples of American military strength and
sheer volume of population. He returned to the Sauk on
August 2, 1833, and was released on the condition that
he be paroled to Keokuk. Black Hawk returned to Wash-
ington, D.C., for a second time in 1837, as part of a
Sauk and Fox delegation. George Catlin and other artists
of the day painted Black Hawk’s portrait during his
Eastern stays.

Black Hawk never regained his position of influence
within his tribe. He moved to Iowa and died near Iowa-

The Sauk warrior Black Hawk led an ill-fated attempt to
reclaim his people’s homeland after it had been ceded to
American authorities by treaty.

ville on October 3, 1838. Nine months later, his body
was stolen. His skeleton was exhibited until the building
where it was displayed, the Burlington (Iowa) Geological
and Historical Society, was destroyed in a fire in the mid-
1850s. Black Hawk’s autobiography—dictated to
Antoine LeClaire, an interpreter of mixed Indian-Anglo
heritage, and edited by John B. Patterson, an Illinois
newspaper publisher—was first published in 1833. Black
Hawk had three children. His great-grandson was Jim
Thorpe, to many the greatest American athlete of the
twentieth century.

—Loriene Roy
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BLACK HAWK PURCHASE
(1832)

eneral Winfield Scott and Governor John
C/':\GReynolds of Illinois orchestrated the Black

Hawk Purchase on September 21, 1832, at
Fort Armstrong near present-day Rock Island, Illinois.
The treaty, which concluded the Black Hawk War, ended
nearly thirty years of hostile relations between westward-
moving Americans and the Sauk and Fox aligned with
Black Hawk, a prominent Sauk warrior chief who
refused to surrender ancestral lands in northwestern Illi-
nois and southwestern Wisconsin.

A surge of land-hungry pioneers into the region, com-
bined with President Andrew Jackson’s Indian removal
policies, had precipitated the hostilities of 1832. Tensions,
however, had first surfaced in 1804 when Sauk leaders
traveled to St. Louis for peace talks. President Thomas Jef-
ferson, eager to obtain Sauk and Fox lands in the newly
acquired Louisiana Territory, authorized William Henry
Harrison, governor of the Indiana Territory, to obtain title
to tribal lands. Harrison, who plied the visitors with liquor
and gifts, secured fifteen million acres of tribal lands from
the compliant chiefs. Black Hawk and other Sauk leaders
protested, however, arguing that the treaty was invalid
because those who had signed it did not possess the author-
ity to do so. Years of intermittent skirmishing followed,
until government officials permitted the Sauk and Fox to
inhabit the disputed cession until American settlers arrived.

When homesteaders swarmed into the region, Ameri-
can Indians found themselves forced from their produc-
tive fields and villages and, by 1829, driven westward
across the Mississippi into Iowa Territory. Black Hawk
and his followers, however, refused to submit without a
fight. In the spring of 1831, they crossed the Mississippi
and moved into their villages near Rock Island. General
Edmund Gaines responded with military force but man-
aged to avoid war by hashing out an agreement with the
Sauk, who promised never again to cross to the eastern
bank of the Mississippi without permission.

In April 1832, Black Hawk rallied about one thou-
sand of his followers and crossed the Mississippi River
into Illinois, a region from which they had been evicted
the previous year. Illinois militiamen rushed to the scene
in droves as General Henry Atkinson and his soldiers
began arriving from Jefferson Barracks, St. Louis. Black
Hawk responded to the news by arranging a truce.
Excited militiamen, however, fired upon Black Hawk’s
emissaries, killing two of them.

The war had begun. Panic spread throughout the
region as Black Hawk’s starving followers fought their
way through northern Illinois and southern Wisconsin in
a desperate attempt to reach the Mississippi before Gen-
eral Henry Atkinson’s soldiers caught them. Following
yet another botched surrender attempt, the elusive rebels
were crushed during a desperate attempt to cross the Mis-
sissippi at the mouth of the Bad Axe River. The resulting
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Battle of Bad Axe (August 1-2, 1832) destroyed the
American Indian resistance. Black Hawk, who had
escaped the bloodbath, surrendered a short time later.

In September 1832, General Scott and Governor
Reynolds arrived at Rock Island, Illinois, to establish a
lasting peace and firm friendship between the pioneers
and disgruntled natives, by extracting a valuable land ces-
sion from American Indians who had sparked an “unpro-
voked war” upon unsuspecting and defenseless inhabi-
tants of the region. To achieve this end, government
negotiators demanded six million acres of tribal lands
carved out of the Louisiana Purchase. The Treaty of Fort
Armstrong required the tribes to cede a strip of land fifty
miles wide running almost the entire length of the Missis-
sippi River in the present state of lowa. In return for their
lands, the Sauk and Fox received a $20,000 annuity for
thirty years and a small reservation along the Iowa River
within the ceded territory. They also obtained assurances
that the United States would provide additional black-
smith and gunsmith shops. Negotiators also promised to
supply forty kegs of tobacco and salt and pay a $40,000
debt owed to traders. To prevent future misunderstand-
ings, the Sauk and Fox were ordered to vacate perma-
nently all lands east of the Mississippi before June 1, 1833.

Black Hawk, his two sons, and seven “turbulent spir-
its” were shipped east to Fort Monroe in Virginia. Presi-
dent Andrew Jackson informed them that their period of
confinement depended upon the good behavior of their
kinsmen. After a brief stay, the prisoners were released to
Keokuk, the leader of the Sauk and Fox peace faction.
After a whirlwind tour of Eastern cities designed to dis-
play the power and wealth of the United States, Black
Hawk and the other prisoners arrived in lowa Territory in
1833. The rebellious Sauk leader, who had devoted most
of his adult life to stopping the westward-surging Ameri-
cans, honored the peace terms and lived peacefully on a
reservation near Fort Des Moines until his death in 1838.

—Jon L. Brudvig
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BLACK HAWK WAR (1832)

he Black Hawk War, which lasted less than
Canour months in 1832, was the last of the
Indian wars of the old Northwest Territory.
Associated with Sauk warrior Black Hawk, the conflict



An estimated 5,000 Indians representing the Ojibwa, Sac, Fox, loway, and others gathered at Prairie du Chien in August
1825 to sign a treaty with American authorities.

consisted of Sauk attacks on small groups of settlers with
resultant military deployment. It ended with American
troops and militia slaughtering Sauk men, women, and
children who were attempting to return to Iowa under a
white flag.

After the Louisiana Purchase in 1803, greater num-
bers of settlers moved into the Rock River Valley of
northwestern Illinois and southwestern Wisconsin, dis-
placing the Sauk. The American strategy to push the Sauk
west was accomplished by negotiating treaties with sub-
sets of the tribe and dividing tribal allegiance by support-
ing Black Hawk’s intertribal opponents as well as the
Sauk’s traditional enemies, the Osage.

In August 1804, relatives of a Sauk woman insulted at
a dance killed three settlers in an event called the Cuivre
River Massacre. Four Sauk tribal leaders traveled twice
to St. Louis to negotiate peace with William Henry Har-
rison, governor of the Indiana Territory. On the second
visit they brought one of the killers, whom the Americans
imprisoned. Without consulting other tribal members,
and under the influence of the Americans’ gifts of alco-
hol, the tribal representatives signed the Treaty of St.
Louis on November 4, 1804, ceding fifty million acres of
tribal lands east of the Mississippi River in exchange for
an annuity of $1,000 plus $2,000 in supplies. The treaty
heightened not only the stress between Indians and Amer-
icans but also stress between tribal groups.

When Black Hawk returned to Saukenuk from British
service during the War of 1812, he discovered that a
number of his tribespeople had moved to Iowa. Those
remaining had elected his opponent, Keokuk (Watchful
Fox)—an orator who supported the Americans—to be
their spokesperson.

Black Hawk led numerous raids over the next two
decades while his opponents continued to try to negotiate
peace with the Americans. The Sauk signed treaties in
1815 and 1816 to affirm the 1804 treaty. The Treaty at
Prairie du Chien on August 25, 1825, set tribal bound-
aries.

A lead “boom” near Galena, Illinois, in the 1820s
resulted in white miners encroaching on traditional Sauk
lead mines. Settlers moved into Sauk lodges at Saukenuk
in 1827, and Sauk homeland was sold to U.S. citizens in
October 1829. Secretary of War Lewis Cass assured the
governor of Illinois that all Indians would be removed
from the state by 1829. On July 25, 1830, Sauk and Fox
leaders signed another Treaty at Prairie du Chien, again
setting borders between tribes. Members of the British
Band signed the Articles of Agreement and Capitulation
on June 30, 1831, acknowledging Keokuk as tribal leader
and restricting their movements to new lands in the West.
Again, Black Hawk would not adhere to the treaty. He
organized several attacks against settlers’ villages in 1831
and 1832 and then moved west across the Mississippi.
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When the Sauk found the prairie fields difficult to till
and plant, Black Hawk returned to Illinois in April 1833
to seek a site on which to raise corn. The British Band,
with one thousand men, half of whom were noncombat-
ants, moved across the Mississippi and then north along
the Rock River, carefully avoiding Saukenuk. The Sixth
Infantry, under General Henry Atkinson, was ordered
against Black Hawk and on April 8, 1832, started upriver
to try to curtail Sauk movements.

When neither British nor sufficient Indian support
materialized, Black Hawk’s band attempted several times
to negotiate a surrender, only to receive a hostile response
from U.S. troops, or none at all. Early in the war, Black
Hawk moved to surrender, sending three emissaries, fol-
lowed by five scouts, to negotiate the terms. After Illinois
volunteers killed two of the emissaries, Black Hawk retal-
iated on May 12, 1832. This exchange, the Battle of Still-
man’s Run, was named after Major Isaiah Stillman,
leader of an unattached group of Illinois militia. The mili-
tia, numbering some 275, became disorganized and fled
from battle. Three Sauk were killed, along with twelve
Americans.

The Indians’ victory was short lived. Black Hawk led
other attacks on settlements, but his general movement
turned to one of escape into inhospitable swampland.
Militia located the British Band on July 21, 1832, killing
a number of warriors at the Battle of Wisconsin Heights.
Starving and exhausted, on August 1, 1832, Black
Hawk’s group of pan-tribal followers (consisting of Sauk,
Fox, Kickapoo, and Ho Chunk/Winnebago), now some
five hundred people, split when he proposed moving
north to seek shelter with the Ho Chunk. A number of
the band tried to forge the confluence of the Mississippi
and Bad Axe Rivers, and started to construct rafts. When
the steamboat Warrior came upon the Sauk the militia
opened fire, even after the British Band raised a white
flag. Atkinson was supported by four thousand volun-
teers under Henry Dodge and James Henry. The Battle of
Bad Axe ended, on August 2, 1832, with the deaths of
nearly all of the British Band. Many of the Sauk who
escaped to the west bank of the Mississippi were killed by
the waiting Sioux.

Black Hawk continued north into Wisconsin, where
he surrendered on August 27, 1832. Black Hawk was
imprisoned and eventually returned to the Sauk. The
Black Hawk War resulted in some four hundred to six
hundred Indian deaths, including many noncombatants,
and seventy settler or military deaths. The war officially
ended on September 21, 1832. In reparation, the Sauk
lost most of eastern Iowa in exchange for an annuity of
$20,000 a year for thirty years, an agreement referred to
as the “Black Hawk Purchase.” The Sauk sold their lands
in Towa in 1842, and in 1845 they, along with the Fox,
were removed to a reservation in Kansas. They moved
once more, in 1869, to Indian Territory, later Oklahoma.
Abraham Lincoln was the most famous veteran of the
Black Hawk War, having served as an Illinois volunteer.
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Other veterans profited from their service through acqui-
sition of land, government payments, and advancement
of military or political careers.

—Loriene Roy
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BLACK HILLS

he Black Hills occupy a five-thousand-square-
CaTmile mountainous area south of the Belle

Fourche River and west of the southern fork
of the Cheyenne River. Two-thirds of the Black Hills lie
in southwestern South Dakota, and the remainder in
northeastern Wyoming. Acquired by the United States in
the Louisiana Purchase, the pine- and spruce-forested
granite outcroppings appear black at a distance. Presi-
dent Grover Cleveland established the Black Hills Forest
Reserve, along with twelve other forest reserves, in 1897.
In 1907 the Black Hills National Forest was established.
The Hills, geologically classified as dome mountains,
average 3,500 feet, while its Harney Peak, at 7,242 feet,
is the tallest point east of the Rocky Mountains. General
William S. Harney was remembered for his aggressive
attack on the Brule Sioux in 1853, resulting in one hun-
dred Indian men killed and one hundred women and chil-
dren captured, and for his assistance in negotiating the
Treaty of Fort Laramie.

The Lakota referred to the Black Hills as the Paha
Sapa, or “the hills that are black.” The Paha Sapa figure
prominently in Sioux creation stories, in which the origi-
nal people emerged from a life underground through
Wind Cave and were saved by one of their own people,
who transformed himself into a buffalo. These were
sacred lands, used for solitary religious pursuits, and a
shared ground that provided sanctuary in which warring
nations met for council.

The first non-Indians to see the Black Hills were
French explorers Francois and Louis-Joseph de la
Verendrye, in January 1743. On October 1, 1804, Lewis
and Clark were camped near the mouth of the Cheyenne
River, where they heard reports of the Black Hills from
Jean Valle, a trapper and trader. Valle relayed to them the
legend of mysterious thunder heard in the Hills. Miners



and trappers frequented the Hills during the 1830s.
Father Pierre Jean De Smet visited in the 1840s and
1850s, exploring the region and advising the Indians to
conceal the presence of gold. In 1861, Dakota Territory
was created. The Treaty of Fort Laramie (1868) set aside
the Black Hills for exclusive use by the Sioux as part of
the Great Sioux Reservation. In 1874, Lieutenant
Colonel George Armstrong Custer led a military explo-
ration of the Black Hills, largely in part to confirm long-
reported sightings of gold. His sixty-day excursion
included one thousand men, 110 wagons, three Gatling
guns, and a retinue of scientists (geologists, naturalists,
and botanists), miners, photographers, journalists,
guides, scouts, and a sixteen-piece band. Custer’s reports
to the press of gold findings initiated a gold rush and the
development of large-scale mining ventures, such as the
Homestake Mine. The path he followed to the Black
Hills came to be called Thieves’ Road by the Lakota and
Freedom’s Trail by the miners. The Black Hills are also
repositories of other minerals: silver, copper, tin, mica,
graphite, iron, lead, and nickel. In 1875 the United States
sought to alter the 1868 treaty, offering to buy the Black
Hills from the Sioux people. When the offer was not
accepted, the government ordered the Lakota to report to
agencies. An intertribal group of Cheyenne, Arapaho,
and Sioux (Oglala, Brule, Minneconjou, and Hunkpapa)
that remained off reservation forced General Crook’s
troops to retreat on June 17, 1876, and on June 25, 1876,
they killed Custer’s forces at the Battle of the Little Big
Horn. The Great Sioux War of 1876-1877 ended with
the surrender of the few surviving native people.

In 1877, the U.S. government confiscated the Black
Hills and removed it from the Great Sioux Reservation, a
decision still contested by the Lakota people. The Sioux
bands were forced to relocate, and those that did not
report to reservation lands by January 31, 1878, were
declared hostile. Non-Indians were then free to move into
the Black Hills. The state of South Dakota was estab-
lished in 1889. The resources of the Black Hills were
open to commercial exploitation, seen in the arrival of
boom towns, cattlemen, and saw mills and the develop-
ment of national Western icons such as Wild Bill Hickok
and Calamity Jane. In the early twentieth century, the
forests of the Black Hills were first decimated by timber
interests and then subjected to experiments in govern-
ment regulation over public land. In 1927, President
Coolidge vacationed in the Black Hills, awakening a
national interest in the area. Today, the Black Hills’ rivers,
valleys, and other natural wonders are a recreation area
for many. Manmade attractions include Mount Rush-
more National Memorial, Crazy Horse Monument,
Deadwood, the Black Hills Passion Play, and the annual
motorcycle rally at Sturgis.

—Loriene Roy
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BLACKFOOT

he Blackfoot were one of the larger and more
Canowerful tribes that inhabited the Northern

Plains when Anglo-American explorers, trap-
pers, and fur traders began to travel through the northern
portion of the Louisiana Purchase Territory. The tribe
inhabited the region north of the Upper Missouri River in
present-day Montana and southern Alberta. Their lands
were located just east of the Rocky Mountains, and two
mountain tribes, the Shoshone and the Nez Perce, were
their traditional enemies.

Like other peoples of the Great Plains—such as the
Sioux, the Crow, the Cheyenne, and the Arapaho—the
Blackfoot had originated in the eastern woodlands near
the Great Lakes and had moved westward prior to the
eighteenth century. They spoke a language called Sik-
sika, which was part of the Algonquian-Wakashan lin-
guistic group. Their geographic migration westward
had also entailed a cultural transformation as they
abandoned the sedentary agricultural lifestyle of the
earth-lodge and became nomadic hunters on the Plains.
They acquired horses from southern tribes and soon
became known as some of the most expert hunters of
the Plains.

Although the Blackfoot constituted one tribal
group, they were organized into three different bands:
the Siksika (or Blackfoot), the Piegan, and the Kainah
(or Blood). Although these three bands had their own
leaders and operated somewhat autonomously, the
tribe always unified in time of warfare to defend its ter-
ritory. This warfare-induced unity was quite common
because the Blackfoot earned the reputation of being
frequently hostile to their neighbors whenever they
believed that tribal welfare was jeopardized by the
incursions of others. This pattern of behavior persisted
as whites began to trespass upon Blackfoot territory.
During the entire Lewis and Clark Expedition
(1804-1806), the only hostile encounter that the Corps
of Discovery experienced was an ambush by a group of
Blackfoot warriors who attempted to steal horses from
the explorers when they traveled along the Marias
River in northwestern Montana. Two Indians were
killed in this attack.

The arrival of white Americans would bring many
changes to the culture of the Blackfoot. They did acquire
wealth by trading beaver pelts with merchants and
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traders from St. Louis who navigated the Missouri River
annually to participate in the mountain rendezvous with
the region’s free trappers. But contact with Americans
took its toll on the Blackfoot as they frequently suffered
from epidemic diseases such as smallpox to which they
had no immunity. Some accounts suggest that the tribe
was presented with blankets that were infected with
smallpox—a nineteenth-century version of ethnic cleans-
ing that decimated the tribe. When the vast herds of bison
began to vanish as a result of widespread slaughter by
white hunters, it foreshadowed the decline of the Black-
foot, who had been so dependent upon the hunt as a
means of survival.

The era of the Plains Indian Wars was also a difficult
time for the Blackfoot. In 1870 the U.S. Army was seek-
ing a hostile band of Blackfoot warriors under the lead-
ership of Mountain Chief. By mistake, the American
force came upon a peaceful encampment of Blackfoot—
mostly women and children—who were under the pro-
tection of Heavy Runner. The U.S. forces attacked and
more than 200 Blackfoot were killed. In the confusion,
Mountain Chief and his band escaped by crossing the
border into Canada.

War, disease, and the near extinction of the bison
changed the Blackfoot. This realization was evident in
the words spoken by Lame Bull, a chief of the Piegan
band, as he informed a Presbyterian missionary of his
new understanding of things. He said: “When we catch
a wild animal on the prairie & attempt to tame him we
sometimes find it very hard. . .. But almost any animal
can be tamed by kindness and perseverance. We have
been running wild on the prairie and now we want the
white sons and daughters of our great Father to come to
our country and tame us” (Ewers, 1967). It was clear
that the pacification of the once-fierce warrior tribe was
almost complete.

By the 1880s the Blackfoot living in the United States
as well as those in Canada had been relocated to reserva-
tions. Today, an estimated 38,000 Blackfoot live in the
United States, and more than 11,000 reside in Canada.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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BODMER, CHARLES
(1809-1893)

harles Bodmer toured the American frontier,
@C painting and sketching the sites to document

the expedition of Prince Maximilian of Wied-
Neuwied to the upper Missouri country in 1832-1834.
His pictures of the frontier remained unequaled until the
advent of photography. Born in Zurich, Switzerland,
Bodmer was apprenticed to his uncle, Johann Jakob
Meier, from whom he learned sketching, engraving, and
watercolor. He demonstrated particular expertise as an
aquatint engraver, showing a special interest in nature
and landscapes. In 1828, Bodmer settled in the Rhine and
Moselle regions of Germany, obtaining work as an illus-
trator for travel albums and publishing a book of Moselle
Valley scenes. The book probably brought him to the
attention of Prince Maximilian, a naturalist and explorer
living nearby who planned a trip to North America to
collect fauna and observe Native Americans. Needing an
artist to record the images of Indians, Maximilian invited
Bodmer to accompany him.

The expedition to America began on May 17, 1832,
when Maximilian, Bodmer, and a servant, David Drei-
doppel, set sail from Holland and landed at Boston on
the Fourth of July. After spending late July through mid-
September in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, and the winter in
New Harmony, Indiana, Bodmer left to take a trip down
the Ohio and Mississippi Rivers to New Orleans. The
artist had been executing watercolors to document the
journey, and he continued to paint as he traveled solo.
Rejoining Maximilian, the travelers reached St. Louis on
March 24, 1833. The party went up the Missouri aboard
one of the American Fur Company’s new steamboats and
reached Bellevue, near modern-day Omaha, Nebraska, in
early May. At Bellevue, Bodmer began his first painting
of Western Indians—two Omahas, a father and son, vis-
iting the fur company’s post. The trip resumed as the men
pushed on along the Missouri to the Sioux Agency near
the mouth of the White River. Particularly fascinated by
the Sioux, Bodmer produced one of his most famous por-
traits, of Wahktigeli (“Big Soldier”). Bodmer had had no
formal training in portraiture, and that proved to be a
benefit, since he applied no European ideals of form or
beauty to his paintings that might have distorted the like-
nesses.

By May 30 the party reached Fort Pierce, one of the
largest of the fur company’s posts. When they reached
Fort Clark, the Europeans were fortunate to encounter a
delegation of Crow Indians who had journeyed from as
far west as the Big Horn Mountains, and Bodmer
grabbed his chance to paint more portraits. The party
next reached Fort Union, which stood on a plain at the
junction of the Yellowstone and Missouri Rivers. The
remainder of the trip now took place in keelboats as the
group meandered through the Badlands. The group had
intended simply to pass through Fort McKenzie, near



present-day Great Falls, Montana, and continue to travel
westward, but relations between whites and Indians had
become severely strained in the vicinity of the post. Deter-
mining that further travel would be hazardous, the group
nevertheless stayed long enough for Bodmer to become
acquainted with the leading men of all three bands of the
Blackfoot. Bodmer’s portraits of these chiefs and shamans
are among his outstanding works. The party spent the
harsh winter of 1833-1834 at Fort Clark, near present-
day Bismarck, North Dakota, and established warm rela-
tions with the Mandan and Hidatsa Indians. The Man-
dan would be nearly extinguished by smallpox a few
years later, and Bodmer’s works constitute an invaluable
record of their lives, inasmuch as he typically included
detailed renditions of the Indians’ ornamentation, attire,
and implements. Bodmer and Maximilian returned to
Europe in July 1834. The artist never again visited the
New World. He had completed nearly four hundred
watercolors and sketches, mostly landscapes.

Maximilian decided to publish a deluxe account of the
journey, with illustrations based on Bodmer’s watercol-
ors. Bodmer supervised the production of this multivol-
ume narrative of the expedition, which sold but few
copies because of its exorbitant price. A short and more
affordable book, North America in Pictures (1846), also
met with little success, but Bodmer’s aquatints gained
fame as being among the most significant contributions
to the iconography of the Western frontier. In the 1840s,
Bodmer moved between Cologne, Germany, and Paris as
he painted in oils and exhibited landscapes. Best known
in his day as a prolific engraver, Bodmer spent his remain-
ing years illustrating magazines and books. By the time of
his death, in 1893, his career had already slipped into a
deep decline. His paintings were rediscovered after World
War II and are now housed at the Joslyn Art Museum in
Omaha.

—Caryn E. Neumann
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BONAPARTE, JOSEPH
(1768-1844)

oseph Bonaparte conducted the 1800 negotiations
C/':\ with three American commissioners leading to the
signing of the Convention of Mortefontaine,
which re-established friendship and maritime peace
between France and the United States after the Quasi-

War (1798-1800), one of the steps necessary for
Napoleon to carry out his dream of reconquering
Louisiana. Joseph was not officially involved in the nego-
tiations that were to lead to the Louisiana Purchase, but
he was instrumental in conveying Robert R. Livingston’s
views to his brother before real negotiations got under
way. He is also rumored to have been involved in a con-
spiracy with the British ambassador in Paris to maintain
peace in Europe, which may partly explain why he
protested Napoleon’s sale of the vast colony without the
French parliamentary chambers having been consulted,
although to no avail.

Joseph Bonaparte was born in Ajaccio, Corsica, the
eldest son of Charles Bonaparte and Letizia Ramolino.
Benefiting from his brother’s influence, Joseph was
appointed commissaire des guerres in the French Army of
Italy; then he was elected as representative for his native
Corsica in the Council of the Five Hundred. He bought
the magnificent estate of Mortefontaine, thirty miles north
of Paris, in October 1798. He was not very active in the
Council of the Five Hundred, but after his brother’s Bru-
maire coup (November 1799), he joined the Tribunat,
then the Counsel of State, preferring diplomatic missions
such as re-establishing friendly relationships with the
United States (Convention of Mortefontaine, October 3,
1800). On that occasion, Joseph headed the group of
French commissioners, including Pierre-Louis Roederer
and Charles de Fleurieu, who met the Americans Oliver
Ellsworth, William Davie, and William Vans Murray in
discussions on how to solve mutual grievances caused by
the Quasi-War between France and the United States. As
this was Joseph’s first major diplomatic mission, he was
keen on the discussions’ succeeding—even though
Napoleon would not hear of any indemnities for damage
caused to American trade by French privateers during the
Quasi-War, and Americans were adamant that some com-
pensation had to be paid. Napoleon was not in a hurry to
have the American treaty signed; he wanted to make peace
in Europe first, so that he could dictate his terms to the
Americans next. However, Joseph was allowed to have his
way, and negotiations proceeded smoothly, although no
solution could be found on the matter of indemnities for
the prizes made by the French during the Quasi-War: that
subject should be reserved for future negotiation. Thus
could Joseph host the final signing ceremony in his Morte-
fontaine mansion (October 3, 1800), celebrating the
renewed French-American friendship with a lavish party.

By that time negotiations in Spain on the retrocession
of Louisiana to France, which had begun over the sum-
mer, had led to the signing of the Treaty of San Ildefonso
(October 1).

Joseph Bonaparte went on to negotiate peace in 1801
with Austria (the Peace of Lunéville) and with Great
Britain (the Peace of Amiens). Such successful results
made Napoleon feel grateful, and he offered Joseph the
Crown of Italy, which the latter declined.

Because Joseph was very close to his brother, he was
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approached in the summer of 1802 by Robert R. Liv-
ingston, the American minister in Paris, who was trying
to ingratiate himself with French officials by leading an
active social life. Joseph informed him that Napoleon
Bonaparte had not responded in any way when he had
broached the subject of Livingston’s recent memoir on
Louisiana (“Whether it will be advantageous to France to
take possession of Louisiana?”). Still, later in the fall,
Joseph hinted at selling the Floridas or Louisiana to Liv-
ingston, but the eldest Bonaparte put an end to these
informal discussions early in 1803, suggesting that the
American minister turn again to Charles Maurice de Tal-
leyrand as a proper diplomatic conduit.

By that time, Napoleon was faced with the failure of
his policy to reconquer St. Domingue, and he decided that
he would abandon his colonial system, keeping the secret
to himself for the time being. Still, by early March,
Napoleon started voicing his anti-British feelings publicly.
The British ambassador wrote his government that he was
in touch with people close to Lucien Bonaparte and was
confident that Joseph especially might be bribed into
pleading for peace with the first consul. There is an indi-
cation that by March 24, Joseph had been approached,
and he met with Charles Whitworth, the British ambassa-
dor, on March 30. Yet he did not reassure Whitworth on
the subject of peace, though Whitworth understood that
this was just a preliminary discussion. There is no proof
that any actual bribery took place, and the men later met
within the general framework of the official negotiations.

By April 10, Napoleon had decided to sell Louisiana
so that he could finance his coming war with Britain and
keep that great colonial prize out of the hands of Britain.
Negotiations between Barbé-Marbois, Monroe, and Liv-
ingston were well under way when Joseph learned of his
brother’s decision. Together with Lucien Bonaparte, they
paid a visit to the first consul, firmly observing that he
could not sell Louisiana without the consent of the cham-
bers. Napoleon told them he would do so, which stirred
the two brothers’ anger but did nothing to change
Napoleon’s resolve.

Joseph became King of Naples on March 31, 1806.
He was instrumental in bringing about administrative
reforms and energizing the local economy. His record
was marred, however, by reports of corruption and pil-
lage of the kingdom. A much worse experience was to
come when Joseph accepted the title of King of Spain, on
April 18, 1808. After Napoleon was finally sent to the
island of St. Helena, Joseph fled to the United States
under the name of Count of Survilliers. For seventeen
years, he was a popular citizen of Bordentown, New Jer-
sey, and Philadelphia. He made friends in high places,
was elected to the American Philosophical Society, and
was received by President Andrew Jackson. He left for
England in 1832, returning to the United States between
1837 and 1839 before moving to Florence, Italy, where
he died on July 28, 1844.

—Marie-Jeanne Rossignol
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BONAPARTE, LUCIEN
(1775-1840)

ucien Bonaparte, Napoleon’s younger brother
C’;% and the third son of Charles Bonaparte and

Letizia Ramolino, rounded off the negotiations
with Spain that were to lead to the retrocession of
Louisiana to France by signing the Convention of Aran-
juez (1801). He was also indirectly involved in a con-
spiracy with Great Britain that might have prevented the
sale of Louisiana in 1803.

Lucien Bonaparte was trained as a future infantry offi-
cer at the same military schools as his older brothers,
Joseph and Napoleon, but then sent to the seminary on
his father’s death. He did not choose an ecclesiastical
career, however, returning in 1789 to Corsica, where he
became a leading member of the Jacobin Club. After a
short stint in prison as a Jacobin, he was liberated by
Napoleon and chose to start a political career as a repre-
sentative for his native island. He was elected to the
Council of Five Hundred in 1798 and became very active
there, reaching the position of president of that assembly
in October 1799, which enabled him to come to the res-
cue of his brother Napoleon during the latter’s Coup of
18 Brumaire. All the while, Lucien proved to be a busi-
nessman of great acumen, quickly becoming rich on
shrewd investments in privateering.

After 18 Brumaire, Lucien Bonaparte sat in the Tri-
bunat, then was appointed an interior (police) minister.
Once again, he betrayed his earlier republican principles
by being instrumental in the falsification of the referen-
dum on the Year VIII Constitution. He also intrigued
against his brother, circulating in November 1800 a sup-
posedly anonymous pamphlet about Napoleon’s lack of
an heir. The suggestion was that Lucien himself should be
considered as Napoleon’s successor. Napoleon had him
resign and then appointed him as ambassador to Madrid.
There he was to conclude the negotiations aimed at re-
establishing the Family Compact between Spain and
France, which involved the retrocession of Louisiana to
France.



The new Family Compact had two goals: it was first
aimed at destroying Britain’s power in the Iberian penin-
sula and in the Mediterranean. Spain would provide
France with its fleet, and, once victorious against the
British, the thankful French would reward Spain with
territory taken from Portugal, a steady British ally. The
Family Compact also provided that the French would
offer the kingdom of Tuscany to the Prince of Parma, the
Spanish king’s son-in-law, thanks to which they would
be able to reach their second goal, the retrocession of
Louisiana. The kingdom of Tuscany was the Queen of
Spain’s own ambitious invention; she insisted upon her
daughter’s reigning over an enlarged duchy, which
involved dethroning the current duke and adding other
territories to his possessions to form a bigger, newly cre-
ated kingdom: Tuscany.

The first step of this complex diplomatic process had
been the signing by General Louis-Alexandre Berthier of
the secret Treaty of San Ildefonso on October 1, 1800,
which provided that the Spanish would retrocede
Louisiana “in exchange for the territorial aggrandizement
of the Duchy of Parma.” Six months after these conditions
were met, the French would repossess Louisiana. This par-
ticular treaty had not been made public at the time, for
fear that the British would invade Louisiana and secure it
before the colony was returned to France; the American
government could thus only rely on rumors as word
began to spread that Louisiana had been retroceded.

Lucien’s mission was to negotiate a new treaty closing
the bargain in regard to Parma and Tuscany. As he now
controlled Italy, Napoleon himself set about convincing
the old Duke of Parma that he should leave his duchy. He
soon informed Lucien that the duke was renouncing his
rights to all his states, which were to become the sover-
eign possession of the Prince of Parma. The duke was to
content himself with some financial compensation. Final
discussions between Lucien and Manuel de Godoy, the
Spanish negotiator, took place on March 20 and 21,
1801, leading to the Convention of Aranjuez on Parma
and Tuscany: the convention provided that the duke
renounce his hereditary rights on behalf of the French
republic, which in turn conveyed them to the new “vas-
sal” king. The Prince of Parma was created King of Tus-
cany, and the sixth article of the Convention provided
that the retrocession of Louisiana at once be carried out.
The convention was signed at Madrid on March 21,
1801. Copies of it were soon forwarded to Washington
by Rufus King, the American minister in London. Now
the American government could rely on facts, no longer
on mere rumors, to protest the retrocession and ask for
explanations or territorial arrangements.

Meanwhile, Lucien remained to make sure that the
second goal of the Family Compact, the destruction of
British power in the Iberian peninsula, was carried out.
Lucien wrote to the Portuguese ambassador in Madrid,
demanding that his country comply with a 1795 treaty
with France. The treaty provided that Portugal shut its

harbors to British ships and cede its northern provinces to
Spain. Upon Portugal’s refusal, war was declared by
Spain and France and was rapidly won. Lucien was hur-
ried by Godoy into signing a treaty that did not offer the
military guarantees that Talleyrand and Napoleon even-
tually meant to request from Portugal (Treaty of Badajoz,
June 5, 1801), which led to Napoleon’s angry recall of his
brother in October 1801. There is no denying that Lucien
came back a rich man from his embassy in Madrid, his
wealth the result of continual bribery on the part of the
Spanish court, and then on the part of the Portuguese.

In 1802 he sat on the Tribunat again. One can find a
connection between his career and Louisiana again in
March 1803, at a time of renewed tensions with Britain.
Then the British ambassador in Paris, Charles Whit-
worth, wrote the foreign secretary that a friend of
Lucien’s had approached him, suggesting that the Bona-
parte family might be bribed into promoting a peace pol-
icy toward Great Britain in their discussions with the first
consul. Peace in 1803 would have made the sale of
Louisiana unnecessary for France. Fruitless negotiations
were conducted with Joseph, but still, the two brothers
did react angrily to Napoleon’s decision to sell Louisiana
without consulting the chambers—which also put an end
to whatever conspiracy in which they may have been
involved.

Lucien went into exile to Rome in April 1804. He rec-
onciled himself with his brother Napoleon in 1815,
believing that a new, constitutional empire would be
established. His hopes defeated, he moved back to Italy
and died in Viterbe in 1840.

—NMarie-Jeanne Rossignol
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BONAPARTE, NAPOLEON
(1769-1821)

ollowing a series of failed attempts to expand
C’;% French influence in the New World, First Con-
sul Napoleon Bonaparte abandoned his ambi-

tious colonial policy and approved the sale of Louisiana
to the United States in April 1803.
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Once he abandoned plans to reestablish a French empire in
North America, Napoleon Bonaparte decided to sell the
entire Louisiana Territory to the United States in 1803.

During the eighteenth century, the Louisiana Territory
was held periodically by France and Spain. In accordance
with the Treaty of Paris (1763), which brought an end to
the Seven Years’ War, France surrendered the vast
Louisiana territories to Great Britain and Spain. In his
typically charismatic style, Voltaire agonized over the loss
of Louisiana in a letter to his friend the Count Argental.
Voltaire wrote: “I have never conceived ... how one
abandoned the most beautiful climate of the earth, from
which one may have tobacco, silk, indigo, a thousand
useful products, and still carry on a more useful com-
merce with Mexico. I declare to you that if I had not built
Ferney, I would go and establish myself in Louisiana.”

As a voracious reader and patron of the French
Enlightenment, Napoleon Bonaparte was no doubt
acquainted with both Voltaire’s writings on Louisiana
and the intrinsic value of the former French colony. Thus
it is not surprising that the loss of France’s North Ameri-
can holdings proved a temporary arrangement as First
Consul Napoleon Bonaparte worked at the close of the
century to renew France’s western colonial empire. After
assuming the title of first consul following the Coup of
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18-19 Brumaire (November 9-10, 1799), Napoleon
worked to regain all the Louisiana territories west of the
Mississippi River from Spain. Control over this enor-
mous territory would halt the westward expansion of the
United States and supply French colonies in the
Caribbean with much-needed men and raw materials.
Napoleon’s plan called for Louisiana and the Caribbean
basin to work together to increase their wealth for the
benefit of France. The first consul envisioned Louisiana
as the natural storehouse of the Caribbean, providing the
area with a vast supply of furs, timber, salted meat, and
grain. To that end, France regained Louisiana through the
secret Treaty of San Ildefonso on October 1, 1800. The
arrangement concluded that France would surrender Tus-
cany to the rule of the daughter and son-in-law of Spain’s
King Charles IV, and in return, Spain would restore
Louisiana to France. Upon discovering the transfer of
Louisiana from Spain to France in October 1802, Presi-
dent Thomas Jefferson dispatched Robert Livingston,
U.S. minister to France, to Paris to attempt to purchase
New Orleans from the French. Napoleon, however, con-
tinued to recognize the collective value of New Orleans
and the French Caribbean holdings, and he declined the
American offer.

Even as the first consul declined offers to purchase por-
tions of the Louisiana Territory he worked to consolidate
French control of the region. Napoleon sent explicit
instructions as to who would serve as the colonial prefect,
captain general, and botanical gardener for Louisiana’s
colonial administration. Furthermore, he ordered that
navigation agreements along the Mississippi River remain
as they had been under the Spanish, and that all French
citizens be cordial to the bordering U.S. population. While
decreeing official goodwill toward all American citizens,
Bonaparte noted that the defense of Louisiana was para-
mount, and that the United States must be watched at all
times. To help guard Louisiana’s border, Napoleon ulti-
mately sought to rekindle France’s relationship with the
Native American population of the region, as they had
done during the French and Indian Wars.

Napoleon’s imminent plan for an expanded French
presence in the Western Hemisphere collapsed rapidly,
however, as a revolt of slaves and free blacks in the
French colony of St. Domingue enjoyed continued suc-
cess. The French detachment sent to the island of Haiti
totaled some thirty-three thousand men; the force under
General Charles-Victor-Emmanuel Leclerc included a
mixed group of French, Spanish, Creole, and Polish
troops. Once ashore, Leclerc’s army was instructed to
occupy the western half of the island and to crush the
revolt led by Toussaint I Ouverture; however, most of the
French manpower was squandered, as the potential com-
batants died of yellow fever and dysentery before ever
entering the fight. The surviving French forces were even-
tually forced to surrender to the British or return in dis-
grace to France. Angered and disheartened by the disas-
trous loss of General Leclerc, Napoleon’s brother-in-law,



and his men, Napoleon exclaimed: “Damn sugar, damn
coffee, damn colonies!” The Caribbean revolt proved
costly for France and her allies, as they were forced to
abandon the island of Hispaniola in 1802. This setback
proved ultimately too difficult to overcome, as it pre-
vented the French from reinforcing troops already dedi-
cated to the defense of New Orleans and the greater
Louisiana Territory. The French defeat in the Caribbean
marked the end of Napoleon’s North American dream:
the loss of St. Domingue had made the Louisiana Terri-
tory both untenable and unimportant.

Subsequently, the disastrous Caribbean campaign
coupled with the imminent threat of another war with
Great Britain to weaken France’s international position.
With that in mind, President Jefferson made another
attempt to purchase New Orleans from France. In
response to both American public opinion and requests
from U.S. negotiators, Jefferson bolstered the U.S. bar-
gaining position on the eve of negotiations by letting it be
known that if France remained in Louisiana, the United
States would join Britain in the coming war. Jefferson
then dispatched U.S. statesman James Monroe to Paris to
assist Livingston in the 1803 negotiations. Monroe was
instructed to negotiate at least one of the following items
with France: the purchase of New Orleans, the purchase
of West Florida and New Orleans, the purchase of land
on the eastern bank of the Mississippi River, or the acqui-
sition of the right of navigation along the Mississippi
River. In April 1803, just days before Monroe arrived in
Paris, Napoleon surprisingly offered to sell the United
States the entire Louisiana Territory. Following the pub-
lic announcement of the first consul’s willingness to sell,
an incident involving two of Napoleon’s brothers
occurred in his private quarters. According to contempo-
rary accounts, Joseph and Lucien Bonaparte burst into
Napoleon’s bath and began shouting their displeasure
over the possible sale of Louisiana, to which Napoleon
responded by dousing them with water. With all opposi-
tion silenced, or at least soaked, the first consul author-
ized the final sale of all Louisiana Territories. Napoleon’s
pragmatic decision to transfer the entire territory to the
United States reveals both his desire to secure a favorable
relationship with the United States and his need to keep
Louisiana out of British hands. In a meeting with his min-
isters on April 10, Napoleon clarified his position on the
sale: “I think of ceding it to the United States. I can hardly
say that I cede it to them, for it is not yet in our posses-
sion. If I leave the least time to our enemies, I will trans-
mit only an empty title to those Republicans whose
friendship 1 seek. They ask for only one town of
Louisiana; but I already consider the Colony as com-
pletely lost, and it seems to me that in the hands of that
growing power it will be more useful to the policy, and
even to the commerce of France than if I should try to
keep it.” The resulting treaty of May 2, 1803, secured
eighty million francs ($15 million) for the beleaguered
French treasury, of which only fifty-five million francs

($11.3 million) remained after the price was adjusted for
American civil claims “held against France for losses
stemming from ship seizures and other damages sus-
tained in the Anglo-French war.” Like most decisions
made by Napoleon Bonaparte, the agreement to sell
Louisiana to the United States was pragmatic and expe-
dient. After the costly campaign and the loss of the highly
profitable island of Hispaniola, France no longer had the
desire or resources to develop the unrefined Louisiana
expanse into a profitable French outpost. The additional
economic pressures associated with Napoleon’s ongoing
European wars also served to motivate France to sell
Louisiana to supply much-needed monies to the French
military. Ultimately, Napoleon’s potential French empire
in the New World proved unrealistic and was sold off to
help finance the First French Empire of the Old World.

—Christopher Blackburn
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BONNEVILLE, BENJAMIN L. E.
(1796-1878)

enjamin Louis Eulalie de Bonneville was born
@B near Paris on April 14, 1796. His father, a well-

educated person, had gone a bit too far in dis-
cussing the issues of the times in a series of pamphlets
that were published in Paris, and he had fallen under the
displeasure of the government and was imprisoned. He
sought permission to immigrate to the United States, but
was not permitted to do so. He was, however, able to
send his wife and son Benjamin with Thomas Paine, who
had also found it expedient to leave France. The party
sailed to North America under secrecy.

The Bonnevilles lived for a time with Paine in New
Rochelle, New York. Through Paine’s influence, Ben-
jamin was appointed a cadet at the military academy at
West Point, from which he graduated in 1819, ranked
thirty-five in his class. He spent two years in France with
Lafayette, who brought him back with him after his
American tour. Upon his return to the United States in
1821, Bonneville was assigned to duty on the Western
frontier as a first lieutenant, Seventh Infantry Regiment,
and promoted to captain on October 4, 1825.

He became infatuated with the idea that there was a
fortune to be made in the fur trade. These ideas culmi-
nated in his famous expedition of 1832-1833: Captain
Bonneville requested and was granted a leave of absence
from the War Department (from August 1831 to October
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1833) for the purpose of spending time in the “unex-
plored regions of the Far West.” The letter from the War
Department authorizing that leave, signed by General
Alexander Macomb, states that the reason the leave was
granted was “for the purpose of carrying into execution
your design of exploring the country to the Rocky moun-
tains [sic|] and beyond, with a view to ascertaining the
nature and character of the several tribes inhabiting those
regions.” This expedition was clearly for the purpose of
trade. Bonneville entered into agreement with Alfred
Seton of New York, one of the Astorians, who, along
with several associates, were to provide funding for the
expedition.

To carry out this mission, Captain Bonneville
recruited and organized a troop of 110 men with two
principal assistants: Joseph Reddeford Walker, who
would later earn fame in California, and Michael S.
Cerre, a member of a St. Louis family well connected in
the fur trade.

The expedition was well fitted out. “A fine assortment
of goods was provided and the equipment was in all
respects a splendid one. Wagons were used on the expe-
dition, contrary to the practice of the mountain traders
generally.” There were twenty wagons, drawn by oxen
and mules. The entire organization was based upon a
code of strict military discipline. It was apparent to any-
one seeing the group that it was a full military reconnais-
sance into foreign territory.

The expedition left Fort Osage, west of Independence,
Missouri, on May 1, 1832. The route west followed the
usual trail into the mountains: up the Platte and Sweet-
water Rivers, through South Pass, and on to Green River,
where Bonneville and his troop arrived on July 27.

Bonneville’s travels through the mountains and high
deserts are well documented. He met with several groups
of mountain men and fur traders. His presence in those
regions was of great concern to a number of people and
organizations, most viewing Captain Bonneville as an
interloper and refusing to give him much information.

Dr. John McLoughlin, chief factor for the Hudson’s
Bay Company and chief administrator for the British in
the jointly held Oregon Country, feared that Bonneville
was the advanced guard of what would become an Amer-
ican invasion. He also worried about increasing Ameri-
can influence in the fur trade. McLoughlin ordered Peter
Skene Ogden into the mountains to create a “fur desert”
so that the American trappers would come away empty
handed.

There is considerable evidence that Bonneville’s grand
strategy was to take the expedition into California.
Joseph R. Walker “was ordered to steer through an
unknown country toward the Pacific and if he did not
find beaver he should return to the Great Salt Lake in the
following summer [1833].”

There is additional evidence that Captain Bonneville
was under War Department orders. Clearly, he had objec-
tives beyond merely fur trapping. “Instead of beaver, he
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pursued both grand adventure for himself and all the
information about the West that he judged useful to his
government.”

—Henry H. Goldman
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BOONE, DANIEL
(1734-1820)

aniel Boone’s activities east of the Mississippi
@D River earned his reputation as one of Amer-

ica’s greatest frontiersmen. Never formally
educated, he became a skilled hunter and trapper at an
early age. Boone further honed his skills as an outdoors-
man when his father moved the family from Pennsylva-
nia to the North Carolina frontier in 1750. He first
explored the Kentucky wilderness in 1767 and returned
two years later with several others for an extended hunt-
ing trip. Boone was instrumental in promoting migration
to this region. He moved his own family there in 1775
and opened a trail known as the Wilderness Road across
Cumberland Gap, along which several settlements,
including Boonesboro, soon sprung up.

In the following years, Boone defended Kentucky pio-
neers from Indian attacks. His success as a militia officer
and dramatic capture and escape from the Shawnee made
him a local hero. As his reputation grew, Boone served in
other important posts, including terms as a Virginia state
legislator and county sheriff. His fame grew to new
heights with the publication of John Filson’s account, The
Adventures of Col. Daniel Boone (1784), which trum-
peted the frontiersman’s exploits in the wilderness and as
an Indian fighter to readers across the nation and abroad.

Ironically, the man who had done so much to open the
path for settlement across the Allegheny Mountains had
little success in acquiring territory for himself. He
engaged heavily in land speculation and filed claims
amounting to tens of thousands of acres, but most were
never validated. He was a poor businessman, and others
often took advantage of him. Financial difficulties even-
tually forced him to sell much of the property he did have
to satisfy his debts. Disillusioned by these failures and
harassed by creditors, Boone looked for opportunities
farther west.

During the late 1790s, Spanish officials in Louisiana



began to encourage American immigration into the terri-
tory. Fearful of a British invasion from Canada, they
believed that increasing the population was essential for
defense. With opportunities for settlers dwindling in Ken-
tucky, the promise of generous land grants and no prop-
erty taxes appealed to many. In 1797, Boone’s son, Daniel
Morgan, crossed into Spanish territory to look for a place
to settle in Missouri. At his father’s request, Morgan met
with Lieutenant Governor Trudeau to inquire about land
grants. Some Spaniards had reservations about inviting in
the Boones, but Trudeau was enthusiastic over the
prospect of the accomplished frontiersman’s leading a
number of families into the country.

Impressed by Boone’s reputation, the lieutenant gov-
ernor offered liberal terms, promising to exempt the
famed pioneer from the usual restrictions on new settlers.
He waived the limit on individual land grants, so Boone
could receive one thousand arpents (over a square mile).
Families accompanying Boone would be awarded six
hundred arpents each. Trudeau also agreed to ignore the
rule that they convert to Roman Catholicism, nor would
the one-year residency and land-improvement require-
ment apply to their concessions. Boone requested a land
grant on the Femme Osage in Missouri. Morgan had
scouted the area and noted its fertile soil, plentiful game,
and convenient river access.

In September 1799, Boone set out from Kentucky for
Upper Louisiana, joined by a number of his relatives and
other families and single men. He traveled by land,
escorting the company’s stock, while several boats carried
tools, household goods, and other supplies. In early
October they reached the Mississippi River. Boone rode
into St. Louis to secure his land grant and that of fifteen
other heads-of-household who traveled with him. The
new lieutenant governor, Don Charles Dehault Delassus,
treated him as an honored guest. The Spanish official
agreed to respect all of Trudeau’s promises, and even
offered to enlarge the pioneer’s tract if he could persuade
more families to emigrate. Delassus set up the Femme
Osage community as a separate administrative district,
with Boone as its chief administrator, or “syndic,” so the
Americans could distribute the concessions themselves.

Life in Missouri for Boone was similar to his experi-
ences on the Kentucky frontier years earlier. He immedi-
ately began to hunt and explore, earning much of his
income from the fur and pelt trade. Declining health and
old age, however, limited those activities, and the elder
Boone increasingly relied upon his family. His previous
dealings with Native Americans proved useful, as he once
again had to deal with Indians hostile to an intrusion into
their territory. He even reunited with some of his
Shawnee friends (and former captors), who had also
moved west. Still interested in acquiring land, he lured
more families to Spanish Louisiana and earned thousands
of arpents for his efforts. As syndic he also resumed his
role as a community leader. He parceled out land to new
immigrants and performed the duties of a justice of the

peace. Holding court outdoors under the shade of an elm,
Boone heard criminal cases and handed out punishments.

After the Louisiana Purchase, Boone suddenly found
his land titles under question. The American commission
investigating claims in Missouri required evidence of cul-
tivation before certifying a concession as valid. Boone
had not bothered to improve his holdings, because Span-
ish authorities had assured him that as syndic he was
exempt from that requirement. Unfortunately, this had
never been put in writing, and the commissioners ruled
against him. Sympathy for the pioneer’s plight prompted
Congress to pass a special act in 1814, returning part of
his tract.

Now in the last years of his life and in poor health,
Boone sold this land to pay his remaining debts. In the
decades following his death on September 26, 1820, the
legend of Daniel Boone continued to grow. He is most
remembered now for his activities east of the Mississippi
River, but historians also recognize his contributions to
the early American settlement of Missouri.

—Christopher Dennis
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BORE, JEAN ETIENNE
(1741-1820)

n November 30, 1803, the French prefect
CaOPierre Clément Laussat established a govern-
ing body in New Orleans and selected Jean
Etienne Bore as mayor. Bore was a native of the
Louisiana colony, having been born in Kaskasia in the
Illinois country in 1741. He was educated in France and
served in the French military before returning to
Louisiana in 1776. Bore invested much of his capital in
sugarcane production. His plantation succeeded in gran-
ulating sugar and proved that its production could be a
profitable enterprise in Louisiana—holding out some
promise for the economic viability of the colony.
Because of his success, Bore emerged as a leader of the
French-speaking planter class. His political career was
spent defending the interests of that class. When Laussat
created the new municipal council, Bore was a natural
choice. Following Louisiana’s transfer to the United
States, the council was re-established with most of the
same members, and with Bore retaining his position as
mayor. On December 24, 1803, in the presence of Gov-

Bore, Jean Etienne 47



ernor William Charles Cole Claiborne, Mayor Bore and
the members of the council took the oath of allegiance to
the United States.

On March 26, 1804, Congress passed legislation that
divided Louisiana into two parts: the Territory of
Orleans, which included the land “south of the Missis-
sippi Territory and of an east-and-west-line, to commence
on the Mississippi River, at the thirty-third degree of
north latitude, and to extend west to the western bound-
ary of said cession” (Fortier, 1904); and the District of
Louisiana, which included the rest of the purchase area.
In addition, the act designated that the Territory of
Orleans be administered by a governor appointed by the
president for a period of three years. The legislative
power was vested in a council of thirteen members
appointed annually by the president, and the governor
had the right to convene this council at any time. One of
the most controversial elements of the act was that it for-
bade the importation of slaves from foreign countries,
and it allowed the importation of slaves from the United
States only if they were the property of citizens moving
into the territory.

The reaction to the act in Louisiana was understand-
ably negative. Article Three of the Treaty of Cession stated
that “the inhabitants of the ceded territory shall be incor-
porated in the union of the United States, and admitted as
soon as possible, according to the principles of the federal
constitution, to the enjoyment of all the rights, advantages
and immunities of citizens of the United States; and in the
meantime they shall be protected in the free enjoyment of
their liberty, property, and the religion which they pro-
fess.” Many Louisianians felt that the congressional act
was not only a violation of this article of the Treaty of Ces-
sion but also of their natural rights.

On May 16, 1804, Mayor Bore addressed the munic-
ipal council in New Orleans in the hope that the council
would voice an official protest against the act. Bore stated
that “the municipal body was formed under the French
government: its powers are what they would [be] if it had
remained under that government, Governor Claiborne
having confirmed it, at the time of the transfer, with the
same powers. It is proper, then, to protest against the con-
stitution decreed by Congress on March 26, because it
annihilates the rights of the Louisianians, of whom we
form a part and of whom we are the only representative
body. The American government, by the wisdom of its
constitution, cannot and should not, without departing
from its principles and its obligations, infringe our natu-
ral rights and article third of the treaty of cession” (ibid.).
The council agreed that the act should be protested but
would not voice an official protest as a municipal body.

As a result, Mayor Bore resigned on May 19, 1804.
On June 1 a group of merchants and planters met in New
Orleans and decided to petition Congress to repeal the
act and admit Louisiana into the Union immediately.
Bore was a leader in this movement for immediate state-
hood. The group was particularly upset with the division
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of Louisiana into two parts and the restrictions placed on
the importation of slaves. On October 1, 1804, the act
took effect despite their efforts. President Jefferson
named Bore to the legislative council of the Territory of
Orleans, but Bore refused to serve.

—Mark Cave
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BRECKINRIDGE, JOHN
(1760-1806)

s spokesman for Western interests and
C’;% Aleader of Jeffersonian Republicans in the

U.S. Senate, John Breckinridge secured pas-
sage of the treaty of cession from France and sponsored
bills for American occupation and territorial government
of Louisiana.

After relocating to Kentucky from Virginia in 1793,
Breckinridge became actively involved in the Lexington
Democratic Society, where strong anti-Spanish and anti-
British sentiment flourished. Antagonistic to arbitrary
power exercised by distant governments and deeply con-
cerned about the “Mississippi Question,” Kentuckians
insisted that free navigation of the Mississippi River
depended upon the right to deposit and to transport
cargo freely to oceangoing vessels in New Orleans. When
news reached Washington that France reclaimed posses-
sion of Louisiana and that the Spanish intendant, still
running the New Orleans port, abrogated the right of
deposit for Americans, Breckinridge submitted a resolu-
tion by the Kentucky legislature calling for direct federal
involvement, or Kentucky would act on its own.

After Thomas Jefferson requested Breckinridge’s assis-
tance in composing an amendment declaring the pur-
chase constitutional, Breckinridge ignored Jefferson’s
anxiety and thought instead of the future bounties await-
ing the West. As floor leader for the Republicans, he won
passage of the treaty of cession by a vote of 24 to 7. On
October 22, 1803, he introduced a bill, initially drafted
by Albert Gallatin, authorizing the possession of the ter-
ritory and providing the president with the necessary
funds and military force to carry out the occupation.



Regarding the constitutionality of the purchase,
Breckinridge continued to follow the principles of the
Kentucky Resolutions he had helped draft in 1798.
Although he conceded the ability of Congress to control
migration to the territory, he hoped posterity would make
that decision. Rather than seeing the U.S. Constitution as
a narrow instrument confining the rights of the majority
and entrusting governance to an enlightened elite, Breck-
inridge hoped that Congress would avoid legalistic
squabbles and leave matters to “the good sense of the
community” (Harrison, 1969). In short, Breckinridge
interpreted the Constitution as a compact limiting the
power of the federal government over matters best left to
local majorities. Like other leading Jeffersonians, Breck-
inridge denied that federal land purchases were unconsti-
tutional but denounced excessive federal interference
after territorial governments were established. Contrary
to other Jeffersonians, who later frowned upon Western
migration, Breckinridge supported James Madison’s idea
of an extended Union based upon republican institutions.

After Spanish sovereignty was formally transferred to
France on November 30, 1803, war fever in the West
subsided and American occupation peacefully began.
Breckinridge quickly submitted a bill on December 5 cre-
ating a temporary territorial government. Appointed to a
select subcommittee charged with producing permanent
political institutions, Breckinridge authored the final out-
line of territorial government, known as the “Breckin-
ridge Bill.”

The Breckinridge Bill divided the purchase between
two territories at the line of 33 degrees north latitude.
The area south of the line was the southern Territory of
Orleans, ruled by a governor and secretary appointed by
the president for three years and a thirteen-member leg-
islative council. At the suggestion of Attorney General
Levi Lincoln, Breckinridge reluctantly placed the north-
ern land, known as the District of Louisiana, under the
territorial government of Indiana. Rather than commit-
ting the unconstitutional action of acquiring new land,
Lincoln believed that annexing the purchase to an exist-
ing territory merely extended the boundaries of the Union
to encompass contiguous area.

Like most Republicans and Federalists, Breckinridge
believed that since inhabitants of Louisiana had been sub-
ject to monarchical influences, a period of republican
tutelage was necessary before they could preserve their
self-government. Thus a discrepancy seemed to exist
between Breckinridge’s championing of natural rights
and republican government and the centralized structure
of Louisiana’s territorial government. One such example
figured prominently in congressional debate. Jury trials
were possible only for civil cases involving $20 or more
and in criminal cases involving capital punishment. Some
Republicans balked at the stringency of the bill, while
Federalists chided the Republicans as hypocrites.

Elsewhere in the bill it stated that slaves could not be
imported from abroad, nor brought from other parts of

the Union, if they were imported after May 1, 1798. Even
then, only American citizens who planned to reside in the
territory permanently could bring their slaves. Minor
changes were made to the bill, and it passed in mid-Feb-
ruary 1804.

Breckinridge resigned from the Senate in 1805 to
become Jefferson’s attorney general, leaving behind a
dearth of Republican leadership in the Senate and pre-
maturely jeopardizing the extension of the Republican
Revolution of 1800.

—Carey M. Roberts
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BRIDGER, FORT

ort Bridger was built in 1843 to assist immi-
Canrants along the Oregon-California and Mor-

mon Trails, and it served as an army post after
1858 before being abandoned in 1890.

Constructed on Black’s Fork of the Green River in
present-day southwestern Wyoming by mountain men
James Bridger and Louis Vasquez, Fort Bridger served as
a trading, supply, and army post for nearly fifty years.
With the decline of the Rocky Mountain fur trade in the
late 1830s, Bridger built the fort to service immigrant
trains along the Oregon-California and Mormon Trails,
although he continued a brisk trade with fur trappers and
the Shoshone for a number of years.

Nestled at the northern base of the Uinta Range, Fort
Bridger’s location on Black’s Fork, a tributary of the
Green River, made it one of the crossroads of the West.
Immigrants on the overland trails stopped to replenish
supplies, refresh stock, and gather information. The post
was ideally suited for travelers exhausted from crossing
the Great Plains and Continental Divide, and it marked
the halfway point for travelers proceeding to Oregon or
California. The valley had adequate wood, plentiful
water, and abundant grass—all essential elements in the
westward movement.

Although practical, the original post was not impres-
sive. An eight-foot-high L-shaped palisade surrounded sev-
eral log cabins with mud-filled cracks and enclosed a sepa-
rate picket yard for livestock. A number of mountain men
and Indians periodically pitched their tepees nearby, while
a few, like John Robertson, built cabins in the vicinity.

The Mormon journey to the Great Basin that com-
menced in 1847 and continued for several decades brought
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Federal forces en route westward to participate in the Mormon War (1858) established encampments at Fort Bridger.

seventy-five thousand immigrants to or near the fort. The
Mormons, members of the Church of Jesus Christ of Lat-
ter-Day Saints, traveled by foot, wagon, and, later, hand-
carts. Many of them left detailed descriptions of the post.
The Mormons also built a rival post and permanent colony
at Fort Supply, twelve miles to the south, in 1853 to assist
immigrants, provide Green River ferry operators, and
proselytize Indians. Mormons and the Gold Rushers to
California proved a boon to the fort during the first
decade, and Bridger traded fresh stock for the immigrants’
worn-out ones, augmenting his herds. In 1855 the Latter-
Day Saints purchased Fort Bridger for $8,000. The Mor-
mons made improvements to the fort, enclosing a hundred-
square-foot area with cobblestone walls that were eighteen
feet high. They used the two forts to control eastern access
to Utah Territory, assist immigrants, and maintain friendly
relations with the Shoshone and the Ute.

However, in 1857 the federal government sent an
army expedition under the command of Colonel Albert
Sidney Johnston to Utah Territory to force the Mormons
to relinquish their hold upon the territory. As the John-
ston Expedition approached, the Mormons abandoned
and destroyed both forts. With Mormons hindering the
army’s progress and winter approaching, the army
encamped near the charred remains of the fort. The fol-
lowing summer, Johnston issued orders to establish a U.S.
military post at the location.

The army rented the fort and a twelve-square-mile
reserve from Bridger, who presumably held a Mexican
land grant despite the fact that he had already sold the
fort to the Latter-Day Saints. The garrison built approxi-
mately fifty-seven buildings using a combination of logs,
rock, and sun-dried bricks. The fort, with more than
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thirty pieces of artillery, fortified the trail, served the
Overland Stage and telegraph, and operated as a stop for
the Pony Express. From 1860 to 1868 relatively few
troops were stationed at Fort Bridger. The Fourth
Infantry Press’s Daily Telegraph, Wyoming’s first printing
endeavor, brought Civil War news in 1863. The post con-
tinued operating as the Shoshone Indian Agency, and
Eastern Shoshone and Bannocks signed several treaties
there in 1863 and 1868. The following year, the Union
Pacific completed the Transcontinental Railroad a dozen
miles north of Fort Bridger at Carter Station. Judge
William A. Carter served as sutler-general for the post
and was its most prominent and influential resident
throughout its military existence.

The post was vacated by the military in 1890, and the
Latter-Day Saints settled Bridger Valley that decade;
towns such as Lyman, Mountain View, and, to a lesser
extent, Fort Bridger grew. In 1933 the fort became a
Wyoming Historical Landmark and Museum, and later,
a State Historic Site. An annual rendezvous is held there
each fall. Fort Bridger’s role as a trading/military estab-
lishment, Indian agency, Pony Express station, Overland
Stage stop, and telegraph depot made it one of the most
important fortifications on the western edge of the
Louisiana Purchase.

—Jay H. Buckley
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BRIDGER, JAMES
(1804-1881)

he legendary mountain man Jim Bridger was
C/':\Tborn on March 17, 1804, in Richmond, Vir-

ginia, and moved to St. Louis, Missouri, with
his family in 1812. Following the death of his parents in
1817-1818 he became a blacksmith’s apprentice, but
when the illiterate Bridger learned in 1822 of an adver-
tisement seeking one hundred young men who would
ascend the Missouri River to its headwaters, there to be
employed in the fur trade, he signed on as the youngest
member of General William H. Ashley’s trapping expedi-
tion to the Rockies. There Bridger assisted in the con-
struction of the Fort Henry trading post, learned the rudi-
ments of the beaver trade, and worked beside such
well-known figures as keelboatman Mike Fink and
explorer Jedediah Smith, who would later give Bridger
the nickname “Old Gabe.” When in 1823 conflict with
the Arikara necessitated moving Fort Henry farther
upstream into Crow territory, near the mouth of the
Bighorn, Bridger went along. On the way, trapper Hugh
Glass was mauled by a grizzly and seemingly mortally
wounded; Bridger and John S. Fitzgerald agreed to stay
with Glass until he died, bury him, and then rejoin the
party upriver. After five days, when Glass refused to die,
the two men abandoned him. Surprisingly, Glass survived
and appeared at Fort Henry four months later to claim
his revenge, sparing Bridger only because of his relative
youth but leaving him with a psychological burden that
some contemporaries believed drove Bridger to a period
of recklessness.

Bridger first earned his credentials as an explorer in
1824 in order to settle a dispute, volunteering to float
down the Bear River canyon to determine where it led and,
in the process, becoming the first known white man to see
the Great Salt Lake. As growing competition between
British, French, and American trappers yielded new part-
nerships and consolidation in the fur industry over the fol-
lowing decades, Bridger moved from one company to
another and survived adventures atypical even of rough-
living mountain men of the period. Skirmishes with the
hostile tribes of the region resulted in his capture by a band
of Blackfoot in 1827 and his being shot in the back with
two arrows in 1832; one arrowhead would remain there
until the iron point was removed by Dr. Marcus Whitman
three years later. Throughout his years in the fur trade
Bridger repeatedly traversed the territory of present-day
Montana, Wyoming, Colorado, Utah, and Idaho, gaining
geographical knowledge that would prove essential to
Bridger in his subsequent career as a guide. The decline of

the fur trade and a rising tide of emigration prompted him
to establish Fort Bridger in 1843 as the first trading post
intended to sell goods and services to the wagon trains
headed west, rather than deal primarily in furs.

In 1846, Bridger aided the Mormon pioneers led by
Brigham Young, telling them that the Great Basin was in
fact inhabitable and providing directions that would take
them toward Salt Lake. For the next seven years he would
serve as a guide to countless parties of immigrants and
occasional government expeditions, always relying on
what one newspaperman described as his “intuitive knowl-
edge of the topography of the country” (Alter, 1962). Jeal-
ous of his command of the immigrant trade and suspicious
of his relationship with Indians who had been attacking
Mormon settlers, a Mormon militia attempted to arrest
Bridger in 1853 and take control of his business; although
they failed to do so, they did drive him from the area and
loot his fort. Bridger subsequently returned to Missouri
and settled briefly on a farm, but demand for his services
as a guide for immigrants, hunting parties, and government
expeditions soon drew him back West. He served as a
guide for numerous parties in the years that followed,
including federal troops during the Mormon War in
1857-1858, the expedition by the Army Corps of Engi-
neers into the Yellowstone country in 1859-1860, the
Berthoud survey of a new Denver-Salt Lake stage route in
1861, and the U.S. Army in its attempts to stop Cheyenne
and Sioux attacks along the Powder River in 1865-1866.

Bridger was married three times, first to a Flathead
woman who died in 1846, then to a Ute who died in child-
birth in 1849, and finally to a Snake/Shoshone who died
in 1858, and he had six children. Upon his retirement in
1868 he returned to his family in Missouri for the last time
and lived there with his children until his death, on July
17, 1881. Immortalized through his own tales and the
writings of his contemporaries, Jim Bridger became a fig-
ure of legend during his own lifetime and the archetype of
the mountain man in early histories of the fur trade.

—Derek R. Larson

See also

Arikara; Ashley, William Henry; Mountain Men; Smith,
Jedediah Strong

For Further Reading

Alter, J. Cecil. 1962. Jim Bridger. Norman: University of
Oklahoma Press; Caesar, Gene. 1961. King of the Moun-
tain Men: The Life of Jim Bridger. New York: E. P. Dutton
Company; Vestal, Stanley. 1946. Jim Bridger: Mountain
Man. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.

BUFFALO SOLDIERS

C’;% men who served in the U.S. military in the
nineteenth century. When Native Americans
encountered black cavalry soldiers on the Great Plains,

T he Buffalo Soldiers were African American
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The African American soldiers who were members of the Ninth and Tenth Cavalries became known as the Buffalo Soldiers.

(North Wind Picture Archives)

they began using the term “buffalo soldiers” because they
thought that the African Americans’ hair resembled the
fur of a bison or buffalo. The soldiers did not seem to
mind, but rather enjoyed the special distinction, and the
Tenth Cavalry even put a buffalo on its regimental crest.

African Americans first received a chance to prove
their bravery and commitment to the government when
they enlisted in the U.S. Colored Troops during the Civil
War. The experiment worked so well that some within
the government remained committed to enlisting black
soldiers at the end of that conflict. There was consider-
able opposition, but a bill made it through Congress on
July 28, 1866, authorizing the creation of two cavalry
and four infantry regiments composed entirely of African
Americans. General Ulysses S. Grant ordered his seconds
in command, Generals Philip Sheridan and William
Tecumseh Sherman, to create the black regiments in their
divisions. Initially established as the Thirty-eighth,
Thirty-ninth, Fortieth, and Forty-first Infantry, under a
consolidation plan the infantry became two units, the
Twenty-fourth and Twenty-fifth, and the cavalry
remained the Ninth and Tenth. At the time the army had
ten cavalry and twenty-five infantry units, so these black
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regiments constituted a significant body of U.S. military
forces. These units, like those in the Civil War, remained
under the command of white officers. Many officers
would not accept a position with these units, regarding it
as demeaning to serve with nonwhites, even if it meant a
promotion. (For example, George Armstrong Custer
turned down an assignment.) Two trusted officers,
Edward Hatch and Benjamin Grierson, took command
of the Ninth and Tenth Cavalries, respectively. Receiving
their first postings in the West, the buffalo soldiers
remained there for more than twenty years, representing
the United States in many of the former Louisiana Pur-
chase territories.

Posted onto the frontier, the African American soldiers
received responsibility for implementing the govern-
ment’s plan to force Plains Indians onto reservations. In
this assignment they found themselves facing the formi-
dable warriors of the Kiowa, Comanche, Cheyenne, and
Apache, who were fighting to protect their homelands.
Stationed at several Western forts from Wyoming to New
Mexico, the Buffalo Soldiers rode out against Oklahoma
boomers, the Apache leaders Victorio and Geronimo,
and the Sioux Ghost Dancers. Such assignments exposed



the men both to dangerous fighting and to grueling con-
ditions—intense summer heat, bitter winter cold, and
violent storms. In addition, the Buffalo Soldiers endured
these hardships with inferior supplies. From the begin-
ning, the black units had borne the brunt of a racism
manifested in poorer quality food and quarters and even
worse mounts than those supplied to white soldiers. Rel-
egated to riding horses rejected by the Seventh Cavalry
that often died soon after arrival, the Ninth Cavalry
struggled to stay mounted. This subtle discrimination
plagued the service of the regiments, as did the more bla-
tant racism from those who refused to accept black men
in uniform. Such discrimination ranged from recommen-
dations to disband black troops to civilian violence in
frontier towns. Despite these conditions, the Buffalo Sol-
diers exhibited excellent discipline and a lower desertion
rate than white units. It could be that they had both more
to prove to the nation and fewer opportunities outside
the military.

The Buffalo Soldiers represent a unique intersection
between minority groups in the growing country. Black
soldiers using the military to gain a foothold in a white-
dominated society were given the task of removing indige-
nous peoples from the West to ensure white expansion in
the latter days of Manifest Destiny. Apparently respected
by natives, the Buffalo Soldiers struggled to gain accep-
tance by whites. The men who enlisted came from a vari-
ety of backgrounds, from field hands to artisans, with
widely varying literacy levels. They faced demanding mil-
itary assignments in difficult conditions and with contin-
ued discrimination. The Buffalo Soldiers established an
exceptional record of bravery and perseverance.

—Clarissa W. Confer
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BURR, AARON
(1756-1836)

aron Burr was the third vice president of the
C/':\ AUnited States, a New York politician, and one

of the most controversial figures of the Revo-
lutionary generation.

The son of Aaron Burr Sr., president of the College of
New Jersey (now Princeton), and Esther Edwards, the
daughter of the famous theologian Jonathan Edwards,
Burr graduated from Princeton in 1772. During the
American Revolution, Burr rose to the rank of lieutenant
colonel and served on the staffs of both Benedict Arnold
and George Washington. Having antagonized Washing-

ton, and realizing that future promotion would be with-
held from him, Burr resigned from the army in 1779.
Called to the New York bar in 1782, he entered state pol-
itics as an ally of Governor George Clinton, who made
him state attorney general in 1789. In state politics he
was a strong critic of General Philip Schuyler and his son-
in-law, Alexander Hamilton. In 1791, Burr was elected to
the U.S. Senate, and, although a loyal Republican Party
man, he served without distinction and failed to gain re-
election in 1797.

Returning to New York, Burr was again elected to the
state legislature in 1798, and he did much to ensure a
Republican victory in that state during the presidential
election of 1800, thus helping to gain a national victory
for the party. He was nominated as the vice presidential
candidate on the Republican ticket, and under the proce-
dures then prevailing, the electorate cast their votes for Jef-
ferson and Burr without indicating a choice for president
or vice president. The election resulted in a tie of seventy-
three votes for each candidate in the Electoral College, and
thus the election was thrown into the House of Represen-
tatives. Although it is clear that Burr did not attempt to
influence the vote in the House, his ambiguous actions
earned the distrust of both Thomas Jefferson and James
Madison. On the thirty-sixth ballot the political deadlock
in the House was broken only when Alexander Hamilton
persuaded a fellow Federalist, Rep. James Bayard, to
break Federalist ranks and vote for Jefferson; this single
vote won the presidency for Jefferson. In 1804, continued
distrust of Burr’s ambitions led Jefferson to replace Burr
on the Republican ticket with George Clinton.

In February 1804, Burr’s friends in New York hoped
to replace Clinton with Burr, but in a scurrilous guberna-
torial campaign Burr was defeated, largely by the actions
of Alexander Hamilton. Furious at Hamilton’s denigrat-
ing remarks regarding his character, Burr challenged
Hamilton to a duel, which took place at Weehawken,
New Jersey, on July 11, 1804. Hamilton’s death led to
Burr’s being indicted for murder in both New Jersey and
New York, and he returned to Washington, D.C., as a
wanted man, to preside over the Senate until his term
expired in 1805. During impeachment proceedings in the
Senate against the Federalist judge Samuel Chase (Febru-
ary—March 1805), Burr, by his rulings, frustrated the
Republican campaign against the judiciary. An infuriated
Jefferson refused to offer Burr a future office, and still a
wanted man, Burr fled to Philadelphia, where the seeds of
the “Burr Conspiracy” were firmly planted.

What exactly Burr’s harebrained scheme entailed is
hard to discover. One thing is certain, however: his plans
to create a Western empire did include the assistance of
General James Wilkinson, who, among other things, was
a scoundrel, a paid agent in the service of Spain, and,
more important, the governor of the recently acquired
Louisiana Territory above the thirty-third parallel whose
headquarters were situated in St. Louis. Before they met
in Philadelphia in the spring of 1805, Wilkinson had sent
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a deputation of disgruntled Louisianians from New
Orleans to Burr, who listened sympathetically to their
criticism of Jefferson’s administration of the Territory of
Orleans and their wish for self-government. Burr entered
into negotiations with the British minister in Washington,
Anthony Merry, who sent a dispatch to London on
March 29, 18035, suggesting British naval support for
Burr’s scheme to detach New Orleans, the Louisiana Ter-
ritory, and the Western states from the Union.

When Wilkinson and Burr met in the Philadelphia
home of Wilkinson’s brother-in-law, Nicholas Biddle,
they discussed Burr’s future, his popularity in the West,
and a campaign by a force of volunteers against Mexico
with the intent to create a separate state. Whether these
plans concluded a conspiracy to detach Louisiana and the
Western states from the Union remains unclear. Nonethe-
less, Burr then undertook a much publicized Western trip
from Pittsburgh to New Orleans, where he received great
acclamation. Warmly welcomed in Tennessee, he gained
the support of Andrew Jackson, who was keen to expel
the “hated Dons” from the continent. By the time that
Wilkinson and Burr met again, in St. Louis in September
of 1805, Wilkinson was becoming lukewarm to the
adventure, on account of the hostile accounts being pub-
lished in the East regarding Burr’s suspected activities.

Unconcerned about Wilkinson’s reception and
encouraged by his own popularity in the West, Burr
returned to Washington, where he gained a final inter-
view with Jefferson in March 1806. Disappointed by Jef-
ferson’s refusal to appoint him to office, Burr, encour-
aged by the possibility of war with Spain over the
disputed western Louisiana border, pressed on with his
plans. Raising financial backing, he returned to the West,
raised more than a thousand volunteers, and proceeded
down the Mississippi toward New Orleans, sending
ahead a letter in cipher to Wilkinson instructing him to
create a decisive border incident in Louisiana that would
ignite war with Spain. Instead, Wilkinson, motivated
always by his own financial interests, warned the viceroy
in Mexico of Burr’s activities and betrayed Burr to Jef-
ferson, claiming that he had just discovered a sinister
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plot to revolutionize the West. Jefferson issued a presi-
dential proclamation denouncing Burr as a traitor and
ordering his arrest. Recognized at Natchez, Burr was
arrested and sent to Richmond, Virginia, for trial on a
charge of treason.

Burr was indicted by a grand jury on the charge in
May 1807, and his trial began on August 10, 1807. If Jef-
ferson was convinced of Burr’s complete guilt, that was
not a view shared by Chief Justice John Marshall, who
presided over the trial and who intended to use it to
embarrass the administration. Although Burr had clearly
planned an invasion of Mexico, Marshall’s rather narrow
definition of treason aided Burr’s defense, as did the
rather circumstantial nature of the evidence and the
growing suspicions of Wilkinson’s part in the conspiracy.
In one of the longest decisions of his career, Marshall
ruled that the government had failed to prove that Burr
had actually committed treason by an overt act, and
therefore, dismissing all the collateral evidence, he
instructed the jury to find Burr not guilty.

Burr’s victory in court was short-lived. He would
remain discredited forever, and under a cloud of suspi-
cion and distrust, he left the United States for Europe in
June 1808. Unable to persuade Napoleon to back his
vision of conquering Mexico or his proposals that France
should attempt to regain Canada or Louisiana, Burr con-
tinued to live in Europe, in increasing penury, for four
years. Returning to New York in 1812, Burr practiced
law with some success until his death in September 1836.

—Rory T. Cornish
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CABOT, GEORGE
(1751-1823)

s a former Massachusetts senator and unoffi-
C/':\ Acial leader of the Essex Junto, George Cabot

was a staunch critic of Jeffersonian expan-
sionism. He later served as president of the Hartford
Convention (1814-1815).

Like his Federalist colleagues, Cabot believed that Jef-
ferson’s election as president in 1800 marked the begin-
ning of the end of the American republic. The election
was a herald of democracy, which Cabot considered
“government of the worst” (Lodge, 1878). Cabot feared
that the new spirit was infecting the Federalist Party itself,
and he planned with Fisher Ames to establish a purely
Federalist newspaper.

To Cabot, the Louisiana Purchase was both a symp-
tom and a cause of the new democratic spirit. In foreign
policy, the Louisiana Purchase was an example of Jeffer-
son’s strategic incompetence and reliance upon the good
will and good word of France. “The cession of Louisiana
is an excellent thing for France,” Cabot wrote to Rufus
King. “It puts into safekeeping what she could not keep
herself; for England would take Louisiana in the first
moment of war, without the loss of a man. France would
neither settle it nor protect it” (ibid.). The true title,
Cabot believed, rested on the force of arms and not law.
Cabot considered opposition to the Louisiana Purchase a
test of political loyalty and good sense. He lamented John
Quincy Adams’s support of the purchase as a sad exam-
ple of how some formerly good Federalists were willing
to pander to the new spirit and ruling powers. Cabot
believed that Jefferson, in his rush to acquire new terri-
tory, had ignored the problem of how to protect it.

Politically, Cabot believed that each addition of new
territory to the Union diminished the power and influ-
ence of New England. The new states carved out of the
trans-Mississippi West would almost certainly vote with
Jefferson, and the unabated rise of democracy would
reduce New England to insignificance. The Louisiana
Purchase led Cabot and other Federalists to dabble off
and on in secession schemes until the end of the War of
1812. Cabot wrote Timothy Pickering in early 1804 that
New England’s separation from the Union was not far
distant, although the time was not yet right. Cabot was
convinced that the political crisis of New England and the

nation would have to bottom out before New England
would act. Cabot hoped that Aaron Burr would be
elected governor of New York in 1804, and that would
bring the final crisis. Cabot did not favor disunion, but he
feared it would be necessary to preserve New England’s
interests. Cabot considered the spirit that produced the
Louisiana Purchase as the same spirit that would con-
tinue to oppress New England, bringing the Embargo
and eventually war with Great Britain.

The New England separatism created by the
Louisiana Purchase flared up at the Embargo and then
lay dormant until 1814. That year, the burning of Wash-
ington, invasion of New York, blockade of New England,
and occupation of parts of Maine forced New England’s
leaders to plan for their own defense. A series of town
meetings calling for a New England convention culmi-
nated in the Hartford Convention, which met from
December 15, 1814, to January 5, 1815. Cabot attended
to prevent rather than cause a crisis. Cabot hoped to put
a damper on radical solutions from younger Federalists,
and he believed that the ultimate result of the convention
would be “A Great Pamphlet” (Banner, 1970). The con-
vention unanimously elected Cabot president. One par-
ticipant described Cabot as a man of “lofty Washington-
ian dignity,” and like Washington at the Constitutional
Convention, Cabot did not lead debate, leaving that duty
to Harrison Gray Otis (Morison, 1913). As there is no
record of day-to-day debates, the final report is the only
record of the convention’s views. The convention did not
endorse separation, but it did attack virtually every aspect
of Republican foreign and domestic policy. One article
condemned the admission of new states as destructive of
the sectional balance of power. The second of seven pro-
posed amendments to the Constitution prohibited the
admission of new states without the approval of two-
thirds of both houses of Congress. The end of the con-
vention marked Cabot’s exit from public life.

The arrival of the convention’s report in Washington
was overshadowed by the news of Jackson’s victory at
New Orleans and the successful conclusion of the war.
Cabot’s critique of expansionism, as tied to the rise of
democracy and the rule of the South over the North,
would form the basis for New England’s opposition to
the admission of other states carved out of the Louisiana
Purchase territory and the acquisition of new lands.

—Robert W. Smith
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CAJUNS

he Cajuns are a distinct ethnic group in the
C/':\ United States, identified primarily with rural

Louisiana since the last half of the eighteenth
century. Until the late twentieth century they were
regarded as quaint, perhaps a sort of American peasant
whose unique culture was defined by many as primitive.
However, with the civil rights movement of the twentieth
century and the subsequent value placed on diversity in
the United States, the Cajuns have attracted new interest
and have gained respect. In parts of Louisiana they have
dominated society and politics for some two centuries
and have surprisingly thrived despite the onslaughts of
the predominant American culture with both its mores
and language.

The Cajun journey to a Louisiana homeland began in
France in the seventeenth century with the migration of
French Catholic peasants (Huguenots or Protestant dis-
senters were not permitted to settle in the new North
American colony of Acadia, known today as Nova Sco-
tia). Here they adapted themselves to a different terrain
and climate and created a relatively comfortable exis-
tence, especially by contemporary peasant standards.
This comfortable existence would end when the War of
Spanish Succession (known in the Western Hemisphere as
Queen Anne’s War) resulted in the transfer of Acadia
from France to Great Britain with the Treaty of Utrecht
in 1713. The peasants’ culture seemed an affront to the
British government that claimed rule over them. The Aca-
dian peasants refused to make an unconditional oath of
allegiance to Great Britain and considered themselves
neutrals. Their historical perspective taught them that
future wars could change the political landscape again
and possibly return them to French jurisdiction. After ini-
tial requests for submission, the British government
became more tolerant of the Acadians until the middle of
the century, prior to the commencement of the Seven
Years’ War (or French and Indian War as it is known in
North America). The Acadians were still considered sub-
versive elements by some colonial administrators because
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of their noncommitment to the British Crown. A hostile
stance towards the Acadians became apparent under the
new governor, Major Charles Lawrence, in 1754. He
demanded an oath of allegiance, and when this policy
was met with noncompliance, he organized the Grand
Dérangement, or Great Migration, an exile that took
Acadians to many foreign lands. The British confiscated
Acadian property, and the Acadians were forced to move
in small groups to other locations. Some returned to their
ancestral homeland, others retreated to various British
colonies to the south like Maryland, where the welcome
was less than cordial, and some went to the French
colony of St. Domingue (modern Haiti).

With the conclusion of the Seven Years’” War at the
Treaty of Paris (1763) and its requirement that Louisiana
(that is, all French lands west of the Mississippi River) be
transferred to Spanish control, some of these Acadian
refugees applied for immigration to the new Spanish
colony. After overcoming legal hurdles, many began to
migrate from their various temporary settlements to
Louisiana, where the initial welcome turned sour and
resulted in Acadian support of an overthrow of the Span-
ish governor Antonio de Ulloa in 1768. The story of this
migration was memorialized and romanticized by Henry
Wadsworth Longfellow in his epic “Evangeline.”

After the development of more cordial relations with
the new colonial government, the Acadians adapted
themselves to their new environment. Agriculture was a
primary concern—the diet of a northern colony was not
appropriate to semitropical Louisiana. Cabbages,
turnips, and even wheat, staples of the Acadian diet, were
not indigenous to the new climate, so these migrants
turned to various beans and squash, as well as rice. Sim-
ilarly their style of domestic architecture needed adapta-
tion since heat, not frigid winds, was the norm in their
new homeland—covered porches became a necessity.
Even their clothing demanded modification in the sub-
tropical climate, and this change developed rapidly and
included shedding shoes during the summer. Nonetheless,
their French peasant roots still dominated in their belief
in the importance of the land, the farm, and the family. It
was during these early resettlement years that the Cajun
culture as it is perceived today developed. For at least a
generation the Acadian refugees adapted to their new cir-
cumstances and developed some comfort with them.
They succeeded in creating a new ethnicity that is called
Cajun. In fact, the word Cajun is a corruption of the
French Acadien. Those characteristics so familiar in Aca-
dian culture predominated and, in turn, were comple-
mented by others.

One significant aspect of their culture was religion.
They practiced Catholicism but not with the unquestion-
ing devotion that characterized their ancestors in France.
Their Acadian experience with a paucity of clergy made
them self-dependent and encouraged them to rely on the
ordained for specifically sacerdotal functions like bap-
tism, marriage, and burial. The occasional celebration of



the mass was a relief to the tediousness of their lives and
provided the necessary spiritual comfort, especially for
the women and children, because the men, although pro-
fessing Catholicism, did not often attend mass. Nonethe-
less, the clergy were expected to remain aloof from the
quotidian aspects of the Cajuns’ lives—they were to be
present only when requested.

Other characteristics of their distinct culture that have
been noted and researched are the importance of family
and familial relationships, as well as attachment to the
soil. Related to these traits was a spirit of fraternity with
other ethnic brethren. Cajuns were not highly competi-
tive in agricultural production and finances; they sought
to maintain a level of friendliness and egalitarianism. To
them it was most important to produce what was neces-
sary to sustain life for the family throughout the year and
to share what they could with their neighbors and
extended family. However, some Cajuns became success-
ful farmers and excelled in their agrarian pursuits, and
even became slaveholders. They became, in a sense, a
type of Cajun gentry during the nineteenth century. This
status symbolized another noticeable characteristic of
Cajun culture—a strong sense of individual indepen-
dence. Nonetheless, they were able to maintain their own
distinctive culture, including their French patois.

What is remarkable is that the Cajuns were able to
maintain this distinct culture despite the pressures from
the Spanish overseers at the time of their arrival in
Louisiana, the brief French rule after the second Treaty of
San Idelfonso (1800), and the American acquisition of the
Cajun homeland with the Louisiana Purchase of 1803.
Ironically, the Cajuns met with pressures from the Creoles,
the descendants of the French settlers in Louisiana.
Despite a similarity of language with the Cajuns, the Cre-
oles did not share the same cultural background. An affin-
ity of tongues was not sufficient to create a connective
bond. However, throughout the nineteenth and even the
twentieth centuries, these two groups have been brought
closer together through marriage between their ranks. But
it is interesting to note that the dominant culture in the
region appears to be Cajun; non-Cajun spouses usually
assimilate, and children are raised to follow Cajun cus-
toms. Moreover, this pattern is also apparent in marriages
with anglophones, especially when the bride is Cajun. The
familial and ethnic ties appear to be tightened by the
maternal line and supersede that of the paternal. In many
regions of Louisiana Cajun culture has been dominant
and has quickly, if not easily, overcome other ethnicities.

—Tom Sosnowski
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CAMEAHWAIT

hen the Lewis and Clark Expedition
@W advanced far into the Rocky Mountain

region and crossed the Continental Divide
at Lemhi Pass (in present-day Montana) in August 1805,
the members of the Corps of Discovery knew that they
were truly entering uncharted territory. It was clear that
the exploring party would need to form alliances with
friendly tribes in the region in order to obtain the horses,
food, and other provisions necessary for continuing
onward to the Pacific. Additionally, the support of
friendly tribes would be of diplomatic assistance as the
Corps of Discovery entered territory that was rumored to
be hostile.

Prior to entering the region, Meriwether Lewis had
written: “If we do not find [the Shoshoni], I fear the suc-
cessful issue of our voyage will be very doubtful”
(DeVoto, 1653). Uncertain of whether he would
encounter the group and of how he would be received,
Lewis realized that the success of the Corps of Discovery’s
efforts depended upon the assistance of the Shoshoni.

Captain Lewis and a small party encountered a band
of Shoshoni women on August 13, 1805, members of the
tribe led by Chief Cameahwait (“One Who Never
Walks”). Lewis was able to convince the women that the
expedition came in peace. He distributed trinkets (blue
beads and vermilion) to the group and asked that they
direct him toward their camp. Within two miles of the
first encounter, Lewis and his party came upon sixty
mounted Shoshoni warriors and Chief Cameahwait him-
self. Lewis distributed additional presents, including an
American flag, and smoked peace pipes with the group.

The Shoshoni were fascinated by Lewis and his men,
as they were the first white men that members of the tribe
had ever seen. Cameahwait welcomed the group and pro-
vided food and a tipi for the party. Through the assistance
of interpreter George Drouillard, Lewis was able to tell
Cameahwait about the purpose and goals of the expedi-
tion. Cameahwait, in response, was able to inform Lewis
of the challenge that the party faced in crossing the Bit-
terroot Mountain range that lay ahead. He also acknowl-
edged that an all-water route to the Pacific did not exist.

Lewis convinced Cameahwait and some of his war-
riors to travel with him to join William Clark and the
remainder of the Corps of Discovery. Lewis hoped that
the group might be able to negotiate successfully for
Shoshoni horses, since the tribe owned a herd of about
seven hundred. These animals would be essential during
the mountain crossings that lay ahead.

It was during this meeting that a fortuitous circum-
stance occurred. While Lewis and Clark were negotiating
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with Cameahwait, Sacagawea recognized the Shoshoni
chief as her brother, whom she had not seen in four years.
Having been raised as a Shoshoni, Sacagawea had been
kidnapped by the Hidatsa. The two shared an emotional
reunion during which Sacagawea discovered that all her
family, except for her brother and her nephew, had died.
Thereafter, as a result of the chance encounter, it was
clear that Cameahwait would do everything within his
power to assist the American explorers.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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CAMINO REAL, EL

| Camino Real, known variously as the Royal
C/‘\I\E Road or the King’s Highway, was a historically

significant route in Spanish North America. As
the limits of Spanish colonial America expanded—as they
did after Spain acquired the Louisiana Territory from
France in 1762—so too did El Camino Real extend itself
to include the newly incorporated regions. Efforts were
under consideration in the late eighteenth century to
extend the route to the Natchez District.

Officials in Mexico City first expressed the need for
such a roadway when they became concerned about for-
eign interest in the lands of eastern Texas. By 1691, after
LaSalle’s colony had been established along the Texas
Gulf Coast, it became clear that a greater Spanish pres-
ence was necessary in the region, and the development of
a road that served as a trade and communications corri-
dor soon followed. In 1718, when St. Denis, the French-
man who had established the Natchitoches settlement in
Louisiana, wandered into eastern Texas seeking to estab-
lish a trade relationship, Spanish officials invested more
time and energy into developing the roadway.

For nearly 150 years, El Camino Real was the primary
road linking Mexico City with Los Adaes, now located
near Natchitoches in northwestern Louisiana, but then
the capital of Texas and Coahuila (until 1773). Along the
route were linked the settlements of Saltillo, Monclova,
Guerrero, and Coahuila, along with other presidios and
missions scattered throughout the region. Whether large
or small, these Spanish settlements and garrisons were
linked by a secure route that seemingly reduced the vast
expanse of territory separating these isolated outposts.
Contemporary accounts described the roadway as con-
sisting of pressed earth, and it was said to have been as
wide as any of the finest roadways in Europe.

El Camino Real was a significant artery of both trade
and communication that served multiple roles in Spanish
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America, including exploration, conquest, governance,
missionary supply, settlement, cultural exchange, and
military campaigns. The regular use and maintenance of
the route carried both real and symbolic weight in keep-
ing hostile Indian tribes from harming the isolated colo-
nial outposts in eastern Texas.

Although the Spanish had been vigilant to protect
eastern Texas from trade incursions that originated in
French Louisiana, they relaxed that policy once
Louisiana became a Spanish possession. At the time, the
Spanish authorities in Mexico City believed it highly
unlikely that citizens of the United States would settle the
trans-Appalachian frontier and threaten Texas. Upon the
recommendation of Baron de Rubi, the Spanish decided
to limit their colonial defensive perimeter to the Rio
Grande, thereby abandoning the East Texas missions and
effectively returning the region to Indian Territory. With
the New Regulation of the Presidos (1772), the Spanish
authorities closed all of their missions and presidios
beyond San Antonio. Accordingly, the use and influence
of El Camino Real, once a powerful symbol of Spanish
colonial authority, began to wane.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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CARONDELET, LOUIS
FRANCISCO HECTOR DE
(1747-1807)

aron de Carondelet was appointed governor of
@B Louisiana and West Florida in 1791 and served

during some of the most turbulent years in the
Spanish colony.

Internal threats such as French Creole sedition and
slave revolts, combined with the threat of invasion from
France, Britain, or the United States, made the assign-
ment a difficult one. Before arriving in Louisiana, Caron-
delet had served briefly as governor of San Salvador, and
although he had participated in the siege of Pensacola in
1781, his knowledge of Mississippi Valley affairs was
limited.

The colony was poorly defended and faced increasing
expansionist pressures from the United States. Only one
regiment was assigned to Louisiana, and its military posts
needed significant repair. The Kentucky intrigue, a con-
spiracy to weaken the United States by dividing it into
two rival republics, had subsided, and Kentuckians were
absorbed in admission to statehood and war with north-
ern Indians. In addition, a strategy to strengthen the
colony through immigration was, at that time, not work-



ing. The plan allowed Protestants the rights of Spanish
subjects in an attempt to depopulate Kentucky, Cumber-
land, and Holston. The attempt failed for several reasons:
the rights granted as a Spanish subject were less than
those they already enjoyed; a reduction in the amount of
tobacco annually purchased by the Spanish government
eliminated a waiting market for their agricultural prod-
ucts; and Spain proved unable to protect the settlers from
Indian attacks.

The only apparent option for Carondelet regarding
the defense of the colony appeared to be Indian alliances.
Prior to his administration, the policy regarding Indians
was one of maintaining a monopoly on Indian trade in
order to create dependency. Carondelet’s attempt to forge
military alliances with the Indians was a blatant violation
of the orders of the Spanish government. He probably felt
that he had no choice, for he mistakenly interpreted the
presence of U.S. forces on the Ohio River as a prelude to
invasion. In reality, they were there to aid in the conflict
against the northern Indians.

Carondelet asked representatives of the four southern
Indian nations to assemble at Nogales to work out a
treaty. The Spanish representative was Manuel Luis
Gayoso de Lemos y Amorin, then governor of the
Natchez district. Gayoso believed that the Indian tribes
could not act as a unified force, and that they did not
represent a sufficient defense for the colony. Carondelet
wanted the treaty to provide for sending a delegation of
Indian chiefs to the United States with the ultimatum of
re-establishing the frontier line, as it had existed in 1772,
or to face war. Carondelet felt that the Spanish had an
adequate defense, with the Indian alliance, but Gayoso
disagreed and ignored Carondelet’s instructions regard-
ing the delegation. A treaty was signed that created on
paper a confederation of the four southern tribes under
Spanish protection, with a mutual territorial guarantee.
It also allowed for Spanish troops to enter the Indian
country in order to establish additional posts.

Carondelet’s attempts to secure disputed territories for
Spain and discourage American expansion by controlling
the Mississippi River were undermined by the Spanish
government. On August 4, 17935, representatives of Spain
signed a peace treaty with the French republic at Basel.
This treaty was in direct violation of a previous treaty
signed with Great Britain, and Spain expected British
aggression as a result, with an attack probable somewhere
in the Gulf of Mexico region. Spain was not in a position
to be at war with both Britain and the United States, and
it was determined to settle its dispute with the latter. On
October 27, 1795, the Treaty of San Lorenzo was signed,
surrendering the disputed territories to the United States
and providing free navigation rights to the Mississippi.

The Treaty of San Lorenzo has been viewed by many
as the beginning of the disintegration of the Spanish
empire. This may have unjustly colored perceptions of
Carondelet’s administration. The events that led to the
surrender of the territories were largely out of his control.

Carondelet’s term in Louisiana ended in 1796, after
which he was reassigned as president of the Audiencia of
Quito, where he died in 1807.

—Mark Cave
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CARSON, CHRISTOPHER “KIT”
(1809-1868)

it Carson, a true frontiersman and mountain
@K man, is one of the most recognizable names in

Western American history. He was quiet,
unassuming, and unable to read or write until he was in
his middle fifties, but he stands out as one of America’s
heroes.

Kit Carson moved with his family from Madison
County, Kentucky, to the Boone’s Lick region of Missouri
in 1811 when he was but two years old. Nearly his entire
career was spent living and working in the lands of the
Louisiana Purchase.

A young Kit Carson joined a group of early Santa Fe
traders in 1826. That single event defined his future life.
In 1829, he joined a fur-trapping expedition out of Taos,
crossed the Mojave Desert into California, and returned
to Taos in 1831. From that experience Carson developed
a reputation in the West that was to last throughout the
rest of his life. He became known as “the bear that
walked like a man” because of his well-known reluctance
either to shave his beard or to cut his hair.

Kit Carson was heavily engaged in fur trapping from
1831 to 1841, usually in the northwestern mountains of
present-day Utah, Colorado, Wyoming, Montana, and
Idaho—states some or all of whose lands had been carved
out of the Louisiana Purchase. The practical knowledge
that he gained about the Rocky Mountains and the
passes through them served him well as a guide to
explorer John Charles Frémont, whom he met along the
Santa Fe Trail early in 1842. Carson had been in St. Louis
on business and was returning home to Taos when he
overtook the Frémont Party. Frémont hired him to guide
the group to California. That activity lasted from June
through October. He then remained with Frémont and
served as guide to both Frémont’s Second (1843-1844)
and Third (1846-1847) Expeditions. During the Third
Expedition, Carson participated in Frémont’s conquest of
California.
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Christopher “Kit” Carson was one of the most experienced
trappers, traders, and scouts to operate along the south-
western frontier.

When the U.S. Senate declined to confirm a “battle-
field” commission, Kit Carson returned to Taos, now in
the U.S. Territory of New Mexico, and retired. He was
thirty-nine years old. He came out of retirement, how-
ever, in 1853, to accept a federal appointment as Indian
agent among the Ute, a position that he held until 1861,
when he resigned to organize a volunteer infantry regi-
ment to respond to President Lincoln’s call for troops to
fight in the Civil War. He led the First New Mexico Vol-
unteer Infantry into battle against Texas soldiers under
Confederate general Henry Hopkins Sibley at the Battle
of Valverde. The First New Mexico Volunteer Infantry
was subsequently attached to the California troops under
the command of Major General James Henry Carleton
after their arrival in the territory in 1862.

Kit Carson participated in several skirmishes with
Native Americans, both in New Mexico and on the West-
ern Plains. His most noted efforts were directed against
the Navajo in the Canyon de Chelly, which resulted in the
“Long Walk” of the Navajo from Fort Wingate to Fort
Sumner in 1863, and the Battle of Adobe Walls in 1864.
He also led an expedition against the Comanche, which
resulted in a charge that he massacred an innocent Indian
band.

Kit Carson was brevetted brigadier general in March
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1865 and assigned as commander at Fort Garland. His
health had begun to fail. He traveled east to seek medical
help, but to no avail. Kit Carson died in May 1868, after
returning to his newly built home in Boggsville, Col-
orado.

Every contemporary account characterizes Kit Carson
as a man of exceptional honor and integrity. He was
described by those who knew him as being plainspoken
but unlettered. As a matter of fact, he did not learn to
read or write until his New Mexico troops were joined to
the California regiments. General Carleton took credit
for teaching Colonel Carson reading, writing, and “mili-
tary courtesy.”

A number of places on the land have been named for
Kit Carson, including Carson Pass, Carson River, Carson
Sink, and Carson City, Nevada. Christopher “Kit” Car-
son remains one of the most important icons in American
history, as well as in American folklore.

—Henry H. Goldman
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CARTOGRAPHY

hen the United States negotiated for the
C":\W purchase of Louisiana from France, neither

party could produce clearly defined bound-
aries to frame the conveyed territory. This problem was
not only the result of a lack of human and financial
resources on the part of the previous nations that had
claimed title to Louisiana, but also a fundamental differ-
ence in understanding regarding the nature of the rela-
tionship between the land and the empires whose flags
had flown over it since the seventeenth century. A lack of
cartographic knowledge of the territory contributed to an
unrealistic perception of the region’s vastness. That per-
ception left the remaining imperial powers on the conti-
nent ill prepared to counter the westward advance of the
United States.

Key to early French claims to Louisiana was their
knowledge of the Missouri River. Seeking the elusive
Northwest Passage, the French had dominated trade in
the trans-Mississippi West, using the Missouri as their
main thoroughfare. This was made possible by Louis
Joliet and Father Jacques Marquette, who, along with
five others in their expedition, documented the course of
the Missouri River in June 1673. Not long after, French
courers de bois traveled up the Missouri, west of Lake
Superior, bringing distant Indian nations into the French



commercial sphere. These private enterprises pushed the
borders of the amorphous Louisiana north and west, but
only as far as the Missouri River and its offshoots
allowed the traders to travel. The northern boundary of
Louisiana was settled upon later with the British at the
Treaty of Utrecht (1713), which set the dividing line
between French Louisiana and British Canada north of
the forty-ninth parallel (DeVoto, 1983).

The western boundary of Louisiana under the French
became more clearly defined by Etienne Veniard de
Bourgmont. Living among the Osage Indians, Bourgmont
sent a detailed map of the Missouri River as far as the
Arikara and Caricara villages (six hundred leagues from
the confluence with the Mississippi) to Paris in 1717, not-
ing that “by way of the Missouri commerce could be car-
ried on with the Spaniards, who were not far distant from
the branches of this river, according to the reports of the
savages who trafficked with them” (Nasitir, 1952).

Farther south the boundary of Louisiana was equally
contentious. War between France and Spain in 1719 gave
France the opportunity to assert itself along the Red and
Arkansas Rivers, where Spain claimed territorial sover-
eignty but was unable to enforce it. To the east, early
eighteenth-century French claims to Louisiana stemmed
from the juncture between the Mississippi and Ohio
Rivers. The Ohio was a convenient waterway for moving
furs and trade goods from the eastern Great Lakes region
to New Orleans, and the river valley was protected from
British encroachment by the Appalachian Mountain
chain until the latter half of the century. This area was
ceded to the British at the Treaty of Paris (1763), and
France’s empire west of the Mississippi had gone to Spain
in the Treaty of Fontainebleau a year earlier, to prevent it
from falling under British rule.

As the eighteenth century came to a close, France was
waging war in Europe under Napoleon Bonaparte.
Rumors that France sought to regain the North American
empire it had lost at the Treaty of Paris (1763) had circu-
lated since the presidential administration of John
Adams, and Napoleon confirmed that France indeed
sought to reclaim its North American empire after his
decisive victory at Marengo. The victory served to punc-
tuate his request that King Charles IV of Spain retrocede
that part of Louisiana given to Spain.

The Treaty of San Ildefonso (1800) stipulated that the
boundaries of the transfer from Spain to France were to be
exactly as the French had ceded Louisiana to Spain in the
Treaty of Fontainebleau (1762). A dispatch sent to the
French captain-general of Louisiana from Minister Denis
Duc de Decrés offers the clearest determination of what
the French considered the boundaries of Louisiana: “The
colony of Louisiana is a vast province located west of the
Mississippi, which forms on that side its common bound-
ary with the United States. On the west, it is bounded by
New Mexico [Nouveau Mexique], on the south by the
sea, and at the north by a limitless extent of lands scarcely
known.” This lack of a solid boundary with Spain along

New Mexico’s eastern perimeter would become the
Achilles’ heel of the Spanish empire once the Louisiana
Territory was sold to the United States (Robertson, 1911).

Once the terms of the Louisiana Purchase were agreed
upon, determining the boundaries of Louisiana then
became the focus of the diplomatic proceedings. Accord-
ing to the final wording of the treaty signed on April 30,
1803, France transferred to the United States “the
Colony or Province of Louisiana, with the same extent
that it now has in the hands of Spain, & that it had when
France possessed it; and Such as it Should be after the
treaties subsequently entered into between Spain and
other states.” This wording was deliberately vague,
designed to give the United States elasticity to its new
claim, particularly in regards to the boundary with West
Florida and the western boundary with New Mexico,
both still under Spanish control (Lyon, 1934).

As the French understood it, the western boundary of
Louisiana was the Rio Bravo, from its mouth at the Gulf
of Mexico up to 30 degrees north latitude. After 30
degrees north latitude, Charles Maurice de Talleyrand
admitted in a letter to Decrés that “from that last point,
the line is less exact.” He further admitted that “it does
not appear that any convention of boundaries was ever
held for that part of the frontier. The farther north one
goes, the more vague is the demarcation” (ibid.). The
terms of the Louisiana Purchase were deliberately vague.
There was no set western or northern boundary to the
territory. This allowed the United States to fill in the map
as it saw fit. Although that incensed the Spanish Crown
and ultimately led to the demise of its North American
empire, it could offer no cartographic evidence that
checked American westward expansion.

—Michael Kimaid
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CASA-CALVO, SEBASTIAN CALVO
DE LA PUERTA Y O’FARRILL,
MARQUES DE
(c. 1754-1820)

erving as acting military governor of Louisiana
= from 1799 to 1801, the Marqués de Casa-

v/‘\\,\

Calvo participated in the full range of Spain’s
activities in Louisiana, from early occupation and expan-
sion to the surrender of the region to the French in 1803.
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Casa-Calvo was a soldier during Spain’s glory days in
Louisiana. Born in Havana, he joined the Spanish army
as a teenager. After France gave Louisiana to Spain in
1762, French residents of New Orleans rebelled against
the imposition of Spanish rule. In 1769 the Spanish
Crown sent General Alejandro O’Reilly to put down the
rebellion. O’Reilly collected some two thousand troops in
Havana, including the young cavalry officer Casa-Calvo.
O’Reilly and his troops successfully reinstated Spanish
rule over New Orleans and Louisiana.

During the American Revolution, Casa-Calvo helped
Spain expand into West Florida. He fought with Bernardo
de Galvez in Spanish victories over the British at Mobile
in 1780 and Pensacola in 1781. The Spanish military pro-
moted Casa-Calvo to lieutenant colonel in 1786.

When Louisiana governor Manuel Gayoso de Lemos
died in July 1799, the Crown appointed Casa-Calvo
interim governor. By that time, Spanish Louisiana was
endangered on many fronts. The British and their Indian
allies threatened to invade the Mississippi Valley from
Canada in 1800 and again in 1801. The British also peri-
odically blockaded the port of New Orleans, preventing
supplies and trade from flowing into and out of the
colony. Most dangerously, American settlers and traders
were increasingly encroaching on Spanish Louisiana.
Casa-Calvo ordered the arrest and deportation of all
Americans without Spanish passports, but their numbers
continued to increase.

As interim governor, Casa-Calvo also faced troubles
within the colony and with the Spanish Crown. Unlike
previous governors, Casa-Calvo had power only over the
military affairs of Louisiana. Another man, Nicolas
Maria Vidal, was given authority over civil affairs. With
neither the permanency nor the power of his predeces-
sors, Casa-Calvo had to fight Vidal and other New
Orleans officials every time he wanted to implement a
policy. Spain’s troubles in Europe deflected attention
from Louisiana, resulting in a diminished military and
insufficient funds for maintaining Indian alliances. The
interim governor struggled to maintain control over the
colony for two years, until the new governor, Manuel
Juan de Salcedo, finally arrived from the Canary Islands
in 1801. Casa-Calvo left for Cuba, but he was back in
Louisiana two years later to oversee the Spanish retreat
from the colony.

Casa-Calvo attended both the triumphal institution of
Spanish rule over Louisiana in 1769 and the ceremony
returning Louisiana to France in 1803. In that year, Casa-
Calvo was appointed commissioner for handing over
Louisiana to the French. Along with Governor Salcedo,
Casa-Calvo officially surrendered Louisiana to the
French on November 13. At the time, Casa-Calvo sus-
pected that France would not keep its promise to prevent
the colony from falling into the hands of the United
States. In fact, in the spring of 1803, France had already
sold Louisiana to the United States, and barely a month
later, the French turned the colony over.

After Spain lost Louisiana, the Crown appointed
Casa-Calvo commissioner of limits to determine the bor-
der between Spanish America and the United States. In
1805 and 1806 he led a secret, four-month mission to
explore and map western Louisiana and eastern Texas.
At issue was the border between Louisiana, which now
belonged to the United States, and Spanish Texas. The
Spanish had become alarmed when a French minister
claimed that Louisiana extended to the Rio Grande, and
Casa-Calvo set out to disprove that claim before Ameri-
can explorers, such as William Dunbar, could get there.
Casa-Calvo needed to prove that the disputed area
between the Rio Grande and the Sabine River had
belonged to Spain before 1762, when France had given
Louisiana to Spain. Casa-Calvo found records in Texas
that allegedly proved that the San Miguel de los Adaes
mission and presidio were founded by the Spanish in
1716. If the Los Adaes district was Spanish territory
before 1762, then Spanish Texas extended at least to the
Sabine River, and perhaps considerably farther east.

When word of Casa-Calvo’s expedition spread,
rumors flew among the Anglo-American population of
Louisiana. Some said that Casa-Calvo was going to take
command of three thousand Spanish troops in Texas to
retake Louisiana by force. Others believed that he was
fomenting rebellion among the Spanish, French, and
Indian residents of Louisiana. As a result of these
rumors, the first U.S. territorial governor of Louisiana,
William C. C. Claiborne, persuaded President Jefferson
to order all Spanish officials and military men in
Louisiana either to accept U.S. citizenship or to leave
U.S. soil. Immediately upon Casa-Calvo’s return to New
Orleans in February 1806, the governor expelled him
from Louisiana.

As he left Louisiana, Casa-Calvo warned his superiors
in Spain that the disputed and unprotected Texas-
Louisiana border would expose Mexico to invasion by
the United States, and he asked to lead a military force to
reconquer Louisiana. The Crown refused his request, and
U.S. westward expansion continued.

—Kathleen DuVal
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CASPAR, FORT

ort Caspar (often spelled “Casper”) was estab-
C/':\Plished in May 1862, on the south side of the

North Platte River at the present-day site of
Casper, Wyoming. The site had been in use since 1840,
when the river crossing became known as Camp Platte
and served as a convenient and natural crossing place for
overland immigrants following the Oregon Trail. In June
1847, the Mormons established a ferry there, and for the
next twelve years the place was known as Mormon Ferry.
In 1858, Platte Bridge Station was constructed, consisting
of several adobe buildings, located at the same site.

Troops from Companies D and E of the Fourth U.S.
Artillery were stationed there from July 29, 1858, to
April 20, 1859. These troops were under the command
of Captain Joseph Roberts and Captain George W.
Getty. There was a threefold purpose for locating troops
there: to protect Oregon-bound immigrant trains, to
facilitate the movement of supplies in support of the
Utah expeditionary force, and to keep lines of commu-
nication open with Salt Lake City. During the brief life-
time of the Pony Express, the fort served as a relay sta-
tion for express riders.

Louis Guinard constructed a thousand-foot bridge
there in 1859, from which the camp derived its name—
Platte Bridge Station. In May 1862, the camp was gar-
risoned by troops of the Sixth U.S. Volunteers, to protect
from Indian attack the crossing and the newly installed
telegraph line.

In the spring of 1865 the post, still called Platte River
Station, was made a permanent post. The camp became
unusually active that same year, when the Indians sought
to halt all traffic along the Oregon Trail. On November
21, 1865, Major General John Pope, commanding the
department, ordered that the camp be named Fort Cas-
par, in honor of First Lieutenant Caspar W. Collins,
Eleventh Ohio Cavalry, killed in the Platte Bridge Station
Battle on July 26, 1865. Collins had been killed while try-
ing to rescue a fallen comrade during a battle with three
thousand Sioux and Cheyenne who had attacked a
wagon train. The post was first garrisoned by regular
troops on June 28, 1866, under the command of Captain
Richard L. Morris, Eighteenth U.S. Infantry.

The post was rebuilt and enlarged in 1866. It was
abandoned, by order of the War Department, on October
19, 1867, when it was replaced by Fort Fetterman. As
soon as it was closed and the troops had departed, the
buildings and the bridge across the North Platte were
burned by Indians. The fort has been reconstructed, and
the site is now a state park.

—Henry H. Goldman
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CATLIN, GEORGE
(1796-1872)

orn in Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania, George
@B Catlin moved with his family to rural Broome

County, New York, at the age of one year. He
was schooled at home, and he enjoyed the outdoor life of
hunting and fishing more than the academic one. He col-
lected Indian relics, coming by his interest in Indians
because his mother had been taken by Indians during the
Wyoming Valley Massacre of 1778. He studied law in
Litchfield, Connecticut, in 1817 and 1818, but he quickly
abandoned the profession. A self-taught artist, by 1821
Catlin was working as a miniaturist in Philadelphia. He
was elected to the Pennsylvania Academy of the Fine Arts
in 1824. He painted portraits and miniatures in Wash-
ington, D.C., and Albany, New York, between 1824 and
1829.

George Catlin first encountered Indians in 1824, when
a delegation passed through Philadelphia on its way to
Washington, D.C. Catlin finished his first portrait of an
Indian, Red Jacket, in 1826, two years after his friend,
Charles Neagle, had painted the same individual.

Catlin’s influences include Thomas Sully, who had a
portrait studio, and Charles Wilson Peale, whose
Philadelphia Museum taught Catlin the importance of
natural history. From Samuel E B. Morse, president of
the National Academy of Design, Catlin learned that art
must serve education.

Like many Americans of his time, Catlin caught the
fever of cultural nationalism, a commitment to scientific
accuracy, and the fear that progress was eroding the
unique America represented by wilderness and the noble
savage. Determined to paint the dying race and its envi-
ronment before it was too late, he moved to St. Louis in
1830. There he met and became friends with General
William Clark and painted the Indians who visited
Clark’s office. For five years he traveled throughout the
Indian country, sketching and painting Indians in or near
their natural homes. He was the first to paint the north-
ern tribes, including the Sioux, Mandan, Crow, and
Blackfoot. He also traveled to Fort Gibson in Indian Ter-
ritory, and although he got sick and could not make the
journey to Fort Sill to meet with the Comanche, he was
first to paint them as well. He also painted other South-
ern Plains Indians, such as the Osage and Kiowa, as well
as the relocated Civilized Tribes. In 1837, Catlin’s West-
ern phase ended. He presented paintings from the second
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While traveling through the Dakotas in 1832, artist George
Catlin bad an opportunity to paint Four Bears, the second
chief of the Mandan. (Smithsonian American Art
Museum/Art Resource)

trip to Congress in 1838, but Congress rejected them.
Catlin went to Europe, where his paintings were better
received. He had success in London and Paris with “The
Indian Gallery,” a collection that he updated periodi-
cally. He continued traveling, through North America
and, possibly, South America. Some claim that he fic-
tionalized his account of his 1850s travel in South Amer-
ica.

Catlin was not the first to paint Indians, but he was
the first to go to the Indians’ homelands, the first to cap-
ture a fading civilization, the first to draw the contrast
between the dignified native and the one corrupted by
civilization. One set of two paintings of The Light, an
Assiniboine, portrayed him in native dress on his way to
meet the white man, and in an elaborate American uni-
form upon his return. The side-by-side representations
were symbolic of the corrupting influence of civilization,
a good romantic-era motif.

Catlin worked quickly and was highly prolific. After
his Western travels he copied his original sketches in pen-
cil and other media, often taking more pains than with
the original, giving better quality at the expense of the
freshness that characterized his best work. Catlin set the
pattern of being an encyclopedist, attempting to capture
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every tribe and every type of landscape. His influence
shows in the voluminous output of his successors, such
as Seth Eastman, John Mix Stanley, Henry H. Cross,
Joseph Henry Sharp, Elbridge Ayer Burbans, and
Edward S. Curtis. He also set the tone of nostalgia for a
lost time that characterizes the Western genre; after all,
by the time he got to the pristine Indians, they had
already been corrupted by earlier contact with white civ-
ilization. And it was his work that made the Plains
Indian America’s stereotypical Native American.

His work is characterized by strong and accurate
depictions of facial expression; his weaknesses are in
anatomy and proportion, and he sometimes takes liber-
ties with perspective. After Catlin any artist who wanted
to be taken seriously had to go out to the Indians instead
of waiting for them to come to him.

Catlin’s published works include Manners, Customs,
and Conditions of the North American Indians (2 vols.,
1841), Catlin’s North American Indian Portfolio (1844),
and My Life among the Indians (1867).

—J. Herschel Barnbhill
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CHARBONNEAU, TOUSSAINT
(c. 1759—c. 1840)

oussaint Charbonneau and his wife, Saca-
C’-\:\Tgawea, served as interpreters for the Lewis

and Clark Expedition (1804-1806). Origi-
nally from Montreal, Charbonneau worked as an engagé
(a laborer) for the North West Company from 1793 to
1796, after which time he established himself as an inde-
pendent fur trader among the Hidatsa and Mandan peo-
ples of the Northern Plains. When the Lewis and Clark
Expedition reached the mouth of the Knife River in pres-
ent-day North Dakota in October 1804, Charbonneau
was living in the area with two Shoshoni wives whom he
had purchased from the Hidatsa, the younger one being
Sacagawea.

Charbonneau offered his services as an interpreter to
Lewis and Clark at Fort Mandan, and an agreement was
later reached recognizing Charbonneau as one of the
party’s two official interpreters (George Drouillard being
the other). Charbonneau, Sacagawea, and their infant
son, Jean Baptiste, were three of only eight civilian mem-
bers of the expedition, Sacagawea being the only
woman. Lewis and Clark were inclined to hire Char-
bonneau because Sacagawea’s people, the Shoshoni,
lived farther along the route the expedition was to travel.



To succeed in its quest to cross the Rocky Mountains,
the Corps of Discovery would need to negotiate with the
Shoshoni, inasmuch as they were said to have an impor-
tant supply of horses.

During the passage of the expedition through the ter-
ritories of the Hidatsa and Shoshoni, Lewis and Clark
relied on Charbonneau and Sacagawea to communicate
with the local tribes, though the process was cumber-
some. Sacagawea spoke Shoshoni and Hidatsa, while
Charbonneau spoke Hidatsa and French, the final link in
the chain being the translation from French to English by
Private Frangois Labiche. Upon their arrival among the
Shoshoni, the party learned that Sacagawea’s brother,
Cameahwait, whom she had not seen since her capture
by the Hidatsa in 1800, was a Shoshoni headman. He
furnished the Corps of Discovery with horses and a
guide to cross the Bitterroot Range through the present-
day Lolo Pass. In addition to Charbonneau’s and Saca-
gawea’s invaluable service as interpreters for the Lewis
and Clark Expedition, the presence of Sacagawea in the
party served to defuse tensions with native peoples over
the arrival of foreigners.

Toussaint, Sacagawea, and their son remained with
the Corps of Discovery throughout its journey across the
Rocky Mountains to the Pacific Coast and back to Fort
Mandan. Upon the party’s return to the fort in August
1806, Charbonneau ended his association with the expe-
dition. He was given a voucher valued at $500.33 (a
large sum at the time) and the cost of a horse and lodge.
Upon Charbonneau and Sacagawea’s visit to St. Louis in
1809, he was also awarded a land grant of 320 acres, as
were all the enlisted men of the Lewis and Clark Expe-
dition.

A fur trader all his life, Charbonneau had little inter-
est in becoming a farmer. He eventually sold his acreage
to William Clark and returned to live among the Man-
dan and the Hidatsa. Sacagawea died in 1812, and one
year later, William Clark became guardian to Lizette and
Jean Baptiste, Charbonneau’s children by Sacagawea.
For the next twenty-eight years, Charbonneau continued
to work as an interpreter for government officials,
artists, explorers, and other visitors. It is believed that he
died in 1840, although his son, Jean Baptiste Charbon-
neau, did not settle Toussaint’s estate until 1843.

—Melinda Marie Jetté
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CHARLES IV
(1748-1819)

ing Charles IV of Spain, who ruled from 1788
@Km 1808, was the fifth and most inept of the

Spanish Bourbons. Carlos (in Spanish)
reigned, with little vision or strength, over the approach-
ing dissolution of Spain’s American empire, starting with
the retrocession of the Louisiana Territory to Napoleon’s
France in 1801. This disinterested monarch was the son
of Charles I (1716-1788), perhaps the ablest and
strongest of the Spanish Bourbons and Maria de Sajonia
(1724-1760). In 1765, Carlos married his cousin, Maria
Luisa of Parma (1751-1819). Their shared grandparents
were Philip V of Spain (1683-1746) and Elisabetta
(Isabela) Farnese of Parma (1692-1766). Charles was
also a first cousin to the ill-fated Louis XVI of France,
through their Saxon mothers. Finally, both these tragic
and ill-suited Bourbon monarchs were, of course, descen-
dants of France’s Louis XIV, the Sun King. Charles and
Maria Luisa were considered lazy and morally deficient
by the demanding Charles III and, as a result, were
largely ignored by him.

Early in their reign, this hapless royal pair fell under
the influence of the clever and devious Manuel de Godoy,
originally a guardsman of the royal household. This man,
sixteen years Queen Maria Luisa’s junior, was generally
believed to have been her principal lover. It was even
rumored that he sired two of the royal children. Charles
IV, referred to as the “Royal Cuckold,” never seemed
aware of his wife’s rampant libido or the situation with
Godoy. He gave Godoy estates and royal titles, finally
dubbing him the “Prince of the Peace” after he helped
negotiate peace with the French Directory in 1795.

Intimidated by Napoleon and manipulated by Godoy
and the queen, Charles was easily persuaded to return
the title of Louisiana to France in 1801. This was accom-
plished in exchange for the throne of Tuscany (enlarged
and created as the Kingdom of Etruria by Napoleon) for
the queen’s brother, Fernando, Duke of Parma. Eventu-
ally, however, Fernando’s son, Luis, who had married the
Spanish Infanta, his cousin Maria Luisa, occupied that
throne.

Fernando de Bourbon, Charles’s son and heir appar-
ent, split with his father because of his distaste for the sit-
uation at court. Finally, after Spain’s loss of Louisiana
and Godoy’s continued accommodations to and appease-
ment of Napoleon, Fernando overthrew his father in
1808 and ruled as Fernando VII for just a few days.
Charles then appealed to Napoleon, who summoned
father and son to France, where both were forced to abdi-
cate in favor of Joseph Bonaparte, brother of the
emperor, who ruled as José 1.

After the abdication, Charles and Maria Luisa
remained as pensioners of France, spending much of their
time at the Chateau de Chambord. Their legacy was that
of finally having reduced the once mightiest country on
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earth to a French satellite. The couple fled to Rome after
the fall of Napoleon, in 1814. Charles was on a pro-
longed visit to his brother, Fernando IV of Naples, when
his wife died on January 2, 1819, with Godoy at her side.
Charles never left Naples and died there on January 19,
1819, of “fever and gout.” Fernando VII, who had been
restored to the Spanish throne in 1814, later allowed his
parents to be buried in the Escorial. Fernando ruled
Spain, even less ably than the preceding ménage a trois,
until his own death in 1833.

Charles IV will always be remembered by the brutally
realistic and insightful painting, Charles 1V and His
Family, by Francisco de Goya (1746-1828), who had
been named court painter in 1800. The painting, which
resides at the Museo del Prado in Madrid, clearly depicts
the family’s lack of intelligence and character. Goya
made no attempt to hide his disdain and contempt for
the pathetic group. The reign of Charles IV, Maria Luisa,
and Godoy, together with the French Revolution and
Napoleon’s rise to power, was absolutely disastrous for
the once mighty Spain.

—Richard H. Dickerson
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CHARTRES, FORT DE

uilt in 1720 approximately fifteen miles north-
C/':\B west of Kaskaskia, Illinois, Fort de Chartres
became the French colonial seat of government
in Illinois. Today one can visit the reconstructed site
located about twelve miles west of Ruma, between Prairie
Du Rocher and Kidd, Illinois. A palisaded structure, Fort
de Chartres became an important link for French trade
from Quebec, Montreal, and Detroit in the north to New
Orleans in the south. The fort was part of a series of out-
posts constructed by John Law’s Company of the Indies
that controlled the French Louisiana Territory until 1731.
Illinois was one of nine military districts, and with troops
stationed at Fort de Chartres, there grew a small, though
fairly prosperous, French settlement in nearby villages—
most notably at Kaskaskia.
Fort de Chartres’s brief history (1720-1763) is
marked by Indian wars, the desire to keep British traders
from intruding into the Illinois country, and concern over
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the costs of maintaining the fort. From its earliest years,
soldiers stationed at Fort de Chartres were involved in the
Fox Indian Wars (1718-1730) and quickly realized that
their fort was vulnerable to a massive Indian attack.
Worse yet, built quite close to the Mississippi River, the
fort was also in danger from possible flooding, which did
occur in 1727. The palisades were completely destroyed
that year, as were the wooden buildings within the
grounds. The fort was rebuilt near the same site, though
again with wood as the only construction material. Very
soon this second fort became dilapidated. In view of the
continued deterioration of the fort, its commander, Sieur
de Bertet, moved most of the garrison to Kaskaskia in
1747. Finally, in 1753, a more serious effort was made to
construct a permanent structure, using stone and earthen
material. A more spacious fort was built, one that could
house between three hundred and five hundred men.

The garrison at Fort de Chartres was never very large:
sixty men in 1727 and three hundred men in 1751.
Nonetheless, they were actively involved in controlling
Indians, protecting French trade routes, and exploiting
the lead mines in the area.

There was, for example, an ill-fated attack carried out
against the Chickasaw in 1736. Troops from Fort de
Chartres prepared to attack a Chickasaw village, only to
be outflanked by the Chickasaw, who had been alerted to
the impending attack by British traders. It was a total dis-
aster: many of the French, including their commander,
were killed. Alphonse de la Buissonniere took over com-
mand after the disaster and began immediate repairs to
the fort to make it less vulnerable to Indian attack.
Another threat to the Illinois country and the region
around the fort came in 1752, when Fox Indians and
their allies sent four hundred to five hundred warriors to
raid an Illinois Indian (Cahokia) village, close to Fort de
Chartres. Although the raiders destroyed much of the vil-
lage and took scalps and captives, they did not present a
real threat to the fort, which at that time had a garrison
of only three hundred men.

Besides its military and political importance, the fort
was an important contributor to regional economic
development. Soldiers from the fort worked in lead mines
nearby. Furthermore, several men, and occasionally
patrols, set out from the fort into Missouri to gain Indian
allies and explore the area west of the Mississippi. For
example, Antoine Valentin de Guy set out in 1743 from
Fort de Chartres and led an expedition to the Big River in
Missouri, searching for lead mines. Later, in 1763, Pierre
Lacléde Liguest left from Fort de Chartres to establish a
trading post at the mouth of the Missouri River, named
the site St. Louis, in honor of the canonized French
monarch Louis IX.

By the terms of the Treaty of Paris (1763), which con-
cluded the French and Indian War (1755-1763), France
ceded the Illinois country to the British. Although occu-
pied by British troops in 1765, the fort’s occupation was
to be of short duration. Major General Thomas Gage,



commander of British troops in North America, recom-
mended to the British cabinet that Fort de Chartres be
abandoned. Believing it to be too costly to maintain a
garrison there, he asserted that the local (French) inhabi-
tants could be gathered into one village for better defense,
and they could establish their own militia for protection.
His recommendation was approved in 1771, and General
Gage subsequently had Fort de Chartres demolished.

—Gene Mueller
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CHEYENNE

he Central Plains were home to the Cheyenne
C/':\Tand their allies, the Arapaho. Both groups

inhabited and hunted the region of present-day
eastern Colorado and southeastern Wyoming. They lived
primarily in the region between the Arkansas and North
Platte Rivers just east of the Front Range of the Rockies.

The Cheyenne spoke a language that stemmed from
the Algonquian-Wakashan linguistic group. Although
they had formerly been sedentary farmers of the eastern
woodlands near Lake Superior, they migrated westward
during the early seventeenth century. It is likely that hos-
tilities with rival tribes—especially the Santee Sioux and
the Ojibwa, both of which possessed guns—were respon-
sible for the departure of the Cheyenne from western
Wisconsin and Minnesota. For a time they lived in pres-
ent-day North Dakota in the valley of the Sheyenne River,
but they continued to move west. Tribal folklore recalling
how the Cheyenne “lost the corn” indicates the profound
cultural transformation that took place as the tribal
migration occurred.

Settling in the Central Plains, the Cheyenne adopted
the lifestyle of nomadic hunters who followed the vast
herds of bison that inhabited the region. Because they
were nomadic hunters, the Cheyenne frequently came
into contact with other tribes that maintained themselves
in similar fashion. These frequent encounters generally
led to clashes over rights to traditional hunting lands. As
a result, the Cheyenne often found themselves at war
against the Kiowa, Comanche, and Apache.

The Cheyenne split into Southern and Northern bands
around 1830 when a large group decided to settle upon
the headwaters of the Arkansas River, where they could
engage in trade with Americans at Bent’s Fort. This divi-
sion was made more permanent when the Cheyenne and
the Arapaho, two frequently warlike tribes, came to be
known as a peaceful people because they chose not to
fight the Americans who began to arrive on the Central
Plains. The lands that the Cheyenne occupied were of cen-
tral importance to the course of American empire because
all major overland trails, such as the Oregon Trail and the
Mormon Road—which would be traversed by emigrant
pioneers, prospectors, and other trappers and traders—
had to cross Cheyenne country. The Cheyenne agreed to a
treaty with the U.S. government in which they promised
to provide an open corridor that would allow for safe pas-
sage for overland travelers. Unfortunately, in making this
decision, the Cheyenne effectively divided their tribe.

The Southern Cheyenne eventually merged with the
Arapaho and lived near the Arkansas River and its tribu-
taries. This group eventually became the victims of the
infamous Sand Creek Massacre (1864). The Southern
Cheyenne and Arapaho who remained were eventually
placed upon reservation land in Oklahoma. The North-
ern Cheyenne lived along the North Platte River. Shortly
after the Sand Creek Massacre, the Northern Cheyenne
allied themselves with the Sioux. A large contingent of
Northern Cheyenne would later fight along with the
Sioux at the Battle of Little Bighorn (1876), where they
would defeat General George A. Custer and his Seventh
Cavalry. The following year the Northern Cheyenne were
pacified and U.S. forces removed them to reservation
land in Oklahoma, where they were rejoined with sur-
viving elements of the Southern Cheyenne.

An increasingly large number of prospectors and set-
tlers moved into the region of Colorado after gold was dis-
covered near Pike’s Peak in 1859. In the Treaty of Fort
Lyon (1861) the Southern Cheyenne and their Arapaho
allies agreed to live upon reservation land in southeastern
Colorado, where they would not harass whites who trav-
eled across their traditional hunting grounds. Several chiefs
were taken to Washington to meet President Lincoln, and
they received medallions and American flags as evidence of
the good faith between U.S. authorities and tribal leaders.
Unfortunately, this goodwill would not last very long.

One of the most ignoble events of U.S. history, the
Sand Creek Massacre of November 29, 1864, became
symbolic in Native American consciousness to the callous
disregard that white Americans held for treaty obligations
negotiated with Indian tribes. Colonel John M. Chiving-
ton and a contingent of the Colorado territorial militia
deliberately attacked a village of Cheyenne and Southern
Arapaho who were flying an American flag—a clear sign
that they were under treaty protection. In the wake of an
artillery barrage and cavalry charge, more than 200
women and children were killed by Chivington’s assault.
A few Cheyenne warriors were also killed, but most of the
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Located along the Oregon Trail in western Nebraska, Chimney Rock was one of the most famous landmarks found along
the emigrant trail.

men were participating in a hunt and were away from the
encampment at the time of the attack.

Victimized by a treaty decision that served to divide
and conquer, the Cheyenne found themselves further
marginalized by the pressures of Manifest Destiny. By
1867, the tribe had lost possession of all of its traditional
hunting land. Even today the Cheyenne remain a divided
people, with about 12,000 members living on reserva-
tions in Montana and Oklahoma.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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CHIMNEY ROCK

his formation of Brule clay and volcanic ash,
C’-\:\Tknown to American Indians as elk penis, rises
about 325 feet above the North Platte River
Valley in present-day western Nebraska and is most
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widely known as arguably the most famous landmark on
the Oregon-California Trail.

Whites probably first saw Chimney Rock in 1813,
when fur traders traveled the valley. Joshua Pilcher made
the first recorded reference to Chimney Rock in his report
on an 1827 trapping expedition. As the Platte River Road
drew more and more American traffic during the ensuing
decades, an estimated 500,000 westbound immigrants
and travelers saw Chimney Rock, many welcoming it as a
sign that their journey across the Plains was nearing an
end and that they would soon be in the Rocky Mountains.

Although some early travelers thought that the forma-
tion resembled an inverted funnel, a lighthouse, or a shot-
tower, most agreed that it most closely resembled the
chimney ruins of a burned-down house or a factory chim-
ney, and that it had been named appropriately. Regard-
less of how they described the formation, almost all who
kept a diary of their journey mentioned the rock. One
study of immigrants’ diaries found Chimney Rock men-
tioned in ninety-seven of one hundred journals, a greater
rate of occurrence than for any other landmark on the
Oregon Trail. Furthermore, the diarists described it in
greater detail and in greater length than the other land-
marks. Some writers disdained Chimney Rock, but most
praised it with terms such as “celebrated,” “famous,”
and “the most remarkable object I ever saw.” In 1837,
artist Alfred Jacob Miller celebrated Chimney Rock by
making the first known sketch of the landmark.

Given its prominence and the slow rate of travel along
the trail, immigrants could see Chimney Rock for days
before they reached it. After travel through the relatively
featureless Platte Valley, the rock likely provided welcome



relief. Many immigrants celebrated reaching this mile-
stone by clambering up the rock’s base to carve their ini-
tials on it. Although many journals mention that activity,
virtually no carvings remain today, because of erosion.

By the 1860s, a mail, stage, and telegraph station had
been established in the vicinity of Chimney Rock, possi-
bly thanks to the water provided by a handful of springs.
The presence of water, however, did not distinguish
Chimney Rock from other points along the Oregon Trail.
The formation’s greatest significance rests in the psycho-
logical impact it had on early travelers in the Platte Valley.
They welcomed the change in scenery and—especially
after the trail had been well worn and publicized—
enjoyed seeing a famous landmark that indicated their
progress toward their destination.

—Todd M. Kerstetter
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CHIPPEWA
See Ojibwa

CHOUTEAU, RENE AUGUSTE
(1749-1829)

he noted frontiersman René Auguste
C/':\TChouteau, an active entrepreneur in the fur

trade and one of the founders of St. Louis,
Missouri, was born in the city of New Orleans in colonial
French Louisiana. After his parents separated when he
was six years old, Chouteau was raised by his common-
law stepfather, Pierre Laclede Liguest, and Marie Thérese
Chouteau, his mother. When the French and Indian War
ended in 1763, Laclede (of Maxent, Laclede and Com-
pany) and his newly formed family moved from New
Orleans to the Illinois Territory, where he hoped to
become involved in frontier trade and commerce as an
agent of the Louisiana Fur Trade Company.

Laclede had obtained an eight-year monopoly for the
Missouri region fur trade in 1762. He had hoped to use
Fort de Chartres as his primary trading post, but the
transfer of that site to Britain in the Treaty of Paris (1763)
forced him to change his plans. In 1764, work began on
establishing a fur trading center on the western bank of
the Mississippi River near the point where the Missouri
River joins. Even as a teenager, Chouteau began serving

as Laclede’s trusted clerk and lieutenant, and when he
was only fourteen years old Chouteau found himself in
charge of thirty workers who were building the first
crude structures in what soon became known as St.
Louis, named in honor of the canonized French monarch
Louis IX. The village quickly grew into a commercial
hub, making the transition to Spanish rule in 1770 and
American control in 1804.

Because of his efforts in establishing St. Louis, Laclede
became one of the growing community’s most influential
citizens, and his family eventually became recognized as
influential leaders in the economic and social life of the
region. Although trading in furs was the primary interest
of Laclede and Chouteau, the men eventually diversified
their financial interests as they became involved in real
estate and banking. Chouteau inherited his stepfather’s
wealth and social prominence when Laclede died in
1778. From that point forward Chouteau became quite
wealthy, and he was soon recognized as the largest
landowner and one of the most influential businessmen
and civic leaders in the early community of St. Louis.

President Thomas Jefferson appointed Chouteau one
of the three justices of the Territorial Court after the
Louisiana Territory was sold to the United States in 1803.
Having achieved such prominence, Chouteau would sub-
sequently serve as the first chairman of the board of
trustees when St. Louis was incorporated as a city in
1809. He also served as a colonel in the St. Louis militia,
served a term as a judge on the Court of Common Pleas,
and functioned as U.S. pension agent for the Missouri
Territory. In addition, Chouteau worked as a negotiator
in 1815 when he successfully concluded the Treaty of
Portage des Sioux with the neighboring Sioux, Iowa,
Sauk, and Fox peoples.

Chouteau had long recognized that success in the fur
trade was predicated upon maintaining friendly relations
with Native American peoples who could supply pelts
and who could help maintain the peace that was neces-
sary for the successful conduct of business on the frontier.
Chouteau maintained friendly relations with the Osage
that enabled him to extend his business considerably.
From 1794 to 1802, during the era of Spanish colonial
control, he held the lucrative monopoly on trade with the
Osage—essentially a vast trading empire, and one that
brought him great wealth.

Chouteau was the wealthiest citizen of St. Louis, the
unofficial banker for the region, and the city’s largest
landowner. He used his wealth to promote business inter-
ests throughout the region. Chouteau helped finance sev-
eral other individuals and companies that became
involved in the fur trade throughout the Louisiana Pur-
chase Territory.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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CLAIBORNE, WILLIAM
CHARLES COLE
(1775-1817)

s a Tennessee congressman, territorial gover-
C/':\ Anor of Mississippi, governor of the Territory

of Orleans, and governor of Louisiana, W. C.
C. Claiborne enjoyed a distinguished political career that
embodied the developing Western perspective and spirit
of Jeffersonian Republicanism. William Charles Cole, son
of Colonel William and Mary (Leigh) Claiborne, was
born in Sussex County, Virginia, in 1775. He attended
Richmond Academy and studied briefly at the College of
William and Mary until financial difficulties ended his
formal instruction at the age of fifteen. John Beckley, a
fellow Virginian who was clerk of the U.S. House of Rep-
resentatives, hired Claiborne as an assistant in his office.
In that capacity, Claiborne met the leading statesmen of
the period, including his mentor and later benefactor,
Thomas Jefferson.

Claiborne decided to study law when North Carolina
congressman John Sevier recognized the young clerk’s
talent and offered encouragement. He returned to Vir-
ginia for studies, and upon passing the bar moved to the
frontier in 1794 to practice criminal law in Sullivan
County, Tennessee. Representing his county in the 1796
statehood convention, Claiborne helped to draft the
original Tennessee constitution. When Sevier became
governor of Tennessee, he appointed Claiborne, then
only twenty-one years old, to serve as a judge on the
state supreme court. In August 1797, Tennessee voters
chose Claiborne to complete Andrew Jackson’s unex-
pired congressional term and re-elected him in subse-
quent elections, although he remained under the legal
constitutional age to hold the office.

Claiborne chaired the congressional committee that
supervised the Mississippi Territory, and in that capacity
he investigated allegations of political impropriety leveled
against Governor Winthrop Sargent. On May 25, 1801,
President Jefferson replaced Sargent as governor of the
Mississippi Territory with Claiborne, and he arrived at
Natchez on November 23. Despite the intense rivalry of
vying factions, Governor Claiborne maintained a moder-
ate course, resulting in substantive progress for the terri-
tory and its inhabitants. The creation of new counties, the
settlement of land claims, and reforms in public health,
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education, and internal security were provincial successes
in Claiborne’s tenure. Additionally, continuing negotia-
tions with regional Indian tribes and with Spanish
Louisiana trained the young governor in larger national
policy issues.

Upon the purchase of Louisiana in 1803, Jefferson
sent Claiborne and General James Wilkinson to New
Orleans as his commissioners, to accept the orderly trans-
fer from French to American authority. Jefferson’s
appointment of Claiborne as governor of the Territory of
Orleans was implicit in this arrangement, and Claiborne
remained at New Orleans to begin the challenge of mak-
ing the recently purchased territory truly American. Con-
versant in neither French nor Spanish, unfamiliar with
local customs and practices, and Protestant in a Roman
Catholic region, Claiborne faced many cultural obstacles
in governing this new territory. Creoles remained suspi-
cious of the governor and leery of Americanization.

Claiborne was an enigmatic leader. Contemporaries
sometimes mistook his prudence for indecision when fac-
ing difficulties, but he shunned rashness, frequently seek-
ing instruction and approval from peers and superiors.
During crises, most notably the Burr conspiracy and the
Battle of New Orleans, Claiborne seemed weak by con-
signing extraordinary powers upon Generals Wilkinson
and Jackson. Although his leadership and policies gener-
ated vociferous criticism, Claiborne was an honorable
man who assumed responsibility for his actions. He even
fought a duel in 1807 when Daniel Clark charged that
Claiborne demonstrated incompetence by abdicating
responsibilities during the Burr affair.

Criticism notwithstanding, Claiborne enjoyed certain
accomplishments as a territorial governor. In 1810 he
secured the Baton Rouge district as the United States
annexed the West Florida parishes, joining them to the
Territory of Orleans. In January 1811, he directed the
effective military suppression of the German Coast slave
insurrection, an uprising that threatened New Orleans. In
1812, Louisiana became the eighteenth state, with Clai-
borne its first elected governor.

The War of 1812 presented Louisiana with dual
threats of internal unrest in plantation districts and exter-
nal invasion by the British, but Claiborne remained con-
fident. Despite low numbers of militia enlistments and
few Creoles joining the Forty-fourth Infantry, newly cre-
ated for coastal defense, Claiborne overestimated
Louisiana’s potential troop strength in official communi-
cations with General Jackson. When Jackson arrived in
December 1814, he declared martial law and initiated
active procedures for defending New Orleans from
impending attack. Unlike Jackson’s scornful assessment,
Claiborne’s faith in the valiant efforts of Louisiana mili-
tia and fervent civilian patriotism vindicated his earlier
confidence in the loyalty of Louisiana’s citizens.

In 1817, Louisiana residents elected Claiborne to the
U.S. Senate, completing the cycle of his political journey,
but he died before taking office. A competent emissary of



Jeffersonian Republicanism, Claiborne effectively admin-
istered demanding frontier regions and prepared diverse
communities for statehood.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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CLARK, DANIEL
(1766-1813)

aniel Clark was born in the maritime
C/':\D province of Sligo on the west coast of Ireland

in 1766. Clark was named after his uncle, the
most successful member of the family. The elder Daniel
Clark had immigrated to the Spanish province of
Louisiana and established a thriving commercial house
in New Orleans. Young Clark joined his uncle there
in 1786.

The younger Clark obtained a position in the office of
the provincial governor, Esteban Rodriguez Mir6, which
enabled him to assist his uncle and learn valuable tech-
niques for negotiating the confusing Spanish customs reg-
ulations. In 1793, Clark formed a partnership with a
Philadelphia merchant, Daniel Coxe, whose contacts
within the U.S. government complemented Clark’s influ-
ence in New Orleans.

The lack of formal regulations for trade between the
United States and the Spanish province of Louisiana was a
persistent problem for American merchants like Daniel
Clark. In 1795 the Treaty of San Lorenzo (Pinckney’s
Treaty) granted American merchants a place of deposit in
New Orleans and recognized the right of free navigation of
the Mississippi River for American shippers. The deposit
did not actually open until 1798, and the first entry in the
books kept by the customs officials lists seventy bags of
cotton placed in deposit by Daniel Clark. Although he used
the deposit at New Orleans, Clark believed that the Span-
ish taxes on goods imported into the province in American
ships largely negated any advantage earned through the
deposit. Clark proposed to the Spanish officials that Amer-
ican and Spanish ships pay the same taxes when exporting
products from New Orleans to ports in the United States
or other nations. In return, Spanish ships could take car-
goes from the American deposit without payment of
export duties. After the Spanish governor endorsed Clark’s

proposal, the colonial treasury adopted and even expanded
Clark’s recommendations.

Clark’s successful negotiations with the Spanish gov-
ernment encouraged New Orleans merchants to urge
President Thomas Jefferson to appoint Clark U.S. consul
for the Orleans Territory. Some opposition to Clark’s
appointment arose among members of the Jefferson
administration who questioned his loyalty to the United
States. The commission nominating Clark indicated that
he was a Spanish subject, but Clark insisted that he had
never been a Spanish subject but had been naturalized, as
an American citizen, in the latter part of 1798 in Natchez.
Clark proved to be the most successful of U.S. appointees
to the post in New Orleans.

When rumors of a possible transfer of the province of
Louisiana from Spain to France appeared in New
Orleans in 1802, Daniel Clark became the most impor-
tant source of information about provincial conditions
for President Jefferson. In 1802, Clark warned his gov-
ernment that the French would quickly end the American
deposit in New Orleans, and the American merchant
community in New Orleans credited Clark’s information
with convincing Jefferson that only the purchase of New
Orleans would ensure American use of the port. One
local resident concluded that the United States owed the
acquisition of Louisiana to Daniel Clark.

Before the transfer of Louisiana from France to the
United States actually occurred, Clark continued to relay
information about conditions in New Orleans to the two
commissioners, William C. C. Claiborne and General
James Wilkinson, waiting to accept the territory. After the
transfer, Clark apparently expected to be named perma-
nent governor of Louisiana, but he was disappointed. Jef-
ferson’s unwillingness to name a former British subject
and lingering doubts about his loyalty doomed his ambi-
tions. Clark’s failure poisoned his relations with Clai-
borne, the acting governor, and caused him to become the
center of opposition to Claiborne’s policies. Their mutual
antipathy culminated in a duel fought in 1807 in which
Claiborne was seriously injured.

From 1804 to 1808, Clark served as a territorial del-
egate to the U.S. Congress from the Territory of Orleans.
As a delegate, he urged the immediate admission of
Louisiana as a state and the removal of restrictions on
the importation of slaves into the territory. The
“Louisiana Memorial of 1804,” presented by Clark to
the Congress, detailed the opposition of the New
Orleans merchants to Louisiana’s uncertain status and
the policies of its governor.

The extent of Clark’s involvement in the Burr conspir-
acy of 1805-1806 is uncertain. Burr arrived in New
Orleans on June 25, 18035, bearing letters of introduction
from General Wilkinson to Governor Claiborne and
Daniel Clark. Both men entertained Burr, their rivalry
prompting them each to try to outdo the other. Wilkin-
son’s letter to Clark contained a cryptic comment that
Burr would “communicate to him many things
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improper” to write and which “he would not say to any
other.” If Burr did contemplate a plan to separate the
Western states from the United States or a conquest of
Mexican territory, Clark apparently feared being drawn
into Burr’s plots. He wrote to Wilkinson that “how the
devil I have been lugged into the conspiracy or what assis-
tance I can be of in it is to me incomprehensible.” Clark’s
actions after Burr’s visit only increased suspicions about
his involvement. Two months after Burr left New
Orleans, Clark set out on an extended journey that took
him to several Mexican ports, including Vera Cruz. Many
recent immigrants to Louisiana clamored for the con-
quest of Mexico and the other Spanish territories in
North America. A group of three hundred prominent
New Orleans citizens organized a “Mexican Associa-
tion” for the purpose of collecting data on Mexico in case
of a war with Spain. Clark certainly knew of the Mexi-
can Association, and he may have introduced its leaders
to Burr. Clark wrote a self-serving defense of his actions
years later, in which he claimed that he never would have
been “fool enough to expose a large fortune and a
respectable standing to certain destruction on an
impractible scheme.” Instead, he claimed that he dis-
suaded his friends from participating in any venture of
Burr’s. At Burr’s trial for treason in 1807, General
Wilkinson and Clark each accused the other of complic-
ity in Burr’s plans. In 1809, Clark published his Proofs of
the Corruption of General James Wilkinson, calling
Wilkinson a “trembling coward [and a] sanguinary trai-
tor.” Wilkinson replied in his Memoirs (published in
1816, after Clark’s death) that Clark was an “ostenta-
tious, vain, vindictive, and ambitious” man.

Clark’s possible connections with Burr and his duel
with Governor Claiborne wrecked his political future in
New Orleans and with the Democratic-Republican
administrations of Jefferson and Madison. Clark was not
re-elected as territorial delegate in 1808. He continued to
manage his business until his sudden death from a fever
on August 16, 1813. Twenty years after his death, his
estate became embroiled in litigation over his rightful
heir. Myra Clark Whitney Gaines claimed to be his legit-
imate daughter by a secret marriage to a young French-
woman, and the lawsuit she instigated tied up the Clark
estate for the next sixty years. The “Great Gaines Case”
was celebrated as the “true-life romance of the American
courts” in the nineteenth century, and a justice of the U.S.
Supreme Court called it “the most remarkable case” ever
brought before that court.

—Elizabeth U. Alexander
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CLARK, FORT

ort Clark, located in present-day Mercer
?PCounty, North Dakota, was an important fur

trade outpost established on the west bank of
the Missouri River by James Kipp in 1830. The rectan-
gular fort, named in honor of the famous explorer
William Clark, measured 120 by 160 feet. Kipp built the
fort high on a bluff, at an angle in the river, on the side of
the Missouri opposite from where Meriwether Lewis and
William Clark spent the winter of 1804-1805 at Fort
Mandan.

Fort Clark was the result of a corporate merger
involving John Jacob Astor’s American Fur Company
with the Columbia Fur Company in 1827. Alexander
MacKenzie, director of the western division of the Amer-
ican Fur Company, the Upper Missouri Outfit, attempted
to monopolize the region’s fur trade by building forts at
strategic locations beginning in 1828. As part of this plan,
MacKenzie instructed James Kipp, a company clerk flu-
ent in Mandan, to cement a trading partnership with the
Mandan who spent their summers at Mih-tutta-hang-
kush, an earth-lodge village located next to the trading
post. Kipp was also responsible for encouraging neigh-
boring Arikara and Hidatsa to conduct business at Fort
Clark. Kipp, like many of the trading post’s employees,
married a Mandan woman. The seasoned clerk also
employed Toussaint Charbonneau, the guide who accom-
panied Lewis and Clark’s Corps of Discovery, to help
facilitate trade with the region’s Indian inhabitants. The
frontier post prospered, thanks to its strategic location at
a historic crossroads where migrating bands of Sioux,
Assiniboine, and Crow frequently came to trade.

The Yellow Stone, a steamboat carrying provisions to
the forts along the upper Missouri, arrived at the trading
post in 1832. After replenishing Fort Clark’s supplies, the
steamboat returned to St. Louis with one hundred packs
of beaver pelts and bison robes. Pelts shipped downriver
to St. Louis each summer were then counted, weighed,
and shipped to New York. In return for their furs, Indi-
ans received brightly colored coarse woolen goods
imported from England. They also traded for guns, pow-
der and lead, tobacco, knives, flints, and kettles. Fort
Clark’s ban on the sale of alcohol suited the Mandan,
who preferred water, tea, and coffee.

Trade along the upper Missouri thrived until June 19,
1837, when the American Fur Company’s steamboat, St.
Peter’s, brought the deadly smallpox disease to Fort
Clark and Fort Union. Neighboring Mandan villages
were devastated by the end of summer. Those fortunate



enough to survive the initial onslaught, approximately
125 residents from a village of 1,800 people, abandoned
their village on August 11, 1837, to join the Hidatsa liv-
ing farther north near the mouth of the Knife River. To
accommodate these Indians, Francis Chardon, the clerk
assigned to Fort Clark at the time, built Fort Berthold
beside their village.

Arikara who lived near Fort Clark did not suffer as
much as the Mandan. Those who survived the deadly
epidemic occupied the abandoned Mandan village adja-
cent to Fort Clark in 1838 and resumed their dealings
with traders assigned to Fort Clark. Unfortunately, how-
ever, the Arikara could not escape the diseases that rav-
aged native peoples. A cholera outbreak in 1851 and
another smallpox epidemic in 1856 decimated the
Arikara settlement. The weakened Arikara continued to
use the village as a summer home until relocating to Fort
Berthold in 1862.

In 1850 competitors built Primeau’s Post, owned and
operated by Harvey, Primeau, and Company of St. Louis,
on the south side of the Arikara village. The two forts
then vied for Indian customers until a fire destroyed the
south half of Fort Clark in 1860. The trading post’s own-
ers, Pierre Chouteau, Jr., and Company, responded by
purchasing Primeau’s Post, which they operated until
1861. The post and nearby Arikara village were aban-
doned sometime before 1862, following repeated raids by
warriors associated with Two Bears’s band of Sioux.

Much is known about life at Fort Clark, thanks to
Francis A. Chardon, head trader at the post, who kept a
detailed journal from 1834 to 1839 concerning his expe-
riences in the Dakota wilderness. Famous artists Karl
Bodmer and George Catlin also left a rich legacy in their
reproductions of the people and events associated with
Fort Clark. Other notable visitors included Prince Max-
imilian of Weid-Neuweid and the famous naturalist John
James Audubon.

Today the State Historical Society of North Dakota
manages Fort Clark. The former trading post is an
important archaeological site containing the remains of a
Mandan earth-lodge village, foundations of the fort’s
structures, and a large Indian burial ground. It is listed on
the National Register of Historic Places and has been
nominated as a National Historic Landmark.

—Jon L. Brudvig
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CLARK, GEORGE ROGERS
(1752-1818)

onqueror of the Old Northwest and founder
@C of Louisville, Kentucky, George Rogers Clark,

elder brother of William Clark, was born in
Albemarle County, Virginia, two and a half miles north-
west of Thomas Jefferson’s birthplace at Shadwell. In Jan-
uary 1778, Clark was appointed by Governor Patrick
Henry of Virginia to lead a military expedition against
British forces in the West. Clark won fame when he
defeated British garrisons and captured the frontier out-
posts of Kaskaskia in July 1778 and Vincennes in Febru-
ary 1779 in what would later become, respectively, the
states of Illinois and Indiana. After the war he settled near
the falls of the Ohio River.

Like many settlers in the trans-Appalachian West,
Clark considered free navigation of the Mississippi River
vital to the economic independence of Western settlers,
and he therefore resented Spanish control of New Orleans
and the mouth of the Mississippi. Because Westerners felt
that the American government was neglecting their inter-
ests and concerns by not working hard enough to secure
access to the Mississippi, many felt justified in taking mat-
ters into their own hands and were responsive to extrale-
gal schemes to wrest possession of Louisiana from the
Spaniards. In addition to these common complaints,
Clark was further dissatisfied with the government
because his claims incurred in his country’s service dating
back to the American Revolution remained unpaid, and
he felt that his ser-vices were not adequately appreciated.
Clark thus became active in many of these intrigues, and
because of his fame as a military commander he was
viewed as a natural leader.

Despairing over never receiving compensation for his
claims from the U.S. government, in 1788 Clark petitioned
Diego de Gardoqui, Spanish envoy to the United States, for
a grant of approximately one hundred square miles of land
opposite the mouth of the Ohio for the founding of a
colony. Clark, however, refused to agree to the terms
offered by the Spanish government, which did not include
adequate political and religious freedom, and the plan died.

He again became involved in Western land intrigues in
1790-1791, this time with war seemingly imminent
between Spain and Britain. James O’Fallon, general agent
of the South Carolina Yazoo Company, hoped to take
advantage of the situation by launching an expedition
against Louisiana. The Yazoo Company was formed to
settle territory granted by Georgia, but its plans were
frustrated by Spain, which claimed jurisdiction over the
area. O’Fallon enlisted Clark’s support and placed him in
command of an armed force, and he threatened Spanish
governor Esteban Mir6 that he would send it against
Natchez and New Orleans in 1791 with the goal of
organizing a western confederation independent of both
the United States and Spain if not allowed to settle the
Yazoo land peacefully. By the end of the year the plan had
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collapsed, following President Washington’s denuncia-
tion of the unlawful scheme.

In the summer of 1793, Clark was again at the center
of an intrigue involving Louisiana. Citizen Edmond
Genét, newly arrived minister to the United States from
France, was interested in separating Louisiana from
Spain. Therefore he gladly accepted an offer from Clark
to raise a force for the capture of New Orleans with assis-
tance from the French navy, and he appointed Clark
major general of the “Independent and Revolutionary
Legion of the Mississippi.” Afterward, Louisiana was to
be made an independent state maintaining commercial
relations with France and the United States. Upset with
Genét’s violations of U.S. neutrality, Washington and his
cabinet demanded his recall by the French government in
August 1793. By March 1794 the planned attack on
Louisiana had collapsed. The new French minister to the
United States disavowed any further violations of Ameri-
can neutrality. Meanwhile Washington forbade Ameri-
cans to participate in any future illegal designs on
Louisiana and charged officers of the federal government
with enforcement of the laws against filibusters.

France again planned for the conquest of Louisiana
from Spain in 1798. As a general in the French army,
Clark was called upon to raise a force of volunteers for
that purpose from among settlers in the West, where pro-
French sympathies ran high. Refusing an order of the U.S.
government to relinquish his French commission, Clark
fled to St. Louis.

In 1803 he moved into a cabin at Clarksville, across
the Ohio River from Louisville. In 1809 poor health and
the amputation of his right leg forced Clark to move in
with his sister Lucy at her home, Locust Grove, near
Louisville. There he died in 1818.

—Sean R. Busick
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CLARK, WILLIAM
(1770-1838)

orn the ninth of ten children to John and Ann
C‘\B (Rogers) Clark on August 1, 1770, William
Clark spent the first fourteen years of his life
on the family’s Caroline County, Virginia, plantation.
Drawn by brother George Rogers Clark’s tales of the
Ohio Valley, the Clark family relocated to a new planta-
tion called Mulberry Hill near present-day Louisville,
Kentucky.
Growing up a planter’s son on the Virginia and Ken-
tucky frontiers, William Clark had a rich military her-
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itage. Following his brothers’ examples, he engaged in
military service, first in the militia and then the regular
army. In 1792, President George Washington commis-
sioned Clark a lieutenant of infantry. Under the com-
mand of General Anthony Wayne, Clark assisted in
building and supplying a string of forts throughout Ohio
before commanding an elite rifleman corps that saw
action at the Battle of Fallen Timbers. Clark, a slave-
owner, resigned his commission in 1796 to return home
and care for his aging parents and to manage the family
estate.

In 1803 he received his now-famous invitation to
greatness by his friend Meriwether Lewis. Clark agreed
to co-command an expedition envisioned by President
Jefferson whose primary purposes included exploring the
country west of the Mississippi and, if possible, ascer-
taining the feasibility of a commercial route to the Pacific.
The Lewis and Clark Expedition traversed a continent
and established U.S. claims from St. Louis to the Pacific.
Although Captain Lewis was officially in charge of the
Corps of Discovery, Clark trained the men and operated
as the expedition’s principal cartographer and waterman.
He gained an appreciation for the tremendous diversity
of Indian cultures and was often the more skillful of the
co-commanders in Indian negotiations. President Bill
Clinton granted Clark a posthumous captain’s commis-
sion in the year 2000.

Following the expedition’s return to St. Louis, Presi-
dent Jefferson appointed Clark a federal Indian agent.
From 1807 to 1838, Clark served as the most important
representative of the federal government to the Indian
nations in the West. He was perhaps the most seasoned
and accomplished person ever to serve in this position,
personally signing thirty-seven (or one-tenth) of all
treaties ratified between the Indians and the United
States.

As principal Indian agent for the Louisiana Territory,
Clark promoted the government factory system to pro-
vide Indians goods at cost and to establish friendships
with tribes in the Midwest and on the Great Plains.
Clark’s efforts to quell hostilities during the War of 1812
by building a string of frontier blockhouses and
patrolling the area with mounted rangers achieved mod-
erate success. As brigadier general of the territorial mili-
tia, he rose to the challenge of reorganizing that body into
a respectable fighting force. He sought to win over the
allegiance of tribes along the upper Missouri and Missis-
sippi by promoting the government factory system. He
also promoted commercial fur trading far from white set-
tlement and joined Manuel Lisa as a partner of the Mis-
souri Fur Company in 1809.

Clark designed Fort Osage, the future starting point of
the Santa Fe Trail. During the War of 1812, President
James Monroe commissioned Clark as Missouri’s first
territorial governor, a position Clark occupied from 1813
to 1820. Governor Clark acted as ex officio superintend-
ent of Indian affairs, and he kept Missouri’s far-reaching



frontier settlements relatively safe during the War of
1812. One of his first duties involved combating British
forces among the Indians in the upper Mississippi Valley.
He led a campaign up the Mississippi to capture Prairie
du Chien, hoping to reduce British influence there.
Clark’s victory asserted American control over the upper
Mississippi, but it was fleeting; a combined British and
Indian force recaptured the area shortly thereafter.
Despite the setback, Clark successfully elicited peace
from the tribes represented at the 1815 Portage des Sioux
Treaty Council.

Governor Clark supervised the removal of tribes
located within the boundaries of the Missouri and
Arkansas Territories. He helped land-grant holders pro-
tect their claims, and he assisted new immigrants by
extinguishing Indian title through treaty and accurate
surveys. Despite these efforts to establish peace and
release Indian holdings, some Missourians felt him too
sympathetic to the Indians, a perception that cost him the
state’s first governorship.

After being defeated by Alexander McNair in Mis-
souri’s inaugural gubernatorial election, Clark was
appointed superintendent of Indian affairs in 1822 by
President Monroe. In that new position he was head-
quartered at St. Louis, on the cusp of a colonial empire
rapidly expanding and on the edge of threatened Indian
civilizations. There Clark found a middle ground
between the changing forces revolutionizing the frontier
and the Indian nations already living there. Clark exer-
cised jurisdiction over Western tribes and Eastern nations
being removed west of the Mississippi River. He
expressed great sympathy for those removed tribes and
promoted their interests as he understood them. Never-
theless, Clark agreed with and helped implement Indian
removal. His ethnocentrism caused him to reject the idea
that Indians could maintain their identity and culture
within the advancing frontier.

Clark’s evolving Indian policy consisted of executing
federal policy by being friendly but firm and helping
Indians all that he could when they cooperated while
punishing warlike or unreceptive nations. He endeav-
ored to secure Indian friendship in a way he thought
most beneficial to them and the most effectual and eco-
nomical to the United States. Clark felt that commerce
exercised a powerful influence on Indian actions. There-
fore he promoted St. Louis’s greatest commercial enter-
prise—the fur trade.

Superintendent Clark issued trading licenses, removed
unauthorized persons from Indian country, and confis-
cated illegal alcohol. Clark extended patronage to Amer-
ican fur traders, artists, and explorers, who in turn
assisted him in his mission by establishing friendly rela-
tions with numerous tribes. They gathered ethnographic
and geographic information for Clark’s monumental map
of the West and assisted in transporting Indian delega-
tions, visitors, and annuities up and down the river.
Unfortunately, the fur trade brought harmful conse-

Coleader of the Lewis and Clark Expedition, William Clark
later served with distinction as the governor of Missouri
Territory.

quences, too. Unscrupulous traders found their way into
Indian country, where they swindled, maligned, and
debauched some Indians through the use of liquor and
deceptive trading practices. Clark asked the government
to revise the Trade and Intercourse Laws to give him and
his agents real authority to take decisive action against
the perpetrators.

Perhaps it was in the realm of policy-making, how-
ever, that Clark made his greatest contributions. Clark
was the most experienced and knowledgeable govern-
ment official in the trans-Mississippi West. From the
government’s perspective, Clark served as an able
administrator of federal policy who offered helpful sug-
gestions in fine-tuning it to match the realities of the
frontier. In a time of expanding bureaucratic control, he
contributed to and modified portions of the Indian Civ-
ilization Act of 1819. His efforts to modify the factory
system fell on deaf ears in Washington, and the system
collapsed. Clark and Lewis Cass did, however, make sig-
nificant contributions in efforts to modify the laws and
regulations governing Indian affairs. Their report con-
tributed to the Indian Removal Act of 1830, the revision
of the Trade and Intercourse Laws, and the reorganiza-
tion of the entire Indian Bureau in 1834. That year,
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Clark retained his influential position in St. Louis despite
being in his sixties.

In the controversial and often repulsive business of
Indian removal, Clark was more involved than history
has credited him. A Jeffersonian man in a Jacksonian
world, he indeed thought it best to congregate the tribes
in order to minimize Indian-white conflict. He tried to
enforce the trade and intercourse laws to protect the
tribes from the evils of alcohol and dishonest traders. He
worked incessantly to establish clear Indian-white
boundaries and even served a term as acting surveyor
general of Illinois, Missouri, and the Arkansas Territory
from 1824 to 1825. He sought to evict squatters on
Indian lands and to keep settlers from rushing pell-mell
into them by insisting that the government purchase the
lands first.

More often than not, he was the one sent to negoti-
ate the purchase. Over the course of his career, millions
of acres passed from Indian to white ownership by his
own hand. Whether the government took Indian land by
treaty or by war, the results were often similar. Some-
times he used threats to accomplish the government’s
goals, but, unlike Jackson, he did not turn to force in
evicting Indians from their lands. Clark was responsible
for making things work out for the government at the
least possible expense. To his credit, the Indians regarded
Clark as their friend, and they gave him their highest
respect. In return, he made the bitter pill of removal a lit-
tle easier to swallow and did what he could to improve
conditions during their removals and upon their arrival
at their destination.

As an agent of empire, Clark promoted economic and
political expansion of the republic, secured its western
and northern borders, and assisted in the growth and
expansion of the fur trade and the overland trails. He
was a patron of the arts, and he supported the establish-
ment of schools, the growth of banks, and the incorpo-
ration of cities. Clark invested in real estate, maintained
one of the first museums in the West, and promoted
other economic and cultural endeavors in St. Louis and
the surrounding region.

William Clark was a devoted family man. His wife,
Julie Hancock, bore him five children: Meriwether,
William, Mary, George, and John. Following her death
he married Harriet Kennerly Radford, a widow, and
they had three children: Jefferson, Edmond, and Harri-
ett. He also adopted Sacagawea’s two children, Jean
Baptiste and Lizette Charbonneau, and offered assis-
tance to religious groups, missionaries, explorers, and
travelers. He did much to expand the geographical
knowledge of the continent.

Clark was one of America’s great statesmen. For more
than three decades, Clark’s service as the federal govern-
ment’s official representative to Indian nations west of the
Mississippi placed him in a key position to encourage
expanding trade networks, temper white settlement, and
oversee Indian affairs—important themes that affected
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Missouri, the West, and the entire nation. In addition to
his contributions as coleader of America’s most famous,
and perhaps most important, expedition, Clark’s tenure
as superintendent of Indian affairs has created his legacy
as antebellum America’s most influential representative
of Indian affairs.

—Jay H. Buckley
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CLINTON, GEORGE
(1739-1812)

evolutionary War soldier, seven-term gover-
C’;% nor of New York, and twice-elected vice pres-

ident, George Clinton was a member of one of
New York’s most powerful families. As vice president,
Clinton found himself isolated from the Jefferson admin-
istration, yet he was elected again in 1808 when James
Madison won the presidency. Clinton opposed the Con-
stitution and a strong federal government, but he took no
active role in the Louisiana Purchase.

Born in New York in 1739, Clinton served in the colo-
nial militia, studied law, was admitted to the bar, sided
with the revolutionary cause, rose to general, and was
elected to the Second Continental Congress. He was a
surprise victor in New York’s gubernatorial race in 1777
and held the position for six successive terms. Clinton
also enjoyed the support and friendship of New York’s
influential Livingston family. Yet for all of his patriotism
and success as one of George Washington’s brightest sup-
porters, Clinton was an ardent opponent of the ratifica-
tion of the Constitution. Clinton based his opposition to
a strong federal government on two issues: the commerce
power and a deep concern over the loss of state sover-
eignty. With New York City’s natural harbor, Clinton
was aware of the trade advantage New York had over
neighboring states, an advantage he feared would be sac-
rificed to a federal government with the power to regu-
late commerce. No less of an issue was the potential loss
of state sovereignty under the proposed constitution.



Given those factors, Clinton rallied support against state
ratification of the federal charter.

Under the pseudonym “Cato,” Clinton penned seven
letters critical of the Constitution, citing opposition to
biennial elections for a congress, state legislative election
of upper-house (Senate) representatives, continuance of
the slave trade, and a standing army. Published in the
New York Journal, Clinton’s comments drew rebuttal
from Alexander Hamilton, who signed himself as “Cae-
sar,” in the Daily Advertiser. Despite Clinton’s efforts,
New York finally ratified the Constitution, but only after
the required nine states had voted ratification and New
Yorkers expressed fear of being left out of the newly
formed federal government.

Under duress from a state legislature dominated by
Federalists, Clinton declined to run for governor in
1795, but in 1800 he was elected for a seventh term.
Clinton had greater ambitions at the national level, and
in 1804 he was elected vice president when Thomas Jef-
ferson won re-election. As vice president, an aging Clin-
ton was generally ineffective, although he was again
elected vice president under James Madison in 1808.
Presiding over the Senate was his only contribution, and
in that role, he did very little, but in 1811 Clinton cast
the deciding vote against the recharter of the Bank of the
United States, breaking a deadlocked Senate vote. New
Hampshire Federalist senator William Plummer was
Clinton’s harshest critic, calling the vice president old,
feeble, and awkward. Future president John Quincy
Adams was also adamant about Clinton’s ineptness,
questioning the vice president’s judgment and knowledge
of Senate procedures. Adams concluded that “a worse
choice than Mr. Clinton could scarcely have been made”
for the second office. Plummer termed Clinton “unca-
pable” of presiding over the Senate and remarked that
Clinton “has no mind—no intellect—no memory—He
forgets the question—.”

George Clinton was a poor choice for vice president,
but his selection provided the balance necessary for
Republican electoral success. Despite his ineptness at the
national level, Clinton’s stance against aristocratic leader-
ship in his native New York in favor of the revolutionary
yeoman solidified his standing among New Yorkers, who
were not to be discounted in national elections. Even his
great adversary Alexander Hamilton termed Clinton the
leader of his party, and contemporaries referred to him as
“Chief” or “Chairman” or “Pharaoh,” all with the
respect due a national leader.

To Clinton, the spread of the nation into the vast
reaches of the Louisiana Territories meant loss of New
York’s trading power, a Federalist issue. Although for
years as governor a bitter enemy of New York’s aristo-
cratic rulers, Clinton and his national views were more in
line with the Federalist economic position on acquiring
Louisiana. Clinton was certainly no ally of Jefferson,
although he supported the administration. In December
of 1803, William P. Van Ness, a supporter of Clinton’s

adversary Aaron Burr, published An Examination of the
Various Charges Exhibited against Aaron Burr. Under
the pseudonym of “Aristides,” Van Ness quoted Clinton
on Jefferson as “an accommodating trimmer, who would
change with the times and bend to circumstances for the
purpose of personal promotion.” William Coleman pub-
lished significant portions of the pamphlet in the New
York Evening Post, delighting in the divisions among
leading Republicans. Although Clinton denied his char-
acterizations of Jefferson, and the president accepted the
explanation, the rift between the two was concrete. This
was not the first time that such criticisms had been aired
publicly, and Jefferson dismissed Clinton in the 1808
election, favoring Madison. Although Clinton supporters
campaigned ardently for their candidate, it was obvious
that Madison was the party’s choice. The decision to
include Clinton was made to demonstrate solidarity, a
step hardly necessary considering the rapid decline in
Federalist support. Clinton was elected, but his second
term proved no better than his first. In the spring of 1812,
a month-long illness ended with the death of the vice
president, the first to die in office.

—Boyd Childress
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COLLOT, GEORGES
HENRI VICTOR
(1750-1805)

C’;% took control of the revolutionary government of

the French republic. Under this new administra-
tion, the French government took a decidedly active
interest in efforts to re-establish a French North Ameri-
can empire. As a part of this strategy, the disposition of
Louisiana became a matter of prime interest. In previous
years, the French position on Louisiana had been, above
all else, to keep the territory out of the hands of Great
Britain. Under the Directory, the question became one of
how the French might reacquire their former colony from
Bourbon Spain.

Charles Delacroix, the Directory’s minister of foreign
relations, set in motion a plan that, if successful, might
wrest Louisiana away from Spain. Delacroix directed
Pierre Auguste Adet, the French minister to the United
States, to begin a covert effort at seeking strategic infor-
mation about Louisiana, such as its defensive capabilities
and its readiness, that could assist the French in formu-
lating a plan to recover the former colony. Additionally,
Adet was to determine how the temperate American

In October 1795 a new government, the Directory,
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diplomatic mood might change if the French republic,
rather than Bourbon Spain, possessed Louisiana.

Adet requested that General Georges Henri Victor
Collot, the former French colonial governor of Guade-
loupe, travel throughout the Ohio and Mississippi River
Valleys to gain insight on the popular mood of the day. In
his posthumously published two-volume Journey in
North America (1826), Collot wrote that he traversed
“the western imperium of the American continent” as he
did Adet’s and Delacroix’s bidding. Collot discovered
that the Spanish were intensely fearful of American
expansionism (what he termed “the American phalanx”),
and he suggested that only France was strong enough to
withhold such growth. He further reported to his superi-
ors that “as long as Spain remained in possession of
Louisiana, one of her chief objects was to hide from the
Americans whatever attractions the country might have
for them” (Collot).

Collot also devised a plan of action that could prevent
the Americans from acquiring Louisiana. It was Collot’s
opinion that the successful defense of Louisiana, regard-
less of whether Spain or France was the possessor,
depended upon forming a strategic alliance with those
U.S. settlers living in the trans-Appalachian regions of the
Old Northwest and the Old Southwest. Such a policy was
similar to the one that the Spanish had undertaken when
they placed key American frontiersmen on the Spanish
payroll and sought to encourage the formation of a con-
federation that would break with the United States and
cast its allegiance with Spain.

Such a plan was not unrealistic. Since Thomas Pinck-
ney and Manuel de Godoy had only recently negotiated
the Treaty of San Lorenzo (1795), Spain’s historic refusal
to allow the Americans access to the Mississippi River
and permission to trade their goods at the port of New
Orleans was an economic weapon that, if used correctly,
might drive the U.S. frontiersmen into the Spanish eco-
nomic orbit. If the settlers of the Ohio Valley could be
convinced that their economic interests were better suited
by an arrangement with Louisiana, it followed that their
political allegiance might be swayed as well. Collot main-
tained that “the Western states of the North American
Republic must unite themselves with Louisiana and form
in the future one single compact nation” if the Louisiana
Territory hoped to endure as anything short of a U.S. pos-
session (ibid.).

The report that Collot prepared after his 1795 journey
continued to influence French policy with regard to
Louisiana for several years. In July 1798, when the
United States and France began an undeclared naval war,
the Quasi-War, and the possibility of a full-scale conflict
loomed, the French government took a measured
response, drawing its policy from Collot’s suggestions.

Joseph Philippe Létombe, the French consul general in
the United States, advised the Directory not to declare
war upon the Americans. It was his opinion, as it was
Collot’s, that the acquisition of Louisiana, and perhaps
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the Floridas, should remain the French goal. Fighting a
war with the Americans would not serve to advance the
French imperial agenda. Létombe urged that, if war was
necessary in the Western Hemisphere, it should be fought
against Great Britain for the reacquisition of Canada.
Such a policy would win the hearty approval of the
Americans, thereby allowing the French to acquire those
lands “which the nature of things gives to us”
(DeConde).

Napoleon Bonaparte would read Collot’s report in
1800 and ponder its recommendations as he prepared to
negotiate the secret, second Treaty of San Ildefonso
(1800) that would lead to the retrocession of Louisiana
from Spain to France. Unfortunately, not all of Collot’s
observations were readily understood or accepted at the
time. He had warned in his report that no European
power was likely strong enough “to maintain itself in
Louisiana against the will of the United States” (Collot).
Perhaps it was the final recognition of that reality that
forced the first consul’s hand in 1803 and convinced him
to sell the Louisiana Territory to the United States.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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COLONY FOR FREED SLAVES

cates proposed to establish a colony for freed
slaves in the newly acquired Louisiana Territory.
Proponents of the Louisiana scheme failed to receive suf-
ficient political backing, however, and most colonization
supporters viewed Africa and Haiti as more suitable sites.
Thomas Jefferson believed that colonization was an
effective way to emancipate the slaves without precipi-
tating a civil or race war. Although he was a slave owner
who hesitated to speak out in behalf of emancipation,
Jefferson favored abolition. After the successful slave
revolt in St. Domingue (Haiti), he feared similar
upheavals in the United States, and that reinforced his
conviction that whites must dictate the terms of emanci-
pation. He also believed that blacks could never be
accepted into white society as equals because of white
racial prejudices. In Jefferson’s view, blacks and whites
composed two separate nations, and colonization was
the best means for blacks to attain liberty and equality.
Not only would slavery end but, in addition, Virginia
would be rid of its black population.

In the early nineteenth century, antislavery advo-
v/‘\\,\



Some of Jefferson’s contemporaries shared his view
that colonization should be a vital component of any
emancipation plan. In a 1789 memorandum, James Madi-
son argued that Africa was the best location for a black
colony: the interior wilderness of the United States was
too close to the westward-moving white population, and
such proximity might lead to renewed racial conflicts.
After the acquisition of Louisiana, Jefferson never consid-
ered the territory a viable site for a black colony, and he
favored Africa or newly independent Haiti. Haiti was
especially appealing to Jefferson because the cost of trans-
porting blacks would be lower. In his mind, the Haitians
also shared the same skin color, and their congenial man-
ner would allow the black colonists to enjoy the liberty
and equality they could never attain in the United States.
Most colonization advocates discounted Louisiana as a
suitable location for a colony of freed slaves.

Some disagreed, however: St. George Tucker favored
Louisiana as an ideal site for colonization. Tucker had a
distinguished career as a federal judge and professor of
law at the College of William and Mary. In an 1803 essay
he called for the abolition of slavery and recommended a
colonization project in southern Louisiana, because the
climate suited blacks. Another supporter of colonization,
James Monroe, believed that Louisiana would be a good
location for a colony. In 1805 the Virginia state legisla-
ture passed a resolution to found a colony for freed slaves
in upper Louisiana. They sent the resolution to the U.S.
Congress for consideration, but the plan never went for-
ward.

Thomas Branagan also preferred the Louisiana Terri-
tory for a colonization project. Branagan was born in
Dublin, Ireland, in 1774, and went to sea at the age of
fourteen before settling in Antigua in the 1790s to work
as an overseer on a sugar plantation. After being exposed
to slavery, in 1799 he moved to Philadelphia, where he
worked as a preacher and wrote essays advocating social
and moral reform. In an 18035 essay calling for emancipa-
tion and colonization, he concurred with Jefferson’s belief
that blacks could never hope to live as free and equal citi-
zens in white society. If a colony were not established,
emancipated blacks would inundate the North demand-
ing social services and burdening white society. That
would lead to greater social tension between blacks and
whites, and Branagan feared the unleashing of an
upheaval similar to the Haitian slave revolt. He selected
Louisiana as an ideal place for a colony of freed slaves
because of its availability of land, and he believed that the
climate was congenial to the nature of blacks. As he envi-
sioned it, each colonist would receive a plot of land, and
the states would pay for the emigration costs. The federal
government would appoint a black governor, judges, and
magistrates to govern the colony. Branagan’s plan failed to
win backing, and the selection of Louisiana never enjoyed
widespread support among colonization adherents.

Africa was more appealing because of its distance
from the United States. Founded in 1816 and based in

Washington, D.C., the American Colonization Society
(ACS) bought land in Africa and named the colony
Liberia. The ACS sent about twelve thousand African
Americans to the colony over the next fifty years. In later
years Abraham Lincoln focused on Haiti and Central
America as possible locations for a colony of freed slaves.
Efforts to colonize blacks in Haiti in 1860 and 1863
failed miserably, and U.S. negotiators never obtained con-
sent from Central American governments to establish a
colony. Passage of the Fourteenth Amendment put an end
to serious colonization projects.

—Mark Thomason
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COLORADO

rganized as a territory in 1861, Colorado later
@O became the thirty-eighth state of the Union on

August 1, 1876, thus earning its nickname of
“Centennial State.” The territory shared the rectangular
shape of the state, from 102 degrees longitude in the east
over the Rockies to 109 degrees longitude, and from 37
degrees latitude in the south to 41 degrees in the north,
encompassing 104,100 square miles. Early Coloradans
achieved these boundaries at considerable cost to the
neighboring territories of Utah, New Mexico, Kansas, and
Nebraska, which each yielded land to create the near per-
fect rectangle of present-day Colorado. Although Col-
orado is usually regarded as a mountain state, one-third of
the state actually falls within the Great Plains. The Rocky
Mountains fill the central two-fifths of the state, while the
Colorado Plateau, located along the state’s western
boundary, occupies about one-fifth.

Spain was the first European power to claim the
region. Spaniards exploring northward from Santa Fe
found a mighty river and named it Colorado (“ruddy”)
for the reddish silt burden it carried, and the name stuck
to the area. Spanish influence remains in other romantic
names, such as the Sangre de Christo (“Blood of Christ”)
Mountains and the Dolores River (“River of Sorrows”).
Early Spanish explorers found a region that had been
inhabited for thousands of years. The Anasazi had lived
in southwestern Colorado for more than one thousand
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013794, A FIKES PEAK PROSPEGTOR

The Pike’s Peak gold rush of 1859 attracted many prospectors and settlers to relocate to Colorado.

years before Europeans arrived. These “ancient ones”
made homes both on valley floors and later in unique cliff
dwellings that remain preserved in Mesa Verde National
Park and other historic sites. Their life as agriculturists in
an arid region was often difficult. Perhaps because of cli-
mate changes that affected rainfall, these people aban-
doned the region abruptly, long before European contact.

Although the Pueblo peoples of the southwest count
the Anasazi as their ancestors, people of entirely different
ancestry and language lived in the Rocky Mountains. The
Ute moved into Colorado from adjacent territory in
Utah, migrating and living in small bands and leaving few
permanent marks on the land. They hunted and gathered
in the Rocky Mountains, often living at high elevations.
When these groups later moved onto the Plains they
found their expansion checked by recent arrivals coming
in from the east—the Cheyenne and Arapaho. Indigenous
peoples of both the mountains and the Plains would find
the incursions of white men to be the greatest challenge
to their existence.

Despite several expeditions, the Spanish never estab-
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lished permanent settlements in Colorado. The area did
not loom large in European expansion until the Louisiana
Purchase in 1803. When Thomas Jefferson bought
Louisiana from Napoleon, he knew little about the west-
ern regions of the tract that would become the eastern
half of Colorado. In 1806 an expedition under the com-
mand of Zebulon Pike set out from St. Louis in an
attempt rectify this ignorance. By the time Spanish sol-
diers arrested Pike and his men on the Rio Grande, they
had pushed into the Rocky Mountains, viewed (but not
ascended) the famed peak later named for their leader,
and found the source of the Arkansas River. In the face of
what proved to be insatiable U.S. curiosity for the
unknown West, Spain agreed to settle the disputed bor-
der of eastern Colorado at the Arkansas River in the
Transcontinental Treaty (1819). Another U.S. expedition,
led by Stephen Long, evaluated the region in 1820,
named Long’s Peak, and recorded the now famous assess-
ment of the Central Plains as an uninhabitable “Great
American Desert.”

Perhaps because of such pronouncements, American



interest in the Colorado region did not really develop
until the fur trapping period of the 1820s. During that
brief but intense exploitation of the fur-bearing animals
of the Rocky Mountains, hundreds of white men walked
Indian trails through every river valley and mountain
pass that might yield pelts. The trappers learned from the
indigenous peoples both where to go and how to live.
This intimate knowledge of the topography, along with
the establishment of forts (for example, Bent’s Fort,
1828), laid the foundation for the next stage of U.S.
expansion in the region.

The exploits of adventurers like John C. Frémont
sparked Eastern interest in the rugged West. By the time
of the Mexican War (1846-1848), Frémont and guide Kit
Carson had mapped northern Colorado up to Wyoming
and the Oregon Trail. When war broke out, Stephen
Kearny moved seventeen hundred soldiers from Kansas,
through eastern Colorado, down to Santa Fe, which sur-
rendered without a fight. Finally, the United States had all
the pieces of what would become the state of Colorado.

People trickled into the region as they found profitable
enterprises. By 1840 a few individuals from the New
Mexico Territory were farming in southern Colorado. In
1851 they founded San Luis in the San Luis Valley, Col-
orado’s first permanent settlement. However, Colorado
remained scarcely settled by whites until the 1860s. Then,
in one quick influx, thousands of Americans descended
upon the region, altering its course forever. The impe-
tus—gold. Once gold was found in the Pikes Peak area in
1859, it prompted a mass migration similar to Califor-
nia’s a decade earlier. The mining boom created instant
population centers, and, if they were not “civilized”
towns, at least they had a veneer of U.S. culture. Mining
camps sprang up overnight, and if the minerals held out
they eventually developed the trappings of a town,
including hotels, saloons, barbershops, and retail stores.
No matter the topography, if there was gold, people
would go. Thus Colorado boasted settlements through-
out the Rockies. Leadville, Blackhawk, and Silver Plume
are just a few of the colorful names that remain part of
Colorado’s landscape. By 1861 these newly arrived set-
tlers had gained territorial status for 66,718,000 acres,
and they settled upon the name Colorado.

The white population quickly surpassed both the
Indian and Spanish residents, who would be relegated to
minority status. The mixture of cultures present in Col-
orado from the beginnings of its political life ensured a
diverse society, but also tensions. The indigenous resi-
dents felt the power of the Americans soon after their
arrival. These residents faced a white population explo-
sion that put pressure on their game resources, their land,
and eventually their very existence. Location determined
the time of the impact, but in the end all the indigenous
peoples lost their land. The Plains dwellers felt keenly the
destruction of the bison herds upon which they had lived
and the encroachment of settlements. The Treaty of Fort
Laramie (1851) purported to guarantee the Plains to the

Cheyenne and Arapaho, but in a decade the next treaty
stripped the territory from the tribes. Denver was built on
lands that Congress had reserved for the Cheyenne and
Arapaho peoples.

Viewed by whites as an obstacle to the civilization of
the region that was demanded by Manifest Destiny,
indigenous peoples bore unbearable pressure. Expansion-
ist politicians like Governor John Evans and Colonel John
M. Chivington openly advocated extermination as the
only solution to the growing tensions between natives and
white residents. In 1864, Chivington led his men in an
attack on a sleeping Indian village at Sand Creek, where
the peace chief Black Kettle flew a U.S. flag given to him
by President Lincoln. The ensuing slaughter and dismem-
berment of men, women, and children forever stained
Colorado’s territorial history. The Ute, a group of loosely
aligned bands living in the Rockies, also encountered the
land hunger of whites. After removal efforts in the 1870s,
by 1880 the Ute had been stripped of all but 1,650 square
miles, which lasted only another two decades.

The removal of the indigenous peoples from Colorado
left its white residents free to expand. Mining continued
to be an important source of income in the territory, con-
tributing to a boom and bust type of economy. The cattle
industry, however, added a stabilizing influence after the
Civil War. Texas longhorns fattened on Plains grasses in
eastern Colorado could feed residents of Denver or be
driven to the railheads of the rapidly expanding railroads.
Technology grew to allow large-scale irrigation in the
arid area, and agriculture increased in Colorado. The fac-
tors combined to push the population up to the level
required for statehood in 1876, thus ending the era of the
Colorado Territory and opening a new chapter in the
region’s development.

—Clarissa W. Confer
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COLTER, JOHN
(c. 1775-1813)

ohn Colter, one of the youngest members of Lewis

C’;% and Clark’s Corps of Discovery, often undertook
hazardous and risky assignments during the expe-

dition. At its end in 1806, Colter returned to the Rocky
Mountains for four more years of exploring and trapping.
John Colter was born near Staunton, Virginia, and the
first recorded mention of him is upon his recruitment by
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Meriwether Lewis at Louisville, Kentucky, on October 135,
1803. His age was given as eighteen, making him the
youngest member of the party except for George Shannon.

A typical young man, Colter had problems waiting for
the expedition to begin. On March 3, 1804, he was con-
fined to quarters for ten days for drunkenness. Later that
month he was tried for mutiny for threatening to shoot
Sergeant John Ordway. Promising to be better, Colter
was released without punishment on March 29 and
declared a full member of the party on March 31. Once
the expedition began its trek, Colter’s physical strength
and enthusiasm stood him in good stead.

Colter’s value to the expedition was especially noted
when Private George Shannon failed to report back from
a hunting trip on August 26. After two days, Colter was
dispatched to search for him but was unsuccessful. Before
giving up on Shannon, Colter was sent out again on Sep-
tember 3. Fortunately, Shannon was merely lost; he
thought the expedition was ahead of him instead of
behind him. They were soon reunited.

Colter performed his tasks well, with notable skill and
bravery. He was mentioned often in the journals of the
expedition. When William Clark finally determined the
Snake River route to be impassable, it was John Colter
who carried the information to Lewis.

As the expedition was returning in 1806, it met two
men, Joseph Dickson and Forest Hancock, who had set
out to explore the Yellowstone. John Colter requested
permission to be released early from his enlistment,
which would expire on October 10. On August 17 he
was formally released, the only member of the party to be
so honored. He set out guiding Dickson and Hancock
upriver.

The spring of 1807 found John Colter floating down
the Missouri River in a dugout canoe without Hancock
or Dickson. Colter was met at the mouth of the Platte
River by Manuel Lisa’s trapping party. Lisa was thrilled
to meet Colter, and he persuaded Colter to guide his trap-
pers to the Big Horn River.

While Lisa was building Fort Raymond at the mouth
of the Big Horn, Colter was sent to meet the Crow and
other tribes south of the Yellowstone and invite them to
trade. On foot with pack and gun, Colter plunged into
country never before seen by white men. His route, while
disputed, is traced on Clark’s 1810 map. For five hundred
miles John Colter explored what is now the Big Horn
Basin. He penetrated southwest to Jackson Lake and tra-
versed what is today Yellowstone Park. He saw the gey-
sers and hot springs, called Colter’s Hell, along the Stink-
ing Waters (Shoshone) River in northern Wyoming.

The following spring, 1809, Colter explored the Three
Forks of the Missouri. This rich beaver region was
guarded by hostile Blackfoot. In a battle between the
Blackfoot and a party of Crow and Flathead, Colter sided
with the Crow and was seriously injured. He had no
more than recovered from his injuries when he returned
to the region and was captured by the Blackfoot. Stripped
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naked, he was turned loose to be run down by the Black-
foot warriors. Colter outran all but one of his pursuers;
finally turning and seizing the warrior’s spear, Colter
killed him. Colter made his way to the Hidatsa village at
the mouth of the Yellowstone and Missouri and recuper-
ated there.

The great St. Louis Missouri Fur Company Expedi-
tion of 1809 reached the village. Recruited by Andrew
Henry, Colter guided the party to Fort Raymond and
then on to Three Forks. There, on April 3, 1810, a stock-
ade was begun. Nine days later the site was attacked by
Blackfoot. After escaping from this assault, Colter left the
mountains never to return. He took up farming near
Dundee, Missouri, married, and died in 1813 of jaundice.
In a period of just six years, John Colter had lived a life
of adventure that has rarely been duplicated.

—Jerry L. Parker
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COMANCHE

Ithough they are recognized as one of the ear-
C’;% Aliest of the Plains Indian tribes to adopt the

use of the horse for hunting bison, the
Comanche were migrants who came from the West and
adopted a new culture on the High Plains during the six-
teenth century. Originally considered a branch of the
Eastern Shoshoni, the group that came to be called the
Comanche left the Great Basin region and initially settled
in the valley of the Upper Platte River in southeastern
Wyoming. For nearly a century the relatively small tribe
hunted and remained unmolested within the vast range
between the Front Range of the Rocky Mountains and
the Black Hills. When other larger tribes migrating from
the eastern woodlands began to enter the region in the
seventeenth century, the pressure of these new arrivals—
including the Arapaho, Cheyenne, and Sioux—caused
the Comanche to move farther southward into the region
of present-day New Mexico and Texas.

The Comanche were decidedly different from the
other tribes that moved into the Southern Plains. They
spoke a language that, like the Shoshoni language,
stemmed from the Uto-Aztecan branch of the Aztec-
Tanoan linguistic family. The former eastern woodlands
folk who had relocated to the region all spoke languages
associated with the Algonquian-Wakashan linguistic fam-
ily. There is some uncertainty as to the origin of the name



Comanche, but one possible explanation is that it was a
Spanish mispronunciation of the Ute name Kohmabhis
(“those who are against us”), which they had used to
identify the Comanche.

In a fashion that indicated the Comanche’s primacy to
the Southern Plains, the other tribes of the region
accepted the use of Comanche as the language of trade
and commerce throughout the area. Also, because of
their earlier adoption of the horse for hunting purposes,
the Comanche had become talented horsemen and habit-
ual raiders. They were also known as fierce warriors who
resisted both neighboring tribes as well as the arrival of
American settlers. It is believed that the Comanche killed
more whites (in proportion to the size of their own tribe)
than any other Native American group.

The Comanche were using horses by 1680, and the
mobility provided by that form of transportation allowed
the tribe to trade and raid throughout a vast region. On
occasion the Comanche were know to have extended
themselves as far as northern Mexico. A group of
Comanche were present at a trading fair that took place
in Taos in 1705. They soon became regular participants
in trade fairs held at Taos, Santa Fe, and other points
along the Spanish borderlands. The Comanche quickly
earned a reputation of trading in items that had been
taken during raids against other Plains Indian tribes. In
addition to standard trade items, the Comanche often
captured women and children who would be sold—or
ransomed—at the regional trading fairs along the south-
western frontier.

Spanish authorities in Mexico revised their colonial
policy in the 1770s when they realized that the vast Texas
frontier could not be defended effectively by the limited
military resources that were available. This retrenchment
by the Spanish provided the Comanche with a free reign
over much of northern Texas, where they quickly estab-
lished a dominant presence that belied the small number
of members who constituted the tribe. In later years, once
Texas settlers revolted and formed the Republic of Texas
(1836-1845), the Comanche continued to operate as a
semiautonomous state within a state. There were regular
skirmishes between Texans and Comanches throughout
the nine-year-long history of the Texas Republic. At one
point it was believed that the Comanche were holding as
many as 200 captives whom they had kidnaped from
Texas settlements.

Like other indigenous peoples of the Great Plains, the
Comanche eventually lost most of their traditional hunt-
ing lands as they signed treaties with U.S. authorities. In
the Treaty of the Little Arkansas River (1865) and the
Treaty of Medicine Lodge Creek (1867) bands of
Comanche signed away possession of their territory as
they agreed to be relocated to reservation lands. By clear-
ing the Comanche from the plains of northern Texas, the
U.S. government fashioned a safe corridor that would
soon be used by Texas cattlemen who drove herds of cat-
tle to northern railheads in Kansas during the “golden

age” of the American cowboy. All of the major cattle
trails that would come into use made their way across ter-
ritory that had formerly been controlled by the
Comanche.

Today about 9,000 Comanche live in the United States
on reservation land in Oklahoma.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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CONSTITUTION OF
THE UNITED STATES

he Louisiana Purchase was illegal, at least in
CaTthe eyes of Thomas Jefferson and according to

the Republican Party’s notions of strict consti-
tutional construction. Indeed, the Sage of Monticello had
no qualms about his lack of authority for acquiring the
territory, stating that “they will be obliged to ask from
the People an amendment of the Constitution.” He added
later: “I had rather ask an enlargement of power from the
nation . .. than to assume it by a constitution which
would make our powers boundless.” Then, expressing
his ultimate concern over broad construction, the presi-
dent declared: “Our peculiar security is in possession of a
written Constitution. Let us not make it a blank paper by
construction.” Notwithstanding his professed constitu-
tional scruples, Jefferson opted for political expediency
rather than lose the highly prized Louisiana Purchase
(Carson, 1992).

Jefferson had given thought to the question of its con-
stitutionality before the purchase was ever negotiated. In
January 1803, Attorney General Levi Lincoln asserted
that the territory was so important to the United States
that any action in acquiring it was justified. Additionally,
he maintained that in an earlier treaty France had agreed
to broaden the boundaries of the Mississippi and Geor-
gia Territories, and thus the purchase could be tied to
this earlier arrangement. In Lincoln’s mind, such a strat-
egy avoided constitutional difficulties regarding the
acquisition of foreign territory. Shortly after Jefferson
received this opinion, Secretary of the Treasury Albert
Gallatin assured the president that the nation had “an
inherent right to acquire territory” and that “the same
constituted authorities in whom the treaty-making
power is vested have a constitutional right to sanction
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the acquisition of territory.” Both Lincoln’s and Gal-
latin’s views were decidedly broad in nature. There
existed no specific language in the Constitution that
sanctioned the purchase (Deutsch, 1967).

Still, even though Lincoln and Gallatin argued the
purchase’s legality, Jefferson worried about expanding
the Constitution and informed his cabinet on July 16 of
the need for an amendment. In the ensuing weeks he
worked on two drafts, both of which authorized the pur-
chase and defined Indian rights, in addition to creating
an Indian zone above the thirty-first parallel. The second
draft added a provision authorizing the future acquisi-
tion of Florida. Neither amendment was ever sent to
Congress.

On August 17, Jefferson’s constitutional ethics were
laid aside when he received a letter from U.S. minister to
France Robert Livingston stating that Napoleon had
changed his mind and wanted to void the purchase
agreement. Just five days later the president wrote to
Gallatin, directing him to prepare for a transfer of stock
in order to pay France, and added that “it will be well to
say as little as possible on the constitutional difficulty,
and that Congress should act on it without talking”
(ibid.).

When Congress met on October 17, Jefferson deliv-
ered his third annual address and made the official
announcement of the purchase treaty with France,
impressing upon the Senate the importance of a speedy
ratification. He never mentioned the issue of constitu-
tionality. The Senate received the treaty the same day,
and on October 20 ratified it by a vote of 24 to 7. On
October 26 it passed legislation for taking control of the
territory and setting up a government.

There was really little doubt of the treaty’s approval.
Republicans dominated both houses of Congress, and
Jefferson had, as usual, worked behind the scenes to
ensure party solidarity. The only people unhappy with
the purchase were New England Federalists. One histo-
rian notes that it was not really the issue of constitution-
ality that upset Federalists—indeed, they were the archi-
tects of broad construction. Rather, it was Jefferson’s
and the South’s plan to “force New England Federalism
into a position of perpetual minority” (Brent, 1968).

Thus Federalists attacked every aspect of the pur-
chase in an attempt to halt the floodwaters of ascendant
Republicanism. During the treaty discussions in the Sen-
ate, Federalists William Wells and James Hillhouse ques-
tioned the legality of France’s title to Louisiana.
Napoleon had acquired the territory from Spain in the
Treaty of San Ildefonso (1800), but it had clearly stipu-
lated that France was not to cede Louisiana to another
country. On November 1, Spain sent a letter of protest
to the United States.

House Federalists attempted the same strategy when
discussing the bill providing funds and authorizing the
occupation and governing of the territory. Roger Gris-
wold requested a copy of the San Ildefonso Treaty and
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any correspondence between the U.S. and Spanish gov-
ernments. His strategy was not only clever but also effec-
tive. Fearing that they might spend $15 million for land
they could never legally own, many Republicans voted in
favor of looking at the French-Spanish treaty.

On October 25, House Federalists fired another salvo
when Gaylord Griswold questioned the constitutionality
of the purchase. In light of the fact that there existed no
authority for the acquisition of foreign territory, he
insisted that the House should refuse passing any meas-
ures connected to the purchase. Republicans rose to the
challenge by advocating broad construction. John Ran-
dolph of Roanoke, an ultrastrict constructionist in ear-
lier and later days, argued that the president had the
right to expand the nation’s territories through the
treaty-making powers. Next, Caesar Rodney revealed
the ultimate Republican betrayal of strict construction,
insisting that the Constitution did not specifically pre-
vent the acquisition of territory and that it could be
authorized under the general welfare clause.

The House debates never endangered the Louisiana
Purchase. Republicans easily passed the bill for purchas-
ing, occupying, and governing the territory. Federalists,
however, continued to grumble. Senator Timothy Pick-
ering once again questioned the deal’s constitutionality
and declared that even an amendment would not author-
ize such a powerful act. Explaining the contractual
nature of the Constitution, he argued that each member
of the contract, the original states, would have to
approve the purchase. Pickering’s last-ditch effort to kill
the most momentous piece of legislation in Jefferson’s
presidency was to no avail. Still, Pickering’s enmity
would not cease, and signifying the final role reversal in
Federalist-Republican ideology, he turned to the Ken-
tucky and Virginia Resolutions for a remedy. In a wave
of letters to New England Federalists, he advocated the
creation of a separate Northern confederacy. Pickering’s
plea represented the dying gasp of Federalist opposition
to the purchase.

Few will doubt the importance of the Louisiana Pur-
chase. But those who look for ideological consistency on
the part of Jefferson and the Republicans will be disap-
pointed. According to the dictates of strict construction,
the Purchase was illegal. And as one critic has noted, Jef-
ferson “had an utterly exquisite constitutional con-
science when he was not in power” (ibid.).

—Matthew S. Warshauer
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CONVENTIONS

See individual conventions listed by location

CONVENTION OF 1818

his international agreement between the
C/':\TUnited States and Great Britain was the result

of efforts to partition the Oregon Country, the
territory on the northwestern flank of the Louisiana Pur-
chase. The Oregon Country extended westward from the
Rocky Mountains to the Pacific Coast and northward
from the limit of Spanish California at the line of 42
degrees north latitude to Russian possessions in Alaska at
54 degrees 40 minutes north latitude. Following the War
of 1812 and the Treaty of Ghent (1814), this was a sig-
nificant test for Anglo-American relations in an era of
colonial expansion by both parties. In negotiations lead-
ing up to the agreement, the crux of the territorial dispute
was the region from the Lower Columbia River north to
the line of 49 degrees north latitude (the northern bound-
ary of present-day Washington state). Great Britain pro-
posed the river as a demarcation line because it sought to
safeguard the commercial interests of the Hudson’s Bay
Company in the region. The American delegation
rejected this offer, because the United States coveted the
harbors from the Strait of Juan de Fuca to Puget Sound,
the only safely navigable harbor region north of Spanish
Mexico (the entrance to the Columbia River being a
treacherous bar harbor).

When both nations finally signed the Convention of
1818, they agreed to a ten-year joint occupancy, a com-
promise position that ensured citizens of both countries
freedom of trade and movement in the Oregon Country.
In the beginning the convention was primarily beneficial
to the British, since the Hudson’s Bay Company had a sig-
nificant presence in the region. Following the War of
1812, which neutralized John Jacob Astor’s Pacific Fur
Company, and the acquisition of the Montreal-based
North West Company in 1821, the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany retained a monopoly on the fur trade in the Oregon
Country that lasted into the 1840s.

Near the end of the initial ten-year limit for the origi-
nal convention, the United States and Great Britain
returned to the bargaining table. However, for a second
time they proved unable to reach a permanent settlement
on the Oregon question, because the issue of territorial
sovereignty remained unresolved. For their part, British
negotiators sought to resist what they perceived as Amer-
ican aggression, while the Americans wished to curb
British imperialism in the Western Hemisphere. As a
result, in August 1827 both governments renewed the
agreement for an indefinite period on the condition that
it could be rescinded following a twelve-month notice by
either nation. In the spirit of the original convention, both
parties agreed that neither nation claimed exclusive juris-

diction, nor would either establish any type of territorial
government in the region.

By the mid-1840s, historical realities had shifted, bol-
stering American claims to the region. In 1844, James K.
Polk was elected to the presidency on the Democrats’
expansionist platform, which called for the “reannexa-
tion of Texas and the reoccupation of Oregon.” That
same year, fifteen hundred Americans traveled to the
Pacific Northwest on the Oregon Trail, and the following
year another twenty-five hundred made the journey west.
In 1845 the expansionist rhetoric reached a fever pitch
following the popularization of the campaign slogan
“54°40' or Fight,” and the great congressional debate on
Oregon that lasted for nearly five months, from Decem-
ber 1845 to April 1846.

These developments strengthened Polk’s position at a
time when the American claim on present-day Washing-
ton state was tenuous because of a lack of American set-
tlement north of the Columbia. When the Hudson’s Bay
Company announced plans to relocate its Pacific head-
quarters from the Columbia to Vancouver Island, the
British cabinet was willing to accept 49 degrees north lat-
itude as the demarcation line. Great Britain and the
United States reached a permanent settlement in June
1846, when the international boundary treaty was
signed, establishing the current Canadian-American bor-
der. With this agreement each power acquired an outlet
to the Pacific and each established territorial sovereignty
over one-half of the approximately half a million square
miles that had composed the original Oregon Country.

The Joint Occupancy Convention of 1818 must be
understood in light of the history of British imperialism in
North America; the Monroe Doctrine, which sought to
limit European colonization in the Western Hemisphere;
and U.S. westward expansionism. With the Louisiana
Purchase, President Thomas Jefferson secured the vast
tract of land in the central portion of the North American
continent. In the Convention of 1818, the United States
laid claim to the adjoining region that could give the
nation territorial interests from coast to coast, with a har-
bor on the northern Pacific slope being a key component
in the country’s dreams of empire.

The Convention of 1818 also established the northern
boundary of the Louisiana Purchase Territory when it
fixed the boundary between the United States and Canada
at 49 degrees north latitude, from Lake of the Woods, in
present-day Minnesota, to the crest of the Rocky Moun-
tains. This part of the agreement was an equitable land
swap: portions of the Mississippi River drainage basin
above 49 degrees north latitude were transferred to Cana-
dian authority, and lands within the basin of the Red
River of the North, which drained northward toward
Hudson’s Bay, became a part of U.S. territory.

—Melinda Marie Jetté

See also
Astor, John Jacob
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CORDERO Y BUSTAMENTE,
MANUEL ANTONIO
(1753-1823)

anuel Antonio Cordero y Bustamente, a
C/':\ M learned gentleman, served Spain on the

frontier of New Spain beginning in 1793,
where he distinguished himself as an Indian fighter. As
governor of Texas from 1805 to 1808, he was involved
in issues surrounding the boundary between Louisiana
and the province of Texas after the Louisiana Purchase.
Arriving in San Antonio in the summer of 1805 as assis-
tant to Governor Elquezabal, who was ill, one of his first
assignments was an inspection tour of Spanish outposts
in eastern Texas. Bayou Pierre (Arroyo Hondo) near Los
Adaes (the capital of Spanish Texas until 1773) was the
easternmost site. Cordero established the Villa Santisima
Trinidad de Salcedo near Los Adaes (near present-day
Robeline, Louisiana).

After the Louisiana Purchase (1803), it was readily
apparent that problems would soon result, since the west-
ern limits of Louisiana had never been fixed. The United
States contended that the boundary between Texas and
Louisiana was the Sabine River. On February 5, 1806,
U.S. troops appeared at Los Adaes and attempted to
force Spanish troops to withdraw to the Sabine River.
Although the soldiers at Los Adaes refused, the soldiers
at the two smaller Spanish outposts east of the Sabine
River, at Comichi and La Nana, did retreat to the west-
ern side of the River. As Spain did not want to engage in
war with the United States, Cordero proposed an agree-
ment designating the territory between the Arroyo
Hondo and the Sabine a “neutral ground” until the
boundary questions could be resolved. Nonetheless, in
1806, U.S. personnel did make exploratory trips up the
Red River into Spanish territory. The U.S. expedition was
successfully halted.

—Alfred Lemmon
See also
Los Adaes; Neutral Ground; Wilkinson, James
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CORPS OF DISCOVERY

hen President Thomas Jefferson won
?Wapproval from Congress to fund a small

expeditionary party to document the
uncharted West, he first dubbed the faction the Corps of
Discovery. Jefferson appointed his personal friend and
secretary Captain Meriwether Lewis as the first corps
member and named him to head the government expedi-
tion. Lewis followed up by asking his former military
leader William Clark to co-command the expedition;
Clark readily accepted. Lewis and Clark then selected
men to compose the Corps of Discovery based on leader-
ship and interpreting skills, hunting prowess, specialized
craftsmanship, and frontier adeptness.

Secretary of War Henry Dearborn initially suggested
only twelve members, because of the expedition’s small
budget and the fear that the presence of too many troops
would provoke Indian hostility, but Lewis quickly dis-
covered that more men were needed to navigate the boats
on the voyage. When Lewis met Clark in Clarksville,
Indiana (opposite Louisville), they recruited enlisted sol-
diers who volunteered from nearby army outposts and
continued to register troops in St. Louis. By the spring of
1804, the corps voyaged up the Missouri River with
forty-five members. Some military personnel and local
boatmen were recruited to go only part of the way. Only
thirty-three members would travel from Fort Mandan
(North Dakota) to the Pacific Ocean and return in 1806:
the thirty-three members plus Lewis’s Newfoundland
dog, Seaman, would form the permanent party.

The corps’s permanent party had two captains, three
sergeants, twenty-three privates, and five nonmilitary
members. The group included members who were white,
black, Native American, and of mixed ancestry. Among
the nonmilitary members was William Clark’s lifelong
slave, York, who, among his other duties, voted when
corps decisions were made and completely awed the
Indian men, women, and children who had never before
seen a black man. Jean Baptiste LePage and Toussaint
Charbonneau, French-Canadian fur traders, joined the
Corps of Discovery at Fort Mandan in 1804, after the dis-
missal of Privates Moses Reed and John Newman for
desertion and mutinous acts. Charbonneau and his
teenage Shoshoni wife, Sacagawea, who gave birth to a
son at Fort Mandan named Jean Baptiste, were used as
interpreters and guides. Sacagawea became an invaluable
member by guiding the corps over the mountains and eas-
ing native hostility. Toussaint Charbonneau was the oldest
corps member, at the age of forty-seven, while the
youngest member was his son, who was only fifty-five
days old when the group departed from Fort Mandan for
the Pacific Ocean in April 1805. Another useful inter-
preter, hunter, and guide for the corps was George Drouil-
lard, who was a métis, half French and half Shawnee.

Each private selected to the corps had a specific exper-
tise plus frontier ingenuity. The privates came from all



Meriwether Lewis, who had formerly been personal secre-
tary to president Thomas Jefferson, adapted to his new role
as co-commander of the Corps of Discovery.

parts of the United States, and some were French-Cana-
dian as well. Among the enlisted men was Private Pierre
Cruzatte, who was a proficient waterman and interpreter,
but also played the violin. John Shields was chosen by
merit, but also by his capability as a gunsmith, blacksmith,
and boat builder, while Private John Colter was a quick-
minded frontiersman and hunter who later became the
first white man to view Yellowstone Park and its geysers.

The only officers under Captains Lewis and Clark were
sergeants. The only member to die on the Lewis and Clark
Expedition was Sergeant Charles Floyd, Jr., who died near
present-day Sioux City, lowa, of a ruptured appendix. A
carpenter from Pennsylvania, Patrick Gass, became a
commissioned sergeant in Floyd’s place. The two remain-
ing sergeants, Nathaniel Pryor (Floyd’s cousin) and John
Ordway, issued provisions, appointed guards, kept jour-
nals, and were assigned army administration.

The sergeants, privates, and nonmilitary members
cooked the meals, built the camps, manned the boats,
interpreted the native languages, and portaged the sup-
plies without fanfare. Captains Lewis and Clark molded
unruly men to be tough, disciplined, and steadfastly
loyal—all without protest. Even when morale was low or
they disagreed with the captains’ decisions, the corps
never openly challenged them.

The tattered Corps of Discovery returned to St. Louis
as national heroes, but they soon went their separate
ways. Many stayed in the Louisiana Territory, while oth-
ers headed to their homes in the East. Little is known
about the corps after the expedition, except that numer-
ous members died young. The Congress offered the
corps’s soldiers double pay plus 320 Louisiana acres,
while Lewis and Clark received 1,600 acres each. Despite
Jefferson’s naming of the unit the Corps of Discovery,
Sergeant Patrick Gass holds claim to popularizing the
term “Corps of Discovery” by displaying it on his 1807
published journal.

—Nathan R. Meyer

See also

Lewis and Clark Expedition
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COUNCIL BLUFFS, IOWA

ocated on the Missouri River in southwestern
P
C'\\,\ I

Iowa, across from Omaha, Nebraska, the city
of Council Bluffs has served as an agriculture
and railroad center since the mid-nineteenth century.

A village of Toway Indians occupied the site of the
present-day city when Meriwether Lewis and William
Clark arrived in 1804. The U.S. explorers met with rep-
resentatives of the Missouri and Otoe Indian tribes north
of the present city at a bluff near present-day Fort Cal-
houn, Nebraska. This council with the Indians led Lewis
and Clark to name the area Council Bluff. Early traders
and government officials would later refer to the area
between the mouth of the Platte River and Lewis and
Clark’s meeting site as “the Council Bluffs.”

The first trading post in what is now Council Bluffs
may have appeared as early as 1824, with the establish-
ment of a post at “Hart’s Bluffs.” The United States
secured the Council Bluffs area after several Indian tribes
ceded their claim to the territory in an 1830 treaty. Pot-
tawattamie Indians were assigned to this land after sur-
rendering their territory in Indiana and Illinois in an 1833
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treaty. Mistakes on the part of emigration agents of the
Indian Bureau led to the tribe’s settling briefly in western
Missouri (near Fort Leavenworth) before being redi-
rected to southwestern Iowa in 1837. In that year a
blockhouse was constructed and a Pottawattamie village
was established at the site of present-day Council Bluffs.

Father Pierre-Jean De Smet began a Jesuit mission at
the blockhouse in May of 1838. De Smet was transferred
a year later, and the mission was abandoned during the
summer of 1841. In 1842 troops under Captain John
H. K. Burgwin were sent to the area to defend the
Potawattomi from the Sioux, who were threatening war.
Burgwin established a cantonment about five miles south
of the blockhouse. Originally named Camp Fenwick, it
was renamed Fort Croghan before being abandoned in
October 1843.

Mormons arrived in the area in June 1846 after being
expelled from their settlement in Nauvoo, Illinois. A
Mormon village established near the blockhouse was
briefly named Miller’s Hollow. By request of Brigham
Young, a post office was established there in 1848, and
by resolution the name of the village was changed to
Kanesville. The name was in honor of Colonel Thomas
Lieper Kane of Philadelphia. During their stay in
Kanesville, hundreds of Mormons were recruited by the
U.S. government to serve in the war with Mexico. As
gold seekers headed west to California in 1849, the vil-
lage became known as an important outfitting post. The
population of the village got as high as seven thousand
before most of the Mormon settlers left to continue their
journey west.

Upon the incorporation of the city by act of the lowa
legislature in 1853, the city’s name was changed from
Kanesville to Council Bluffs, in honor of Lewis and
Clark’s council with the Indians. The city of Council
Bluffs was also made the seat of Pottawattamie County.
In 1859 the city was chosen as the eastern terminus of the
Union Pacific Railroad—the first transcontinental rail-
road in the United States.

—]. Brent Etzel

See also
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COUREURS DE BOIS

oureurs de bois is a French term that means
C/\-‘;\\ “woods-runners.” These were the men who
secured furs from the American Indians and
ordinarily sold them to government-licensed agents in
Montreal, Quebec, and other designated points in New
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France. The fur trade in the seventeenth and eighteenth
centuries was one of the most lucrative markets for
investment in North America, because European clothing
fashions demanded an extensive use of furs, not only for
warmth but also for ornamentation. This style of adorn-
ment remained popular well into the nineteenth century.

The Louisiana Territory was not the first to face the
onslaught of fur traders. The French had encouraged this
economic activity since their arrival in the early 1600s
and had organized it under mercantilistic principles of
governmental control. By the end of the seventeenth cen-
tury they created, or at least oversaw, a system that
extended from the political and demographic centers of
New France (that is, Montreal and Quebec) to the Rocky
Mountains.

A certain hierarchy had become obvious by the end of
that century. At the top, the fermiers directed distant
posts with royal permits to underscore their political and
economic position, and they could even call upon their
allied Indians to assist them in wars against the British.
Their position resembled that of the tax farms in Old
Regime France. Under the “control” of the fermiers were
the coureurs de bois, who ordinarily acted as middlemen
by trading directly with the Indians. They, however,
needed some capital or accessible credit, for they had to
supply their canoes with merchandise that could be
traded with the Indians for furs. It must be noted that a
round-trip expedition often required more than a year,
which time included the construction of special winter
quarters. Many of the coureurs de bois were sons of
habitants, settlers in New France, who were attracted by
the freedom of action in the wilderness and the oppor-
tunities for wealth not apparent with the relatively poor
soils of the St. Lawrence River Valley. These men were
renowned for their independence of action, while those
“beneath” them, the voyageurs, ordinarily had the skill
and financial acumen of the coureurs de bois but lacked
the financial support, depending heavily therefore on the
more economically resourceful superiors in the hierar-
chy. They were regarded as agents of the government.
The coureurs de bois and voyageurs were often looked
upon as lawless and untrustworthy, especially to their
creditors, since it was easy for them to slip into the
woods and trade with the British, thereby avoiding them
and government officials in Quebec. Catholic Church
leaders also castigated them for immorality, because
many of them developed intimate relationships with
Indian women without religious approbation.

The coureurs de bois at first focused on the St.
Lawrence River Valley, then on the Great Lakes basin,
and eventually, by the early 1700s, on the Louisiana Ter-
ritory. They were the first European explorers of that vast
region, which stretched from Hudson Bay in the north to
New Orleans, near the Gulf of Mexico. Although they
worked usually without the aid of maps, they nonetheless
charted the region through their diaries or logs and ver-
bal testimony to their contemporaries. One of the most



remarkable of this variety was Pierre de la Vérendrye,
who not only created a successful fur trade network
between the Saskatchewan and Missouri Rivers but also
explored, via the river systems, what became two Cana-
dian provinces, Manitoba and Saskatchewan, and at least
three American states, North Dakota, South Dakota, and
Minnesota. His hope was to find a route to the Pacific
from the Northern Plains, a plan that eluded him and his
successors for more than seven decades until the historic
Lewis and Clark Expedition in the early nineteenth cen-
tury. He died unexpectedly in December 1749 at the age
of sixty-four while preparing for yet one more major
expedition to the West. The activities of the coureurs de
bois and the voyageurs remain apparent today with the
survival of many place names in the Northern Plains,
especially Montana.

Until the Seven Years’ War, known in North America
as the French and Indian War, the fur trade was the prin-
cipal economic activity of the Louisiana Territory, espe-
cially in the north. The neighboring Spanish appeared
uninterested in it and focused primarily on their historic
centers of Mexico and Peru. Their northern territories,
such as California and Santa Fe, experienced a version of
benign neglect based primarily on their distance. The
coureurs de bois and their assistants did not establish
any significant relationships with these domains, but
maintained close ties only with the French and the
British, seeking, of course, the best financial arrange-
ments for their furs. There were some slowdowns in this
activity during the Anglo-French wars, which recom-
menced with the War of the League of Augsburg in 1689
and continued intermittently until the conclusion of the
Napoleonic conflicts more than a century later in 1815.
During the war years, the fur trade suffered a noticeable
decline, only to be revived significantly upon the
arrangement of peace. However, the most important
blow to the fur traders was William Pitt the Elder’s war
for empire, the French and Indian War, which success-
fully chased the French from continental North America
by the Treaty of Paris (1763). The coureurs de bois, as
well as the American Indians, were left in an awkward
situation with no competitors for their goods. The Span-
ish, aloof from this activity, found their subsequent
takeover of Louisiana to be financially burdensome. And
several years later, a new participant in continental
affairs appeared after the successful War for American
Independence. These new overlords of the Atlantic
seaboard and Ohio River system would preside over the
demise of the fur trade while becoming the new political
masters of Louisiana in 1803.

—Thomas C. Sosnowski
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CREE

he Cree are a group of indigenous North
CaTAmericans whose language is part of the Algo-

nquian branch of the larger Algonquian-
Wakashan family. As Canada’s largest native group, the
Cree were closely associated with the European (and later
American) trappers and traders who traversed the upper-
most portion of the Louisiana Purchase territory along
the Canadian borderlands. Because of their large num-
bers, the extensive territory that they inhabited, and the
means by which they coexisted and assimilated with
white trappers and traders, the Cree managed to preserve
their cultural identity during a time of great change.

The name Cree is a French term of unknown origin; it
may have been derived from the name Cristino or Kenis-
teno, which the Ojibwa used to identify their woodland
neighbors. When speaking of themselves in their own lan-
guage, the Cree use the name Ayisiniwok (Eythinyuwuk),
a word that means “true men.” They formerly inhabited
the area south of Hudson Bay and James Bay in what
now constitutes the provinces of Quebec, Ontario, and
the region of Manitoba south of the Churchill River.
Members of one branch of the Cree, allying themselves
with the Siouan Assiniboine, in the mid-eighteenth cen-
tury moved southwestward into buffalo territory and
became the Plains Cree. They may have introduced the
method of hunting buffalo by driving them into enclo-
sures, since the Woodland Cree used a similar method to
hunt deer. The culture and language of the Woodland
Cree greatly resembles that of the Ojibwa.

The Cree were originally forest dwellers, and as such
they found sustenance by hunting rabbit, deer, beaver,
caribou, moose, and bear in the subarctic forests that
they inhabited. It was rumored that during times of
famine they practiced cannibalism. The Cree generally
lived in woodland lodges made of bent saplings that they
covered with birch bark.

Considered by others—especially the neighboring
Blackfoot and Sioux—to be a warlike tribe, the Cree
were generally friendly toward French and British trap-
pers and traders, and their history is closely connected
with that of the fur trade—particularly with the Hudson’s
Bay and the North West Companies. Many of the Euro-
pean traders established strong ties when they took
Ojibwa or Cree wives, and the mixed-race offspring
(métis) from these unions became an influential popula-
tion along the frontier. The Cree were powerful allies in
the late eighteenth century as they traded furs to the
Europeans for weapons, traps, and other items, until they
were decimated by smallpox and measles epidemics that
drastically reduced their numbers. In 1885 some of the
Cree were involved in the second Riel Rebellion (the
Northwest Rebellion) in Saskatchewan.

Today an estimated 120,000 Cree live in the provinces
of Quebec, Ontario, Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and
Alberta. They have the largest population and are spread
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over the largest area of any indigenous group in Canada.
In 1990 there were more than 8,000 Cree who lived in
the United States, many of whom shared reservation
lands in Montana with the Ojibwa.

—Junius P. Rodriguez

See also

Fur Trapping; Ojibwa

For Further Reading

Denig, Edwin T. 1975. Five Indians Tribes of the Upper
Missouri: Sioux, Arickaras, Assiniboines, Crees, Crows.
Edited by John C. Ewers. Norman: University of Okla-
homa Press; Mason, Leonard. 1967. The Swampy Cree: A
Study in Acculturation. Ottawa: Queen’s Printer.

CREOLES

he term Creole has been defined in many ways
C/':\Tsince its inception. Spanish colonials used the

word to mean “born in the New World of
European, specifically Iberian, heritage.” As time passed,
the term came to mean anything from or anyone born in
Louisiana. The term was applied to farm produce, as in
Creole tomatoes, and livestock, as in Creole ponies. Today
the term is often defined as any person who is of French
colonial or Spanish colonial ancestry who may or may not
be of two or more races. Even within the state of
Louisiana, people have had difficulty defining the term. In
New Orleans, the term Creole was once used with accom-
panying words: Creole of Color. However, the of color
was gradually dropped, and the term Creole came to
mean biracial people living in New Orleans. Such people
were indeed accomplished and often owned land, held
vast amounts of cash, and were well-educated. In other
parts of Louisiana, whites of colonial French descent
called themselves Creoles and still do so.

One of the primary differences between Louisiana and
the larger American South that derived from French rule
may be seen in contemporary perceptions of racial cate-
gories. From the beginning of the colonial era, the French
settlers did not operate within a binary racial system with
the intent of disenfranchising people of color. Although
the remainder of the Southern region viewed race as a
binary proposition—an individual was either white and
free, or black and enslaved—because of its unique colo-
nial legacy, Louisiana’s racial system had developed quite
differently. A middle racial caste, consisting of free people
of color or mixed race people, often called gens de
couleur libre, frequently grew wealthy, purchasing sub-
stantial parcels of land that they developed into lucrative
plantations.

In northwestern Louisiana, for example, a colony of
gens de couleur libre grew and gained influence in the
region as a result of the manumission of Marie Théréze
Coincoin. Coincoin was originally a slave owned by the
St. Denis family of Natchitoches Parish, and she was

90 Creoles

granted her freedom as a result of her faithful service and
her hand in saving her mistress’s life. When (Western)
medical techniques had failed to cure Mme. St. Denis of
a terminal illness, Coincoin reportedly begged for the
opportunity to try herbal remedies and methods of folk
healing. Mme. St. Denis made a full recovery, and not
only was Coincoin set free but, in addition, the St. Denis
family assisted her in purchasing the initial parcel of land
that became the Isle Brevelle colony, where Melrose plan-
tation now stands. Coincoin started her plantation with
the help of two slaves. As Gary Mills has reported in The
Forgotten People, Coincoin “had worked hard as a slave
and she continued to do so as a free woman . . . . She was
the first in the area to recognize the suitability of Natchi-
toches soil for the cultivation of the lucrative indigo. Only
this dye, it was said, produced the desired depth of blue
for the uniforms of European armies” (Mills, 1977).
Through the toil and foresight of Coincoin, the colony
grew and prospered.

Coincoin devoted much of her energy in the first years
to gaining the freedom of her children, eventually pur-
chasing all of her offspring who were enslaved. Several of
her children were born out of her relationship with the
nobleman Claud Thomas Pierre Metoyer. Before her
death, she divided her (by then) extensive land holdings
among these children, and Mills asserts: “[FlJor almost
half a century following her death, the Metoyers of Cane
River enjoyed a wealth and prestige that few whites of
their era could match.” Mills further points out that these
children, too, married and had families of their own,
often intermarrying with “gens de couleur libre from
Haiti and New Orleans . . . whose background|s]| passed
inspection”. As a result, the population of free people of
color grew exponentially during the era leading up to the
U.S. purchase of the Louisiana Territory.

One of the results of the intermarriage of this financially
independent population of free people of color was the
solidification of the tripartite racial system. As Mills has
argued, despite their mixed racial heritage, “the men of the
family were accepted and accorded equality in many ways
by the white planters. It was not uncommon to find promi-
nent white men at dinner in Metoyer homes, and the hos-
pitality was returned”. Clearly, this third, middle caste
resulted in a more racially sophisticated society than that
found throughout the rest of the South. Eugene Genovese
has demonstrated, for example, that as late as the 1850s,
free people of color were voting, albeit illegally, in elections
in Rapides Parish. Further, as Charles Barthelemy
Rousséve has argued, “French and Spanish colonists of
Louisiana were more considerate of their mixed-blood
children than were settlers in other parts of America. .. .
[They] accepted them as members of their families, freed
them, and educated them. Eventually, the descendants of
many were totally absorbed into the white Creole group”
(Rousséve, 1937). Gwendolyn Midlo Hall states that this
“process of acculturation took place throughout lower
Louisiana during the eighteenth century” and caused the



incidents of passing to become common and, to a large
extent, tacitly approved (Hall, 1992). Hence, when Amer-
ican law began to be enforced in the Louisiana Territory, it
is not surprising that the free people of color were dis-
pleased at the prospect of seeing the tripartite caste system
collapse into a binary distinction whereby they became
members of a group that they had traditionally considered
beneath them, the African American slaves.

—Suzanne Disheroon-Green and Lisa Abney
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CROW

he Crow refer to themselves as the
C/':\T“Apsaalooke” (“children of the large-beaked

bird”). Their dialect was characteristic of the
Siouan linguistic stock. This cultural clue indicates that
the Crow originated somewhere to the east and relocated
themselves westward in the early eighteenth century. The
Crow are believed to have been a branch of the Hidatsa
(sometimes called the “Minataree”) that moved west-
ward from the Dakotas. It is likely that they were drawn
westward by their desire to hunt buffalo and trade the
region’s wild horses.

In their migration toward the eastern Rockies, the
Crow abandoned the traditional earth-lodge dwelling of
the woodlands and adopted the tipi, a home better suited
to the nomadic life of hunters. In their new home on the
Northern Plains, the Crow inhabited a vast expanse of
hunting grounds extending along the Yellowstone and
Cheyenne Rivers and their tributaries southward toward
the Bighorn Mountains and the Black Hills. This region
encompasses much of present-day southeastern Montana
and northeastern Wyoming.

Since the Crow were one of the smaller tribes of the
Northern Plains, they often strategically allied themselves
with U.S. forces whom they believed could protect them
against more powerful neighboring warrior nations—

such as the Sioux, Cheyenne, Blackfoot, and Comanche—
who were their traditional enemies. In 1825 the tribe
signed a treaty of friendship with the U.S. government.
Subsequently, the Crow were one of nine tribes that par-
ticipated in the conference that produced the Treaty of
Fort Laramie (1851). In this effort, the U.S. army became
the “honest broker” that brought peace to the Plains,
albeit temporarily, by specifically outlining the land-use
rights of the region’s inhabitants.

The Crow tended to cooperate with American author-
ities, and several Crow served as scouts for the U.S. army
throughout much of the nineteenth century. Some whites
became fluent in Crow as fur trapper Osborne Russell
observed that the Crow language was “clear, distinct and
not intermingled with guttural sounds, which renders it
remarkably easy for a stranger to learn” (Russell, 1965).
The Crow also demonstrated a remarkable degree of cul-
tural assimilation. For many years the mulatto fur trap-
per and scout James Beckwourth lived among the Crow,
who regarded him as a chief.

As hunters, the Crow were largely dependent upon the
large herds of bison that were found on the Northern
Plains. Food, shelter, and clothing—essentially the sur-
vival of the Crow—depended upon the success of the sea-
sonal hunt. On occasion the Crow used a creative hunt-
ing practice that they borrowed from the Blackfoot in
which a herd of bison were made to stampede only to be
driven over cliffs and killed by the fall. When the bison
herds were depleted almost to the point of extinction by
the actions of white hunters, the loss foreshadowed the
cultural subjugation of the Crow.

Like other Native American groups of the Great Plains,
the Crow eventually lost possession of their vast traditional
hunting grounds and were reduced to living upon reserva-
tion land located southeast of Billings, Montana. The effort
to transform themselves from a nomadic hunting band to
that of sedentary agriculturalists wreaked havoc with the
cultural identity of the Crow. Describing the changes
brought by reservation life, the former Crow warrior Two
Leggings recounted, “Nothing happened after that. We just
lived. There were no more war parties, no capturing of
horses from the Piegans and the Sioux, no buffalo to hunt.
There is nothing more to tell” (Nabokov, 1967).

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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DEARBORN, HENRY
(1751-1829)

ecretary of war throughout the Jefferson
C/':\Sadministration (1801-1809), Henry Dearborn

oversaw American military activity related to
the Louisiana Territory during the years immediately pre-
ceding its purchase through the end of his tenure in 1809.
This included the occupation of key military posts,
orchestrating early attempts at incorporating Indians into
the republic, and eventually planning their removal
beyond the Mississippi. Dearborn was a former physician
and Continental Army officer who had served with dis-
tinction in the American Revolution (1775-1783). An
intimate of General James Wilkinson, Dearborn was an
important actor in Wilkinson’s 1808 court-martial in the
wake of the Burr conspiracy.

Following the October 1802 Spanish denial of the
American right of deposit at New Orleans by the acting
intendant of Louisiana, Juan Ventura Morales, Dearborn
ordered the reinforcement of Fort Adams (Mississippi
Territory), thirty-eight miles south of Natchez, Missis-
sippi, and alerted the militias of Tennessee and Kentucky
in preparation for a possible forceful seizure of New
Orleans by General Wilkinson. The American purchase
of Louisiana, however, made an invasion unnecessary.
Dearborn’s friend Wilkinson, through the intervention of
Vice President Aaron Burr, assumed the post of territorial
governor in 1805. Although the details are unknown, it
seems that Burr and Wilkinson, a corrupt officer and
Spanish spy for many years, were co-conspirators in a
scheme aiming at the separation of the Louisiana Terri-
tory from the United States so that they might establish
an independent republic.

Following the end of Burr’s term of office in 18035, the
former vice president boarded a boat in Pittsburgh and
sailed to Lexington, Kentucky, where he began recruiting
followers in the summer of 1806. While Burr was in Ken-
tucky, Wilkinson wrote to Jefferson, informing him of
Burr’s plot. Burr learned of this and Jefferson’s order for
his arrest in 1807, as he and his band approached
Natchez en route to New Orleans. Burr fled for Pen-
sacola, Florida, but was seized and brought to trial in
Richmond, Virginia. Wilkinson’s connection with Burr
led to Virginia representative John Randolph’s resolution
for a congressional investigation of the general. Although
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the resolution was tabled, Wilkinson called for a court-
martial to clear his name. In January 1808, Secretary of
War Dearborn picked the members of the court, which
met from January through June 1808. Wilkinson escaped
censure and continued his military service through 1815.

Dearborn’s role as secretary of war included executing
Jefferson’s Indian policies and overseeing the daily man-
agement of the federal government’s nascent Indian rela-
tions bureaucracy. Before purchasing the Louisiana Terri-
tory, Jefferson and Dearborn envisioned incorporating
the Indians into American society through education,
trade, and other means that would supplant Indian cul-
tural norms with those of the United States, particularly
in private land ownership and intensive agriculture.
Dearborn envisioned building a road from Nashville to
Natchez with public establishments placed every twenty
or thirty miles, jointly run by whites and Indians in part-
nership. He believed that this close contact would help
effect Jefferson’s dream. However, by 1803 this policy, for
a variety of reasons, proved unrealistic; the Louisiana
Territory, therefore, made Indian removal west of the
Mississippi River a feasible option. Dearborn, with Jef-
ferson’s approval, encouraged the efforts of government
negotiators to convince Indians living east of the Missis-
sippi River who had not adopted American norms to
exchange their lands for those west of the river. Jeffer-
son’s Indian initiatives were among the more significant
antecedents for Andrew Jackson’s Indian Removal. Dear-
born was an able and conscientious administrator whose
efforts clearly contributed to the successful implementa-
tion of Jefferson’s plans for the new territory. His friend-
ship with James Wilkinson, however, clouded his objec-
tivity during the Burr conspiracy.

—Ricardo A. Herrera
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DE DECRES, DENIS DUC
(1761-1820)

enis Duc de Decrés entered the French navy in
C/':\D 1779 and rapidly distinguished himself. As a

member of the nobility, he was arrested at the
time of the French Revolution. Eventually he was rein-
stated, however, and in October 1801 he was appointed
minister of the navy and colonies, a position he held until
the fall of the empire.

As minister, Decrés was one of the most active support-
ers of Napoleon’s North American policy. In responding to
Napoleon’s desire in 1802 for France to take possession of
Louisiana as quickly as possible, he asked Charles Maurice
de Talleyrand to secure from the Spaniards detailed infor-
mation concerning the administration of the colony. In
order to expedite the return of the governance of Louisiana
to France, Decrés was willing to retain Spanish troops in the
region until French forces could completely occupy the
colony. Numerous delays, however, prevented the actual
dispatchment of French troops to Louisiana. Chief among
these was the delay of Spain in issuing the royal order that
authorized France to take possession of the colony. In addi-
tion, the Spaniards withheld information concerning the
military situation in Louisiana. Upon the arrival of royal
orders from Spain authorizing the transfer of Louisiana to
France, Decrés ordered an expedition to set sail at once. In
Decrés’s instructions (approved by the first consul) to Gen-
eral Claude Perrin Victor (1764-1841), the commander of
the expedition and the military governor designated for
Louisiana, all existing navigation agreements were to be
honored, a friendly attitude toward the United States main-
tained, the residents of the western portions of the United
States monitored, and the colony defended. The goal was to
strengthen Louisiana to such a degree that it could be aban-
doned in the event of war. The abandoned colony was to be
strong enough to inflict serious damage against any enemy.

The Louisiana Expedition, however, was delayed ini-
tially because of weather, and when the weather
improved, British ships were blockading the coast of Hol-
land, where the expedition was to have set sail. Therefore,
during March 1803, with more delays awaiting the
Louisiana Expedition, Napoleon began to consider using
the troops amassed in Holland against the British Isles.
Finally, as the troops seemed destined to sail for Louisiana
at long last, word was received that Louisiana had been
sold to the United States. Napoleon had allowed the expe-
dition preparations to develop up to the point of his sud-
den announcement of the sale of Louisiana. However,
Decrés, a strong believer in the colonial system and an
ardent supporter of Napoleon, disagreed with Napoleon
concerning the sale of Louisiana. Napoleon chose not to
inform Decrés of the potential sale of Louisiana. He was
not told to stop the Louisiana Expedition until word was
received that the treaty authorizing the sale of Louisiana
had been signed.

—Alfred Lemmon
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DESERET, STATE OF
(1848-1896)

neers reached the Salt Lake Valley. By the end of

the year, the Mormon leader, Brigham Young, had
sent “apostolic letters” to Mormons throughout the
world, urging them to move to “Latter-Day Israel,”
which would be called Deseret. The name, taken from
The Book of Mormon, meant “honeybee,” signifying
industriousness and communal effort.

The initial boundaries of the state of Deseret included
most of present-day Utah, Nevada, and Arizona. Large
areas of Wyoming, Idaho, Colorado, New Mexico, and
Oregon, plus coastal lands in California from Los Ange-
les to the Mexican border, were claimed by Mormons
who began to colonize the region. This vast territory was
diminished by Congress when it created the Territory of
Utah (named by a congressional committee after the Ute
Indians) as part of the Compromise of 1850: the forty-
second parallel formed the northern boundary, the thirty-
seventh parallel the southern perimeter. Large areas of
eastern and western Utah were lost to the Nevada, Col-
orado, and Nebraska Territories, which were established
in 1861. By 1868, the Territory of Utah was reduced to
its present size.

A provisional government was established by
Brigham Young in 1848; he parceled out land, started
public works projects, and levied a tax for public ser-
vices and improvements. A year later a constitution was
adopted, and voters chose Brigham Young as governor
in March 1849. However, the state had been created
without consulting or being authorized by the U.S. Con-
gress. That same year, the petition seeking statehood was
denied; between 1849 and 1887, the Mormons
requested statehood six times and were denied admit-
tance each time.

Several issues stood in the way of obtaining statehood.
Mormons were accused of practicing polygamy and
favoring a theocratic form of government, a “theo-

In July 1847, the first wagon train of Mormon pio-



democracy,” as Mormon founder Joseph Smith had
insisted. Finally, the question of slavery in the Western
regions complicated matters for Congress. But in 1850, a
geographically reduced state of Deseret was accepted as
the Territory of Utah, and President Millard Fillmore
named Brigham Young as governor and superintendent
of Indian affairs. Young now headed both the civil and
church governments, and “ruled Utah absolutely” (May,
1987). Federal officials in Utah found it difficult to deal
with the Mormon church, which controlled all aspects of
its followers’ lives.

As leader of the church and governor, Brigham Young
was assisted by a three-member First Presidency, the
Quorum of Twelve Apostles, and the secretive Council
of Fifty. In Utah and its colonies, the line between church
and state was never clearly drawn. The state of Deseret
was conceived as a model for an ideal society in which
the new Kingdom of God (Zion) would flourish and
expand. The Mormons were to become self-sufficient in
all things political, social, and economic and to avoid
contact with “gentiles” (non-Mormons). That was not
possible, however, and conflict with the federal govern-
ment ensued. In 1857, President James Buchanan sent
federal troops to Utah to enforce national laws, and he
appointed Alfred Cumming as governor; Brigham
Young responded by creating the Nauvoo Legion to
repel the “invasion.” Unsympathetic to the peculiar
ways of the Mormons, federal officials in Utah now had
the backing of troops stationed at Fort Douglas, over-
looking the Salt Lake Valley.

Contact with gentiles was discouraged, but the local
Indian tribes were in a different category. Shoshonian
tribes, the Northern Shoshoni, the Gosiutes, the Utes, and
the Southern Paiutes, were already inhabiting Deseret
when the Mormons arrived. The Book of Mormon spoke
of people of Hebrew descent (the “Lamanites”) whom
the Mormons identified as American Indians. The
Lamanites were ripe for conversion, and the Mormons
set up “missions” among the various tribes. Mormon
regard for the spiritual welfare of the Indians did not pre-
vent frequent clashes over land and water rights, how-
ever, since the Mormon economy was largely based on
agriculture. Moreover, thousands of newly arrived Mor-
mon settlers increased pressure to expand into new
regions of the West.

During the American Civil War, Mormons expected
the national government to collapse, an event that would
usher in the Kingdom of God that would eventually rule
the world. In 1862 the Mormons drafted a new constitu-
tion for the state of Deseret and petitioned Congress for
statehood, which was denied. At the end of the war, the
issue of slavery was settled, and in 1890, Mormon presi-
dent Wilford Woodruff was “inspired” to end polygamy
and issued the Manifesto to that effect. The last major
obstacle to statehood was thus removed, and six years
later Utah was admitted to the Union.

—Jeanne A. Ojala
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DIPLOMACY OF THE
LOUISIANA PURCHASE

iplomatic maneuvering involving the United
CaDStates, Spain, Great Britain, and France

resulted in the American purchase of the
Louisiana Territory from France in 1803. The principal
players were President Thomas Jefferson, minister to
France Robert Livingston, statesman James Monroe,
French minister for foreign affairs Charles Maurice de
Talleyrand-Périgord, French treasurer Francois de Barbé-
Marbois, and Napoleon Bonaparte. In the resulting
treaty, France agreed to sell all of Louisiana to the United
States for approximately $15 million.

Thomas Jefferson said that “there is on the globe one
single spot, the possessor of which is our natural and
habitual enemy. It is New Orleans” (McDonald, 1976).
Originally settled by the French in the early eighteenth
century, the huge province of Louisiana, including the
port of New Orleans near the mouth of the Mississippi
River, had been ceded to Spain by secret treaty in 1762
near the end of the French and Indian War. In 1795 the
United States and Spain concluded the Treaty of San
Lorenzo, or Pinckney’s Treaty, which gave America the
right to ship goods originating in American ports
through the mouth of the Mississippi without paying
duty, and also the right of deposit of American goods at
New Orleans for transshipment. These concessions were
vital to the survival of the United States as an economic
entity west of the Appalachians. Since the founding of
the nation, and especially after the signing of Jay’s Treaty
(1794), thousands of American settlers had crossed to
the western side of the Appalachians and spread
throughout the Ohio River valley to the Mississippi
River. The economic survival of the settlements they
founded depended upon the free use of the Mississippi
River and the right of deposit at the port of New
Orleans. As long as Spain, no longer a world power, held
Louisiana, the United States felt secure in its continued
use of the Mississippi and New Orleans.

However, Napoleon’s accession to power in France
altered the situation. Frustrated in his attempts to defeat
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Although the United States and France both considered the Louisiana Purchase Treaty to be a legally binding document,

other European powers were more skeptical about the transfer.

Great Britain decisively in Europe and the Mediter-
ranean, especially the failed expedition to Egypt in 1798,
Napoleon decided to shatter the British empire in North
America. He undertook to establish a French empire cen-
tered on the sugar-producing islands in the Caribbean.
Haiti, the western half of the sugar island of St.
Domingue, which France had acquired from Spain in
17985, was to be the centerpiece. Louisiana was to be the
breadbasket for these islands. Napoleon entered negotia-
tions with Spain, offering a Bourbon kingdom in Tuscany
in exchange for possession of Louisiana. In October
1800, under immense pressure from Napoleon, Spain
ceded the Louisiana Territory back to France in the
Treaty of San Ildefonso. Several years would pass, how-
ever, before the actual transfer took place.

Just prior to the retrocession of Louisiana, St.
Domingue witnessed a violent slave revolt led by Tous-
saint POuverture, who established a military dictatorship
while nominally acknowledging allegiance to France. If
Napoleon was to establish a new empire in North Amer-

96  Diplomacy of the Louisiana Purchase

ica, he must overthrow Toussaint, re-establish French
rule in St. Domingue, and restore slavery on the island.
However, he could not safely send an army to accomplish
these tasks until peace had been made with Great Britain.
When peace terms preliminary to the Peace of Amiens
(1802) were made in October 1801, Napoleon sent an
army of twenty thousand men under his brother-in-law,
General Charles-Victor Leclerc, to St. Domingue. Once
the island was restored to French control, another expe-
dition was to take possession of Louisiana.

News of the Treaty of San Ildefonso and the French
expedition to St. Domingue caused much concern in the
United States. Clearly this was the beginning of French
imperial aggression in the Western Hemisphere that
threatened America’s commercial interests. The United
States had only recently concluded an unofficial naval
war with France during the administration of John
Adams; now it seemed that another war was likely. In
1802 two events brought the matter to a climax. In Octo-
ber, Juan Morales, the Spanish Intendant at New



Orleans, closed the port to foreign shipping and with-
drew the American right of deposit. This was an outright
violation of the Treaty of San Lorenzo (1795). America
assumed that France was responsible, and much uproar
ensued. Then France landed its army in St. Domingue to
put down the slave rebellion. Word reached Jefferson that
another French expedition was to occupy Louisiana once
French rule was restored.

Jefferson believed that “[t]he day that France takes
possession of N. Orleans ... seals the union of two
nations who in conjunction can maintain exclusive pos-
session of the ocean. From that moment we must marry
ourselves to the British fleet and nation” (ibid.). He
understood, however, that it would be detrimental to
the diplomatic position of the United States to become
dependent upon Great Britain. Some way must be
found to secure New Orleans and the Mississippi River
for American commerce. France must not be allowed to
shut the United States out of New Orleans, but Jeffer-
son was not willing to ally America with the British to
do so. In this atmosphere Jefferson sent special commis-
sioner James Monroe to Paris to aid the U.S. minister to
France, Robert R. Livingston, in an attempt to resolve
the situation. The president instructed Monroe to nego-
tiate with Talleyrand the purchase of New Orleans, the
right to build an American port on the eastern bank of
the Mississippi, or, at the very least, the perpetual rights
of navigation and deposit. He was authorized to offer as
much as $10 million. If he could not secure any such
agreement, he was to submit the matter to Washington
and await the decision of Congress. If France undertook
hostilities against the United States or closed the Missis-
sippi entirely to American commerce, Livingston and
Madison were to proceed to London to seek out an
alliance with the British: hence the marriage to the
“British fleet and nation” that Jefferson so loathed was
a last resort.

Meanwhile, the peace that France had secured with
Great Britain at Amiens in 1802 was about to break.
The French expedition to St. Domingue had failed
despite initial victories and the capture of Toussaint: yel-
low fever ravaged the French army and even claimed
Leclerc. St. Domingue was lost, and without it Louisiana
was useless. Napoleon moreover realized that possession
of Louisiana was a liability in the face of renewed war
with Great Britain. The British navy was superior to that
of the French, and it would quickly capture the distant
province in the event of war. If he could sell Louisiana to
the Americans for cash, he could thereby fund his mili-
tary operations more fully, deny the British a potential
prize in the Western Hemisphere, and help make the
United States a maritime rival to Great Britain. If the
British wanted Louisiana, they would have to fight the
United States for it. He therefore sent Barbé-Marbois,
the French treasurer, to assist Talleyrand in the ongoing
negotiations with Livingston (Monroe’s arrival was
imminent), and he instructed him to sell New Orleans

and everything attached to it to the Americans for as
much as they could get.

Livingston was shocked at the sudden proposal and
deferred an answer until Monroe’s arrival. They had
been commissioned only to purchase New Orleans and
perhaps a bit of the Floridas; now they were offered all
of Louisiana, including New Orleans. Negotiations com-
menced upon Monroe’s arrival on April 12, 1803, and
continued until the signing of the treaty on May 2. After
much haggling, the negotiators finally agreed on a sum
of $15 million, of which three-fourths was to be paid to
France and the remainder to Americans holding damage
claims against the French government. The final transfer
of Louisiana came on December 20, 1803. France had
been in actual possession of Louisiana for twenty days.
The United States had taken advantage of Europe’s
problems to more than double its size in one moment.
The Louisiana Purchase was the most amazing land deal
in history.

There were two serious questions about the acquisi-
tion of Louisiana. First was the uncertainty of the exact
composition of the territory. How far east did the terri-
tory extend? How far west? The exact boundaries were
not known with certainty. The Louisiana treaty used the
same vague language as the Treaty of San Ildefonso.
However, the United States would later use Europe’s pre-
occupation with the Napoleonic Wars to secure the most
generous interpretation of Louisiana’s boundaries. Sec-
ond, Jefferson seriously doubted the constitutionality of
the purchase. A strict constructionist, he believed that the
U.S. Constitution did not authorize the president or the
Senate to make such a purchase. Upon a careful study of
the Louisiana treaty, Jefferson proposed a constitutional
amendment validating the purchase. However he aban-
doned the idea when warned from Paris that any unnec-
essary delay might risk the loss of Louisiana. Despite the
constitutional questions, the Senate ratified the treaty and
passed a bill empowering the president to take possession
of Louisiana and govern it until Congress established a
territorial government. Both Jefferson and the Congress
realized that an opportunity of such magnitude could not
be squandered, regardless of legal or constitutional ques-
tions. Jefferson said that “the good sense of our country
will correct the evil of construction when it shall produce

ill effects” (ibid.).
—Scott D. Wignall
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DRY FARMING

hen pioneer settlers began to inhabit the
C/':\Weastern portion of the Louisiana Purchase

territory after the United States acquired the
region from France in 1803, they carried with them the
farming techniques that had worked successfully on ear-
lier homesteads in the East. These pioneer farmers ini-
tially found themselves in a rich land where the well-
watered prairie loam was an agriculturalist’s dream, but
as the farming frontier moved westward and settlers
encountered marginally arable land, they were forced to
develop new strategies and techniques. By the late nine-
teenth century, vast stretches of the original Louisiana
Territory, especially the High Plains region beyond the
one hundredth meridian, used the concept of dry farming
to cultivate lands that might otherwise have been consid-
ered barren.

When Stephen H. Long crossed the Great Plains in
1820, he described the region as the “Great American
Desert,” and for nearly forty years that name, and the
negative connotations it evoked, characterized the way
that many viewed a vast region of the North American
interior. For many the lure of gold, or at least adventure,
in the far West was much more attractive than the burden
that would be required to make the desert bloom; as a
result, the region of the High Plains became an area to be
crossed but not settled.

Several factors contributed to the transformation of
the agricultural West and the eventual development of
dry farming techniques. Research that came out of the
agricultural and mechanical (A&M) schools that devel-
oped through the Morrill Land Grant Act (1862)
became a boon to U.S. farmers in the West. The land-
grant colleges and universities perfected technologies
with mechanical engineering, such as the drilling of deep
water wells, and used laboratory research in botany,
chemistry, and later genetics to develop seed varieties for
crops that were drought resistant. Additionally, new seed
varieties, introduced by immigrant farmers from North-
ern Europe, produced good yields on the Northern
Plains, and eventually hybrid forms took shape that had
a high tolerance for the arid conditions found in parts of
the West.

Dry farming is essentially a type of sustainable agri-
culture that attempts to draw the greatest benefit from
scarce water resources. Methods of dry farming are most
commonly practiced in those areas that receive between
ten and twenty inches of rainfall per year. Among the
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Hopi, a primitive method of dry farming was used when
farmers planted their crops in dry stream beds. Such areas
were the most likely places where water would pool
when infrequent rains fell. Other strategies of dry farm-
ing that developed through the years involve the keeping
of crop stubble in the fields through the winter season so
that drifting snow might be better held to produce melt-
water with the spring thaw.

More sophisticated systems of dry farming employ the
summer fallow method, whereby lands remain tilled and
removed of weeds during the season when rainfall is most
likely. Such systems incorporate fast-growing crops that
can be cultivated in late summer and the fall before the
onset of winter snows. For this reason, cultivation of win-
ter wheat replaced spring wheat cultivation in many
regions of the High Plains that faced chronic water short-
ages and were forced to depend upon dry farming meth-
ods. Other elements of dry farming involve careful crop
selection, the effective management of runoff, and strate-
gies to reduce water loss through transpiration by wide-
spread use of mulch or no-till practices.

Dry farming methods, along with conservation efforts
and water management systems, have helped to turn por-
tions of the U.S. West once considered desert into pro-
ductive farmland. Today the diet of millions in the United
States and around the world consists of foodstuffs that
originated on the North American High Plains, owing
their very existence to the dry farming methods that were
used for their cultivation.

—Junius P. Rodriguez
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DU PONT DE NEMOURS,
PIERRE SAMUEL
(1739-1817)

ierre Samuel Du Pont de Nemours was born in
C’:\~P Paris to a prosperous and ambitious family. He

trained for various occupations, including
medicine and watch-making, but from the early 1770s he
developed a career as an economic adviser.

In 1775, Du Pont began assisting Louis XVI’s con-
troller general, Anne-Robert-Jacques Turgot, in an offi-
cial capacity. Du Pont is mainly remembered as a major
developer of “physiocracy,” as an early historian of eco-
nomics, and as the editor and preserver of the works of
Turgot and the physician-economist Francois Quesnay.



Webster defines “physiocrat” as a proponent of Ques-
nay’s political and economic doctrines based on the
supremacy of “natural order” as the only proper influ-
ence on the relations of society to industry.

Samuel Du Pont was a politically active advocate for
reform before and during the French Revolution. Even
though he was arrested in 1794, a timely end to the Reign
of Terror allowed him to escape execution. Du Pont was
subsequently elected to a position in the legislative assem-
bly of the new government, but another shift in power
and a second arrest prompted him to remove his family
to the United States in 1799. He returned to Paris in 1802
and served later in the Paris Chamber of Commerce from
1803 to 1810.

Du Pont’s final migration to the United States, in
1815, was to Wilmington, Delaware, where his son
Irénée had started the gunpowder factory from which the
mammoth Du Pont chemical conglomerate developed.
He died there in 1817.

During his five-year stay as the Ameri